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Important Notice
This Prospectus has been prepared in order for the New Shares to be admitted for listing on the OSE.
This Prospectus has been prepared to comply with the Securities Trading Act and the prospectus requirements
set out in the EC Commission Regulation EC/809/2004. The Prospectus has been reviewed and approved by the
OSE pursuant to section 5-7 of the Securities Trading Act.
All inquiries relating to this Prospectus should be directed to either of Seadrill, Carnegie ASA or Pareto
Securities ASA. No other person has been authorized to give any information about or make any representation
on behalf of Seadrill in connection with this Prospectus and the matters dealt with herein and, if given or made,
such other information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized by Seadrill or the
Managers.
The information contained herein is subject to subsequent change, completion or amendment without notice.
The issue of this Prospectus shall not, under any circumstances, imply that there will be no changes in the
information set forth herein or in the affairs of Seadrill subsequent to the date hereof.
The distribution of this Prospectus may be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. Persons into whose
possession this Prospectus may come are thus required to observe such restrictions.
This Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy the New Shares.
This Prospectus has not been approved or recommended by any United States federal or state securities
commission or regulatory authority nor have such entities confirmed its adequacy or accuracy. Any
representation to the contrary is a criminal offence.
THE SECURITIES DESCRIBED IN THIS PROSPECTUS HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE
REGISTERED UNDER THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 (THE “US SECURITIES ACT”) AND MAY
NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD WITHIN THE UNITED STATES OR TO, OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OR
BENEFIT OF, U.S. PERSONS (AS DEFINED IN REGULATION S OF THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT)
UNLESS AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION IS AVAILABLE PURSUANT TO THE US
SECURITIES ACT.
In relation to the United Kingdom, this Prospectus is only directed at, and may only be distributed to, persons
who fall within the meaning of Articles 19 (Investment Professionals) and 49 (High Net Worth Companies,
Unincorporated Associations etc.) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion), Order
2001 (as amended) or who are persons to whom the document may otherwise be lawfully distributed. This
Prospectus may only be distributed in circumstances which do not result in an offer to the public in the United
Kingdom within the meaning of the Public Offers of Securities Regulations 1995 (as amended). The distribution
(which term shall include any form of communication) of this Prospectus may be restricted pursuant to section
21 (Restrictions on Financial Promotion) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as amended).
In the ordinary course of their respective businesses, the Managers and certain of their respective affiliates have
engaged and may continue to engage themselves in investment and commercial banking transactions with the
Seadrill Group.
Without limiting the manner in which Seadrill may choose to make any public announcements, and subject to
Seadrill's obligations under applicable law, announcements relating to the matters described in this Prospectus
will be considered to have been made once they have been received by the OSE and distributed through its
information system.
Notice Regarding Forward-looking Statements
This Prospectus includes “forward-looking” statements (defined in Section 27A of the US Securities Act and
Section 21E of the US Exchange Act as all statements other than statements of historical facts) including,
without limitation, those regarding Seadrill's financial position, business strategy, plans and objectives for future
operations. Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors
which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Seadrill Group, or, as the case may be,
the industry, to materially differ from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by
such forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are based on numerous assumptions
regarding the Seadrill Group's present and future business strategies and the environment in which the Seadrill
Group will operate. Among the important factors that could cause the Seadrill Group's actual results,
performance or achievements to materially differ from those in the forward-looking statements are the
competitive nature of the offshore drilling markets, technological developments, government regulations,
changes in economical conditions or political events.

i

These forward-looking statements reflect only the Board's views and assessment as of the date of this
Prospectus. The Board and Seadrill expressly disclaim any obligation or undertaking to release any updates or
revisions of the forward-looking statement contained herein to reflect any change in their expectations with
regard thereto or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statements are based.
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1

Summary

The following summary is an introduction to this Prospectus and should be read in conjunction with, and is
qualified in its entirety by, the more detailed information appearing in the following and in the appendices
hereto.
In case a claim relating to the information contained herein is brought before a court, the plaintiff may have to
bear the costs of translating this Prospectus before proceedings are initiated.
No civil liability will attach to the Board in respect of this summary unless it is misleading, inaccurate or
inconsistent when read together with the other parts of this Prospectus.

1.1

Description of Seadrill

1.1.1

History and Business overview

Seadrill was incorporated on 10 May 2005 as a limited company under the laws of Bermuda.
The Seadrill Group is engaged in the business of owning and operating offshore drilling rigs and other vessels to
be used in the exploration for and production of crude oil and gas.
Further, the Seadrill Group provides well services (which include platform drilling and wireline operations)
upgrading, maintenance and modification work on drilling equipment and facilities to customers engaged in the
exploration for and production of crude oil and gas offshore.
The Seadrill Group has evolved through several acquisitions over the 12 month period since Seadrill was
incorporated.
A fleet of Jack-up rigs and FPSO vessels together with newbuilding contracts for further Jack-up rigs were
acquired from the Greenwich Group in Q2/2005.
A controlling majority in Seadrill Invest (which was named Odfjell Invest Ltd. at the time) holding two
contracts for Jack-up rig newbuildings with an option to order a third unit of the same design was acquired in
Q2/2005. Seadrill now holds close to 100% of the shares in Seadrill Invest.
Seadrill acquired 33.04% of the shares in Apexindo in Q3/2005. Apexindo's fleet consists of four swamp barges
with drilling capacity, one Jack-up rig and 11 land rigs. Apexindo also has one order for a Jack-up rig
newbuilding.
A controlling majority in Mosvold holding two contracts for Drillship newbuildings at Samsung was acquired
through several transactions in Q4/2005, Q1 and Q2 2006. Seadrill now holds 99.77% of its shares.
All of the shares in Smedvig were acquired during Q1 and Q2/2006.
Smedvig and its subsidiaries own two Semi-submersible rigs, one Jack-up rig, one Drillship and seven Tender
rigs. Smedvig has furthermore an indirect ownership interest of 49% in four Tender rigs and one newbuilding
contract for a further Tender rig through its shareholding in Varia Perdana.
Smedvig also holds 39.75% of the shares in Eastern who has two Semi-submersible rigs on order from
Samsung.
Smedvig further holds a 30% equity interest in a joint venture with KFELS which has one Tender rig on order.
Finally, Smedvig is the provider of well and maintenance services to third parties.
The Seadrill Group has, as of today, a fleet consisting of 2 FPSO vessels, nine Jack-up rigs, three Drillships, six
Semi-submersible rigs and 14 Tender rigs, five of which the Seadrill Group has a 49% ownership in and one of
which the Seadrill Group's interest is 30%. Of the total fleet, four Jack-up rigs, two Drillships, four Semisubmersible rigs and three Tender rigs are under construction.

1.1.2

Board, senior management and employees

The Board consist of the following persons: John Fredriksen (Chairman), Tor Olav Trøim (Director), Kate
Blankenship (Director) and Pål Nordgreen (Director).
Day-to-day management of the Seadrill Group is undertaken by Seadrill's wholly owned subsidiary, Seadrill
Management. The terms pursuant to which these services are provided are detailed in a management agreement
between Seadrill Management and Seadrill supplemented by separate management agreements between Seadrill
Management and each of the Subsidiaries.
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Certain of the services provided by Seadrill Management are sub-contracted by Seadrill Management to Seadrill
Management (S), Seadrill Deepwater, Smedvig Asia and Guilford.
The senior management of Seadrill Management, Seadrill Management (S) and Smedvig Asia consist of the
following persons: Kjell E. Jacobsen (Chief Financial Officer), Alf C. Thorkildsen (Chief Financial Officer),
Ståle Rød (Managing Director, Tender rigs), Sveinung Lofthus (Managing Director, Mobile units), Alf Ragnar
Løvdal (Managing Director, Well services), Stein Diesen (Managing Director, Deepwater projects) and Hans
van Royen (Managing Director, Jack-up rigs).
As of the date hereof, the Seadrill Group has approximately 4,300 employees.

1.1.3

Major shareholders and related party agreements

Major shareholders - Shareholder structure
The major shareholder of Seadrill is Hemen, a company indirectly controlled by Mr. John Fredriksen, which
owns 130,830,916 Shares1 representing 36.03% of the total number of Shares at present. In addition, Mr.
Fredriksen holds 350,000 options in his own name. Seadrill is not aware of any other shareholders owning more
than 5% of the Shares.
As of 6 July, 2006, Seadrill had a total of 4,960 shareholders, of which 4,454 were Norwegian, and 506 were
non-Norwegian.
Related party agreements
Seatankers (a company indirectly controlled by Mr. John Fredriksen) provides certain management services to
the Seadrill Group as a sub-contractor to Seadrill Management.
These services and the terms thereof are documented in a management agreement between Seatankers and
Seadrill Management. The terms are market compatible.

1.2

Description of the Private Placements

1.2.1

Purpose and background for the Private Placements

On 9 January 2006 Seadrill announced that it would make a voluntary offer to purchase all of the outstanding
shares in Smedvig at a price of NOK 205 per class A-share and NOK 165 per class B-share.
Seadrill received acceptances for a total of 24,876,009 class A-shares and 15,417,402 class B-shares through the
voluntary offer. Seadrill also acquired a total of 3,023,600 class A-shares and 90,680 class B-shares in the open
market while the voluntary offer was open at NOK 205 and NOK 165 per share, respectively. Subsequent to the
closing of the voluntary offer, Seadrill thus controlled a total of 27,899,609 class A-shares and 15,508,082 class
B-shares, constituting 51.9% of the votes in Smedvig's general meeting and 53.1% of Smedvig's share capital.
Settlement of the purchase of these shares required funds in the amount of approximately NOK 8.3 billion.
The ordering by Subsea Drilling IV of a second Semi-submersible rig from Daewoo on 20 January 2006
triggered an obligation on the Seadrill Group to pay an initial instalment to Daewoo in the amount of US$ 74.3
million.
Seadrill agreed, through a voluntary offer which expired on 17 February 2006, to purchase shares in Mosvold
which raised Seadrill's ownership therein from 49.7% to 92.97%. Settlement of this purchase required funds in
the amount of approximately NOK 1.1 billion.
Seadrill announced, on 6 March 2006, that it would make a mandatory offer to purchase all of the remaining
outstanding shares issued by Smedvig at a price of NOK 205 per class A-share and NOK 165 per class B-share.
Seadrill received acceptances for a total of 25,534,086 class A-shares and 10,190,131 class B-shares as a
consequence of this offer. Following the closing of the offer, Seadrill controlled a total of 53,433,695 class Ashares and 25,698,213 class B-shares, constituting 99.4% of the votes in Smedvig's general meeting and 96.8%
of Smedvig's equity capital. Through a compulsory acquisition announced on 26 April 2006, Seadrill became
the owner of all outstanding class A- and class B-shares. Settlement of the compulsory acquisition will take
place two days after the expiry of the creditor notice period on or about 5 July 2006.

1

126,800,000 of the shares held by Hemen Holding are Restricted Shares and thus registered in the VPS under a separate
ISIN number (ISIN BMG 7945 E 1131) pending the publication of this Prospectus.
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Settlement of the purchase of these shares required funds in the amount of approx NOK 7.0 billion.
The above referred transactions all required Seadrill to raise financing externally as its available cash and credit
lines were insufficient to cover the aggregate thereof.
Consequently, Seadrill completed Private Placement I (consisting of 75,000,000 shares at a subscription price of
NOK 66 per share) in order to part finance its acquisition of the shares in Smedvig acquired in the voluntary
offer and the initial instalment in respect of the Semi-submersible rig ordered by Subsea Drilling IV from
Daewoo on 20 January 2006.
On 21 February 2006, Seadrill completed Private Placement II (consisting of 20,000,000 shares at a subscription
price of NOK 70.75 per share) in order to finance its acquisition of the shares in Mosvold.
Finally, on 2 April 2006, Seadrill completed Private Placement III (consisting of 39,000,000 shares at a
subscription price of NOK 90 per share) in order to part finance its acquisition of the shares in Smedvig
acquired in the mandatory offer.

1.2.2

Overview of the Private Placements

Private Placement I took place on 20 January 2006. It raised gross proceeds of NOK 4,950 million through the
issue of 75,000,000 new shares at a subscription price of NOK 66.
The subscribers were notified of their allotment of the shares subscribed for in the Private Placement I on 23
January 2006. Settlement was made on 25 January 2006.
The shares issued in the Private Placement I were, at their issue, Restricted Shares and have remained as such
until the date this Prospectus was approved by the OSE (being the date hereof).
The shares issued in the Private Placement I have, during the period they have been in issue as Restricted
Shares, had ISIN number BMG 7945 E 1131 which is different from the ISIN number of the Unrestricted
Shares.
In order to provide the subscribers in the Private Placement I with Unrestricted Shares at settlement, the
Managers and Seadrill entered into a share loan agreement with Hemen on 24 January 2006. Hemen agreed, on
the terms set forth therein, to make 75,000,000 of its Unrestricted Shares available to the subscribers as a loan.
The loan was settled through the redelivery to Hemen of the 75,000,000 Restricted Shares subscribed for by the
subscribers in the Private Placement I at their issue. Hemen did not receive any compensation for this share
loan.
Private Placement II took place on 21 February 2006. It raised gross proceeds of NOK 1,415 million through the
issue of 20,000,000 new shares at a subscription price of NOK 70.75 per share.
The subscribers were notified of their allotment of the shares subscribed for in the Private Placement II on 22
February 2006. Settlement was made on 27 February 2006.
The shares issued in the Private Placement II were, at their issue, Restricted Shares and have remained as such
until the date this Prospectus was approved by the OSE (being the date hereof).
These shares have, during the period they have been in issue as Restricted Shares, had ISIN number BMG 7945
E 1131.
The Managers and Seadrill borrowed Unrestricted Shares from Hemen in order to provide the subscribers in the
Private Placement II with Unrestricted Shares at settlement. A share loan agreement was thus entered into on
23 February 2006 setting forth the terms for Hemen's loan of 20,000,000 Unrestricted Shares to the subscribers
in the Private Placement II. The loan was settled through the redelivery to Hemen of the 20,000,000 Restricted
Shares subscribed for by the subscribers in Private Placement II at their issue.
Private Placement III took place on 2 April 2006. It raised gross proceeds of NOK 3,510 million through the
issue of 39,000,000 new shares at a subscription price of NOK 90 per share.
The subscribers were notified of their allotment of the shares subscribed for in the Private Placement III on
3 April 2006. Settlement was made on 5 April 2006.
The shares issued in the Private Placement III were, at their issue, Restricted Shares and have remained as such
until the date this Prospectus was approved by the OSE (being the date hereof).
These shares have, during the period they have been in issue as Restricted Shares, had ISIN number BMG 7945
E 1131.
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In order to provide some of the subscribers with Unrestricted Shares at settlement, the Managers and Seadrill
entered into a share loan agreement with Hemen on 3 April 2006. Hemen agreed, on the terms set forth in this
agreement, to make 31,800,000 of its Unrestricted Shares available to the subscribers as a loan. The loan was
settled through the redelivery to Hemen of 31,800,000 Restricted Shares at their issue by the subscribers in the
Private Placement III.
The remaining shares subscribed for in Private Placement III were, at settlement, delivered to the subscribers by
way of 7,200,000 of Unrestricted Shares borrowed by the Managers on market terms.
126,800,000 of the Restricted Shares were thus, following the settlement of Private Placement III, held by
Hemen while the remainder were held by the Managers. Hemen did not receive any compensation for the share
loans described above.
The structures of the Private Placements were chosen so as to ensure that the acquisition of Smedvig and
Mosvold was fully financed within the available time frame. As the subscription prices in the Private
Placements were based on the market price of the Shares at the time of subscription, the Board of Seadrill is of
the opinion that the Private Placements have been completed in compliance with the requirements for equal
treatment of shareholders under section 23-8 of the Stock Exchange Regulations.
The dilutive effect of the Private Placements was 63.1%, cfr Section 6.5 below.
The total expenses incurred by Seadrill in completing the Private Placements were approximately NOK 117.8,
cfr Section 6.9 below.

1.2.3

The Managers and other Advisors

Seadrill retained Carnegie ASA and Pareto Securities ASA as its financial advisors and managers in of the
Private Placements.
The Private Placement I was co-managed by SEB Enskilda ASA and Fearnley Fonds ASA, while the Private
Placement II was co-managed by DnB NOR Markets and Fearnley Fonds ASA. Private Placement III was comanaged by SEB Enskilda ASA.
Seadrill's Norwegian legal counsel is Wiersholm, Mellbye & Bech, advokatfirma AS.
The Seadrill Group is, as a consequence of the number of corporate acquisitions completed over the last 12
months, audited by several audit firms.
Seadrill's auditor is thus Ernst & Young, Singapore while Mosvold is being audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
AS. Smedvig and its subsidiaries are audited by KPMG AS.

1.3

Summary financial data

The following summarises the financial status of the Seadrill Group. More detailed financial information,
including a description of the accounting policies applied by the Seadrill Group, is described in Section 4.2
below.

1.3.1

Consolidated financial figures

Statements of Operations
The table below shows the Consolidated Financial Statements for the periods from (i) May 10, 2005 (inception)
to 31 December 2005, (ii) the 3 month period ended on 31 March 2006 and (iii) the Pro Forma Predecessor
Combined Financial Statements for the period from 1 January 2004 to 31 December 2004.
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Consolidated Statements of Income
(in thousands of US$, except per share data).

Operating revenues

Predecessor
Combined
Statement of
Income

Condensed
three months
ended 31
March 2006
(unaudited)

Period from 10
May 2005
to 31 December
2005
(audited)

Year ended 31
December 2004
(audited)

191,573

26,639

6,365

107,742

23,302

5,788

14,770

-

-

Operating expenses
Vessel and rig operating expenses
Reimbursable expenses
General and administrative expenses

13,082

5,810

176

Depreciations and amortisation

32,209

12,943

3,518

23,770

(15,416)

(3,117)

Interest income

3,301

1,692

-

Interest expense

(12,695)

(85)

-

Operating income (loss)

Interest element included in capital lease obligations
Other financial items
Share of results from associated companies
Fair value of equity shares swap
Other income (loss), net
Net income (loss) before taxes and min. interest
Minority interest

-

(796)

(1,904)

83,570

(177)

(22)

5,313

2,724

-

-

5,321

-

-

827

71

103,259

(5,910)

(4,972)

(26,485)

(80)

-

Income taxes

(7,229)

(1,573)

-

Net income (loss)

69,545

(7,563)

(4,972)

0.24

(0.04)

-

-

-

-

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share (US$)
Dividends per share
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Balance sheet
The table below shows the Seadrill Group's Consolidated Balance Sheets as of 31 December 2005 and 31 March
2006 and Predecessor Combined Balance Sheet as of 31 December 2004.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
Condensed
unaudited
Audited
31 December
31 March
2006
2005

(in thousands of US$)

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Other investment
Derivatives
Other current assets
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Investments in associated companies
Other non-current assets
Newbuildings and rig purchase options
Rigs and equipment
Vessels under capital lease, net
Goodwill

Predecessor
Combined
Balance Sheet
Audited
31 December
2004

479,682
533
198,045

49,609
2,190
302,255
5,237
16,556

194
2,539

678,260

375,847

2,733

353,524
43,969
918,403
2,151,529
1,185,943

152,816
2,835
439,268
150,940
27,277
-

99,875
25,791
-

Total non-current assets

4,653,368

773,136

125,666

Total assets

5,331,628

1,148,983

128,399

312,384
481,581
-

33,218
26,600
11,272
99,500

1,854
3,377
115,610
-

793,965

170,590

120,841

215,102
2,239,449
223,692

176,750
-

14,761
-

Total non current liabilities

2,678,243

176,750

14,761

Minority interest
Total stockholders' equity

13,684
1,845,736

1,442
800,201

(7,203)

5,331,628

1,148,983

128,399

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Other current liabilities
Short-term interest bearing debt
Current portion of long term debt
Current portion of obligations under capital lease
Shareholder loan
Loan, related party
Total current liabilities
Non current liabilities
Deferred taxes
Long term interest-bearing debt
Non-current portion of obligations under capital lease
Other non-current liabilities

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity
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1.3.2

Pro Forma Figures for the year ended 31 December 2005

Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Statement of Income
Unaudited
US$ ‘000
Seadrill

Unaudited

Consolidated
Consolidated
Before
After
Pro forma
Mosvold Smedvig Adjustment Adjustment Adjustment

Operating income and expenses
Operating revenues

26,639

-

608,540

635,179

113,561

748,740

(550,862)

(63,100)

(613,962)

Total operating expenses

(42,055)

(888) (507,919)

Operating profit (loss)

(15,416)

(888)

100,621

84,317

50,461

134,778

9,506

213

(32,919)

(23,200)

(73,234)

(96,434)

(5,910)

(675)

67,702

61,117

(22,773)

38,344

(80)

-

-

(80)

2

(78)

Taxes

(1,573)

-

55,280

53,707

(14,098)

39,609

Net income (loss)

(7,563)

(675)

122,982

114,744

(36,869)

77,875

Result from financial
transactions
Income (loss) before taxes
Minority interests

The Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Statement of Income for the year ended 31 December 2005 is set out in
more detail in Section 4.5.5.
Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet
Unaudited

US$’ 000

Unaudited

Consolidated
Consolidated
Before
Pro forma
After
Smedvig Adjustment Adjustment Adjustment

Seadrill

Mosvold

375,847
773,136
1,148,983

231,244
86,019
317,263

236,567
1,236,567
1,473,134

843,658
2,095,722
2,939,380

29,869
2,359,470
2,389,339

873,527
4,455,192
5,328,719

Total current liabilities
170,590
Total non-current liabilities
176,750
Minority interests
1,442
Total shareholders’ equity
800,201
Total shareholders’ equity and
total liabilities
1,148,983

14,384
77,800
225,079

217,314
822,835
432,985

402,288
1,077,385
1,442
1,458,265

105,076
1,488,685
512
795,066

507,364
2,566,070
1,954
2,253,331

317,263

1,473,134

2,939,380

2,389,339

5,328,719

ASSETS
Total current assets
Total non-current assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

The Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet for Seadrill (including Seadrill Invest), Mosvold and
Smedvig as of 31 December 2005 is set out in more detail in Section 4.5.5.
For further information on the basis of presentation and the assumptions and adjustments used in the preparation
of the pro forma figures reference is made to the comments to the Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements set forth in Section 4.5.
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1.4

Share capital

Seadrill's authorised share capital is US$ 800 million consisting of 400 million ordinary shares of US$ 2 par
value each.
Subsequent to the Private Placements, Seadrill's issued share capital is US$ 726,266,432 consisting of
363,133,2162 fully paid shares with a nominal value of US$ 2 each.
The New Shares were issued as Restricted Shares and registered under ISIN number BMG 7945 E 1131 (which
is different from the ISIN number of the Unrestricted Shares). The Restricted Shares have not been tradable on
the OSE. The Restricted Shares will, following the issuance of this Prospectus, automatically be transformed to
the ordinary ISIN number of the Shares being ISIN BMG 7945 E 10557. The first day of their trading is
expected to be on or about 7 July 2006.

1.5

Bye-laws

The bye-laws of Seadrill are included as Appendix 1 to this Prospectus.

1.6

Documents on display

The following documents (or copies thereof) may be inspected at www.seadrill.bm:
i. the By-laws of Seadrill;
ii. Certificate of incorporation;
iii. historical financial information for the financial period ending 31 March 2006;
iv. historical financial information for the financial years ending 31 December 2005;
v. historical financial information for the Predecessor combined ending 31 December 2004;
vi. The listing prospectus for Seadrill dated 18 November 2005 and;
vii. stock exchange notices, including quarterly reports, distributed by Seadrill through Oslo Børs’
information system.
All non-confidential documents referred to in this Prospectus may be obtained by written request to either of the
following addresses:
Seadrill Limited
c/o Seadrill Management AS
P.O. Box 110
4001 Stavanger
NORWAY
Phone: +47 51 30 90 00
Fax: +47 51 30 90 01

Seadrill Limited
Par-la-Ville Place
14 Par-la-Ville Road
Hamilton HM 08
BERMUDA
Phone: +1 441 295 4705
Fax: +1 441 295 3434
www.seadrill.bm

1.7

Risk factors

An investment in the Shares involves a high degree of risk. The value of the Shares may thus be affected by a
number of factors. For a further discussion of certain of these risk factors, see Section 2 below.
Below is a summary of the most relevant risk factors described in Section 2. Please note that the risks discussed
below are not the only risks that may affect the Seadrill Group's business or the value of the Shares. Additional
risks not presently known to the Board or considered immaterial may also impair its business operations and
prospects.

2

A total of 134,000,000 Shares are Restricted, i.e. registered under a separate ISIN number pending the
publication of this Prospectus.
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x

Financial risk: The Seadrill Group will be exposed to risks due to interest rate and currency fluctuations,
investments and trading risks in general in addition to risks arising from borrowing and leverage and the
fluctuating value of its assets. In the event that any of these factors should occur, this could have a negative
impact on the financial results of the Seadrill Group.

x

Operational risk: The Seadrill Group will be exposed to project risk, contract performance risk,
operational risks, risk associated with political instability, changes in laws and regulations and accidents. In
the event that any of these factors should occur, this could have a negative impact on the financial results of
the Seadrill Group.

x

Risk related to acquisitions: The success of the corporate acquisitions made by Seadrill will depend in part
of Seadrill's ability to retain qualified management and technical personnel currently employed by the
companies acquired and Seadrill's ability to integrate the businesses of these companies in an efficient and
effective manner. Seadrill's failure to do so may result in a significant diversion of management's time from
ongoing business matters, and may have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operation and
financial condition of the Seadrill Group in the future.

x

Commercial risks: The Seadrill Group will also be exposed to commercial risks including market risk in
general, the future development of the price of oil (which affects demand for drilling services), the length of
the actual service life of its rigs and vessels compared to what is expected and technical risks associated
with the operation of its rigs and vessels. In the event that any of these factors should occur, this could have
a negative impact on the financial results of the Seadrill Group.

1.8

Third party statements

The information in Prospectus that has been sourced from third parties has been accurately reproduced and, as
far as the Company is aware and able to ascertain from the information published by that third party, no facts
have been omitted that would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.
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2

Risk Factors

Investing in the Shares involves a high degree of risk. Investors should therefore make adequate independent
investigations before so doing. Prospective investors should, before making an investment decision, carefully
consider the risk factors set forth in the following, in addition to the other information presented in this
Prospectus. The risks discussed below are not the only risks that may affect the Seadrill Group's business or the
value of the Shares. Additional risks not presently known to Seadrill or considered immaterial may also impair
its business operations and prospects.

2.1
2.1.1

Financial risks
General

An investment in the Shares is associated with a high degree of risk.
The Seadrill Group operates in a market featuring open and fierce competition and a number of factors outside
its control may therefore affect its performance. The price of the Shares will also be subject to fluctuations in
line with general movements in the capital markets and the liquidity in the secondary market. Historically, the
earnings of offshore service companies and the value of the equipment used by them have seen major
fluctuations.

2.1.2

Interest rate and currency fluctuations

The Seadrill Group will be exposed to risks due to fluctuations in interest and exchange rates. Seadrill will
attempt to minimise these risks by implementing hedging arrangements as appropriate.
The income due under non-US$ currency denominated charter contracts will be affected by changes in currency
exchange rates or exchange control regulations. Currency exchange rates are determined by forces of supply and
demand on the currency exchange markets. These forces are affected by the international balance of payments,
economic and financial conditions, government intervention, speculation and other factors. Changes in currency
exchange rates relative to the US$ will affect the US$ value of the Seadrill Group's assets and thereby impact
upon the Seadrill Group's total return on such assets. Currency fluctuations relative to the US$ and the currency
of reference of an individual investor may adversely affect the value of an investor's investments.

2.1.3

Investment and trading risks in general

All investments in operational assets involve the risk of loss of capital. The investments made by the Seadrill
Group in its rigs and vessels involve significant economic risks. Although the Seadrill Group's investment and
management strategy is expected to provide some protection from the risk of loss inherent in the ownership of
such assets, there can be no assurance that these strategies will completely protect against this risk or that the
Seadrill Group's investment objectives will be obtained.

2.1.4

Borrowing and leverage

Borrowings create leverage. To the extent income derived from assets obtained with borrowed funds exceeds
the interest and other expenses that the Seadrill Group will have to pay, the Seadrill Group's net income will be
greater than if borrowings were not made. Conversely, if the income from the assets obtained with borrowed
funds is not sufficient to cover the cost of such borrowings, the net income of the Seadrill Group will be less
than if borrowings were not made. The Seadrill Group will borrow only when the Board believes that such
borrowings will benefit the Seadrill Group after taking into account considerations such as the costs of the
borrowings and the likely returns on the assets purchased with the borrowed monies.

2.1.5

Fluctuating value of the fleet

The value of the rigs and vessels may fluctuate with market conditions. Another downturn in the market could
adversely affect the market value of the Seadrill Group’s assets and may result in breaches of its financial
obligations. In such a case, sales of the rigs and/or the vessels could be forced at prices that represent a potential
loss of value.

2.2
2.2.1

Operational risks
Project risk

It is customary in the business in which the Seadrill Group operates that all contracts are charter related, e.g.
structured as time or bareboat charters. The rationale for this is that oil service companies provide a service
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where the schedule and scope of work is controlled and ultimately directed by its customers. In some instances
market participants may accept fixed prices for certain components of the overall contract work scope. Such
instances include mobilisation and demobilisation of a rig to/from a worksite, and the conversion/upgrade of a
rig or vessel to meet specific requirements for a project.
The Seadrill Group's corporate policy is to mitigate project risk at all times by having a strict policy on
termination risk, breakdown risk, off-hire risk, force majeure risk etc, and always to endeavour to find the right
balance and use the best practice available to ensure that project risk is reduced to a minimum.

2.2.2

Contract performance risk

All of the Seadrill Group's newbuildings are under order at yards in Singapore or South Korea. Even with
reputable builders, experience shows that an inherent risk in such construction projects is the possibility of cost
overruns and/or delays. While the Seadrill Group has attempted to cater for such calamities via penalty clauses
in the construction contracts, no assurance can be given that the newbuildings will be delivered on time and/or
on budget.

2.2.3

Operation

The Seadrill Group's rigs and vessels will be exposed to operational risks associated with offshore operations
such as the risk of breakdown, bad weather, technical problems, force majeure situations (nationwide strikes
etc), collisions, grounding etc.

2.2.4

Political instability etc.

Many of the areas where the Seadrill Group has potential business partners and where its rigs or vessels may be
located is characterised by political instability. The rigs and/or vessels may furthermore be located in the
immediate proximity of platforms, floating production vessels and other offshore oilfield infrastructure which
could be subject to terrorist attacks. This may represent a security risk exposure to the rigs and vessels. Even
though the rigs and the vessels have insurance cover against terrorist attacks, such an incident could result in a
substantial loss of revenue and large policy claims to be handled.

2.2.5

Insurances

Operational risks can cause personal injury, the loss of a rig or a vessel, operational disruption, off hire and
termination of contract. In order to mitigate these risks the Seadrill Group has instigated a comprehensive
insurance program. Additional insurance is always contemplated when a specific project is considered to be of a
high risk nature. This can include loss of hire coverage notwithstanding that such insurance is costly.

2.2.6

Laws and regulations

Due to changing community expectations and the direct impact of various oil spill incidents around the world in
recent years, regulation of uncontrolled discharges to the marine environment via international conventions and
legislation has become increasingly stringent and thus poses a material risk to the Seadrill Group. In addition to
those laws and regulations which apply to the Seadrill Group in a country of operation, oil companies typically
attempt to devolve increased risk and liability to the contractor and require indemnification for an increased
range of pollution events which can impact negatively on insurance premiums.
Laws and regulations also affect the construction and ongoing operational cost of the rigs and vessels as health
and safety requirements become progressively stringent over time. The rigs and vessels are outfitted with
modern equipment that meets prevailing (as opposed to historical) standards. The cost to maintain compliance
with these standards increases each year.

2.2.7

Accidents

Offshore drilling rigs are working in harsh environments. There are several factors that can contribute to an
accident including, but not limited to, human errors, weather conditions, faulty constructions, etc.

2.3

Risk Factors relating to the acquisitions made by Seadrill

2.3.1

Retention of key personnel

The success of the acquisitions made by Seadrill over the last 12 months will depend in part of Seadrill's ability
to retain qualified management and technical personnel currently employed by Smedvig in particular.
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2.3.2

Integration

Achieving the anticipated benefits of the acquisitions will depend in part of Seadrill's ability to integrate the
businesses of Seadrill Invest, Mosvold and Smedvig with its own activities in an efficient and effective manner.
The process of integrating the operations of these organizations is expected to take time and there can be no
assurances that Seadrill will be able to accomplish the integration smoothly or successfully. Seadrill's failure to
do so may result in a significant diversion of management's time from ongoing business matters, and may have a
material adverse effect on the business, results of operation and financial condition of the combined company.

2.4
2.4.1

Commercial risks
Seadrill may assume substantial responsibilities

It should be emphasised that contracts in the offshore sector require high standards of safety, and it is important
to note that all offshore contracts are associated with considerable risks and responsibilities. These include
technical, operational, commercial and political risks. The Seadrill Group will obtain insurances deemed
adequate for its business, but it is impossible to insure against all applicable risks and liabilities. For instance,
under some contracts the relevant entity in the Seadrill Group may have unlimited liability for losses caused by
its own gross negligence, whereas such liability in general will not be covered by insurance policies. The
Seadrill Group may also incur liability for pollution and other environmental damage without being able to
recover said liabilities through insurances.

2.4.2

Market risks

The demand for rigs and vessels will always fluctuate pending global market drivers such as global oil & gas
price levels, political climate, economical climate, operators' willingness to invest etc. Fluctuations in the oil
price have historically been shown to have a significant impact on the demand for services such as those the
Seadrill Group is and will be providing. New entrants in the market could also have a negative effect on the
contractual prices as well as the market value of the rigs and vessels.

2.4.3

Political and regulatory risks

Changes in the legislative and fiscal framework governing the activities of oil companies could have a material
impact on exploration and development activity in general or affect the Seadrill Group's operations in particular.
Changes in political regimes may, in particular, constitute a material risk factor for the Seadrill Group's
operations in foreign countries. As many of the Seadrill Group's potential business partners are located in highly
sensitive areas in a political perspective, this is a risk factor that has to be taken under consideration.

2.4.4

Environmental risks

Environmental laws and regulations applicable in the countries in which Seadrill conducts operations have
generally become more stringent. Such laws and regulations may expose Seadrill to liability for the conduct of
or conditions caused by others, or for acts of Seadrill which were in compliance with all applicable laws at the
time such actions were taken. In the past several years, protection of the environment has become a higher and
more visible priority of many governments throughout the world. Offshore drilling in certain areas has been
opposed by governmental groups, and in certain areas, has been restricted. To the extent new laws are enacted or
other governmental actions are taken that prohibit or restrict offshore drilling or impose additional
environmental protection requirements that result in increased cost to the oil and gas industry in general and the
offshore drilling industry in particular, Seadrill’s business or prospects could be materially adversely affected.
Seadrill maintains insurance coverage against certain environmental liabilities, including pollution caused by
sudden and accidental oil spills.

2.4.5

Requisition, arrest etc. of the rigs and vessels

The rigs and vessels may be requisitioned by a government in the case of war or other emergencies or become
subject to arrest. This could significantly and adversely affect the earnings of the relevant rig or vessel.

2.4.6

Oil prices

Historically, demand for offshore exploration, development and production services have been volatile and
closely linked to the price of hydrocarbons. Low oil prices typically lead to a reduction in exploration drilling as
the oil companies' scale down their investment budgets. The sharp reduction in production costs on new oil
fields may, however, reduce the strong historical correlation between day rates and oil prices. A decrease in the
oil prices may, nevertheless, have a material adverse impact on the financial position of the Seadrill Group.
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2.4.7

Service life and technical risks

The service life of each of the rigs and vessels is generally assumed to be more than 30 years, but will ultimately
depend on their efficiency. There can be no assurance that the rigs and vessels will be successfully deployed for
such period of time. There will always be some exposure to technical risks, with unforeseen operational
problems leading to unexpectedly high operating costs and/or lost earnings, which may have a material adverse
effect on the financial position of Seadrill.
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3

Responsibility statements

Seadrill Limited
This Prospectus has been prepared for the purpose of providing information on Seadrill Limited and its activities
in connection with the listing of the 134,000,000 shares issued in the Private Placements.
We, the members of the board of directors of Seadrill Limited, hereby confirm that, having taken all reasonable
care to ensure that such is the case, the information contained in this Prospectus is, to the best of our knowledge,
in accordance with the facts and contain no omissions likely to affect its import. Where information in this
Prospectus has been sourced from a third party, the information has been accurately reproduced and as far as the
Board of Directors of the Company is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by that third
party, no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.
Market developments and future prospects described herein have been assessed to the best of our ability but
should be read in conjunction with the discussion of relevant “Risk Factors” in Section 2 hereof.
Bermuda, 6 July 2006
Board of Directors of Seadrill Limited

John Fredriksen
Chairman

Tor Olav Trøim

Kate Blankenship

Pål Nordgreen

The Managers
Carnegie ASA and Pareto Securities ASA have, at the request of and in co-operation with the board and the
management of Seadrill Limited, prepared this Prospectus. The preparation of this Prospectus has been based on
publicly available information and discussions with the board and management of Seadrill Limited.
We have endeavoured to assist the board of Seadrill Limited in providing as accurate and complete a
presentation of Seadrill Limited as possible. We have, however, not performed a due diligence review of
Seadrill Limited in order to verify the factual information contained in this Prospectus nor its completeness.
Accordingly, the Managers expressly disclaim any legal or financial liability for the correctness or completeness
of the information set out in this Prospectus.
As of the date hereof, Carnegie ASA and its employees hold no shares in Seadrill Limited. As of the same date,
Pareto Securities ASA and its employees hold 1,287 shares in Seadrill Limited.
Oslo, 6 July 2006
Carnegie ASA

Pareto Securities ASA

Norwegian legal counsel
We have acted as Norwegian legal advisor to Seadrill Limited in connection with the preparation of this
Prospectus. We have specifically reviewed Section 11.2 hereof. It is our opinion that the content of this Section,
as far as it pertains to Norwegian law, is correct as of the date hereof.
Our statement is limited to the above and is not related to the content of any other part of this Prospectus. Our
statement is also limited to, and is given on the basis of, Norwegian law only.

Oslo, 6 July 2006
Wiersholm, Mellbye & Bech, advokatfirma AS
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4

Selected Financial Information

4.1

Basis of presentation

4.1.1

Consolidated Financial Statements

The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The Consolidated
Financial Statements include the assets and liabilities of the Seadrill Group. All intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated on consolidation.
The sale of the five Cyprus companies (Ashbourne, Covaldi, Golden Wisdom, Golden Dream and Stormont)
and newbuilding contracts from Greenwich and Seatankers, to Seadrill for US$ 310.12 million and US$ 67.48
million respectively, represented a transfer of entities and assets under common control at the time. As a result,
the transfer has been recorded in Seadrill's accounts at Greenwich’s and Seatankers' historical carrying values.
In accordance with SFAS 141, "Business Combinations", mergers among such affiliated entities must be
accounted for "as if" poolings, consistent with the concept of poolings as combinations of common stockholder
interest under common control.
The purchase was financed by a short-term loan from Hemen of US$ 130.20 million, a shareholders loan from
Greenwich of US$ 175.02 million and a loan from Seatankers of US$ 72.38 million. The equity of the five
Cyprus companies was accounted for in the Consolidated Financial Statements as the opening balance of
Seadrill in accordance with SFAS 141, "Business Combinations". The difference of US$ 157.5 million between
the consideration paid of US$ 377.60 million and the historical carrying values of the assets, after accounting for
the opening balance of equity, arose from the application of SFAS 141, "Business Combinations", and has been
reflected as a decrease to additional paid in capital in Seadrill.
The short-term loan from Hemen and part of the loan from Seatankers were, on June 30, 2005, set off against
the shareholder receivable in a share issuance where Hemen subscribed to 84.994 million Shares at the price of
US$ 2.03 per share totalling US$ 172.53 million.
The remaining shareholder loan from Greenwich of US$ 175.02 million and the loan from Seatankers of US$
30.05 million were refinanced by way of a loan from Nordea in July 2005.
Summary balance sheet information for the five Cyprus companies upon transfer to Seadrill:
(in thousands of US$)
Current assets
Rigs and equipment
FPSO vessels under capital lease, net
Shareholder loan
Other current liabilities
Invested equity

May 10, 2005
8 687
144 368
25 473
(175 025)
(19 739)
16 236

Seadrill paid US$ 67.48 million for the construction contracts acquired from Seatankers while Seatankers's
carrying value for the same was US$ 45.08 million. The difference between these two amounts, US$ 22.40
million, has been accounted for as a decrease in Seadrill's additional paid in capital.

4.1.2

Predecessor Combined Financial Statements

The Predecessor Combined Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The
predecessor to Seadrill (the “Predecessor”) is considered to be the five Cyprus companies sold from Greenwich
to Seadrill. The Predecessor Combined Financial Statements assumes that the Predecessor was operated as a
separate corporate entity prior to the transfer of its businesses to Seadrill.
The Predecessor Combined Financial Statements have been prepared using the historical basis in the assets and
liabilities and historical results of operations of the five Cyprus companies. The Predecessor Combined
Financial Statements generally reflect the financial position, result of operations and cash flows of the
Predecessor as if it had been a single consolidated group for the period presented. The Predecessor Combined
Financial Statements are, however, not necessarily indicative of the financial position, result of operations and
cash flows of the business of the five Cyprus companies in the future or what they would have been had they
operated as a consolidated group during the period presented. The financial position, result of operations and
cash flows may, in fact, have been different if the Predecessor had been operated as a separate corporate entity.
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The effects of all significant transactions between the five Cyprus companies during the period presented in the
Predecessor Combined Financial Statements have been eliminated.
Based on the above, the Predecessor Combined Financial Statements for the periods presented only contains
transactions involving the five Cyprus companies.

4.2

Accounting policies

The historical financial information has been derived from the Company’s annual report for 2005, incorporated
in Appendix 3 and the first quarter report for 2006 incorporated in Appendix 4 to this Prospectus. The historical
financial information for the Predecessor combined for 2004 may be obtained in the listing prospectus dated 18
November 2005, filed with the OSE, or at Seadrill’s web-page: www.seadrill.bm (see Section 13.2 in this
Prospectus).

4.2.1

Basis of accounting

The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Investments in
Subsidiaries are consolidated in the financial statements. All intercompany balances and transactions have been
eliminated on consolidation.
The acquisitions of Seadrill Invest, Mosvold and Smedvig have been accounted for as purchases in accordance
with SFAS No. 141, "Business Combinations". The fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed are
included in Seadrill's Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on the date of acquisition, June 30, 2005 in
respect of Seadrill Invest and 17 February 2006 and 25 January 2006 in respect of Mosvold and Smedvig
respectively.
Investment in companies in which Seadrill holds between 20% and 50% ownership interest and over which
Seadrill exercises significant influence, but does not consolidate, are accounted for using the equity method.
Seadrill records its investments in such companies on the consolidated balance sheets as “Investments in
associated companies” and its share of such companies' earnings or losses in the consolidated statements of
operations as “Share in results from associated companies”. The excess, if any, of purchase price over book
value of Seadrill's investments in such companies is included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
in “Investment in associated companies”.

4.2.2

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles requires
that management make estimates and assumptions affecting the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

4.2.3

Revenue and expense recognition

The majority of the SeaDrill Group's revenues are derived from contracts including day rate based compensation
for drilling and vessel operations and day rate or fixed price mobilisation and demobilisation fees. Revenues
from day rate based compensation, day rate or fixed price mobilisation and demobilisation fees for drilling and
vessel operations are recognised evenly over the entire contract periods. Incremental cost of mobilisation is
deferred and demobilisation costs is accrued and recognised over the contract periods. To the extent that cost
exceeds revenue to be recognised, it is expensed as incurred.
Reimbursements received for the purchase of supplies, equipment, personnel services and other services
provided at the request of the Seadrill Group's customers in accordance with a contract or agreement are
recorded for the net amount billed to the customer after offsetting the costs as part of operating revenue.

4.2.4

Repairs, maintenance and periodic surveys

Normal repair and maintenance costs related to rigs and vessels are charged to expense when incurred.
Previously, Seadrill recognised the cost of periodic surveys at the time the survey took place, that is, it applied
the "expense as incurred" method. As at December 31, 2005, Seadrill has decided to capitalise the costs related
to periodic upgrading overhauls of rigs and amortise thus over the anticipated periods between upgrading
overhauls, which is generally five years, as required by various rules and regulations. Related costs are primarily
shipyard costs and the cost of employees directly involved in the periodic upgrading overhauls.
There is no financial impact from the change in accounting policy for the periodic survey in 2005 as well as in
2004 because the Seadrill Group has not incurred any periodic upgrading overhauls costs.
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4.2.5

Foreign currencies

The Seadrill Group's functional currency is US$ as the majority of revenues are received in US$ and a majority
of the Seadrill Group's expenditures are made in US$. Seadrill's reporting currency is US$. All of Seadrill's
subsidiaries maintain their accounts in their respective functional currencies and report in US$ as of December
31, 2005.
Transactions in foreign currencies during the year are translated into US$ at the rates of exchange in effect at the
date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated using rates of exchange at
the balance sheet date. Foreign currency non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated using historical rates
of exchange. Foreign currency transaction gains or losses are included in the consolidated statements of
operations.

4.2.6

Current and non current classification

Receivables and liabilities are classified as current assets and liabilities, respectively, if their maturity is within
one year of the balance sheet date. Receivables and liabilities not maturing within one year are classified as
long-term assets and long-term liabilities, respectively.

4.2.7

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, demand deposits and highly liquid financial instruments purchased
with original maturities of three months or less.

4.2.8

Restricted cash

Restricted cash consists of bank deposits which may only be used to settle certain pre-arranged loan or lease
payments or minimum deposits which must be maintained in accordance with contractual arrangements.

4.2.9

Marketable securities

Marketable equity securities held by the Seadrill Group are considered to be available-for-sale securities and as
such are carried at fair value with resulting unrealised gains and losses, net of deferred taxes if any, recorded as
a separate component of other comprehensive income in stockholders' equity.
Assets are classified as held for sale when Seadrill has a plan for disposal and those assets meet the held for sale
criteria of SFAS 144, "Accounting for Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets".

4.2.10 Inventories
Inventories comprise principally of fuel and lubricating oils and are stated at the lower of cost and market value.
Cost is determined on a first-in, first-out basis.

4.2.11 Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable are included in the balance sheet at their full amount less allowance for doubtful accounts
receivable. Uncollectible trades accounts receivable are written off when a settlement is reached for an amount
that is less than the outstanding historical balance.

4.2.12 Vessels under capital lease
The Seadrill Group charters in the FPSO vessels under agreements that are classified as capital leases.
Depreciation of vessels under capital lease is included within depreciation and amortisation expense in the
statement of operations. Vessels under capital lease are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the vessels'
remaining economic useful life.

4.2.13 Rigs, vessels and equipment
Rigs, vessels and equipment are recorded at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. The cost of these
assets less estimated residual value is depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated remaining
economic useful lives. The estimated economic useful life of the vessels and rigs are between 25 years and 30
years, respectively.
During the operating life of rigs, the Seadrill Group may upgrade a rig that extend the useful life of the Rig or
modify it for alternative employment. In such instance, the associated costs incurred are capitalised and
depreciated over the new remaining useful life of the rig.
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Significant investments are capitalised and depreciated in accordance with the nature of the investment.
Significant investments that are deemed to increase an asset’s value for its remaining useful life are capitalised
and depreciated over the remaining life of the asset.
Other equipment is depreciated over its estimated remaining useful life, which approximates 5 years.
Cost of property and equipment sold or retired, with the related accumulated depreciation and write-downs are
removed from the balance sheet, and resulting gains or losses are included in the consolidated statement of
operations.

4.2.14 Newbuildings
The carrying value of the newbuildings represents the accumulated costs to the balance sheet date which
Seadrill has had to pay by way of purchase instalments and other capital expenditures together with capitalised
loan interest and associated finance costs. No charge for depreciation is made until the newbuilding is completed
and ready to commence operations.
Rig purchase options are capitalised at the time an option contract is acquired or entered into. Seadrill reviews
expected future cash flows, which would result from the exercise of each option contract on a contract by
contract basis to determine whether the carrying value of the option is recoverable. If the expected undiscounted
future cash flows are less than the carrying value of the option plus further cost to delivery, a provision is made
to write down the carrying value of the option to its recoverable amount. The carrying value of each option
payment is written off as and when Seadrill adopts a formal plan not to exercise the option. Purchase price
payments are capitalised and the total of the option payment, if any, and purchase price payment is transferred to
cost of the rig, upon exercise of the option and delivery of the rig to the Seadrill Group.

4.2.15 Capitalised interest
Interest expenses are capitalised on construction of newbuildings based on accumulated expenditures for the
applicable project at Seadrill's current rate of borrowing. The amount of interest expense capitalised in an
accounting period shall be determined by applying an interest rate(s) ("the capitalisation rate") to the average
amount of accumulated expenditures for the asset during the period. The capitalisation rates used in an
accounting period shall be based on the rates applicable to borrowings outstanding during the period.
If Seadrill's financing plans associate a specific new borrowing with a qualifying asset, the enterprise may use
the rate on that borrowing as the capitalisation rate to be applied to that portion of the average accumulated
expenditures for the asset that does not exceed the amount of that borrowing.
If average accumulated expenditures for the asset exceed the amounts of specific new borrowings associated
with the asset, the capitalisation rate to be applied to such excess shall be a weighted average of the rates
applicable to other borrowings of the Seadrill Group.

4.2.16 Impairment of long-lived assets
The carrying value of long-lived assets that are held and used by the Seadrill Group are reviewed whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may no longer be appropriate.
We assess recoverability of the carrying value of the asset by estimating the future net cash flows expected to
result from the asset, including eventual disposition. If the future net cash flows are less than the carrying value
of the asset, an impairment loss is recorded equal to the difference between the asset's carrying value and fair
value. In addition, long-lived assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of carrying amount and fair value
less estimated costs to sell.

4.2.17 Derivatives
Seadrill applies SFAS 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”, SFAS 137,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities-Deferral of the Effective Date of FASB
Statements 133” and SFAS 138, “Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities
- An amendment of FASB Statements 133”, which require an entity to recognise all derivatives as either assets
or liabilities on the balance sheet and measure these instruments at fair value.
Effective changes in fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges and hedges of a net investment in a
foreign operation are recorded in net unrealised gain/(loss) on derivatives, a separate component of other
comprehensive income (loss). Amounts are reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss when the
underlying hedged item affects earnings and all ineffective changes in fair value are recorded currently in
earnings. Changes in fair value of derivatives designated as fair value hedges are recorded currently in earnings
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offset to the extent the derivative was effective by changes in fair value of the hedged item. Changes in fair
value of derivatives not designated as hedging instruments are recorded currently in earnings. In order to qualify
for hedge accounting under SFAS 133, certain criteria and detailed documentation requirements must be met.

4.2.18 Income taxes
Seadrill is a Bermuda company. Bermuda does not impose corporate income taxes, including withholding taxes.
Certain of its subsidiaries, notably Smedvig, operate in other jurisdictions where taxes are imposed.
Consequently income taxes have been provided in respect of taxes in such jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is involved in determining the Seadrill Group-wide provision for income taxes. There are
certain transactions for which the ultimate tax determination is unclear due to uncertainty in the ordinary course
of business. The Seadrill Group recognises tax liabilities based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be
due.

4.2.19 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (“Basic EPS”) is calculated as net income or loss for the period divided by the
weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. As of December 31, 2005 there were no
dilutive instruments. Diluted earnings per share is therefore equal to Basic EPS.

4.2.20 Deferred charges
Loan related costs, including debt arrangement fees, are capitalised and amortised on an effective interest
method over the tenor of the related loan. Amortisation of loan related costs is included in interest expense.
Capitalisation of loan related costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset for its intended use are in
progress and the expenditures and loan related costs are being incurred. Loan related costs are capitalised until
the asset are ready for their intended use. If the resulting carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable
amount, an impairment loss is recorded.

4.2.21 Financial instruments
In determining fair value of its financial instruments, Seadrill uses variety of methods and assumptions that are
based on market conditions and risk existing at each balance sheet date. For the majority of financial
instruments including most derivatives and long-term debt, standard market conventions and techniques such as
options pricing models are used to determine fair value. All methods of assessing fair value result in a general
approximation of value, and such value may never actually be realised.

4.2.22 Share-based compensation
Seadrill has established an employee share ownership plan under which employees, directors and officers of the
Seadrill Group may be allocated options to subscribe for new shares in Seadrill.
In accordance with APB 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees" and related interpretations in
accounting for employee share-based compensation plans, the compensation costs for stock options is
recognised as an expense over the service period based on the excess, if any, of the quoted market price of the
stock at the grant date of the award on other measurement date over the exercise price to be paid to acquire the
stock.
Seadrill did not record any compensation expense in 2005 as zero share options were granted during this
financial period.

4.2.23 Comprehensive income
Seadrill reports and displays comprehensive income in accordance with SFAS No. 130, Reporting
Comprehensive Income, which establishes standards for reporting and displaying comprehensive income and its
components. Components of comprehensive income are net income and all changes in equity during the period
except those resulting from transactions with owners. SFAS 130 requires enterprises to display comprehensive
income and its components in the enterprise's financial statements, to classify items of comprehensive income
by their nature in the financial statements and display the accumulated balance of other comprehensive income
in shareholders' equity separately from retained earnings and additional paid-in capital.
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4.3
4.3.1

Consolidated and Predecessor Combined Financial Statements
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the periods from 10 May 2005 to
31 December 2005 and from 1 January 2006 to 31 March 2006 and Predecessor
Combined Statement of Operations for the year ended 31 December 2004
Consolidated Statements of
Operation

(in thousands of US$, except per share data).

Predecessor
Combined
Statement of
Operation

Condensed
three
months
ended
March 2006
(Unaudited)

Period from
10 May 2005
to 31
December
2005
(Audited)

Year ended 31
December 2004
(Audited)

191,573

26,639

6,365

107,742

23,302

5,788

14,770

-

-

Operating revenues
Operating expenses
Vessel and rig operating expenses
Reimbursable expenses
General and administrative expenses

13,082

5,810

176

Depreciations and amortisation

32,209

12,943

3,518

23,770

(15,416)

(3,117)

Interest income

3,301

1,692

-

Interest expense

(12,695)

(85)

-

-

(796)

(1,904)

83,570

(177)

(22)

5,313

2,724

-

Fair value of equity shares swap

-

5,321

-

Other income (loss), net

-

827

71

103,259

(5,910)

(4,972)

Operating income (loss)

Interest element included in capital lease obligations
Other financial items
Share of results from associated companies

Net income (loss) before taxes and min. interest
Minority interest

(26,485)

(80)

-

Income taxes

(7,229)

(1,573)

-

Net income (loss)

69,545

(7,563)

(4,972)

0.24

(0.04)

-

69,545

(7,563)

(4,972)

-

82,418

-

69,545

74,855

(4,972)

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share (US$)
CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
STATEMENT
Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Unrealised holding gains on other investments
Comprehensive income
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4.3.2

Consolidated Balance Sheet as of 31 March 2006, 31 December 2005 and
Predecessor Combined Balance Sheet as of 31 December 2004
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands of US$)

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Other investment
Derivatives
Other current assets
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Investment in associated companies
Other non-current assets
Newbuildings and rig purchase options
Rigs and equipment
Vessels under capital lease, net
Goodwill
Total non-current assets

Predecessor
Combined
Balance Sheet
31 December
2004 (Audited)

Condensed
31 March
2006
(Unaudited)

31 December
2005
(Audited)

479,682
533
198,045

49,609
2,190
302,255
5,237
16,556

194
2,539

678,260

375,847

2,733

353,524
43,969
918,403
2,151,529
1,185,943

152,816
2,835
439,268
150,940
27,277
-

99,875
25,791
-

4,653,368

773,136

125,666

5,331,628

1,148,983

128,399

312,384
481,581
-

33,218
26,600
11,272
99,500

1,854
3,377
115,610
-

793,965

170,590

120,841

215,102
2,239,449
223,692

176,750
-

14,761
-

Total non-current liabilities

2,678,243

176,750

14,761

Minority interest
Total stockholders' equity

13,684
1,845,736

1,442
800,201

(7,203)

5,331,628

1,148,983

128,399

Total assets
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Other current liabilities
Short-term interest bearing debt
Current portion of long term debt
Current portion of obligations under capital lease
Shareholder loan
Loan, related party
Total current liabilities
Non current liabilities
Deferred taxes
Long-term interest bearing debt
Non-current portion of obligations under capital lease
Other non-current liabilities

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity
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4.3.3

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow for the periods from 1 January 2006 to
31 March 2006, from 10 May 2005 to 31 December 2005 and Predecessor
Combined Statement of Cash Flow for the year ended 31 December 2004
Consolidated Statements of Cash-Flow

(in thousands of US$)

Condensed
three months
ended 31 Mar 2006
(Unaudited)

From May 10,
2005 to 31 Dec
2005 (Audited)

Predecessor
Combined
Statement of
Cash-Flow
Year ended 31
December 2004
(Audited)

69,545

(7,563)

(4,972)

32,209

13,047

3,518

-

(2,724)

-

Operating activities
Net loss
Adjustment to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortisation
Share of profits of associated companies
Fair value of equity shares swap

-

(5,321)

-

Interest expenses on derivatives

-

85

-

Income attributable to minority interest

-

80

-

Interest element included in capital lease obligations

-

796

-

(80,000)

(827)

-

465,386

-

-

Gains on disposal of other investments
Changes in working capital items:
Inventory

-

(404)

(119)

Trade accounts receivables and others

-

(7,224)

(2,114)

Prepaid expenses

-

(1,628)

(306)

Trade accounts payables and others

-

8,877

1,177

Accrued expenses

-

14,242
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Deferred revenue

-

(253)

-

487,140

11,183

(2,795)

Purchase of other investments

-

(2,093)

-

Cash assumed in purchase of the subsidiaries

-

16,743

-

Net cash used in operating activities
Investing activities

Investment of goodwill
Investment in associated companies
Additions to newbuildings
Additions to rigs, vessels and equipment
Disposal of other investments
Net cash used in investing activities

(1,185,943)

(19,144)

-

(195,395)

(31,353)

-

-

(247,527)

-

(2,405,413)

(21,319)

(102,500)

483,901

48,681

-

(3,302,850)

(256,012)

(102,500)

-

46,676

-

2,286,391

210,000

-

-

(6,650)

-

Financing activities
Proceeds from related party
Proceeds from long term debt
Repayment of loans
Repayment of obligations under capital lease

-

(4,806)

(7,202)

Repayment of shareholder and related party loans

-

(157,569)

112,683

Debts fees paid
Proceeds from issuance of equity
Treasury shares
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period
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-

(1,138)

-

928,049

207,925

2

31,343

-

-

3,245,783

294,438

105,483

430,073

49,609

188

49,609

-

6

479,682

49,609

194

4.4

Condensed Consolidated Segment Information

4.4.1

Mobile units

Thousands of US$

Consolidated
Statements

Q1 2006

Period from 10
May 2005 to 31
December 2005

(Unaudited)

(Audited)

74,714

26,639

Reimbursable

5,811

-

Other revenues

12,899

-

Total revenues

93,424

26,639

Vessel and rig operating expenses

45,826

23,302

Reimbursable expenses

5,241

-

General and administrative expenses

8,691

5,810

Depreciation and amortisation

23,608

12,943

Total operating expenses

83,366

42,055

Operating profit

10,058

(15,416)

Consolidated
Statements

Period from 10
May 2005 to 31
December 2005

Operating revenues

4.4.2

Tender rigs

Thousands of US$

Q1 2006
(Unaudited)
Operating revenues

31,155

-

Reimbursable

1,261

-

Other revenues

2,176

-

Total revenues

34,592

-

Vessel and rig operating expenses

15,612

-

1,201

-

861

-

7,370

-

25,044

-

9,548

-

Reimbursable expenses
General and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Total operating expenses
Operating profit
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4.4.3

Well Services

Thousands of US$

Consolidated
Statements

Q1 2006

Period from 10
May 2005 to 31
December 2005

(Unaudited)
Operating revenues

54,969

-

8,589

-

Total revenues

63,558

-

Vessel and rig operating expenses

46,303

-

Reimbursable expenses

8,328

-

General and administrative expenses

3,530

-

Depreciation and amortisation

1,232

-

59,393

-

4,165

-

Reimbursable

Total operating expenses
Operating profit

4.5

Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

4.5.1

Introduction

The pro forma figures has been prepared for illustrative purposes only, and because of its nature, the pro forma
financial information addresses a hypothetical situation and, therefore, does not represent the Company's actual
financial position or results.
The US GAAP pro forma figures for 2005 shown below are a set of financial figures prepared in order to
understand the operations of Seadrill, inclusive of Mosvold and Smedvig. A short description of the transactions
is made in Section 6.1. The pro forma statements for 2005 include Seadrill’s current activities and the full effect
of the acquisitions of Smedvig and Mosvold, as if the acquisitions were made at the start of the period on
January 1, 2005. However, the preliminary purchase price allocations (e.g., assigning the acquisition cost to the
acquired assets such as rigs and well services tangible assets, or assumed liabilities such as in favourable
contract values and deferred tax liabilities on the basis of fair value) have been based on the December 31, 2005
balance sheets of each of these entities. Amortization of excess values identified in the preliminary purchase
price allocation has been recognized in the 2005 pro forma income statement as if the acquisitions were made at
the start of the period, without reducing the recorded fair values of acquired assets/liabilities in the pro forma
balance sheet as of December 31, 2005.
Ernst & Young has performed a limited review of the pro forma adjustments in the US GAAP pro forma
accounts for the year ended December 31, 2005. The pro forma figures reflect what the significant effects on the
historical financial information might have been had the transactions occurred at an earlier date. However, the
pro forma financial information is not necessarily indicative of what the results of operations or financial
position would have been had the transactions actually occurred earlier.
The pro forma financial figures for 2005 have been prepared based upon the requirements of the OSE. This
information is not necessarily in compliance with SEC Regulation S-X in the United States, and should this
Prospectus be registered under the US Securities Act, this pro forma information, including the review report by
the auditors, would be amended and/or removed from any registration statement under the US Securities Act.
The US GAAP pro forma accounts for 2005 have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies
adopted by Seadrill as stated in Section 4.2.
Please refer to note 28 of Smedvig’s annual accounts for 2005 for a description of the differences between IFRS
and US GAAP. The annual report is set out in Appendix 6 to this Prospectus.
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4.5.2

Purchase Price Allocation

The Seadrill Group have paid a consideration of NOK 15,308 million, equivalent to US$ 2,303.5 million for the
acquisition of 100% of the share capital of Smedvig.
Seadrill had paid a consideration of NOK 2,367 million, equivalent to US$ 352.8 million for the acquisition of
99.8% of the share capital of Mosvold.
The acquired assets will be valued to take into account the current market valuations of Mosvold and Smedvig's
rigs and newbuilding contracts and the value of Smedvig's well services tangible assets, associated companies,
deferred tax adjustments and unfavourable contract values on mobile and tenders rigs. The purchase price paid
in excess of the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired (excess purchase price) will be allocated to
goodwill.
Pending completion of a complete analysis of the purchase price allocation, the preliminary estimate of the fair
value of the acquired assets is as follows:

Net assets
Rigs & equipment
Newbuildings and rig purchase option
Well services tangible assets
Associated companies
Deferred tax
Unfavourable contract values
Goodwill
Purchase price

Smedvig
US$’000

Mosvold
US$’000

Total
US$’000

432,986
982,306
20,000
14,927
125,237
(152,600)
(298,902)
1,123,954
1,179,532
2,303,486

226,246
109,751
335,997
16,819
352,816

659,232
982,306
129,751
14,927
125,237
(152,600)
(298,902)
1,459,951
1,196,351
2,656,302

The historical financial information for Smedvig and Mosvold ending 31 December 2006 has been included in
this Prospectus as Appendices 6 and 7 respectively.

4.5.3

Financing of the acquisitions

The acquisition of Smedvig and Mosvold was financed by bank loans and the Private Placements.

4.5.4

Comments to the pro forma financials as of 31 December 2005

Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Statement of Income - 2005
The tables below show the pro forma US GAAP financial figures for the year ended December 31, 2005. The
figures are compiled as follows:
Column 1:

Seadrill’s audited income statement for the period from May 10 through December 31, 2005
(which includes Seadrill Invest).

Column 2:

Mosvold’s audited income statement for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Column 3:

Smedvig’s audited income statement for the year ended December 31, 2005. The Income
Statement has been translated from NOK into US$ using the average rate for the year of
US$ 1.00 = NOK 6.44. The US GAAP Income Statement has been derived from the Income
Statement prepared in accordance with IFRS and adjusted for (i) the US GAAP reconciliation
as disclosed in the notes to the financial statements of Smedvig (see note 28 in the annual
report for 2005, incorporated as Appendix 6 in this Prospectus); and (ii) the accounting of
certain joint ventures in accordance with the equity method of accounting under US GAAP.
These joint ventures have been accounted for in accordance with the proportionate
consolidation method under IFRS.

Column 4:

Combined income statement of Seadrill, Smedvig and Mosvold as a consolidated reporting
entity, before pro forma adjustments.

Column 5:

Alignment of accounting policies, preliminary purchase price allocations, capital issue for
financing the acquisitions and working capital, and the recognition of minority interests.

Column 6:

Consolidated pro forma income statement for Seadrill, Smedvig and Mosvold as a
consolidated reporting entity.
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The Private Placements do not affect the pro forma income statement for 2005 other than through reduced
interest expenses.
With recognition of the acquisitions of Smedvig and Mosvold taking effect as of January 1, 2005, the purchase
price allocations and the financing of the acquisitions have the following impacts on the pro forma income
statement:
(1)

In the purchase price allocation of the drilling units, the market price was not adjusted for unfavourable
existing employment contracts. The said employment contracts were however assessed on a separate
basis. It was then concluded that they had a negative value compared to the ongoing rig market – i.e. the
day-rates for hiring drilling units at the acquisition date were higher than the Company’s existing
employment contracts. The estimated unfavourable contract value is expected to be amortised over the
terms of the contract of two to five years resulting in US$ 113,561,000 being recognised as adjusted
operating revenue in 2005.

(2)

Additional depreciation has been recognised in the accounts for 2005 by way of a fair value adjustment to
the value of the rigs and well services tangible assets of US$ 63,100,000.

(3)

The financing costs from the acquisition loan, net of capitalized interest, are reflected as US$ 66,184,000
in “interest expense”.

(4)

The adjustment to reflect the results from associated companies accounted for under the equity method of
US$ 4,200,000 also reflects the additional depreciation charge resulting from the fair value adjustment of
rigs owned by Smedvig's associated companies.

(5)

The fees related to the loan are amortised over the loan period. The amortisation of US$ 5,719,000 net of
a gain of US$ 2,869,000 from a swap contract is recognised as loss in “other financial items” of
US$ 2,850,000.

(6)

The share of results of minority interests is reflected as US$ 2,000 in “minority interests” in the income
statement.

(7)

The adjustment for the tax benefit resulted from amortisation of the negative contract value and additional
depreciation is recorded as US$ 14,098,000 in the Income Statement.

Excess purchase price related to goodwill is not amortised in the pro forma financials. Goodwill will be tested
for impairment annually and evaluated to determine whether there is an indication that the assets, to which the
goodwill is allocated, may be impaired. See Section 4.2.16 for accounting policies regarding impairment of
long-lived assets.
Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2005
Column 1:

Seadrill’s audited balance sheet as of December 31, 2005 (including Seadrill Invest).

Column 2:

Mosvold’s audited balance sheet as of December 31, 2005.

Column 3:

Smedvig’s audited balance sheet as of December 31, 2005. The balance sheet has been
translated from NOK into US$ using the closing rate as of December 31, 2005 of US$ 1.00 =
NOK 6.7. The US GAAP balance sheet has been derived from the balance sheet prepared in
accordance with IFRS and adjusted for (i) the US GAAP reconciliation as disclosed in the
notes to the financial statements of Smedvig (see note 28 in the annual report for 2005,
incorporated as Appendix 6 in this Prospectus); and (ii) the accounting of certain joint
ventures in accordance with the equity method of accounting under US GAAP. These joint
ventures have been accounted for in accordance with the proportionate consolidation method
under IFRS.

Column 4:

Combined balance sheet of Seadrill, Smedvig and Mosvold as a consolidated reporting entity
as of 31 December 2005, before pro forma adjustments.

Column 5:

Alignment of accounting policies, preliminary purchase price allocations, capital issue for
financing the acquisitions and working capital, and the recognition of minority interests.

Column 6:

Consolidated pro forma balance sheet as of 31 December 2005 for Seadrill, Smedvig and
Mosvold as a consolidated reporting entity after pro forma adjustments.

As described in Section 4.5.2, the purchase price is allocated to specific underlying assets. These assets are now
specified in separate lines in the pro forma balance sheet.
(1)

The excess purchase price allocated to new buildings of US$ 129,751,000 plus capitalized interest of
US$ 3,482,000 and net of US$ 8,400,000 for an adjustment for accrued costs of Smedvig's newbuildings,
to make Smedvig’s accounting policy consistent with that of Seadrill, is reflected as US$ 124,833,000 in
“newbuildings and equipment”.
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(2)

The excess purchase price allocated to Smedvig's rigs and equipment is US$ 982,306,000 in “rigs, vessels
and equipment”.

(3)

The excess purchase price allocated to well services tangible assets is reflected as US$ 14,927,000 in
“other tangible assets”.

(4)

The excess purchase price allocated to Smedvig's associated companies and the elimination of the
investment in Mosvold as associates is reflected as US$ 29,994,000 in “investment in associated
companies”.

(5)

The unamortised short term portion of financing fees is reflected as US$ 4,759,000 in “prepaid expenses
and accrued income”. The unamortised long term portion of financing fees of US$ 4,759,000 plus the
adjustment to make Smedvig’s accounting policies consistent with that of Seadrill’s on deferred financing
fees has resulted in US$ 6,300,000 being reclassified from “long term interest bearing debt” to “deferred
charges”. The total amount reflected in “deferred charges” is US$ 11,059,000.

(6)

The reversal of the fair value of the Smedvig share swap is reflected as reduction of US$ 5,237,000 in the
“derivative instruments receivable amount”.

(7)

The excess purchase price allocated to the short term unfavourable contract values of Smedvig's mobile
and tender rigs, net of adjustment of US$ 8,400,000 to newbuilding costs, is reflected as US$ 105,161,000
in “other current liabilities”.

(8)

The excess purchase price allocated to the long term portion of unfavourable contract values of Smedvig's
mobile and tender rigs is reflected as US$ 185,341,000 in “other non-current liabilities”.

(9)

The long term financing of these assets and the realignment of Smedvig's accounting policies to make
them consistent with Seadrill’s policies are reflected as US$ 1,150,744,000 in “long-term interest bearing
debt”.

(10) The excess purchase price allocated to deferred tax is reflected as US$ 152,600,000 in “deferred tax”.
(11) The US$ 2 par value of the 134 million shares issued in the Private Placements, net of Smedvig and
Mosvold’s share capital, is reflected as a reduction of US$ 109,294,000 in share capital, and the excess of
the issued price over the par value of the shares issued in the Private Placements is reflected as
US$ 1,185,129,000 in “additional paid in capital”.
(12) US$ 30,347,000 represents the increase in proceeds from the loan and the Private Placements, net of the
purchase price, and is reflected as a reduction in “cash and cash equivalents” in the balance sheet.
(13) The excess purchase price not allocated to underlying assets is reflected as US$ 1,196,351,000 in
“goodwill”.
(14) Accumulated (loss) earnings are negatively affected by the reallocation of equity and the pro forma
adjustments by net US$ 280,769,000.
(15) An interest accrual of US$ 84,599 related to a swap transaction of Smedvig shares which is reversed in
the pro forma adjustments.
(16) The adjustment of US$ 512,000 is related to the minority interest in Mosvold Drilling and Smedvig.
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4.5.5

Pro forma financial figures - 2005

Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Statement of Income as of 31 December 2005
Unaudited

US$ ‘000

Before Pro
forma
Smedvig Adjustment

Seadrill

Mosvold

26,639

-

608,540

635,179

(29,112)

(888)

(425,776)

Unaudited

After
Pro forma
Pro forma
Adjustment Adjustment

Operating income and expenses
Operating revenues
Operating costs

113,561(1)

748,740

(455,776)

-

(455,776)

(2)

(158,186)

Depreciation and amortisation

(12,943)

-

(82,143)

(95,086)

(63,100)

Total operating expenses

(42,055)

(888)

(507,919)

(550,862)

(63,100)

(613,962)

Operating profit (loss)

(15,416)

(888)

100,621

84,317

50,461

134,778

1,692

1,895

3,416

7,003

-

7,003

(35,248)

(37,808)

(3)

(103,992)

9,938

12,662

(4,200) (4)

8,462

Financial income and expenses
Interest income
Interest expense
Share of results from associated
companies

(881)

(1,679)

2,724

(66,184)

Other financial items (loss), net

5,971

(3)

(11,025)

(5,057)

(2,850) (5)

(7,907)

Result from financial
transactions

9,506

213

(32,919)

(23,200)

(73,234)

(96,434)

(5,910)

(675)

67,702

61,117

(22,773)

38,344

(80)

-

-

(80)

2 (6)

(78)

(7)

39,609

(36,869)

77,875

Income(loss) before taxes
Minority interests
Taxes

(1,573)

-

55,280

53,707

Net income (loss)

(7,563)

(675)

122,982

114,744
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(14,098)

Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet as of 31.12.05
Unaudited

US$’ 000
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Other receivables
Marketable securities
Derivatives instruments receivable
amount
Trade accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and accrued
income
Inventory
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Goodwill
Newbuildings and rig purchase
Option
Rigs and equipment
Vessels under capital lease, net
Other tangible assets
Financial fixed assets
Investments in associated
Companies
Deferred charges
Total non-current assets
Total assets

Seadrill Mosvold

Consolidated
Before
Smedvig Adjustment

Pro forma
Adjustment

Unaudited
Consolidated
After
Adjustment

51,799
504
302,255

230,587
-

104,776
-

387,162
504
302,255

30,347 (12)
-

417,509
504
302,255

5,237
11,466

657

75,075

5,237
87,198

(5,237) (6)
-

87,198

4,027
559
375,847

231,244

56,716
236,567

60,743
559
843,658

4,759 (5)
29,869

65,502
559
873,527

-

-

-

-

1,196,351 (13)

1,196,351

439,268
150,940
27,277

13,600
1,041,325

-

86,019
-

23,134
1,344

538,887
1,192,265
27,277
23,134
1,344

124,833 (1)
982,306 (2)
(3)
14,927
-

663,720
2,174,571
27,277
38,061
1,344

152,816
2,835
773,136

86,019

157,164
1,236,567

309,980
2,835
2,095,722

29,994 (4)
11,059 (5)
2,359,470

339,974
13,894
4,455,192

1,148,983

317,263

1,473,134

2,939,380

2,389,339

5,328,719
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Pro Forma Balance Sheet (cont’d)
Unaudited Unaudited
Consolidated
Consolidated
After
Before
Pro forma
Smedvig Adjustment Adjustment Adjustment

Seadrill

Mosvold

12,756
663
13,841
26,600

14,384
-

18,657
5,970
79,851

45,797
663
19,811
106,451

Total current liabilities

11,272
99,500
1,217
4,741
170,590

14,384

112,836
217,314

11,272
99,500
1,217
117,577
402,288

105,161(7)
105,076

11,272
99,500
1,217
222,738
507,364

Non-current liabilities
Long-term interest bearing debt
Deferred tax
Pension
Other non-current liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

176,750
176,750

77,800
77,800

726,119
60,000
36,716
822,835

980,669
60,000
36,716
1,077,385

1,150,744(9)
152,600(10)
185,341(8)
1,488,685

2,131,413
212,600
36,716
185,341
2,566,070

1,442

-

-

1,442

512 (16)

1,954

458,266
267,080

1,175
224,579

117,462
258,657

576,903 (109,294) (11)
750,316 1,185,129(11)

467,609
1,935,445

82,418
(7,563)

(675)

1,646
55,220

84,064
(14)
46,982 (280,769)

84,064
(233,787)

800,201

225,079

432,985

1,458,265

795,066

2,253,331

317,263 1,473,134

2,939,380

2,389,339

5,328,719

LIABILITIES AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Trade accounts payable
Other payables
Accrued expenses
Current portion of long term debt
Current portion of obligations
under capital lease
Loan, related party
Amount due to related parties
Other current liabilities

Minority interests
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital
Additional paid in capital
Accumulated other
comprehensive income
Accumulated (loss) earnings
Total shareholders’ equity
Total shareholders’ equity and
total liabilities

4.5.6

1,148,983

45,797
663
19,726
106,451

(85) (15)

Report on review of pro forma financial information

Below is a transcript of the review report from Ernst & Young, incorporated as Appendix 5 in this Prospectus:
“We have reviewed the pro forma adjustments reflecting the transactions in which SeaDrill Limited acquires
Smedvig ASA and Mosvold Drilling Limited described in the sections 4.5.1 through 4.5.4 in the prospectus and
the application of those adjustments to the historical amounts in the accompanying pro forma condensed
balance sheet of SeaDrill Limited as of December 31, 2005, and the pro forma condensed statement of income
for the period then ended. These historical condensed financial statements are derived from the financial
statements of SeaDrill Limited for the period May 10, 2005 to December 31, 2005, which were audited by us,
the 2005 consolidated financial statements of Smedvig ASA that were audited by KPMG AS and the financial
statements of Mosvold Drilling Limited for the period September 23, 2005 to December 31, 2005 that were
audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers AS.
Such Pro Forma adjustments are based on management's assumptions. SeaDrill Limited’s Board of Directors
and management are responsible for the pro forma financial information.
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Our review was conducted in accordance with Norwegian Auditing Standard SBR 2400. A review is
substantially less in scope than an examination, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion on
management's assumptions, the pro forma adjustments and the application of those adjustments to historical
financial information. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.
The objective of this pro forma financial information is to show what the significant effects on the historical
financial information might have been had the transaction occurred at an earlier date. However, the pro forma
condensed financial statements are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations or related effects on
financial position that would have been attained had the above-mentioned transaction actually occurred earlier.
Based on our review, nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that management's assumptions do
not provide a reasonable basis for presenting the significant effects directly attributable to the above-mentioned
transactions described in the sections 4.5.1 through 4.5.4 in the prospectus, that the related pro forma
adjustments do not give appropriate effect to those assumptions, or that the pro forma column does not reflect
the proper application of those adjustments to the historical financial statement amounts in the pro forma
condensed balance sheet as of December 31, 2005, and the pro forma condensed statement of income for the
period then ended, or that the pro forma financial statement is not consistent with the accounting policies of
SeaDrill Limited following the acquisition of Smedvig ASA and Mosvold Drilling Limited.
Ernst & Young AS
Oslo, Norway
Arne Dale
6 July, 2006”
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5

Operating and financial review

5.1

Information on financial condition and operating results

The purpose of this Section is to provide an explanation of factors that have affected the Seadrill Group's
financial condition and the results of its operations for the historical periods covered by the financial statements
together with management's assessment of factors and trends which are expected to have a material effect on the
Seadrill Group's financial condition and the result of the Seadrill Group's operation in future periods. There has
been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Group which has occurred since the date of
its last published financial statements.

5.1.1

Financial condition

At the end of the first quarter of 2006, cash and cash equivalents amounted to US$ 479.7 million, an increase of
US$ 430.1 million compared to year-end 2005. Net cash provided by the operating activities amounted to US$
487.2 million. Net investments of US$ 3,302.8 million were mainly related to the acquisition of Mosvold and
Smedvig. Net cash from financing activities was US$ 3,245.7 million reflecting the proceeds from issuance of
new equity, the new US$ 1.2 billion loan facility as well as the existing debt in Mosvold and Smedvig. As of 31
March 2006 the Seadrill Group had cash and cash equivalents of US$ 479.7 million. The Seadrill Group had, at
the same date, a total interest bearing debt of US$ 2,721.0 million outstanding, of which US$ 481.6 million is
short-term and US$ 2,239.4 is long-term.
As of 31 December 2005 the Seadrill Group had cash and cash equivalents of US$ 51.8 million which included
US$ 2.2 million of restricted cash. Seadrill had at the same date, a total interest bearing debt of US$ 314.1
million outstanding, of which US$ 106.1 million was repaid in January 2006. See also section 4.3.3 above.

5.1.2

Capital resources

The following discussion of capital resources of the Seadrill Group are derived from and should be read in
conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2005 presented in
Section 4.3.3.
Seadrill requires cash to service its debt, fund the equity portion of investments in its newbuilding program, fund
working capital and maintain cash reserves against fluctuations in operating cash flow. Net cash flow generated by
continuing operations has historically been the main source of liquidity for Seadrill. Additional sources of liquidity
have also included proceeds from equity issues, borrowings and refinancings.
Seadrill's ability to generate cash flow from operations will depend upon its future performance, which will be
subject to general economic conditions and to financial, business and other factors affecting its operations, many
of which are beyond its control.
The Seadrill Group's asset base as of the date hereof consists of seventeen operative units and ten rigs under
construction in addition to its minority holdings in Apexindo, Varia Perdana, Eastern and the joint venture with
KFELS.

5.2

Key information and key figures

5.2.1

Working capital Statement

In the opinion of Seadrill, its working capital is sufficient for its present requirements.
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5.2.2

Capitalization and indebtedness

The following table shows Seadrill's actual capitalization as of 31 December 2005 and 31 March 2006, being
the last disclosed financial statements of Seadrill and such changes thereto as have occurred in the period since
31 December 2004 and up to the date of this Prospectus.
(in thousands of US$)

Predecessor
Combined

Consolidated
Three months
ended 31 March
2006

31 December
2005

31 December
2004

Share capital
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Accumulated profit (loss)
Invested equity

648,300
1,005,100
82,400
109,900
-

458,266
267,080
82,418
(7,563)
-

(7,203)

Shareholders equity
Long term borrowings (secured)

1,845,700
2,239,400

800,201
176,750

(7,203)
-

Total

4,085,100

976,951

(7,203)

There has been no material change since the date of Seadrill’s last published financial information.

5.2.3

Key figures of the Seadrill Group
Consolidated

Predecessor
Combined

Three months
ended 31
March 2006

Period from
May 10, 2005
(inception) to 31
December 2005

Year ended
31 December
2004

2.92

0.50

1.60

0.24

(0.04)

(829)

-

-

-

Cash flow per share in US$

0.35

0.03

(242)

Book equity per share (end of period) in US$4)

6.27

4.19

(1,201)

Net profit margin1)
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share (US$)

2)

Dividends per share
3)

Equity ratio (%) (end of period) 5)

34.6%

69.6%

-

Average number of shares (‘000)

294,518

190,918

6

1)

(Year end result/result of the period) / (Operating income)

2)

(Year end result/result of the period) / (Average number of shares in the year/period)

3)

(Year end result/result of the period plus depreciations) / (Average number of shares in the year/period)

4)

(Total equity at end of year/period) / (Average number of shares in the year/period)

5)

(Total equity) / (Total assets) at year end/end of period
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5.3

Investments

Below is an overview of the investments by Seadrill as of 31 March 2006 (all amounts in US$ thousands):

Newbuildings
Hull number B-2651) (Delivered on 2
May 2006)
Hull number B-272- KFELS 2)
Hull number B-277- KFELS 3)
Hull number 2011 - PPL 4)
Hull number 11-1085 - Jurong
Hull number 11-1086 - Jurong
Hull number 3019 - Daewoo
Hull number 3020 - Daewoo
Hull number B-291 - KFELS
Hull number 1657 - Samsung6)
Hull number 1687 - Samsung
1)
2)
3)
4)
5)
6)

Total contract
price5)
US$’000

Instalment
paid as of 31
December
2005
US$’000

Instalment
Paid in Q1
2006
US$’000

Instalment Paid
as of 31 March
2006
US$’000

112,067
122,868
128,800
128,800
394,921
408,921
505,503
495,933
131,724
453,123
453,123
3,335,783

22,800
24,200
51,300
19,300
59,600
60,000
73,400
0
0
68,000
0
378,600

2,800
4,800
74,300
13,200
68,000
163,100

22,800
27,000
51,300
19,300
59,600
60,000
78,200
74,300
13,200
68,000
68,000
541,700

At time of acquisition US$ 22.8 million has already been paid under the contract
At time of acquisition US$ 12.1 million has already been paid under the contract
At time of acquisition US$ 25.7 million has already been paid under the contract
At time of acquisition US$ 19.3 million has already been paid under the contract
Including change of order, but excluding spars, accrued interest expenses, construction supervision and operation preparation and
mobilization
US$ 68 million was paid before the Samsung 1657-contract was acquired by Seadrill

Investments

Percentage
of Holdings
as per 6
July 2006
%

Paid as per
31.
December
2005

Paid as
per 31
March
2006

Total
Purchase
Price as per 6
July 2006
US$’000

100.00
0.00
99.99
33.04
99.99
100.00

377,600
217,745
208,151
54,984
95,110
2,093

3,242
245,487
2,282,473

377,600
211,474
54,984
352,816
2,303,486
3,300,360

Stormont, Covaldi, Ashbourne, Golden Wisdom,
Golden Dream and newbuildings contracts
Oceanrig
Seadrill Invest
Apexindo
Mosvold
Smedvig

5.4

Financing Arrangements

5.4.1

General

The Seadrill Group's current external debt structure is a reflection of the acquisitions made by Seadrill since its
incorporation.
It is the intention of the Board to restructure the Seadrill Group's external debt in order to define a longer term
perspective for its repayments and to arrange the financing of its newbuilding program during 2006.

5.4.2

Financing of the subsidiaries acquired from Greenwich

Greenwich had financed the activities of each of Ashbourne, Covaldi, Golden Dream, Golden Wisdom and
Stormont with shareholder loans.
The aggregate of such shareholder loans as of 30 June 2005 (when Seadrill acquired ownership to the said
companies) was US$ 175,024,760.
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Seadrill agreed, as a condition for the purchase, to refinance these loans within 31 July 2005.
On 20 July 2005 Seadrill took up a loan of US$ 185 million from Nordea. The loan was, when drawn by
Seadrill, passed on to the subsidiaries as shareholder loans thus enabling them to settle their obligations with
Greenwich.
The excess amount was used to reduce the seller's credit granted by Seatankers under the restated purchase and
subscription agreement.
The loan from Nordea was granted on market terms and contains the following key terms and covenants:
x

The loan is secured by first priority mortgages over “Seadrill 7”, “Seadrill 6” and “Seadrill 5” and a first
priority assignment over their earnings and the earnings of Golden Dream and Golden Wisdom.

x

If the aggregate of the market value of the rigs and vessels securing the loan falls below 140% of the
loan during the first 24 months after the drawdown date or below 160% at any time thereafter, Seadrill
shall forthwith either prepay such part of the loan as is necessary to restore such ratio or provide
additional security which, in the sole opinion of Nordea, is deemed satisfactory for restoring such ratio.

x

Seadrill and the five subsidiaries shall maintain free cash representing a minimum of 7% of its total
liabilities.

x

Seadrill shall at any time maintain a positive working capital.

x

Seadrill shall maintain the ratio of its EBITDA to its interest expenses above 2.00 to 1.00.

x

Seadrill shall maintain the ratio of its total liabilities to total assets at less than 0.65 to 1.00.

x

Greenwich shall remain the owner, directly or indirectly, of at least thirty-four per cent (34%) of the
issued voting share capital of Seadrill.

5.4.3

Financing of newbuilding contracts for Semi-submersible rigs

Seadrill has not yet concluded any finance arrangements for the construction of the four newbuilding Semisubmersible rigs ordered at Daewoo and Jurong.
Offers for such financing will be obtained during 2006 and Seadrill is confident that such will be forthcoming
on acceptable terms.

5.4.4

Financing of M/V "Crystal Sea" and M/V "Crystal Ocean"

These vessels have been chartered in by each of Golden Wisdom and Golden Dream on bareboat terms with
purchase options.
The charters expire on 15 October 2006 at which time the purchase options can be declared at the latest.
The option price for M/V "Crystal Sea" at the expiry of the charter will be US$ 2.4 million and the option price
for M/V "Crystal Ocean" at the expiry of its charter will be US$ 3.6 million.
Seadrill expects to declare these options at the conclusion of the charterparties.

5.4.5

Financing of Hull number B-277 at KFELS and Hull number 2011 at PPL

Seadrill has entered into a loan facility agreement with Nordea in the amount of US$ 100 million for the purpose
of part financing the construction of Hull number B-277 at KFELS and Hull number 2011 at PPL.
Seadrill has, as of the date hereof, drawn US$ 50 million of this commitment and provided this as internal loans
of USD 25 million to each of Caleb and Stella.
The loan is secured against the jack-up rigs ordered by Caleb and Stella (see section 7.4.1 for a description of
the jack-up rigs).
The key terms and covenants for this loan are similar to the terms applying to the US$ 185 million loan:
x

If the aggregate of the market value of the rigs and vessels securing the loan falls below 140% of the
loan during the first 24 months after the drawdown date or below 160% at any time thereafter, Seadrill
shall forthwith either prepay such part of the loan as is necessary to restore such ratio or provide
additional security which, in the sole opinion of Nordea, is deemed satisfactory for restoring such ratio.

x

Seadrill and the five subsidiaries (Ashbourne, Covaldi, Golden Wisdom, Golden Dream and Stormont)
shall maintain free cash representing a minimum of 7% of its total liabilities.

x

Seadrill shall at any time maintain a positive working capital.
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x

Seadrill shall maintain the ratio of its EBITDA to its interest expenses above 2.00 to 1.00.

x

Seadrill shall maintain the ratio of its total liabilities to total assets at less than 0.65 to 1.00.

x

Greenwich shall remain the owner, directly or indirectly, of at least thirty-four per cent (34%) of the
issued voting share capital of Seadrill.

Interest is accruing at LIBOR plus a margin of 0.55% and the loan will mature on 5 October 2010.
Greenwich has guaranteed to Nordea that, if the remaining construction financing for these two rigs (estimated
at US$ 115 million) cannot be raised by the Seadrill Group on a stand alone basis, it will assist in raising the
same by way of guarantees or otherwise.

5.4.6

Financing of "Seadrill 3"

This unit was delivered to Seadrill Invest I on 2 May 2006. It was identified as Hull number B-265 at KFELS
prior to delivery.
The purchase price has been financed by utilising available cash in Seadrill.
On 30 June 2006, Seadrill entered into a sale and leaseback transaction with Ship Finance International Limited
in which Seadrill sells the jack-up rig Seadrill 3 and at the same time lease it back for a 15 year period. Seadrill
has in addition a right to repurchase the rig after three years or on five uneven anniversaries thereafter until the
end of the charter. The exercise price after three years is US$ 135.5 million, decreasing to US$ 60 million at the
end of the 15 year charter.

5.4.7

Financing of Hull number B-272 and B-291 at KFELS

These units have been ordered by Seadrill Invest II and Seadrill invest III and shall be delivered in Q3/2007 and
Q2/2008, respectively.
The purchase price of these units has been so far been financed by utilising available cash in Seadrill. US$ 24.5
million of this was borrowed from Mosvold.
The terms for the loan from Mosvold include interest accruing at LIBOR plus a margin of 3% and final
repayment at 30 November 2006 at the latest.
No arrangements have yet been made for the financing of these units. Seadrill expects, however, to have such in
place in the medium term and is confident that satisfactory offers for such financing will be received.

5.4.8

Bond issue Mosvold

Mosvold has issued US$ 80 million worth of bonds on the terms set forth in a loan agreement between Mosvold
and Norsk Tillitsmann ASA (as trustee for the bond holders).
The bonds have a 9.25% coupon and are due for repayment in October 2010.
The bonds are secured by a first priority assignment of Mosvold's rights under its first construction contract with
Samsung and shall, subsequent to the delivery of this Drillship, be secured by a second priority mortgage
thereover (see section 7.4.1 “the Drillship newbuildings”). The first priority mortgage shall not exceed US$
240 million.
No instalments are payable until the due date for the bonds.
The bonds will be due and payable if the first construction contract is sold or transferred by Mosvold to a party
other than a wholly owned subsidiary of Mosvold. The amount to be repaid in such event shall include premium
of 8% if prepayment occurs prior to 12 October 2006, 7% if prepayment occurs between 13 October 2006 and
12 October 2007, 6% if prepayment occurs between 12 October 2007 and 12 October 2008 and 4.5% if
prepayment occurs between 13 October 2008 and final maturity.
Mosvold has the right to redeem the bonds at a 4.5% premium from 13 October 2008. Mosvold may acquire and
hold the bonds itself.
Other terms are market compatible.

5.4.9

Smedvig Holding – Bridge Loan Facility Agreement

Smedvig Holding has financed its acquisition of Smedvig by way of a bridge loan facility in the amount of
US$ 1.2 billion provided by Nordea and DnB NOR. As of 31 March 2006 USD 609 million was drawn of the
facility. On 7 April 2006 the Company increased the loan by USD 535 million to USD 1,144 million related to
the financing of the mandatory offer of the outstanding shares in Smedvig.
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The loan shall be repaid with one instalment in the amount of US$ 400 million on 25 January 2007 and the
remaining on 25 January 2008.
Interest accrues at LIBOR plus a margin of 1.25% p.a.
All of Smedvig Holding's shares in Smedvig are pledged as security for the loan. The loan is guaranteed by Seadrill.
The loan was granted on market terms. The guarantee from Seadrill contains the following key terms and
covenants:

x Seadrill shall on a consolidated basis at any time maintain free cash representing a minimum of 7% of its
total liabilities.

x Seadrill shall at all times maintain a positive working capital.
x Seadrill will provide that the ratio of its EBITDA to its interest expenses shall be greater than 2.00 to 1.00
as from the third financial quarter 2006.

x Seadrill will provide that the ratio of its total liabilities to its total assets shall at any time be less than 0.65
to 1.00.

x Seadrill shall not make any changes to its constitutive documents or merge, de-merge, consolidate or
liquidate or in any other way make any amendments to its corporate status without the prior written consent
of Nordea and DnB NOR.

x Seadrill shall remain listed at the OSE.
x Greenwich shall remain the owner, directly or indirectly, of at least thirty-four per cent (34%) of the issued
voting share capital of Seadrill.

5.4.10 Smedvig – Debt structure
Smedvig is party to a secured reducing and revolving credit loan facility agreement with a syndicate of banks
led by facility agent DnB NOR.
The maximum amount available for drawing was US$ 694 million at 20 June 2006.
y

The loan is maturing in 2011 with a balloon payment at maturity. The loan has a 20 year repayment
profile.

y

The margin was LIBOR plus 95 basis points until the end of the Q2/2006. Thereafter the margin is set at
LIBOR plus a level between 75 and 120 basis points dependent on the financial leverage of Smedvig.

Smedvig has issued unsecured bonds in the amounts of NOK 825 million and US$ 30 million at 20 June 2006.
The weighted average interest rate for the outstanding NOK denominated bonds at 20 June 2006 was
approximately 7%.
At 20 June 2006, Smedvig had the following bonds outstanding:
Million
225 (NOK)
100 (NOK)
500 (NOK)
30 (US$)

Maturity
November 19, 2008
November 19, 2008
September 29, 2012
February 14, 2012

Interest
NIBOR + 2.75 percent
Fixed 7.50 percent
NIBOR + 1.20 percent
LIBOR + 1.63 percent

Smedvig’s long-term interest bearing debt totalled NOK 792 million at 20 June 2006, and has been used to
finance its rig fleet. Except for the NOK 825 million bond issue, all the remaining long-term debt is
denominated in US dollars.
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A summary of Smedvig's outstanding long-term debt is as follows at 20 June 2006:
Borrowings under the reducing revolving credit facility
Bonds
Total

2005
USD 634
USD 162
USD 796

Smedvig's loan facilities contain the following main covenants:
y

To maintain a minimum value adjusted assets to total liabilities of 1.5:1;

y

To maintain a minimum liquidity balance (cash and cash equivalents) of US$ 50 million;

y

To maintain the ratio of net funded debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation
(EBITDA) of 5.5:1;

y

Not to enter into any merger unless Smedvig will be the surviving entity, remain bound by the terms of
the original facilities and such merger not reasonably being expected to adversely affect Smedvig's
ability to comply with the financial covenants under the facilities.

Smedvig’s bonds contain the following main covenants, based on financial statements, which require:
y

To maintain an adjusted shareholders' equity equal to or greater than US$ 300 million;

y

To maintain an adjusted shareholders' equity equivalent to a minimum of 40% of Smedvig's total
liabilities. For these purposes, the term "adjusted shareholders' equity" means the adjusted value of
Smedvig's total consolidated assets less total consolidated liabilities with the addition or subtraction of
the difference between market value and book value of Smedvig's rigs and vessels.

5.5

Auditors

Seadrill's auditor is Ernst & Young, Singapore. Ernst & Young was elected as Seadrill's auditor on 22
December 2005. Ernst & Young, Singapore is a member of Institute of Certified Public Accountants of
Singapore.
Prior to the appointment of Ernst & Young, PricewaterhouseCoopers AS was the Seadrill Group's auditor since
the incorporation of Seadrill.
Mosvold's auditor is PricewaterhouseCoopers AS while Smedvig is audited by KPMG AS.
The Board intends to appoint one audit firm as the auditor for the Seadrill Group effective from 2006.
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6

The Private Placements

6.1

Purpose of and background for the Private Placements

On 4 January 2006 Seadrill announced its intention to make a voluntary offer to acquire all of the outstanding
shares in Smedvig at an offer price of NOK 201 per class A-share and NOK 160 per class B-share, conditional
upon receiving 33.3% pre-acceptance of the offer. As a consequence of a non-satisfactory acceptance level,
Seadrill announced, on 6 January 2006, that this offer would not be made.
On 9 January 2006, Seadrill announced a voluntary offer to acquire all of the outstanding shares in Smedvig at a
price of NOK 205 per class A-share and NOK 165 per class B-share. The voluntary offer was conditional on
Seadrill acquiring more than 50% of all of the outstanding class A-shares in Smedvig.
Seadrill had, at such time, entered into agreements confirming pre-acceptances of the voluntary offer for a total
of 19,260,383 class A-shares and 8,881,969 class B-shares constituting 35.8% of the share capital and 34.4% of
the votes in Smedvig.
Seadrill received acceptances for a total of 24,876,009 class A-shares and 15,417,402 class B-shares through the
voluntary offer. Seadrill also acquired a total of 3,023,600 class A-shares and 90,680 class B-shares in the open
market while the voluntary offer was open at NOK 205 and NOK 165 per share respectively. Subsequent to the
closing of the voluntary offer, Seadrill thus controlled a total of 27,899,609 class A-shares and 15,508,082 class
B-shares, constituting 51.9% of the votes in Smedvig's general meeting and 53.1% of Smedvig's share capital.
Settlement of the purchase of these shares required funds in the amount of approximately NOK 8.3 billion, of
which approximately NOK 4.3 billion was financed by the net proceed from Private Placement I of 75,000,000
shares at NOK 66 per share and the remaining was financed by drawdown of US$ 609.4 million from the US$
1.2 billion bridge loan facility (see Section 5.4.9).
The ordering of a second Semi-submersible rig from Daewoo on 20 January 2006 by Subsea Drilling IV
triggered an obligation to pay an initial instalment in the amount of US$ 74.3 million. The amount was financed
by the net proceed from Private Placement I.
Seadrill agreed, through a voluntary offer which expired on 17 February 2006, to purchase shares in Mosvold
which raised Seadrill's ownership therein from 49.7% to 92.97%. Settlement of this purchase required funds in
the amount of approximately NOK 1.1 billion. The payment was financed entirely by Private Placement II of
20,000,000 shares at NOK 70.75. The remaining net proceed was for general corporate use.
Seadrill announced, on 6 March 2006, that it would make a mandatory offer to purchase all of the remaining
shares issued by Smedvig at a price of NOK 205 per class A-share and NOK 165 per class B-share. Seadrill
received acceptances for a total of 25,534,086 class A-shares and 10,190,131 class B-shares as a consequence of
this offer. Following the closing of the offer, Seadrill controlled a total of 53,433,695 class A-shares and
25,698,213 class B-shares, constituting 99.4% of the votes in Smedvig's general meeting and 96.8% of
Smedvig's equity capital.
Settlement of the purchase of these shares required funds in the amount of approximately NOK 7.0 billion
which was financed partly by the net proceed of NOK 3.4 billion from Private Placement III of 39,000,000
shares at NOK 90 per share and partly by drawdown of US$ 535.0 million from the US$ 1.2 billion bridge loan
facility (see Section 5.4.9).
On 26 April 2006 Seadrill commenced a compulsory acquisition of the remaining shares not tendered in the
Mandatory Offer, and subsequently holds 100% of all the shares in Smedvig. The creditor notice period will
thus expire on 3 July 2006.
The above referred transactions all required Seadrill to raise financing externally as its available cash and credit
lines were insufficient to cover the aggregate thereof.
Consequently, Seadrill completed Private Placement I (consisting of 75,000,000 shares at a subscription price of
NOK 66 per share) in order to finance its acquisition of the shares in Smedvig through the voluntary offer and
the initial instalment in respect of the second Semi-submersible rig ordered by Subsea Drilling IV from Daewoo
on 20 January 2006.
On 21 February 2006, Seadrill completed Private Placement II (consisting of 20,000,000 shares at a subscription
price of NOK 70.75 per share) in order to finance its acquisition of the shares in Mosvold.
On 2 April 2006, Seadrill completed Private Placement III (consisting of 39,000,000 shares at a subscription
price of NOK 90 per share) in order to finance its acquisition of the shares in Smedvig acquired through the
mandatory offer.
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6.2

Overview of the Private Placements

6.2.1

Private Placement I
(i)

Private Placement I took place on 20 January 2006. It raised gross proceeds approximately of
NOK 4,950 million through the issue of 75,000,000 new shares at a subscription price of NOK
66 per share.

(ii)

The minimum subscription in the Private Placement I was 1,666,667 shares. Allocation was
made at the sole discretion of the board taking into account inter alia factors such as investor
quality, size of subscription and timeliness of subscription in accordance with normal market
practice.

(iii)

The board of directors of the Company resolved to issue the shares on 23 January 2006 in
accordance with the authorised share capital in the Company (see section 9.2.1). The subscribers
were notified of their allotment of shares on the same date. Settlement was made on 25 January
2006.

(iv)

Hemen, a company indirectly controlled by Mr. John Fredriksen, was allocated 25,000,000
shares in Private Placement I.

(v)

The new shares were subscribed by Norwegian and international institutional and professional
investors.

(vi)

The new shares were, at their issue, Restricted Shares and have remained such until the date this
Prospectus was approved by the OSE (being the date thereof).

(vii)

The new shares were during the period they were in issue as Restricted Shares, registered with
ISIN number BMG 7945 E 1131 which is different from the ISIN number of Seadrill’s
Unrestricted Shares, thus ensuring that they could not be traded at the OSE.

(viii) In order to provide the subscribers in Private Placement I with Unrestricted Shares at settlement,
the Managers and Seadrill (on behalf of the subscribers) entered into a share loan agreement
with Hemen on 24 January 2006. Hemen agreed, on the terms set forth in this agreement, to
make 75,000,000 of its Unrestricted Shares available to the subscribers as a loan. The loan was
repaid through the delivery to Hemen by the subscribers in the Private Placement I of the
75,000,000 Restricted Shares issued at the date of their issue.

6.2.2

Private Placement II
(i)

Private Placement II took place on 21 February 2006. It raised gross proceeds of approximately
NOK 1,415 million through the issue of 20,000,000 new shares at a subscription price of NOK
70.75 per share.

(ii)

The minimum subscription in the Private Placement II was 500,000 shares. Allocation was
made at the sole discretion of the board taking into account inter alia factors such as investor
quality, size of subscription and timeliness of subscription in accordance with normal market
practice.

(iii)

The board of directors of the Company resolved to issue the shares on 22 February 2006 in
accordance with the authorised share capital in the Company (see section 9.2.1). The subscribers
were notified of their allotment of shares on the same date. Settlement was made on 27 February
2006.

(iv)

Hemen, a company indirectly controlled by Mr John Fredriksen, was allocated 2,389,000 shares
in Private Placement II.

(v)

The new shares were subscribed by Norwegian and international institutional and professional
investors.

(vi)

The new shares were, at their issue, Restricted Shares and have remained such until the date this
Prospectus was approved by the OSE (being the date hereof).

(vii)

The new shares were, during the period they were in issue as Restricted Shares registered with
ISIN number BMG 7945 E 1131 which is different from the ISIN number of Seadrill’s
Unrestricted Shares thus ensuring that they could not be traded at the OSE.

(viii) The Managers and Seadrill (on behalf of the subscribers) borrowed Unrestricted Shares from
Hemen in order to provide the subscribers in the Private Placement II with such at settlement. A
share loan agreement was thus entered into on 23 February 2006 setting forth the terms for
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Hemen's loan of 20,000,000 Unrestricted Shares to the subscribers. The loan was repaid through
the delivery to Hemen by the subscribers it the Private Placement II of the 20,000,000 Restricted
Shares they received at their issue.

6.2.3

Private Placement III
(i)

Private Placement III took place on 2 April 2006. It raised gross proceeds of approximately
NOK 3,510 million through the issue of 39,000,000 new shares at a subscription price of NOK
90 per share.

(ii)

The minimum subscription in the Private Placement III was 728,889 shares. Allocation was
made at the sole discretion of the board taking into account inter alia factors such as investor
quality, size of subscription and timeliness of subscription in accordance with normal market
practice.

(iii)

The board of directors of the Company resolved to issue the shares on 3 April 2006 in
accordance with the authorised share capital in the Company (see section 9.2.1). The subscribers
were notified of their allotment of shares on the same date. Settlement was made on 5 April
2006.

(iv)

Hemen, a company indirectly controlled by Mr. John Fredriksen, was allocated 4,000,000 shares
in Private Placement III.

(v)

The new shares were subscribed by Norwegian and international institutional and professional
investors.

(vi)

The new shares were, at their issue, Restricted Shares and have remained such until the date this
Prospectus was approved by the OSE (being the date hereof).

(vii)

The new shares were, during the period they were in issue as Restricted Shares registered with
ISIN number BMG 7945 E 1131 which is different from the ISIN number of Seadrill’s
Unrestricted Shares thus ensuring that they could not be traded at the OSE.

(viii) The Managers and Seadrill (acting on behalf of the subscribers) borrowed 31,800,000
Unrestricted Shares from Hemen in order to provide some of the subscribers in the Private
Placement III with such at settlement. A share loan agreement was thus entered into on 3 April
2006 setting forth the terms for Hemen's loan of 31,800,000 Unrestricted Shares to the
subscribers. The loan was repaid through the delivery to Hemen by the subscribers in the Private
Placement III of the 31,800,000 new Restricted Shares they received at their issue.
The Managers borrowed a further 7,200,000 Unrestricted Shares in the market on behalf of the
subscribers, thus enabling all subscribers in Private Placement III to get Unrestricted Shares at
settlement. As was the case for the Unrestricted Shares borrowed from Hemen, these were
repaid by delivery of 7,200,000 of the Restricted Shares issued to the subscribers in Private
Placement III.
The structures of the Private Placements were chosen so as to ensure that the acquisitions of Smedvig and
Mosvold were fully financed within the available time frame. As the subscription price in the Private
Placements were based on the market price of the Shares at the time of subscription, the Board of Seadrill
considers the Private Placements to be in compliance with the requirements for equal treatment under section
23-8 of the Stock Exchange Regulations.
As of the date hereof Hemen is the owner of 126,800,000 of the Restricted Shares issued in the Private
Placements while the Managers (acting on behalf of the original lenders thereof) are the holders of the
remaining 7,200,000 of the Restricted Shares. Hemen did not receive any compensation for the share loans
described above.

6.3

The New Shares

The New Shares and the existing Shares in the Company are issued and created under Bermudan law. The New
Shares carry the right to any dividend declared with a record date on or after the date of their issue and shall
otherwise rank pari passu with the Shares outstanding at the date of their issue.
Each Share carries one vote at Seadrill's shareholder meetings.
Under Bermuda Law and the bylaws of Seadrill, the shareholders do not have pre-emptive rights. For further
comments concerning the rights of the Shares see Appendix 1 and 2.
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There are no restrictions as to the transferability of the Shares. The New Shares will be tradable at the OSE from
and including 7 July 2006.

6.4

Share capital following the Private Placements

Following the Private Placements, Seadrill's issued and outstanding share capital is US$ 726,266,432, divided
into 363,133,216 Shares with a nominal value of US$ 2 each.

6.5

Dilutive effect of the Private Placements

The following table describes the dilutive effect of the Private Placements.
Prior to the
Private
Placements

After Private
Placement I

After Private
Placement II

Ordinary shares, nominal value US$ 2 each,
issued and outstanding...................................

229,133,216

304,133,216

324,133,216

% dilution relative to prior to each Private
Placement ......................................................

100.0%

75.3%

70.7%

6.6

After Private
Placement III

363,133,216
63.1%

Use of proceeds

The aggregate gross proceeds from the Private Placements were NOK 9,875 million. The net proceeds from the
Private Placements were approximately NOK 9,757 million after payment of fees and commissions and other
estimated transaction expenses (see Section 6.9 below).
The proceeds from the Private Placements has been used to partly finance the acquisition of Smedvig, the
payment of the initial instalment for the building of the Semi-submersible rig ordered by Subsea Drilling IV at
Daewoo and to partly finance the acquisition of Mosvold.

6.7

Interest of natural and legal persons involved in the Private
Placements

Seadrill is not aware of any conflicting interest by any subscriber in the Private Placements that is material to
the Private Placements. As described above Hemen (as the Company’s major shareholder) was allocated shares
in all Private Placements. The allocation and participation of Hemen was communicated to the subscribers in
the Private Placements prior to their subscriptions. For further details of Hemen’s shareholding, please refer to
section 9.8 in this Prospectus.

6.8

The Managers

Seadrill has engaged the services of the Managers as its advisors in relation to the Private Placements.
The Managers' addresses are: Carnegie ASA, P.O. Box 684 – Sentrum, N-0106 Oslo, Norway and Pareto
Securities ASA, P.O. Box 1411 – Vika, N-0115 Oslo, Norway.
The Private Placement I was co-managed by SEB Enskilda ASA and Fearnley Fonds ASA, the Private
Placement II was co-managed by DnB NOR Markets and Fearnley Fonds ASA while the Private Placement III
was co-managed by SEB Enskilda ASA.
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6.9

Costs and expenses

The costs and expenses incurred by Seadrill in connection with the Private Placements are estimated as follows:
Name
Carnegie ASA, Joint Lead Manager, Oslo, Norway................................................................................
Pareto Securities ASA, Joint Lead Manager, Oslo, Norway ...................................................................
SEB Enskilda ASA, Co-Manager, Oslo, Norway....................................................................................
Fearnley Fonds ASA, Co-Manager, Oslo, Norway .................................................................................
DnB NOR Markets, Co-Manager, Oslo, Norway....................................................................................
Wiersholm, Mellbye & Bech, advokatfirma AS, Norwegian legal advisor, Oslo, Norway.....................
Mello Jones & Martin, Bermuda legal advisor, Hamilton, Bermuda.......................................................
Ernst & Young, auditor, Singapore & Norway........................................................................................
Miscellaneous (incl. listing fee to the OSE, printing of Prospectus, VPS, etc.) ......................................

Amount
(MNOK )
47.8
47.8
12.4
6.6
1.0
0.7
0.1
0.9
0.5

Total........................................................................................................................................................

117.8

The premium paid on the New Shares will, after deduction of costs related to the Private Placements, is
allocated to Seadrill's share premium fund. All costs are exclusive of VAT. The fees to the Managers are
calculated as a percentage of the proceeds from the Private Placements.

6.10

Jurisdiction

This Prospectus is prepared according to and shall be governed by Norwegian law. Any dispute arising in
respect of this Prospectus is subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Norwegian courts, the venue to be the
Oslo City Court.

6.11

Withholding tax

At the date of this Prospectus, there is no Bermudan withholding tax payable by Seadrill or its shareholders
associated with the ownership and transfer of the Shares.

6.12 Admission to trading
The Seadrill Shares are admitted to listing and are traded on Oslo Børs under the ticker code “SDRL”. The
Shares are not sought or admitted to trading on any other regulated market. The New Shares were issued as
Restricted Shares and registered under ISIN number BMG 7945 E 1131 (which is different from the ISIN
number of the Unrestricted Shares). The Restricted Shares have not been tradable on the OSE during the period
they were Restricted Shares. The shares will, following the issuance of this Prospectus, automatically be
transformed to the ordinary ISIN code of the shares in the Company, being ISIN BMG 7945 E 10557. The first
day of their trading is expected to be on or about 7 July 2006.

6.13

Further Information

All non-confidential documents referred to in this Prospectus may be obtained by written request to either of the
following addresses:
Seadrill Limited
Par-la-Ville Place
14 Par-la-Ville Road
Hamilton HM 08
BERMUDA

Seadrill Limited
c/o Seadrill Management AS
P.O. Box 110
4001 Stavanger
NORWAY

Phone: +1 441 295 4705
Fax: +1 441 295 3434

Phone: +47 51 50 99 00
Fax: +47 51 50 90 01
www.seadrill.bm
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7

Description of the Seadrill Group

7.1

Introduction

Seadrill was incorporated on 10 May 2005 by Hemen for the purpose of creating an investment vehicle focused
on the offshore drilling sector.
Seadrill has, since its incorporation, grown its business through a number of acquisitions (notably those which
involved Seadrill Invest, Mosvold and Smedvig) and a newbuilding program.
The Seadrill Group is currently engaged in the business of owning and operating mobile drilling rigs and other
vessels to be used in the exploration for and production of crude oil and gas.
Further, through Smedvig, the Seadrill Group is a provider of services to the offshore drilling industry. These
services include platform drilling and wireline operations and upgrading, maintenance and modification work of
drilling equipment and facilities.
As of the date hereof, the Seadrill Group owns and operates five Jack-up rigs. Three of these, "Seadrill 6"
(previously known as "Sakhalinskaya"), “Seadrill 5” (previously known as "Ekha") and "Seadrill 7" (previously
known as "Toto") were among the assets acquired from the Greenwich Group in June 2005. One ("Seadrill 3")
was delivered from KFELS in early May 2006 while the last is an ultra large Jack-up rig owned by Smedvig Rig
("West Epsilon").
The Seadrill Group has furthermore four Jack-up rigs on order. Three of these have been ordered by wholly
owned subsidiaries of Seadrill from KFELS (two units) and PPL (one unit). The fourth unit is ordered by
Seadrill Invest II from KFELS.
Two of the newbuildings are scheduled to be delivered in Q3/2007, one in Q4/2007 and the last in Q2/2008.
Further, the Seadrill Group owns and operates two Semi-submersible rigs as of the date hereof ("West Alpha"
and "West Venture"). These are both owned by Smedvig Rig.
The Seadrill Group has four Semi-submersible rigs on order, two of which are ordered from Jurong and two of
which are ordered from Daewoo. Two of these are scheduled for delivery in Q1/2008, one in Q3/2008 and the
last in Q4/2008.
Seadrill holds one option to order one Semi-submersible rig from Jurong. This option expires in August, 2006.
The Seadrill Group is also the owner and operator of eight Tender rigs (whereof one is under construction), all
of which are owned by Smedvig Rig.
The Seadrill Group owns and operates one Drillship ("West Navigator"). This unit is owned by Smedvig Rig.
Further, the Seadrill Group has, through Mosvold, two Drillships on order from Samsung with delivery
scheduled for Q2/2008 and Q4/2008, respectively.
The Seadrill Group is also the charterer and operator of two FPSO vessels ("Crystal Sea" and "Crystal Ocean").
The Seadrill Group has, through its minority shareholding in Varia Perdana (49%), an interest in 4 Tender rigs
and one Tender rig newbuilding.
The Seadrill Group has furthermore, through its 39.75% interest in Eastern, a minority interest in one Semisubmersible rig on order and an option for another Semi-submersible rig from Samsung.
The Seadrill Group has a minority interest of 33.04% in a number of Jack-up rigs (including one newbuilding),
barge rigs and land rigs owned and operated by Apexindo.
Finally, Smedvig has an interest of approximately 30% in a joint venture with KFELS for a Tender rig under
construction.

7.2

History

May 2005

Seadrill was incorporated on 10 May 2005 by Hemen. 6,000 shares were issued to Hemen at
Seadrill's incorporation at a subscription price of US$ 2.
On 11 May, 2005 Seadrill entered into a Purchase and Subscription Agreement with
Greenwich, Seatankers and Hemen setting out the terms and conditions pursuant to which (i)
Greenwich sold five single purpose companies (being Ashbourne, Covaldi, Golden Wisdom,
Golden Dream and Stormont) to Seadrill, (ii) Seatankers sold two newbuilding contracts for
the construction of Jack-up rigs with KFELS and PPL respectively to Seadrill, (iii) Hemen
subscribed for 84,994,000 shares in Seadrill at a subscription price of US$ 2.03 and (iv)
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Hemen acquired all of Greenwich's and a part of Seatankers's claim for the purchase price for
the assets referred to in (i) and (ii).
The purchase price for these assets was US$ 377,606,857. Closing of the acquisition and the
due date for payment of the amount subscribed for in new shares by Hemen was set at 30 June
2005.
The Purchase and Subscription Agreement was subsequently restated in an agreement
between the same parties dated 27 June 2005 and supplemented by a Supplemental Agreement
dated 25 July 2005.
Seadrill increased its issued share capital through the issue of 15 million ordinary shares on
11 May 2005 at a subscription price of US$ 2.03.
June 2005

On 25 June 2005, Seatankers and Seadrill entered into a transfer agreement pursuant to which
Seatankers transferred its rights and obligations under a newbuilding contract for a Semisubmersible rig with Jurong and an agreement granting Seatankers the option to order a
further Semi-submersible rig from Jurong on 20 May 2005 to Seadrill without consideration.
Seadrill nominated Subsea Drilling as the party to the newbuilding contract. The contract was
thus novated with Subsea Drilling as the future owner of the rig.
On 3 June 2005 Seadrill completed a private placement of 10 million new ordinary shares at a
subscription price of US$ 3.
On 13 June 2005 Seadrill completed another private placement of 10 million ordinary shares
at a subscription price of US$ 3.80.
On 20 June 2005, Seadrill acquired 3,515,000 shares in Petrojack ASA and offered the other
shareholders in Petrojack ASA to buy their shares. The offer was not accepted by a
satisfactory number of shareholders in Petrojack ASA, whereafter Seadrill sold the shares
acquired in Petrojack ASA at a profit.
The acquisition of the shares in Petrojack ASA was financed by a private placement of
1,212,069 ordinary shares at a subscription price of US$ 4.49.
On 21 June 2005, Seadrill acquired approximately 88.9% of the shares in Odfjell Invest Ltd.
The shares were acquired at NOK 17 per share and financed by a private placement of
41,131,871 ordinary shares at a subscription price of US$ 4.54 per share.
Seadrill subsequently made a voluntary offer to purchase the remainder of the shares in
Odfjell Invest Ltd at NOK 20 per share.
Odfjell Invest Ltd subsequently changed its name to Seadrill Invest.

July 2005

Seadrill acquired approximately 25% of the shares in Ocean Rig ASA on 15 July 2005.
The shares in Ocean Rig ASA were acquired at a price of NOK 65 per share and were
financed by a private placement of 35,695,822 ordinary shares at a subscription price of NOK
40 (approximately US$ 6.16) per share.
During July 2005, Seadrill acquired subscription rights in a capital increase in Apexindo. The
capital increase was completed in September 2005, leading to the subscription and acquisition
by entities controlled by Seadrill of shares in Apexindo representing 32.33% of all of
Apexindo's issued shares. This position has increased to 33.04% as per this date.
The acquisition was financed by a private placement of 10 million ordinary shares at a
subscription price of NOK 42 (approximately US$ 6.46) per share.
Apexindo is the largest off- and onshore drilling contractor in Indonesia. Apexindo's fleet
consists of four swamp barges with drilling capacity operating for Total Indonesia, one Jackup rig operating for Statoil in the Middle East, one Jack-up Rig on order from PPL which is
scheduled for delivery in Q1/2007 and 11 land rigs operating for various oil companies
(including Unocal, Vico-Indonesia, Petrochina and Medco) in Indonesia.
Seadrill has also entered into an agreement in principle with Apexindo focused on the joint
marketing of their respective drilling fleets in the Indonesian market.
On 20 July 2005, Seadrill took up a term loan in the amount of US$ 185 million from Nordea.
The loan was used to refinance shareholder loans provided by Greenwich to Ashbourne,
Covaldi, Golden Dream, Golden Wisdom and Stormont prior to the closing of Seadrill's
purchase of these companies and to repay a part of the seller's credit granted by Seatankers
under the restated purchase and subscription agreement.
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August 2005

On 8 August 2005, Seadrill’s Extraordinary General meeting resolved to increase Seadrill's
authorized share capital from 200 million shares to 400 million shares of US$ 2 par value
each.
On 12 August 2005, Seadrill declared its option to order a second Semi-submersible rig from
Jurong to be delivered Q4/2008 and nominated Subsea Drilling II as the purchaser thereof.
The contract is dated 30 August 2005.
Seadrill furthermore entered into an agreement with Jurong pursuant to which SeaDrill
obtained an option to order a third Semi-submersible rig.
Seadrill concluded another private placement of ordinary shares on 12 August 2005. This
placement was for 12 million ordinary shares at a subscription price of US$ 9 per share.

September 2005 On 21 September 2005, Seadrill announced that Subsea Drilling III had entered into a building
contract with Daewoo for the construction of a Semi-submersible rig with harsh environment
specification and scheduled delivery in Q1 2008. Seadrill furthermore obtained options to
order two further Semi-submersible rigs from Daewoo.
December 2005 On 8 December 2005, Seadrill announced its acquisition of 46,412,500 shares in Mosvold,
representing 39.5% of Mosvold's outstanding share capital, at an average price of NOK 13.49
per share. This was followed by an announcement on 21 December 2005 that Seadrill had
acquired a further 675,662 shares in Mosvold at NOK 14.00 per share, bringing its total
shareholding up to 47,088,162 shares in Mosvold, representing an ownership interest of
40.08%.
On 21 December 2005, Seadrill launched an offer for the remaining shares in Mosvold. This
offer closed on 20 January 2006. Seadrill received acceptances for a total of 100,025 shares
through the offer, increasing its ownership to 47,188,187 shares, constituting 40.13% of
Mosvold's outstanding share capital.
Seadrill also acquired 1,083,065 additional shares in Seadrill Invest, bringing its ownership to
79,969,453 shares constituting 99.96% of Seadrill Invest's outstanding share capital. Seadrill
Invest was delisted from the OSE on 23 December 2005.
Seadrill intends to acquire the remaining shares in Seadrill Invest provided this can be done at
prices comparable to what has been paid for the shares already held.
January 2006

On 6 January 2006, Seadrill sold its 21,414,028 shares in Ocean Rig ASA at NOK 89 per
share. In addition, Seadrill's holding of Ocean Rig ASA 04/07 Convertible Bonds, which were
convertible into 552,632 shares in Ocean Rig ASA were sold at the same price. The
transaction generated a profit of approximately US$ 80 million which has been recorded in Q1
2006.
On 12 January 2006, Seadrill participated in a private placement in Mosvold and was
allocated a total of 12,000,000 new shares which, including shares already owned, represented
40.13% of Mosvold’s outstanding share capital.
On 30 January 2006, Seadrill announced its additional purchase of 14,549,085 shares in
Mosvold at NOK 18.25, increasing its ownership to a total of 49.7% of Mosvold's outstanding
share capital. Seadrill subsequently launched an offer to acquire the remaining shares at the
same price. This offer closed on 27 February 2006. Acceptances of the offer were received
which, together with the shares in Seadrill's ownership, increased Seadrill's total ownership to
approximately 94.3% of the outstanding share capital of Mosvold.
Seadrill announced on 9 January 2006 that it would make a voluntary offer to purchase the
outstanding class A- and class B-shares in Smedvig at a price of NOK 205 per class A-share
and NOK 165 per class B-share.
Seadrill concluded its voluntary offer for Smedvig on 20 January, 2006, and achieved control
of a total of 51.9% of the votes in Smedvig's general meeting and 53.1% of Smedvig's share
capital.
In order to part finance the acquisition, Seadrill completed Private Placement I, raising
NOK 4,950 million in new equity.
Further, Seadrill concluded a bridge loan facility agreement with Nordea and DnB NOR
making an acquisition loan up to US$ 1,200 million available to Seadrill.
US$ 609.4 million of this was drawn to part finance the shares in Smedvig acquired in the
voluntary offer.
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Seadrill also declared the option to build an additional Semi-submersible rig at the Daewoo
Shipyard in Korea. The rig will be delivered in Q3/2008.
February 2006

In order to partly finance the acquisition of Mosvold, Seadrill completed Private Placement II,
raising NOK 1,415 million in new equity.

March 2006

Seadrill launched a global mandatory offer for the remaining shares Smedvig on 6 March. The
mandatory offer closed on 31 March 2006. Seadrill received acceptance of the mandatory
offer for the shares in Smedvig for 25,534,086 class A shares and 10,190,131 class B shares
thus increasing its total ownership to 99.4% of the votes in Smedvig's general meeting and
96.8% of Smedvig’s capital.
On 14 March 2006, the Seadrill Group, through Seadrill Invest III, exercised its final option to
order a Jack-up rig from KFELS. A contract to build a Jack-up rig with similar specification
as Hull number B-277 with delivery in Q2/2008 was thus entered into between KFELS and
Seadrill Invest III.
KFELS and Seadrill furthermore agreed to cancel the take-out financing requirements in
respect of Hull number B-265 and B-272.

April 2006

Seadrill decided to organize its ownership of the shares in Smedvig through a Norwegian subholding company. Smedvig Holding was incorporated as a wholly owned subsidiary for this
purpose.
Smedvig Holding proceeded to acquire all of Seadrill's shares in Smedvig and the obligation
to acquire the shares tendered under the mandatory offer.
This was financed by way of the bridge loan facility from Nordea to DnB NOR being
transferred to Smedvig Holding and by equity and a shareholder loan provided by Seadrill.
Smedvig Holding proceeded to declare the compulsory acquisition of the remaining shares in
Smedvig on 26 April 2006 offering NOK 205 per class A share and NOK 165 per class B
share as compensation.
The compulsory acquisition became effective on 2 May from which date Smedvig Holding
became the sole shareholder of Smedvig.
The compensation offer in exchange for the shares compulsory acquired is NOK 114.6 million
in aggregate. This amount has been deposited by Smedvig Holding in a specified account
pending settlement at the end of the period during which the former shareholders of Smedvig
may dispute the same. This period expires on 3 July 2006.

May 2006

Seadrill Invest I took delivery of Hull number B-265 from KFELS on 2 May 2006. The unit
was named "Seadrill 3".
Seadrill established Seadrill Management to which Smedvig’s current senior management will
transfer. Seadrill Management will enter into a management agreement with each of Seadrill
and its subsidiaries setting forth the terms upon and subject to which Seadrill Management,
within the scope defined by the management agreement, shall be responsible for the overall
management of the Seadrill Group.
On 12 May 2006, Smedvig changed its name to Seadrill Norge AS.
On 12 May Seadrill’s board announced the allocation of options to subscribe for 1.47 million
shares to its directors and individual employees in the Seadrill Group within Seadrill's
employee share ownership program.

June 2006

On 16 June Smedvig was delisted from the OSE.
On 21 June 2006, Seadrill entered into an agreement with Malaysia Marine & Heavy
Engineering Sdn Bnd for the purpose of building a new self erecting tender rig, T 11 with the
same specifications as Seadrill’s T 10. The new barge unit is scheduled for delivery in the
fourth quarter 2008, and capital expenditure is estimated to approximately US$ 100 million,
including the derrick equipment set. Seadrill's ownership share is 100%.
On 30 June 2006, Seadrill announced a sale and leaseback transaction with Ship Finance
International Limited in which Seadrill sells the jack-up rig Seadrill 3 for a consideration of
US$ 210 million. At the same time Seadrill 3 has been leased back to Seadrill for a 15 year
period. Seadrill has in addition a right to repurchase the rig after three years or on five uneven
anniversaries thereafter until the end of the charter. The exercise price after three years is US$
135.5 million, decreasing to US$ 60 million at the end of the 15 year charter.
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7.3

Corporate strategy

7.3.1

Vision

Seadrill shall be a leading supplier of high quality and cost-efficient drilling, well and maintenance services to
the offshore oil and gas industry.

7.3.2

Company strategy

Seadrill’s strategy is to continuously strengthen Seadrill 's position as a preferred provider of offshore drilling
and well services and to pursue growth in selected international market segments. Seadrill seeks long-term
contracts through well-established relationships with its customers.
The key elements in the strategy platform are:
y

Seadrill is committed to providing customers with safe and efficient operations.

y

Seadrill will perform high quality operations by combining state-of-the-art mobile units with experienced
and skilled employees.

y

Seadrill will capitalize on leading edge technology in deep waters as well as in harsh environment areas.

y

Seadrill will develop its strong position in the Tender rig market and pursue further organic growth
opportunities in this sector in conventional waters as well as deep water areas.

y

Seadrill will, building on its solid market position in the North Sea, offer a diversified product range of
well services through selected value-adding activities.

y

Seadrill shall be a consolidator in the offshore rig industry.

7.3.3

Company values

Seadrill is committed to building value for its shareholders through focus on SAFETY, being RESPONSIBLE,
INSPIRATIONAL, LOYAL and PROACTIVE.

7.4

The Seadrill Group's asset base and operations

7.4.1

Jack-up rigs

Five of the Seadrill Group’s operative units are jack-up rigs. These, being the “Seadrill 6”, the “Seadrill 5”, the
“Seadrill 7”, the "Seadrill 3" and the “West Epsilon” are owned by Stormont, Covaldi, Ashbourne, Seadrill
Invest I and Smedvig Rig, respectively. Technical details of each of these units and their contractual status are
set out below.
The Seadrill Group has four jack-up rigs on order.
Stella is party to a contract with KFELS for a KFELS “Model V B”-design Jack-up rig with Hull number B-277.
This will be able to operate in water depths up to 400 ft and to drill wells up to a nominal depth of 30,000 ft. The
rig is scheduled for delivery in Q3/2007.
Caleb is party to a contract with PPL for a “BMC Pacific class”-design Jack-up rig with Hull number 2011. This
will be able to operate in water depths up to 375 ft and to drill wells up to a depth of 30,000 ft with a drilling
package suitable for high pressure-high temperature conditions. Delivery for this rig is scheduled for Q4/2007.
Seadrill Invest II and Seadrill Invest III are parties to two building contracts for jack-up rigs with KFELS having
Hull numbers B-272 and B-291, respectively.
Both of these rigs are of the “Model V B”-design. They are scheduled for delivery in Q3/2007 and Q2/2008.
On 30 June 2006, Seadrill entered into a sale and leaseback transaction with Ship Finance International Limited
in which Seadrill sells the jack-up rig “Seadrill 3” for a consideration of US$ 210 million. “Seadrill 3” has been
leased back to Seadrill for a 15 year period. Seadrill has in addition a right to repurchase the rig after three years
or on five uneven anniversaries thereafter until the end of the charter. The exercise price after three years is US$
135.5 million, decreasing to US$ 60 million at the end of the 15 year charter.

7.4.2

Semi-submersible rigs

Two of the operating units are semi-submersible rigs. These, being the "West Venture" and the "West Alpha"
are owned by Smedvig Rig. Technical details of these together with their contractual status are set out below.
The Seadrill Group has four Semi-submersible rigs on order.
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Subsea Drilling and Subsea Drilling II are both parties to construction contracts with Jurong for Semisubmersible rigs of the “Friede Goldman ExD”-design. These are scheduled for delivery in Q1/2008 and
Q4/2008, respectively.
Subsea Drilling III and Subsea Drilling IV are parties to two construction contracts with Daewoo for Semisubmersible rigs of the ”GVA 7500” design with harsh environment specifications, having hull number 3019
and 3020 respectively. They are scheduled for delivery in Q1/2008 and Q3/2008 respectively.
Seadrill is also part to an agreement with Jurong pursuant to which it has an option to order a further Semisubmersible rig of the same design as the two currently on order from Jurong.

7.4.3

Tender rigs

Seven of the operating units are self erecting Tender rigs. These, being “T4”, “T7”, “T8”, “West Pelaut”, “West
Menang” and “West Alliance” are all 100% owned by Smedvig Rig. “West Setia” is owned by Smedvig Tender
Rigs Ltd. In addition, Seadrill has one tender rig (T11) under construction with Malaysia Marine & Heavy
Engineering Sdn Bnd scheduled for delivery in the fourth quarter 2008, which will be 100% owned by Seadrill.
Technical details of these together with their contractual status are set out below.

7.4.4

Drillships

One of the operating units is a Drillship. This is the “West Navigator” which is owned by Smedvig Rig.
Technical details and contractual status are set out below.
Mosvold has two Drillships with ultra deep water specifications on order from Samsung. The contracts are
turnkey based, with delivery scheduled for Q2/2008 and Q4/2008 respectively. These Drillships will, when
delivered, be able to operate worldwide except the Norwegian sector and the Arctic. The Drillships will be
particularly well suited for waters like West Africa, Brazil and the US Gulf of Mexico.
Mosvold had an option to order a third Drillship with similar specifications as the two on order. It has, however,
due to price increases on the topside equipment, been decided not to exercise this.

7.4.5

FPSO Vessels

The remaining two operative units of the Seadrill Group are two FPSO vessels chartered in by Golden Dream
and Golden Wisdom on bareboat terms with a purchase option for the charterer at a declining rate included in
each charter.
The FPSO vessels are M/V “Crystal Sea” and M/V “Crystal Ocean”. These vessels are owned by entities in the
Aktiv Kapital ASA group.
Technical details of the FPSO vessels and their contractual status are set out below.
Seadrill expects to declare the purchase options at the end of the charterparties.

7.4.6

Minority Interests

Seadrill’s fleet as set out above is supplemented by its minority interest in Varia Perdana, Eastern and Apexindo.
Through its 49% ownership in Varia Perdana, Seadrill has a minority interest in four Tender rigs, being “T3”,
“T6”, “T9” and “Teknik Berkat”.
Furthermore, Varia Perdana has one barge tender (to be named “T10”) under construction at Malaysian Marine
& Heavy Engineering Sdn Bhd for delivery in the end of the second quarter of 2007.
Eastern, in which Smedvig has an ownership interest of 39.75%, has a Semi-submersible rig under construction
at Samsung. The delivery shall take place in Q3/2007.
Seadrill is also the owner of 33.04% of the shares in Apexindo and holds, as a consequence a similar interest in
Apexindo’s drilling assets being four swamp barges with drilling capacity, one Jack-up rig, another Jack-up rig
on order from PPL with scheduled delivery in Q1/2007 and 11 land rigs.
Finally, the Seadrill Group has an interest of approximately 30% in the Semi Tender rig “West Berani” currently
under construction at KFELS and scheduled for delivery in Q4/2006.
The Seadrill Group’s partner in this project is KFELS and the joint venture is based on the principle that KFELS
shall own the hull, while Smedvig will own the deck equipment and, over a period of 10 years, be responsible
for the marketing, management and operation of the unit.
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The unit will be owned by a single purpose company with KFELS and the Seadrill Group as joint owners. The
Seadrill Group will have an option to buy KFELS's interests in this joint venture company.

7.4.7

Refurbishment work

Each of "Seadrill 7" and "Seadrill 6" required various refurbishment works in order to be competitive in the
market. Such refurbishment work was initiated in the third quarter of 2005 and has now been completed.
“Seadrill 7” has been refurbished at a total cost of US$ 16.3 million and "Seadrill 6" has been refurbished at a
total cost of US$ 4.5 million.
The Jack-up rig ”Seadrill 5”, suffered a "punch-through" in connection with a jacking up operation in January
2006 while under a contract with GazProm. As a result it sustained some damage to the leg. The jacking
operation of the rig was performed based on ground information provided by Gasprom. According to the
contract the rig remains on contract based on a standby rate until required repairs are completed. The rig is
currently under repair at Keppel Shipyard and is expected to complete this in July 2006. The physical damage to
the leg and the repair required is fully insured.

7.4.8

Charter and contract overview

Below is an overview of the current contract status of the Seadrill Group operative assets:
Rig
Seadrill 3

Activity
Standby

Contract
Total Fina Elf

US$ per day
166,000

Seadrill 7

Drilling

Seadrill 5

Drilling

Seadrill 6

Drilling

West Epsilon

Drilling

Tetra Petroleum
Moni Polo
Afren
Shebah
Goland
GazProm
Premier
APD
Premier
EMP Indonesia
Shell (Sakhalin)
Cairn Energy
BP
Statoil

118,750
130,000
130,000
145,000 3)
145,000 3)
97,500 2)
125,000
195,000
195,000
105,000 2)
112,000
185,000 3)
147,500 4) 5)
330,000 or 305,000 4) 6)

West Alpha
West Venture
West Navigator
T4
T7

Drilling
Drilling
Drilling
Drilling
Drilling

Statoil
Norsk Hydro
Shell
Chevron
Chevron

T8

Drilling

West Pelaut
West Menang

Drilling
Drilling

West Alliance

Drilling

West Setia

Drilling

Crystal Sea
Crystal Ocean

Tanker
Production

Total
Total
Shell
Total
Total
Shell
NA
Shell
Murhy
Discovery Enterprises
Anzon Australia Ltd

249,500 4)
215,000 4) 5)
230,000 4)
40,000
40,000
51,000
61,000
85,000
57,000
85,000
115,000
68,000
87,000
68,500
75,000
76,125 3)
28,000 – 2005 (b/b) 1)
42,000 – 2006 (b/b) 1)
37,000 – 2007 (b/b) 1)

1)
2)
3)
4)
5)
6)

Based on estimated production profile
Standby rate payable by GazProm while the rig is under repair following the "punch-through" incident
LOI – employment is based on Letters of Intent
Dayrates partly paid in Norwegian Kroner
Incentive based dayrate
Statoil has to decide whether the contracts are two years or three years within 15 July 2006.
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Duration
May-06 (2 years + 1
year option)
Feb-06 to Aug-06
Aug-06 to Sept-06
Sept-06 to Nov-06
Nov-06 to Feb-07
Feb-07 to Mar-07
Nov-05 to Jul-06
Jul-06 to Jan-07
Jan-07 to May-07
May-07 to Oct-07
Oct-05 to May-06
May-06 to Nov-06
Nov-06 to Apr-07
Jun-06 to Nov-06
Nov-06 to Nov-08 or
Nov-06 to Nov-09
Feb-06 to Feb-09
Aug-05-Jul-07
Oct-05 to Oct-07
Apr-03 to Apr-08
Sep-01 to Sep-06
Sep-06 to Jan-11
Mar-06 to May-07
May-07 to May-08
Apr-04 to Apr-09
Feb-06 to Dec-07
Jan-08 to Dec-10
Jan-06 to Jan-08
Jan-08 to Jan-10
Jan-05 to Sep-06
Sep-06 to Dec-08
Jul-06 (5 years)
Primo 2008

7.4.9

Technical specification of the units

The technical specification of the operative units and the newbuildings on order by the SeaDrill Group are as
follows:
The Jack-up rigs:
“Seadrill 6”

Owner: Stormont
Rig type: Jack-up
Operating status: Drilling
Built: Rauma-Repola Oy, Finland
Year: 1985
Design: Gusto
Rated water depth: 328 feet
Rated drilling dept: 21 325 feet
Top Drive: National-Oilwell, PS 350/500

“Seadrill 5”

Owner: Covaldi
Rig type: Jack-up
Operating status: Drilling
Built: KFELS
Year: 1984
Design: MSC CJ-50
Rated water depth: 300 feet
Rated drilling dept: 21 325 feet.
Top Drive: Varco TDS-4S

“Seadrill 7”

Owner: Ashbourne
Rig type: Jack-up
Operating status: Currently under upgrading.
Built: Götaverken, Sweden
Year: 1981
Design: Friede and Goldman L-780
Rated water depth: 250 feet
Rated drilling dept: 20 000 feet
Top Drive: Varco TDS-11SA

“West Epsilon”

Owner: Smedvig Rig
Rig type: Jack-up (heavy duty)
Operating status: Drilling.
Built: KFELS
Year: 1993
Design: MSC CJ62 S120
Rated water depth: 400 feet
Rated drilling dept: 30 000 feet
Top Drive: Varco TDS - 6S - 2200 Hp
60klbf - 220 rpm

“Seadrill 3”

Owner: Seadrill Invest I
Rig Type: Jack-up
Built: KFELS
Year: 2006
Design: KFELS Mod V B-class
Rated water depth: 300 ft.
Rated drilling depth: 30,000 ft.
Top Drive: Varco TDS-8SA
Contract price: US$ 114 million
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The Jack-up newbuildings
“Hull number B-277 (Newbuild)”

Owner: Stella
Rig Type: Jack-up
Hull number:B-277
Builder: KFELS
Delivery: Q3 2007
Design: KFELS Mod V ‘B'
Rated water depth: 400 feet
Rated drilling dept: 30 000 feet
Top Drive: Varco TDS-8SA
Contract price: US$ 129 million

“Hull number 2011(Newbuild)”

Owner: Caleb
Rig Type: Jack-up
Hull number: 2011
Builder: PPL
Delivery: Q4 2007
Design: BMC, Pacific Class
Rated water depth: 375 ft.
Rated drilling depth: 30 000 ft.
Top Drive: Varco TDS-8SA
Contract price: US$ 129 million

“Hull number B-272 (Newbuild)”

Owner: Seadrill Invest II
Rig Type: Jack-up
Hull number: B-272
Builder: KFELS
Delivery: Q3 2007
Design: KFELS Mod V B-class
Rated water depth: 300 ft.
Rated drilling depth: 30,000 ft.
Top Drive: Varco TDS-8SA
Contract Price: US$ 121 million
Additional change orders: US$ 2 million.

"Hull number B-291 (Newbuild)"

Owner: Seadrill Invest III
Hull number: B-291
Builder: KFELS
Delivery: Q2 2008
Design: KFELS Model V B-class
Rated water depth: 400 ft
Rated drilling depth: 30,000 ft
Top Drive: Varco TDS-8SA
Contract Price: US$ 132 million

The Semi-submersible rigs:
West Alpha

Owner: Smedvig Rig
Rig Type: Semi-submersible rig
Operating status: Drilling.
Builder: NKK, Japan
Year: 1986
Design: Ultra Yatzy
Rated water depth: 2,000 ft.
Rated drilling dept: 23,000 ft
Top Drive: MH DDM 650-C-DC-500 S
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West Venture

Owner: Smedvig Rig
Rig Type: Semi-submersible
Operating status: Drilling.
Builder: Hitachi, Japan
Year: 2000
Design: DP Drilling vessel
Rated water depth: 6,000 ft.
Rated drilling dept: 30,000 ft.
Top Drive: Main rig MH 750 t hydr. unit
Aux rig MH 650 t hydr. unit

The Semi-submersible newbuildings:
“Hull number: 11-1085 (Newbuild)”

Owner: Subsea Drilling
Rig Type: Semi-submersible rig
Hull number: 11-1085
Builder: Jurong
Delivery: Q1 2008
Design: Friede Goldman ExD
Rated water depth: 10,000 ft.
Rated drilling dept: 35,000 ft
Top Drive: MH DDM 750/1,000 AC
Contract price: US$ 390 million
Additional change orders: US$ 5 million.

“Hull number: 11-1086 (Newbuild)”

Owner: Subsea Drilling II
Rig Type: Semi-submersible
Hull number: 11-1086
Builder: Jurong
Delivery: Q4 2008
Design: Friede Goldman ExD
Rated water depth: 10,000 ft.
Rated drilling dept: 35,000 ft.
Top Drive: MH DDM 750/1,000 AC
Contract price: US$ 404 million
Additional change orders: US$ 5 million.

“Hull number: 3019 (Newbuild)”

Owner: Subsea Drilling III
Rig type: Semi-submersible
Hull number 3019
Builder: Daewoo
Delivery: Q1 2008
Design: GVA 7500
Rated water depth: 10,000 ft
Rated drilling depth: 35,000 ft
Top Drive: MH DDM 750/1,000 AC
Contract Price: US$ 496.5 million
Additional change orders: US$ 9 million.

“Hull number: 3020 (Newbuild)”

Owner: Subsea Drilling IV
Rig type: Semi-submersible
Hull number 3020
Builder: Daewoo
Delivery: Q3 2008
Design: GVA 7500
Rated water depth: 10,000 ft
Rated drilling depth: 35,000 ft
Top Drive: MH DDM 750/1,000 AC
Contract Price: US$ 486.5 million
Additional change orders: US$ 9 million.
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The Drillships:
“West Navigator

Owner: Smedvig Rig
Rig type: Drillship
Operating status: Drilling.
Builder: Samsung Heavy Industries
Year: 2000
Design: DP Drillship
Rated water depth: 8,500 ft
Rated drilling depth: 35,000 ft
Top Drive: Main rig MH 750 t hydr. unit
Aux rig MH 650 t hydr. unit

The Drillships newbuildings:
Owner: Mosvold
Rig type: Drillship
Builder: Samsung
Delivery: Q2 2008
Design: Samsung 10,000
Rated water depth: 10,000 ft
Rated drilling depth: 35,000 ft
Top Drive: 2 HPS 1,000 short tons (dual motor AC)
Contract Price: US$ 470 million (ex. financing cost)

Owner: Mosvold
Rig type: Drillship
Builder: Samsung
Delivery: Q4 2008
Design: Samsung 10,000
Rated water depth: 10,000 ft
Rated drilling depth: 35,000 ft
Top Drive: 2 HPS 1,000 short tons (dual motor AC)
Contract Price: US$ 470 million (ex. financing cost)

The Tender rigs
T4

Owner: Smedvig Rig
Rig type: Self-erecting Tender rig - barge
Operating status: Drilling.
Built: Robin Shipyard
Year: 1981
Design: Robray self-erecting tender rig
Rated water depth: 410 feet
Rated drilling dept: 20,000 feet
Top Drive: Varco TDS-4S

T7

Owner: Smedvig Rig
Rig type: Self-erecting Tender rig - barge
Operating status: Drilling.
Built: Robin Shipyard
Year: 1983
Design: Robray self-erecting tender rig
Rated water depth: 410 feet
Rated drilling dept: 20,000 feet
Top Drive: Varco TDS-3H
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T8

Owner: Smedvig Rig
Rig type: Self-erecting Tender rig - barge
Operating status: Drilling.
Built: Robin Shipyard
Year: 1982
Design: Robray self-erecting tender rig
Rated water depth: 410 feet
Rated drilling dept: 20,000 feet
Top Drive: Varco TDS-4S

West Pelaut

Owner: Smedvig Rig
Rig type: Self-erecting Tender rig – semi-submersible
Operating status: Drilling.
Built: KFELS
Year: 1994
Design: Regal Class Semi-submersible Self Erecting Tender Rig
Rated water depth: 6,500 feet
Rated drilling dept: 30,000 feet
Top Drive: Varco TDS-8S top drive, AC powered, 650 tons c/w

West Menang

Owner: Smedvig Rig
Rig type: Self-erecting Tender rig – semi-submersible
Operating status: Drilling.
Built: KFELS
Year: 1999
Design: Regal Class Semi-submersible Self Erecting Tender Rig
Rated water depth: 6,500 feet
Rated drilling dept: 30,000 feet
Top Drive: Varco TDS-8S top drive, AC powered, 650 tons c/w

West Alliance

Owner: Smedvig Rig
Rig type: Self-erecting Tender rig – semi-submersible
Operating status: Drilling.
Built: KFELS
Year: 2004
Design: Enhanced Regal Class Semi-submersible Self Erecting
Tender Rig
Rated water depth: 6,500 feet
Rated drilling dept: 30,000 feet
Top Drive: Varco TDS-8S AC

West Setia

Owner: Smedvig Rig
Rig type: Self-erecting Tender rig – semi submersible
Operating Status: Drilling
Built: KFELS
Year: 2005
Design: SSDT-3600 – GOM – C42
Rated water depth: 6,500 feet
Rated drilling depth: 30,000 feet
Top Drive: Varco TDS-8S AC
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Newbuild T11

Owner: Seadrill Asia Limited
Rig type: Self-erecting Tender rig – barge
Builder: Malaysia Marine & Heavy Engineering Sdn Bnd
Delivery: 4Q 2008
Design: Robray self-erecting tender rig
Rated water depth: 6,500 feet
Rated drilling depth: 30,000 feet
Top Drive: Varco TDS-8S AC top drive system 650 tons
Contract price: US$ 100 million

The FPSO vessels:
“Crystal Ocean”

Charterer: Golden Wisdom
Built: Kværner Govan, Scotland
Year: 1999
Design: Ulstein International
GRT: 6 900
Type: Floating Production, Storage and Offloading Vessel
Cargo Capacities:
Crude Oil: 6,700 m3 / 42,000 Barrels
Slop Tanks: 500 m3
Fuel Oil: 1,300 m3
Cargo Handling Equipment:
Crude Oil: 2 x 640 m3 /h – 7.6 bar
Stripping Pumps: 2x 440 l/min – 30 mwc
Fresh Water: 250 m3 /h – 90 mwc
Purchase Option Price as of mid May 2006: US$ 5,145,000.

“Crystal Sea”

Charterer: Golden Dream
Built: Langstein Slip & Båtbyggeri AS
Year: 1994
Design: Ulstein International
GRT: 6 746
Type: Floating Production, Storage and Offloading Vessel
Cargo Capacities:
Crude oil: 7,500 m3 / 50,000 Barrels (100%)
Slop Tanks: 500 m3
Fuel Oil: 1,000 m3
Cargo Handling Equipment:
Crude Oil: 2 x 640 m3 /h – 7.6 bar
Stripping Pumps: 2x 440 l/min – 30 mwc
Fresh Water: 250 m3 /h – 90 mwc
Purchase Option Price as of mid May 2006: US$ 3,430,000.

7.5
7.5.1

Services
Well services

The Seadrill Group is, through Smedvig, a provider of well services to the offshore oil and gas industry on the
Norwegian and UK continental shelfs.
Well services include platform drilling, wireline and engineering services.
Smedvig currently provides production drilling and well maintenance services on 11 platforms in Norway and
11 platforms in the UK. About 1,200 experienced employees are engaged in the delivery services. In addition to
the operation of drilling facilities, the contracts include operational support, maintenance and potential
modification and upgrading of the relevant customer's facilities.
The platform drilling market is focused on production drilling, well maintenance and intervention services as
well as technical services for maintenance and upgrading of drilling facilities. These operations are carried out
on installations owned by oil companies, but under the management of and with drilling crews from contractors
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such as Smedvig. The contracts are mainly based on fixed rates for personnel, equipment and services. The size
of the drilling crews depends on the type of installation, but on average the crew for a rig in operation counts
about 30 people onshore to support the offshore operations. Smedvig has been involved in the production
drilling business since the late 1970s. There are currently two contractors active in this business in Norway in
addition to Smedvig and three in the UK. The Seadrill Group's estimated market share in the North Sea is
approximately 30%.
Wireline services offers state-of-the art, unique, one-crew equipment packages for slick, braided and electric
line services. These cover all aspects of mechanical and electric wireline activities.
Wireline operations are a cost-effective way of performing interventions into producing wells. Such services are
performed by the Seadrill Group on a number of mobile units and fixed installations on behalf of oil companies
and as a subcontractor to other well support contractors. The Seadrill Group's estimated market share in Norway
is approximately 40%, with a particular strong position in the subsea well intervention segment.
The engineering group consists of over 110 skilled engineers and staff. Skills cover electro/instrument,
structural mechanical material and marine disciplines.
The well services division’s activity is based on term contracts with oil companies. An overview of the current
contract situation is as follows:

Unit

2004

Statfjord A, B & C

2005

2006

2008

Statoil
Statoil

Gullfaks A, B & C
Veslefrikk A & B

Statoil

Ula & Valhall

BP

Gyda

Talisman Energy

Shell, U.K. sector

Field lifetime

Shell

Engineering *

Hydro, Statoil, Shell, BP, Talisman Energy

Wireline Services *

Hydro, Statoil, Shell, Mærsk

* Average length for several fields

7.5.2

2007

Estimated firm contracts

Jurong - Semi-submersible option

Seadrill has an option to order a third Semi-submersible rig identical to the two Semi-submersibles on order
from Jurong to Subsea Drilling and Subsea Drilling II. The option has to be declared by 12 August 2006. The
price will be US$ 405.6 million adjusted according to an agreed price mechanism, in addition to an adjustment
for changes in the prices for certain specified third party equipment.
Delivery will be Q2/2010, provided, however, that the delivery date can be brought forward to Q3/2009 by
Jurong by the end of 2005.

7.5.3

Daewoo – Semi-submersible option

Seadrill had an option to order an additional harsh environmental, semi-submersible rig from Daewoo identical
to the two (Hull number 3019 and 3020) on order to Subsea Drilling III and Subsea Drilling IV.
It has recently been decided not to exercise this option.
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8

Organisation, Board and Management

8.1

Overview

Seadrill was incorporated as a limited company subject to the laws of Bermuda on 10 May 2005. Seadrill's
official registration number with Bermuda authorities is 36832. Seadrill's registered address is Par-la-Ville
Place, 14 Par-la-Ville Road, Hamilton HM 08, Bermuda, telephone + 1 441 295 69 35.

8.2

Organisational structure

Below is an overview of the current corporate structure of the Seadrill Group:
100% SeaDrill Management AS
(Norway)

SeaDrill Limited
(Bermuda)
SeaDrill Invest I Ltd.
(Bermuda)

100%

100% SeaDrill Management (S)
Pte Ltd. (Singapore)
SeaDrill Invest Ltd.
(Bermuda)

SeaDrill Invest II Ltd.
(Bermuda)
100%

SeaDrill Invest III Ltd.
(Liberia)
Subsea Drilling Inc.
(Liberia)
Subsea Drilling II Inc.
(Liberia)

99.99% 100%

100%

100%

100%

Subsea Drilling III Limited
(Cyprus)
100%
Subsea Drilling IV Limited
(Cyprus)
100%
Ashbourne Shipping
Co. Ltd. (Cyprus)
Covaldi Marine Co. Ltd.
(Cyprus)

100%

100%

Stormont Marine Co. Ltd.
(Cyprus)
100%
Golden Wisdom
Shipping Co. Ltd. (Cyprus) 100%
Golden Dream
Shipping Co. Ltd. (Cyprus) 100%

100%

100%

Stella Shipping Int. Inc.
(Liberia)

100%
Smedvig ASA
(Norway)
Smedvig Rig AS
(Norway)

100%

Smedvig Engineering AS
(Norway)

100%

Smedvig Insurance Ltd
(Bermuda)

100%

AS Smedvig Prodrill
(Norway)

100%

Smedvig Offshore AS
(Norway)

100%

Guildford Management Ltd
(BVI)

100%

SeaDrill Deepwater
Units Ptd. Ltd.

100%

Smedvig Drilling Ltd
(UK)

Smedvig Asia Ltd.
(Hong Kong)

100%

Smedvig Offshore
Sing. Ltd. (Singapore)

Smedvig Tender Rigs
Pte. Ltd. (Singapore)

49%

Tioman Drilling Comp.
Sdn (Malaysia)

44%

Lisme AS
(Norway)

100%

Smedvig Services Ltd.
(Hong Kong)

20%

North Norway Drilling
Co. AS (Norway)

100%

SmedvigSdn. Bhd
(Brunei)

39.75%

Eastern Drilling ASA
(Norway)

49%

99.99%

100%

Caleb Maritime S.A.
(Liberia)
100%

Smedvig Holding AS
(Norway)

Varia Perdana Sdn. Bhd
(Malaysia)

100%

Cest Tender Rigs
(Malaysia)

100%

Pt. Apexindo Pratama Duta
(Indonesia)
33.04%
Mosvold Drilling Ltd.
(Cayman Islands)

8.3

99.8%

Board

The Board shall determine the strategy for and monitor the management of Seadrill's business.
Seadrill's annual shareholder's meeting elects the Board. The Board currently consists of four members. The
current terms of the Board members expire on the date of the 2006 annual shareholder meeting or when a
successor is elected.

8.3.1

Description of the Board

The following provides a profile of the current members of the Board.
John Fredriksen (1944), Chairman of the board, c/o Frontline Corporate Services Ltd, 15 Sloane Square,
London SW1W 8ER, UK. Mr. Fredriksen has been the chairman of the Board since Seadrill's incorporation. His
current term expires on the annual shareholders meeting of Seadrill in 2006. In addition Mr. Fredriksen has been
the chairman and chief executive officer of Frontline Ltd. since November 1997. Mr. Fredriksen is also the
chairman of Golar LNG Limited and Golden Ocean Group Limited. Mr. Fredriksen is a Cypriot citizen, resident
in Cyprus. Mr. Fredriksen is, through Hemen, the owner of 130,830,916 shares in Seadrill. Mr. Fredriksen is
furthermore holding 350,000 options to subscribe for new Shares in his own name.
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Tor Olav Trøim (1963), Director, c/o Frontline Corporate Services Ltd, 15 Sloane Square, London SW1W
8ER, UK. Mr. Trøim has been a member of the Board since Seadrill's incorporation. His current term expires on
the annual shareholders meeting of Seadrill in 2006. Mr. Trøim is the vice-president and a member of the board
of Frontline Ltd., Aktiv Kapital ASA, Golar LNG Limited, Ship Finance International Limited and Golden
Ocean Group Limited. Mr. Trøim is a Norwegian citizen and a resident in the United Kingdom. Mr. Trøim
owns, directly and indirectly, 250,000 shares in Seadrill. Mr. Trøim is furthermore holding 275,000 options to
subscribe for new Shares in his own name.
Kate Blankenship (1965), Director, Domaine De Portoi, 11290 Arzens, France. Mrs. Blankenship has been a
member of the Board since Seadrill's incorporation. Her current term expires on the annual shareholders meeting
of Seadrill in 2006. She is a director of Frontline Ltd., Golar LNG Limited, Ship Finance International Limited
and Golden Ocean Group Ltd. Mrs. Blankenship is a UK citizen and a resident of France. Ms. Blankenship
owns directly and indirectly 8,000 shares in Seadrill. Mrs. Blankenship is furthermore holding 30,000 options to
subscribe for new Shares.
Pål Nordgreen (1949), Director, c/o Nor Ocean Shipping, Drammensveien 127, 0277 Oslo, Norway. Mr.
Nordgreen is owner and managing partner of Nor Ocean Offshore AS. He has been a member of the board since
November 2005, and his current term expires on the annual shareholders meeting of Seadrill in 2006. He has
more than 30 years of experience from offshore industry. Mr. Nordgreen is a Norwegian citizen and resident in
Norway. Mr. Nordgreen owns directly and indirectly 62,000 shares in Seadrill. Mr. Nordgreen is furthermore
holding 30,000 options to subscribe for new Shares.

8.3.2

Compensation to the members of the Board

The remuneration of the members of the Board is determined on a yearly basis.
The directors will be reimbursed for, inter alia, travelling, hotel and other expenses incurred by them in
attending the meetings of the Board. A director who has been given a special assignment beside the normal
duties of a member of the Board, may be paid such extra remuneration as the Board may determine. The total
remuneration to the Board is, at present, not expected to exceed NOK 600,000 per annum, excluding
reimbursement for expenses.
The members of the Board will be eligible for participation in the employee share ownership plan which Seadrill
has established, cf. Section 8.4.3 below.
For the year 2005, the Board did not receive any compensation.

8.4

Management

Overall responsibility for the management of the Seadrill Group rests with the Board.
The Board has decided to organise the provision of the required management services to the Seadrill Group
through a wholly owned subsidiary, Seadrill Management.
Seadrill Management is a limited company incorporated under Norwegian law which is wholly owned by
Seadrill.
Seadrill has entered into a management agreement with Seadrill Management specifying the scope and terms of
the services which are to be provided to Seadrill.
The scope will cover all of Seadrill's administrative requirements. Seadrill Management will, in the management
agreement, thus be provided with authority to commit Seadrill in day to day matters. The extent of such
authority is continuously reviewed by the Board.
The Board must be consulted in all matters of material importance to Seadrill and/or of an unusual nature
compared to Seadrill's ordinary business.
The Board will, in such matters, provide specific authorisation to Seadrill Management's personnel to act on
Seadrill's behalf.
The terms of the management agreement are market based. The agreement can be terminated on 9 months notice
by either party.
The former senior management team of Smedvig has transferred their employment relationships to Seadrill
Management.
Seadrill Management will subcontract a part of its obligations under the management agreements with the
Seadrill Group to its affiliates, Seadrill Management (S), Seadrill Deepwater Units and Smedvig Asia.
Seadrill Management (S) will provide construction supervision services in respect of the Seadrill Group's
newbuilding programme, marketing services in respect of the Jack-up rigs and accounting services.
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The profiles of Seadrill Management (S) and Seadrill Management's combined senior management team are set
out below.
Seadrill Deepwater Units is a limited company incorporated under Singapore law as a wholly owned subsidiary
of Smedvig.
Seadrill Deepwater Units will provide construction supervision services in respect of the newbuilding
programme and marketing services in respect of the Semi-submersible rigs.
Smedvig Asia is a limited company incorporated under Hong Kong law owned 99.99% by Smedvig.
Smedvig Asia will provide construction supervision services in respect of the newbuilding programme,
marketing services in respect of the Tender rigs.
Seadrill Management (S) will be consolidated with Smedvig Asia's organisation in Singapore.

8.4.1

Description of the current executive management of Seadrill Management

The executive management currently managing the Seadrill Group consists of the following senior members:
Kjell E. Jacobsen (1956), Chief Executive Officer in Seadrill Management. He was previously the CEO of
Smedvig. Mr. Jacobsen has held the position as Managing Director of Smedvig Offshore AS, the principal
operating subsidiary for the Mobile Units division and Well Services division. He joined Smedvig in 1991.
Previously, he worked for Statoil from 1981 to 1986 and in Citibank in Oslo and London from 1986 to 1991.
Mr. Jacobsen graduated from the Norwegian Naval Academy in 1976 and from the Norwegian School of
Economics and Business Administration in 1981. Mr. Jacobsen is a Norwegian citizen and resides in Stavanger,
Norway.
Alf C. Thorkildsen (1956), Chief Financial Officer in Seadrill Management. He was previously CFO in
Smedvig. Mr. Thorkildsen joined Smedvig in February 2002 after more than 20 years in Shell in various senior
positions, the latest as Treasurer and Controller of the Global EP business. Mr. Thorkildsen has a degree in
economics from the Norwegian School of Business Administration and a Master of Business Administration
from Arizona State University in 1980. Mr. Thorkildsen is a Norwegian citizen and resides in Stavanger,
Norway.
Ståle Rød (1950), Managing Director, Tender Rigs. He joined Smedvig in 1981. From 1987 to 1996 Mr. Rød
held various executive positions as General Manager, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer.
From 1996 he has been serving as managing director of the Tender rig division, only interrupted by a short
period, from 1998 to 1999, where he served as interim Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Rød earned a degree in
engineering, and a degree in economics from the Norwegian School of Business Administration. He has a
Master of Business Administration from the University of Wisconsin in 1980. Mr. Rød is a Norwegian citizen
and resides in Singapore.
Sveinung Lofthus (1961), Managing Director, Mobile Units. Mr. Lofthus has been with Smedvig since 1987
and has held various positions both offshore and onshore including project and rig management both in Norway
and abroad. Mr. Lofthus earned a degree in petroleum engineering at the University of Stavanger. Mr. Lofthus is
a Norwegian citizen, and resides in Stavanger, Norway.
Alf Ragnar Løvdal (1957), Managing Director, Well Services. He joined Smedvig in 1987 and served as
Quality and Safety Manager from 1989 to 1992. From 1992 to 2002, he served in various managerial positions
including General Manager Operations for the Mobile Units and Platform Drilling divisions. Prior to starting in
Smedvig, Mr. Løvdal held various positions within different oil service companies, including five years of
offshore field experience with Schlumberger. Mr. Løvdal graduated as a Mechanical Engineer from Horten
Engineering Academy in Norway in 1980. Mr. Løvdal is a Norwegian citizen and resides in Sandnes, Norway.
Stein Diesen (1946), Managing Director, Deepwater Projects. Mr. Diesen has been with Smedvig since 1989
and has held various senior positions including managing director, mobile units and project manager for the
construction of the West Venture drilling rig. Prior to joining Smedvig, Mr. Diesen worked 12 years in Statoil in
various positions within project management and operations. Mr. Diesen earned a degree in Electrical
Engineering and a degree in Business Administration from the Norwegian School of Business Administration.
Mr. Diesen is a Norwegian citizen and resides in Singapore.
Hans van Royen (1944), Managing Director, Jack-up rigs. Mr. van Royen has over 35 years of experience
from the offshore business and has previously worked for both Shell and Fluor Engineering. Mr. van Royen is a
Dutch citizen and resides in Singapore.
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8.4.2

General information concerning the members of the management and Board of
Directors

During the last five years preceding the date of this document, no member of the Board of Director or the senior
management of Seadrill has:
x
x

x

any convictions in relation to indictable offences or convictions in relation to fraudulent offences;
received any official public incrimination and/or sanctions by any statutory or regulatory authorities
(including designated professional bodies) or ever been disqualified by a court from acting as a member of
the administrative, management or supervisory bodies of a company or from acting in the management or
conduct of the affairs of any company; or
been declared bankrupt or been associated with any bankruptcy, receivership or liquidiation in his capacity
as a founder, director or senior manager of a company.

Over the five years preceding the date of this document, the members of the Board and the senior management
hold or have held the following directorships (apart from their directorships) and/or partnerships:
Name

Current directorships / partnerships /
other positions

Previous directorships / partnerships /
other positions

Chairman and CEO of Frontline Ltd.,
Chairman of Seadrill, Golden Ocean
Group Limited and Golar LNG Limited.
Vice-President and director of Frontline
Ltd., director of Aktiv Kapital ASA,
Golar LNG Limited, Ship Finance
International Limited, Golden Ocean
Group Limited and Seadrill.
Director Seadrill, Frontline Ltd, Golar
LNG Limited, Ship Finance
International Limited and Golden Ocean
Group Ltd.
Director Seadrill, owner and managing
partner of Nor Ocean Offshore AS.

Chairman Northern Offshore Ltd.

Board of Directors

John Fredriksen

Tor Olav Trøim

Kate Blankenship

Pål Nordgreen

Board member Northern Offshore Ltd.

-

Board member Hjalmar Bjoerge
AS/Chairman, Board member NorOcean Shipping AS, Nor-Ocean
Offshore AS, Nordco Shipping &
Finance AS, Freeman Offshore AS,
Artesia AS.

Management

Kjell E. Jacobsen

Alf C. Thorkildsen

Ståle Rød
Sveinung Lofthus
Alf Ragnar Løvdal

Stein Diesen
Hans van Royen

CEO Seadrill Management, Board
member Eidesvik Offshore ASA and
Eastern, Vice President the Norwegian
Shipowner’s Association
CFO Seadrill Management, member of
the board of Lime AS and Eastern.
Managing Director, Tender Rigs
(Seadrill)
Managing Director, Mobile Units
(Seadrill)
Managing Director, Well Services
(Seadrill)
Managing Director, Deepwater Projects
(Seadrill)
Managing Director, Jack-up rigs
(Seadrill)
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CEO of Smedvig, Managing Director of
Smedvig Offshore AS.

CFO in Smedvig, Treasurer and
Controller of the Global EP business of
Shell, board member Proserv AS,
Managing Director, Tender Rigs
(Smedvig).
General Manager Operations for the
Mobile Units and Platform Drilling
divisions (Smedvig)
Managing Director, Mobile Units
(Smedvig)
CEO Jet Drilling (S) Pte. Ltd.

Salaries and termination of employment
Both Kjell E. Jacobsen (CEO) and Alf C. Thorkildsen (CFO) will receive compensation corresponding to 24
months salary if the person, at the request of the Board of Directors, resigns.
Ståle Rød (Managing Director Tender Rigs), Sveinung Lofthus (Managing director Mobile Units), Alf Ragnar
Løvdal (Managing Director Well Services) and Stein Diesen (Managing Director of Deepwater projects) will
receive compensation corresponding to 12 months salary if they, at the request from the Board of Directors,
resign.
As per 31 December 2005, Seadrill owed Seatankers US$ 708,072 for services rendered in connection with the
operation of the two FPSOs, general office expenses and the assignment of Mr. Tor Olav Trøim as the
Company’s CEO.

8.4.3

Share Option Scheme

Seadrill has established a share Option scheme employee share ownership plan pursuant which employees,
directors and officers of the Seadrill Group may be allocated options to subscribe for new Shares.
The Board has furthermore resolved to allocate five million shares out of the authorised, but unissued shares in
Seadrill to the employee share ownership plan.
The scheme was established in May 2005 when the Board reserved 5 million of Seadrill’s authorized but
unissued shares to the scheme of a subscription price of USD 2.23.
As of the date hereof 1,411,667 options have been granted under this plan as of today. Included in this number
are the following options granted to directors and executive management in the Seadrill Group:
Recipient
John Fredriksen
Tor Olav Trøim
Kate Blankenship
Pål Nordgreen
Kjell E. Jacobsen
Alf C. Thorkildsen
Hans van Royen
Total

Number of Options
350 000
275 000
30 000
30 000
350 000
275 000
66 667

Strike price
US$
2.23
US$
2.23
US$
2.23
NOK
70
NOK
102
NOK
102
US$
2.23

1 376 667

35,000 options have been allocated to other employees within the Seadrill Group at present.
A further 2,780,000 options will be allocated to additional employees in the Seadrill Group within a short time.
The remainder of the unissued Shares allocated to the program will be held in reserve for allocation of options to
future employees.
The main terms of the employee share ownership plan are as follows:
y

Options may be granted under the plan for a period of 10 years from May 2005.

y

Options can only be granted to employees in the Seadrill Group or a director thereof.

y

The option period, i.e. the periods during which the options can be exercised are 5 years. The option vest
by one third per year during the three years of the option period.

8.4.4

Pension plans

Seadrill (excluding Smedvig and its subsidiaries) has no pension plans or severance pay. The pension plans
existing in Smedvig (which will be continued) are set out below.
Smedvig has a defined benefit pension plan that covers approximately 2,150 employees as of December 31,
2005. A significant part of this plan is administered by a life insurance company. The primary benefits for the
onshore employees in Norway are a retirement pension of approximately 66 percent of salary at retirement age
of 67 years, together with a longterm disability pension. The retirement pension per employee is capped at an
annual payment of approximately NOK 476,000. Most employees in this group may choose to retire at 62 years
of age on a pre-retirement pension. Offshore employees in Norway have retirement and longterm disability
pension of approximately 60 percent of salary at retirement age of 67. Offshore employees on mobile units may
choose to retire at 60 years of age on a pre-retirement pension. Offshore employees on fixed installations have
the same pre-retirement pension, but the employees may not retire until they are 62 years of age.
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In 2005, Smedvig has paid NOK 50.2 million in contribution to the pension plans, excluding social security cost
of NOK 7.1 million As per 31 December 2005, Smedvig had allocated a total of NOK 280 million to cover
pension plans. The Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and the Managing Directors have all
early pension agreements whereby they can retire at an age of 65. The early retirement agreements are
unsecured and provide a pension from age 65 to 67 equal to the salary at retirement. The pension benefits from
age 67 to the key personnel are similar to the other onshore employees.

8.5

Employees

As per this date, Seadrill has a total of 4,300 employee’s world wide.
Historically the number of employees has developed as follows:
Area

1Q 06

2005

Mobile Units

1,534

89

Tender rigs

1,300

-

Well services

1,350

-

116

24

4,300

113

Administration
Total

8.6

Conflicts of interest etc.

There are no potential conflict of interests between the senior management's and the director's duties to Seadrill,
and their private interests and/or other duties. The management and the directors have not been subject to any
convictions, bankruptcy, public incrimination or similar.

8.7

Corporate Governance

Seadrill is, as a consequence of having its primary listing on the OSE, subject to the Norwegian Code of Practice
for Corporate Governance (the "Code").
Seadrill is, however, a Bermuda company and thus subject to Bermuda corporate law. Some of the Code's
recommendations can, for this reason, not be applied directly.
The Code is a "comply or explain" guideline. Seadrill's current non-compliance with the Code can be summed
up as follows:
y

The authority to issue further shares within the authorised but unissued share capital rests with the Board.
There is no time-limit on this.

y

The shareholders in a Bermuda company does not have a preferred right to subscribe for further shares
when such are issued.

y

Searill has no nomination committee.

y

The Board of Seadrill currently consists of four directors. Three of the directors, Messrs. Fredriksen and
Trøim and Mrs. Blankenship, are not independent from Seadrill's main shareholder, Hemen.
While Seadrill recognises that the composition of the Board does not satisfy the recommendation of the
Code for two independent directors at present, it is not intended to propose any further increase in the
number of directors in the short term. Seadrill is currently going through a phase of rapid expansion, and
it is therefore important to have a small and focused board of directors with a close working knowledge
of Seadrill's strategy and operations, and an ability to react quickly when the situation so requires. The
current composition of the Board perfectly satisfies these needs. Seadrill thus believes that these
considerations, for the time being, justify the non-compliance with the Code's recommendation for two
independent directors and the need for a nomination committee.

At the time the Shares were listed on the OSE, Seadrill provided a statement concerning the independence of its
board of directors. This was attached to the listing prospectus as appendix 4.
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8.8

Board and management’s ownership interests

The following tables show the number of Shares and options owned by the members of the Board and Seadrill's
senior management (including related parties) as per this date:
Board

Position

Options

Shares

John Fredriksen ........................

Chairman

350,000

130,830,916

Tor Olav Trøim ........................

Board Member

275,000

250,000

Kate Blankenship .....................

Board Member

30,000

8,000

Pål Nordgreen...........................

Board Member

30,000

62,000

685,000

131,150,916

Total owned by the Board......

Management

Position

Options

Shares

Kjell E. Jacobsen ......................

CEO Seadrill Management

350,000

0

Alf C. Thorkildsen....................

CFO Seadrill Management

275,000

0

Sveinung Lofthus .....................

Managing Director Mobile Units

0

0

Ståle Rød ..................................

Managing Director Tender Rigs

0

0

Alf R. Løvdal............................

Managing Director Well Services

0

0

Stein Diesen..............................

Managing Director Deepwater projects

0

0

Hans van Royen .......................

Managing Director Jack-up rigs

Total owned by management

8.9

66,667

43,333

691,667

43,333

Related party agreements

Seatankers (a company indirectly controlled by Mr. John Fredriksen) has since the incorporation of Seadrill
provided certain management services to the Seadrill Group as a sub-contractor to Seadrill Management. These
services have previously included the provision of administrative and accounting services, project development
services, marketing services, operating services relevant to the assets of the Seadrill Group and financial
services. The scope of these services has been reduced since the incorporation of Smedvig ASA.
These services and the terms thereof are documented in a management agreement between Seatankers and
Seadrill Management. The terms are market compatible. There have been no material transactions between the
parties. The management agreement is further described in the listing prospectus dated 18 November 2005
section 6.4.1 (see Section 13.2 in this Prospectus) and in note 15 to the annual report for 2005 for Seadrill,
incorporated as Appendix 3 in this Prospectus.
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9

Share Capital and Shareholder Matters

9.1

The Shares and the shareholder register

9.1.1

Registration in the VPS and listing on the OSE

The Unrestricted Shares are registered in the VPS under the International Securities Identification Number
(ISIN) BMG 79 45E1057. The Unrestricted Shares are listed on the OSE and trade under the ticker code
“SDRL”. The Shares are not listed on any other stock exchange.
The Shares are issued in registered form. All the shares have equal rights and each share carries one vote in
Seadrill’s shareholder meeting.

9.1.2

Shareholder register

The Company’s register of shareholders is maintained by the Company and kept in physical form at the
Company’s registered address (the “Bermuda Register”).
All shares admitted to trading on Oslo Børs must be registered in the Norwegian Central Securities Depository
(Verdipapirsentralen), which is Norway’s paperless centralised securities registry. To achieve compatibility of
the requirements of Bermuda company law as to the registration and transfer of shares with Norwegian
requirements, the Shares are for the purpose of Bermuda company law, entered in the Bermuda Register in the
name of Nordea Bank Norge ASA (the “Registrar”). The Registrar holds the Shares as nominee on behalf of
the beneficial owners. For the purpose of enabling trading in the Shares on Oslo Børs, the Company will
maintain a register in VPS operated by the Registrar as the Company's account operator, where the beneficial
ownership interests in and transfer of the beneficial ownership interests in the Shares will be recorded.
In accordance with market practice in Norway and system requirements of VPS and Oslo Børs, the investors
will be registered in VPS as owners of the Shares and the instruments listed and traded on Oslo Børs will be
referred to as common shares of Odfjell Invest. However, for the purpose of Bermuda law, the Registrar will be
regarded as the sole owner of the Shares and investors registered as owners of the Shares in VPS will have to
exercise, indirectly through the Registrar as their nominee, all rights of ownership relating to the Shares. The
investors registered as owners in VPS must look solely to the Registrar for the payment of dividends, for the
exercise of voting rights attached to the Shares, and for all other rights arising in respect of the Shares. The
Registrar Agreement provides that whenever the Registrar receives any notice, report, accounts, financial
statements, circular or other similar document relating to the Company’s affairs, including notice of a
shareholders meeting, the Registrar shall ensure that a copy of such document is promptly sent to the investors
registered as owners in VPS, along with any proxy card form or other relevant materials.
All transactions related to securities registered with the VPS must be recorded in the VPS and the transactions
are recorded through computerised book-entries. No physical share certificates are or can be issued. VPS
confirms each entry by sending a notification of the transaction to the relevant investor, regardless of beneficial
ownership. To effect these entries, the investor must establish a securities account with a Norwegian account
operator unless the investor’s securities are registered in the name of a nominee. Norwegian banks, authorised
investment firms in Norway and Norwegian branches of credit institutions established within the EEA are
allowed to act as account operators. The entry of a transaction in VPS is under Norwegian law prima facie
evidence in determining the legal rights of parties as towards the issuing company and against a third party
claiming an interest in the security.
All transactions related to the beneficial ownership interests in the Shares must be recorded in VPS. The
evidence of ownership through the VPS is the only formality required in order to acquire and sell beneficial
ownership of the Ordinary Shares.
The Registrar’s address is:
Nordea Bank Norge ASA, Verdipapirservice
P.O. Box 1166 - Sentrum
0107 Oslo
Norway.

9.1.3

Restrictions of transferability

There are no restrictions as to the transferability of the Shares. The New Shares will be tradable at the OSE on
or about 7 July 2006.
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9.1.4

Bye-Laws

A brief summary of the content of Seadrill's bye-laws and a comparison with relevant Norwegian corporate law
provisions is attached as Appendix 2 hereto. The objects for which Seadrill is formed and incorporated are to
acquire, own, operate, manage, hire out, repair and otherwise deal with or in ocean drilling, ships, vessels,
platforms, rigs and equipment of all kind as further described in section 6 of Seadrill's memorandum of
association.
Seadrill’s by-laws provide that the Board of Directors of Seadrill shall be such number not less than two as
Seadrill by Ordinary Resolution may from time to time determine and each Director shall hold office until the
next annual general meeting following his election or until his successor is elected.
Subject to the Bermuda Companies Acts, all or any of the rights for the time being attached to any class of
shares for the time being issued may from time to time (whether or not Seadrill is being wound up) be altered or
abrogated with the consent in writing of the holders of not less than seventy-five percent in nominal value of the
issued shares of that class or with the sanction of a resolution passed by a majority of seventy-five percent of the
votes cast at a separate general meeting of the holders of such shares voting in person or by proxy.
Subject to the Bermuda Companies Acts and any special rights conferred on the holders of any other share of
class of shares, any share in Seadrill may be issued with or have attached thereto such preferred, deferred,
qualified or other special rights or such restrictions, whether in regard to dividend, voting, return of capital or
otherwise, as Seadrill, by Ordinary Resolution, may determine.
The rights conferred upon the holders of any shares or class of shares shall not, unless otherwise expressly
provided in the rights attaching to or the terms of issue of such shares, be deemed to be altered by the creation or
issue of further shares ranking pari passu therewith.
The Board shall convene and Seadrill shall hold general meetings as annual general meetings in accordance with
the requirements of the Bermuda Companies Acts at such times and places subject to the limitation set out
below as the Board shall appoint.
An annual general meeting shall be called by not less than seven days notice in writing and a special general
meeting shall be called by not less than seven days notice in writing. The notice period shall be exclusive of the
day on which the notice is served or deemed to be served and of the day on which the meeting to which it relates
is to be held and shall specify the place, day and time of the meeting, and in the case of a special general
meeting, the general nature of the business to be considered.

9.1.5

Mandatory tender offer and compulsory acquisition

Seadrill's bye-laws contains requirements for a mandatory offer in the event a person or entity (the “Acquirer”),
through any form of acquisition of Shares, becomes the owner of Shares representing more than 30% of all of
the Shares at such time. The Acquirer must then make an unconditional offer for the purchase of the remaining
Shares on the terms set out in the bye-laws clause 34 (ix) in order to be recorded as a holder of Shares in excess
of this level.
The Shares are not subject to mandatory take-over regulations under Bermudan or Norwegian law at this time.
As a consequence of the EU Take-Over-Directive, there is currently an ongoing process to amend the current
Norwegian legislation. According to the proposal the mandatory bid obligation in the Securities Trading Act
will also apply to non-Norwegian companies listed on the OSE. This new regulation has not been adopted yet,
but is expected in 2006. According to the suggested new regulation the threshold for the mandatory bid
requirement will be lowered to 1/3 of the shares carrying voting rights with a repeated obligation at 50%.
Seadrill has not received any public take-over bids by third parties in respect of its equity during the last or
current financial year.
Under Bermudan law, a shareholder holding not less than 95% or more of the issued share capital of a company
may effect a compulsory acquisition of the remaining shares.

9.1.6

Disclosure of Acquisitions and Disposals

Under the Securities Trading Act, a person, entity or group acting in concert that acquires or disposes of shares,
options for shares or other rights to shares listed on OSE resulting in its beneficial ownership, directly or
indirectly, in the aggregate, reaching, exceeding or falling below the respective thresholds of 1/20, 1/10, 1/5,
1/3, 1/2, 2/3 or 9/10 of the share capital or the votes has an obligation to notify the OSE immediately.
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9.1.7

Shareholder register

Seadrill's formal register of shareholders is kept in physical form at Seadrill's registered address.
Nordea is registered as the sole nominal shareholder of all of the Shares. Nordea and Seadrill have entered into a
sub-register agreement on 12 May 2005 setting out the terms and conditions pursuant to which Nordea will
establish, maintain and operate a sub-register of shareholders in Seadrill (which includes all of its issued shares)
in the VPS.
This sub-register is kept in electronic form.
The formal registrar responsible for the operation of the sub-register is:
Nordea Bank Norge ASA, Verdipapirservice
P.O. Box 1166 – Sentrum
N-0107 Oslo
Norway

9.2

Share capital

9.2.1

Authorised Capital

The authorised share capital of Seadrill is, as of this date hereof, US$ 800 million to be represented by 400
million ordinary shares of US$ 2 par value.

9.2.2

Issued Share Capital

The issued share capital of Seadrill as of the date hereof is US$ 726,266,432 represented by 363,133,216 fully
paid shares of US$ 2 par value. A total of 134,000,000 shares are Restricted, and carry a separate ISIN number
(BMG 7945 E 1131) pending the publication of this Prospectus.
The issued share capital of Seadrill as of 31 December 2005 was US$ 458,266,432 represented by 229,133,216
fully paid shares of US$ 2 par value.

9.2.3

Share rights

All of the Shares have equal rights.
Each Share carries one vote in Seadrill's shareholder meeting.
Subject to the companies act and any special rights conferred on the holders of any other share of class of
shares, any share in the Company may be issued with or have attached thereto such preferred, deferred, qualified
or other special rights or such restrictions, whether in regard to dividend, voting, return of capial or otherwise, as
the Company may by ordinary resolution determine.
Subject to the companies Act, any preference share may, with the sanction of an ordinary resolution, be issued
on terms;
(a) that they are to be redeemed on the happening of a specified event or on a given date; and/or
(b) that they are liable to be redeemed at the option of the Company; and/or
(c) that they are liable to be redeemed at the option of the holder.

9.3

Dividend policy

Seadrill’s aim is to establish the Shares as an attractive investment object. In order to achieve this, Seadrill shall
endeavour to provide its shareholders with a competitive return on their investment over time, both in terms of
dividends and in a positive development in the price of the Shares. Seadrill’s ambition is that the underlying
values of the Seadrill Group’s assets and activities shall be reflected in the price of the Shares.
The amount of any dividends on the Shares to be distributed will be dependent on, inter alia, Seadrill’s
investment requirements, amount of debt and rate of growth.
There is, given the Seadrill Group’s current investment program, no plans for dividend payments in the short to
medium term.
The shareholders in Seadrill do not have pre-emptive rights under Bermudan Law or SeaDrill's bye-laws.
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According to the By-Laws of the Company, all dividends or distributions out of contributed surplus may be
declared and paid according to the amouns paid up on the shares in respect of which the dividend or distribution
is paid. Dividends or distributions out of contributed surplus may be apportioned and paid pro rata according to
the amounts paid up on the shares during any portion or portions of the period in respect of which the dividend
or distribution is paid. The Board may deduct from any dividend, distribution or moneys payable to a
shareholder by the Company on or in respect of any share all sums of money (if any) presently payable to him to
the Company on account of calls or otherwise in respect of shares of the Company.

9.4

Shareholder policy

Seadrill has continuously provided its shareholders, the OSE and the market as a whole with information on its
activities. Such information currently takes the form of press releases, quarterly results announcements and
investor presentations. Seadrill seeks to treat all shareholders equally in line with applicable regulations.
Seadrill intends to manage the Seadrill Group’s assets and business in a manner which provides the highest
possible return at an acceptable risk, measured in terms of total dividends and increases in share price. This is
intended to make the Shares an attractive investment, and will provide the basis for Seadrill’s ability to raise
additional equity when and if this should be required.

9.5
9.5.1

Employee Share Ownership Program – Repurchase Programs
Employee Share Ownership Program

The Board has approved an employee share ownership plan for all employees, officers and directors in the
Seadrill Group. Five million of the authorised shares have been allocated to this program, cfr. Section 8.4.3.

9.5.2

Repurchase of Shares

Neither Seadrill nor any of the Subsidiaries owns Shares. Seadrill may, however, pursuant to its bye-laws,
purchase, Shares on such terms and in such manner as may be authorised by the Board for the purpose of
cancelling the same.

9.6

Historical development in Seadrill's share capital and number of
issued Shares

The table below shows the historical development of Seadrill's share capital and the number of outstanding
Shares since the date of incorporation:
Date/Year

Change in
number of shares
issued

10/05/2005

6,000

11/05/2005

No. of shares
following change

Change in share
capital US$

Total share capital
US$

2

6,000

12,000

12,000

84,994,000

2

85,000,000

169,988,000

170,000,000

11/05/2005

15,000,000

2

100,000,000

30,000,000

200,000,000

02/06/2005

10,000,000

2

110,000,000

20,000,000

220,000,000

10/06/2005

10,000,000

2

120,000,000

20,000,000

240,000,000

28/06/2005

42,343,940

2

162,343,940

84,687,880

324,687,880

14/07/2005

35,695,822

2

198,039,762

71,391,644

396,079,524

25/07/2005

1,960,238

2

200,000,000

3,920,476

400,000,000

11/08/2005

8,039,762

2

208,039,762

16,079,524

416,079,524

19/8/2005

12,000,000

2

220,039,762

24,000,000

440,079,524

08/12/2005

9,093,454

2

229,133,216

18,186,908

458,266,432

25/01/2006

75,000,000

1

2

304,133,216

150,000,000

608,266,432

20,000,000

1

2

324,133,216

40,000,000

648,266,432

39,000,000

1

2

363,133,216

78,0000,000

726,266,432

27/02/2006
05/04/2006

Nominal
value per
Share (US$)
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9.7

Share price development

Below is an overview of the price development and traded volumes of Shares since their listing on the OSE in
November 2005.
NOK

Volume

140

10,000,000
9,000,000

120

8,000,000
100
7,000,000
80

6,000,000

60

5,000,000
4,000,000

40
3,000,000
20

2,000,000
1,000,000
11/22/2005
11/26/2005
11/30/2005
12/4/2005
12/8/2005
12/12/2005
12/16/2005
12/20/2005
12/24/2005
12/28/2005
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3/2/2006
3/6/2006
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3/30/2006
4/3/2006
4/7/2006
4/11/2006
4/15/2006
4/19/2006
4/23/2006
4/27/2006
5/1/2006
5/5/2006
5/9/2006
5/13/2006
5/17/2006
5/21/2006
5/25/2006
5/29/2006
6/2/2006
6/6/2006
6/10/2006
6/14/2006
6/18/2006
6/22/2006
6/26/2006
6/30/2006
7/4/2006

0

Volume

9.8

Closing Price

Major shareholders

As of 6 July, 2006, Seadrill had a total of 4,960 shareholders, of which 4,454 were Norwegian, and 506 were
non-Norwegian. The 10 largest shareholders are shown below:
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

1

Shareholder
Hemen Holding Ltd.1
Morgan Stanley and C. Clients (nominee)
State Street Bank (nominee)
JP Morgan Chase Bank (nominee)
Bank of New York BR S/A MSF-Mutual Disco
Fidelity Funds Europe Brown Brothers Harriman
State Street Bank & Client Omnibus S
Sphinx Investment Co.
Bank of New York, BR S/A MSF Mutual Share
JP Morgan Bank Lux (nominee)
Total 10 largest
Others
Total

No. of shares
130,830,916
24,858,347
22,578,172
8,828,029
7,448,870
7,436,567
7,190,970
7,100,000
5,502,530
4,545,443
226,319,844
136,813,372
363,133,216

Percentage
36.03%
6.85%
6.22%
2.43%
2.05%
2.05%
1.98%
1.96%
1.52%
1.25%
62.32%
37.68%
100.00%

126,800,000 Shares are issued with ISIN number BMG 7945 E 1131 pending the publication of this Prospectus

The major shareholder of Seadrill is Hemen, a company indirectly controlled by Mr. John Fredriksen, which
owns 130,830,916 Shares3 representing 36.03% of the total number of Shares at present. In addition, Mr.
Fredriksen holds 350,000 options. Seadrill is not aware of any other shareholders owning more than 5% of the
Shares.

3

126,800,000 of the shares held by Hemen Holding are Restricted Shares and thus registered in the VPS under a separate
ISIN number (ISIN BMG 7945 E 1131) pending the publication of this Prospectus.
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10

Market Conditions

10.1

General offshore oil & gas - industry overview

The market for offshore drilling services is primarily driven by the investments and level of activity in the
exploration, development and production of crude oil and natural gas. The investment level depends on oil
companies’ cash flow and revenues, acreage available for exploration and development as well as existing and
forecasted oil & gas prices. These factors are, in turn, affected by various political and economic factors, such as
global production levels, prices of alternative energy sources, government policies, the political stability in the
oil producing countries, etc.
The market for offshore drilling services is cyclical and volatile ranging from the highly volatile exploration
drilling market to the more stable production services market.
As a consequence of a strong global economy and a strong increase in oil demand, the offshore drilling markets
showed a healthy development from 1995 until 1997. The financial crisis in Asia and the oil price collapse in
1998/99 led, however, to a weak market in the period 1998-2000. The subsequent hike in energy prices
contributed to an improvement during 2001, but the upturn was short as the weakening global economy
influenced the market negatively at the end of that year. This continued through 2002 and 2003. However,
during the end of 2004 and 2005, there was a significant increase in the demand for oil and a corresponding
increase in the investments made by oil companies in offshore drilling services.

10.2

Oil & gas fundamentals

10.2.1 Production capacity
The steady increase in crude oil and petroleum product prices over the last 2 years is expected to slow and even
turn around, although dramatic reductions are not anticipated. Many of the same factors that drove world oil
markets in 2005, such as low world spare oil production capacity and rapid world oil demand growth, will
continue to affect markets in 2006-2007. Other factors are less certain, such as the frequency and intensity of
hurricanes, other extreme weather, and geopolitical instability.
World oil demand growth is expected to increase from 1.2 million bbl/d in 2005 to 1.6 million bbl/d in 20064,
largely because U.S. demand is projected to recover from a net decline in 2005 to show growth of 410,000 bbl/d
in 2006. Growth in demand is projected to increase further to 1.9 million bbl/d in 2007 as demand picks up
because of economic growth in developing Asian countries (excluding China). Other Asian growth had slowed
because of subsidy cuts in countries such as Indonesia and Thailand. Chinese demand growth is projected to
stay on its overall annual trend of about 500,000 bbl/d. OECD demand growth outside the United States is
expected to remain low.
Except for the period 1979-1982, demand has grown every year since 1971. This, combined with only moderate
growth in production capacity, has reduced the world’s production buffer. On top of this, production in many
fields in the OECD area are likely to peak in the next couple of years and start declining, although the impact of
last year’s price surge has made this more uncertain.
Because natural gas prices remain high and summer weather in 2006 is expected to be cooler than in summer
2005, total natural gas demand in 2006 will likely remain near 2005 levels, then increase by 1.3 percent in 2007.
Demand for natural gas for production of electricity is expected to fall by 4.7 percent in 2006 because of the
assumed return to normal summer weather, then increase by 2.4 percent in 2007.
However, despite this strong projected growth in demand, world spare oil production capacity is projected to
increase during 2006 and 2007 as non-OPEC and OPEC supplies increase. This increase is expected to ease the
current tightness in world oil markets and moderate the world oil price increases seen during the past year. NonOPEC supply, which grew by an average of 800,000 bbl/d in 1995-2005, is projected to grow by 900,000 bbl/d
in 2006 and by 1.7 million bbl/d in 2007. This non-OPEC supply forecast hinges on the U.S. forecast, and
whether a repeat hurricane scenario next summer takes out production in the GOM again.
Non-OPEC supplies are projected to show significant gains on a net basis over 2006-2007 despite continued
declines in mature fields in the North Sea, Mexico, and the Middle East, and slower growth in Russia. Outside
of the US, net production increases for 2006 of 100,000-200,000 bbl/d are expected in the Caspian, Canada,
Angola, Russia, Brazil, and Mexico areas. Large new projects in 2007 are projected to lead to increases of

4

Source EIA ”Short-term Energy Outlook”, January 2006
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almost 500,000 bbl/d in Angola, almost 400,000 bbl/d in the Caspian, over 200,000 bbl/d in Brazil, and over
200,000 bbl/d in Canada.
Overview of oil production capacity
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10.2.2 Investments in exploration and development
Despite strong oil prices from late 1999, oil companies have until recently been reluctant to increase exploration
and production spending accordingly. Until mid 2003 the high prices were more a result of OPEC’s success in
controlling the supply side rather than growing demand. However, since then the situation has changed and oil
demand has shown a strong growth. Since there is currently only about 1% excess production capacity worldwide, increased exploration and production activity is expected.
Crude oil prices are determined largely by the balance between production and consumption and the mix of
OPEC and non-OPEC production.
Between 2003 and 2010, crude oil prices are expected to decline as new deepwater oil fields are brought into
production in the GOM and West Africa, new oil sands production is initiated in Canada, and OPEC and Russia
expand production capacity. Near-term price expectations are highly uncertain, however, given the potential for
political instability in many oil-exporting countries. Any closedown of production as a consequence of political
upheavals can significantly change the world’s oil demand and supply picture.
Exploration and production spending worldwide were up some 10% in 2004 and is estimated to grow to double
digit figures through 2006.
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Oil price and World E&P Spending
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This situation is aggravated through recently published information regarding the actual reserves held by the
major oil companies (ref. Shell’s downgrading of its reserves by 20%), and examinations of variations between
when oil companies report discoveries and when they actually make the finds. As reporting of reserves include
upgrades of previously announced estimates, these reports can, over time, be expected to substantially surpass
new commercial finds.

10.3 Overview of mobile drilling rigs
The worldwide fleet of mobile drilling rigs totals 588 units. Of these, 384 are Jack-up rigs (most of which are
capable of drilling in water depths between 150 and 300 feet), 163 are Semi-submersible rigs and 38 are
Drillships. With 498 of these employed as of 31 March 2006, the fleet utilization is 85% (source: ODSPetrodata) however, the effective utilization for the mobile drilling rigs being marketed is close to 100% as 34
units remain cold-stacked, while the remaining number of unemployed units are either at shipyard for
repairment/upgrade/classing or are en-route between contracts.

Overview of mobile drilling rigs
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10.3.1.1 Jack-up rigs
Jack-up rigs are mobile, bottom-supported self-elevating drilling platforms that stand on three legs on the
seabed. When the rig is to move from one location to another, it will jack its platform down on the water until it
floats, and will then be towed by a supply vessel or similar to its next location. A modern Jack-up rig will
normally have the ability to move its drill floor aft of its own hull (cantilever), so that multiple wells can be
drilled at open water locations or over wellhead platforms without re-positioning the rig. Ultra premium Jack-up
rigs have operational capabilities enabling them to work in water depths in excess of 300ft.
10.3.1.2 Semi-submersible rigs
Semi-submersible rigs are floating platforms and feature a ballasting system that can vary the draft of the
partially submerged hull from a shallow transit draft, to a predetermined operational and/or survival draft (50 80 feet) when drilling operations are underway at a well location. This reduces the rig’s exposure to ocean
conditions (waves, winds, and currents) and increases its stability. Semi-submersible rigs maintain their position
above the wellhead either by means of a conventional mooring system, consisting of anchors and chains and/or
cables, or by a computerized dynamic positioning system. Propulsion capabilities of Semi-submersible rigs
range from having no propulsion capability or propulsion assistance (and thereby requiring the use of supply
vessel or similar for transits between locations) through to self-propelled whereby the rig has the ability to
relocate independently of a towing vessel.
10.3.1.3 Drillships
Drillships are ships with on-board propulsion machinery, often constructed for drilling in deep water. They are
based on conventional ship hulls, but have certain modifications. Drilling operations are conducted through
openings in the hull (‘‘moon pools”). Drillships normally have a higher load capacity than semi-submersible
rigs and are well suited to offshore drilling in remote areas due to their mobility and high load capacity. Like
semi-submersible rigs, drillships can be equipped with conventional mooring systems or DP systems.

10.4 Overview of the Jack-up rig market
The Jack-up rig market has traditionally had its strongest focus in the GOM. However, during the last couple of
years several units have migrated from this region to other regions such as the Pacific and the Middle East.
World Jackup Rig Fleet April 2006
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10.4.1 Recent Market Development
During the latest downturn the Jack-up rig market experienced fairly high utilization as compared to the semisubmersible rig market. However, there were considerable variations between the different geographic markets.
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Over the last 18 months there has been an extensive global improvement. Jack-up rigs with drilling capacity in
excess of 300 feet have been awarded contracts above US$ 150,000/day, while the level for the most modern
units is roughly US$ 200,000/day.
International Jack-up Rig Market Rates
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10.4.2 Increased Utilization
Global utilization for Jack-up rigs with drilling capacity in excess of 300 feet has increased from 85% at the end
of 2004 to close to 90-95% today. The utilization ratio is currently curbed by many units undergoing repairs
following the damages caused by the hurricanes in the GoM last fall. Demand is, according to ODS-Petrodata,
set to increase by another 80 units (25%) the next 12 months, which implies that there will be a significant
shortage next year.
Jack-up Rig Utilization
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10.4.3 The Jack-up rig Fleet
With an average age of 24 years there is a significant need to modernize and renew the Jack-up rig fleet.
Total global Jack up rig fleet – age distribution
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Excluding one unit built for the Caspian Sea, 24 Jack-up rigs have been delivered since 1998.
Eight of these rigs were built to meet the challenges of harsh environments, usually resulting in significantly
increased construction cost. Harsh environment units are also generally able to compete in the Middle East,
India and South East Asia markets which the Seadrill Group has targeted for its activities. However, the primary
markets for these units are currently strong, and no migration is expected.
Jack-up rig additions 2006 onwards
Company

Rig Name

Delivery
Date

Design

Rated
Shipyard
depth (ft)

Drilling
depth (ft)

COSL
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Mar-06
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PPL Shipyard Pte Ltd
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May-07
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350
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30 000

Perforadora Central

Panuco

May-07
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LeTourneau
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Sinvest

Deep Driller 4

Jun-07

Pacific Class 375
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PPL Shipyard Pte Ltd

Sinvest

Deep Driller 5

Jun-07
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Keppel FELS
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SeaDrill

SeaDrill 4

Jun-07

KFELS MOD V B

350

Keppel FELS

30 000

Gazprom

Arcticheskaya

Jul-07

Corrall 6500/10-30

328

Zvezdochka Shipyard

21 326

SeaDrill

SeaDrill 1

Aug-07

KFELS MOD V B

400

Keppel FELS

30 000

Noble

Noble Roger Lewis

Aug-07

JU-2000E

400

Dalian New Shipbuilding

30 000

Rowan

Rowan TARZAN IV

Sep-07

TARZAN CLASS

350

Signal International

35 000

Scorpion Offshore

Offshore Defender

Oct-07

Super 116 Class

350

Keppel AmFELS

30 000

A.P. Møller

Maersk JU Tbn1

Nov-07

CJ50-X100MC

350

Keppel FELS

30 000

Thule Drilling

Thule Energy

Nov-07

Super M2

300

QGM

25 000

Awilco

Awilco JU Tbn5

Dec-07

Pacific Class 375

375

PPL Shipyard Pte Ltd

30 000

Seadrill

SeaDrill 2

Dec-07

Pacific Class 375

375

PPL Shipyard Pte Ltd

30 000

COSL

COSL 942

Dec-07

JU-2000E

400

Dalian New Shipbuilding

30 000

Gulf Drilling

GULF-5

Dec-07

KFELS MOD V B

300

Keppel FELS

NA

Petrojack

Petrojack II

Jan-08

Pacific Class 375

375

Jurong Shipyard Pte Ltd

30 000

Source: ODS-Petrodata & Pareto Research
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Based on the current order back-log, 62 Jack-up rigs will be delivered during the next 3 1/2 years, whereof
Seadrill is expecting delivery of three.
Whilst newbuilding activity is expected to increase going forward, current yard capacity and the availability of
certain steel qualities poses major bottlenecks. Nonetheless, considering the expected growth in demand and the
high average age of the world Jack-up rig fleet, the number of newbuildings to be delivered the next 3 1/2 years
(16% of total existing fleet) is not a very high figure.
Jack-ups under construction
Company

Rig Name

Delivery
Date

Design

Rated
Shipyard
depth (ft)

Drilling
depth (ft)

Diamond Offshore

Ocean Scepter

Feb-08

KFELS MOD V B Super

350

Keppel AmFELS

35 000

Diamond Offshore

Ocean Shield

Feb-08

KFELS MOD V B Super

350

Keppel FELS

35 000

Noble

Noble Hans Deul

Feb-08

JU-2000E

400

Dalian New Shipbuilding

30 000

Japan Drilling

Hakuryu X

Feb-08

Pacific Class 375

375

PPL Shipyard Pte Ltd

25 000

Thule Drilling

Thule Force

Mar-08

Super M2

300

QGM

30 000

Scorpion Offshore

Offshore Resolute

Mar-08

Super 116 Class

350

Keppel AmFELS

30 000

Awilco

WilBoss

Apr-08

KFELS MOD V B

400

Keppel FELS

30 000

A.P. Møller

Maersk JU Tbn2

May-08

CJ50-X100MC

350

Keppel FELS

30 000

SeaDrill

SeaDrill TBA

May-08

KFELS MOD V B

400

Keppel FELS

30 000

Awilco

Awilco JU Tbn7

May-08

Pacific Class 375

375

PPL Shipyard Pte Ltd

30,000

ALCO

Aban JU Tbn1

Jun-08

Pacific Class 375

375

PPL Shipyard Pte Ltd

30 000

Rowan

Rowan JU Tbn1

Jun-08

Class 240-C

400

LeTourneau

NA

Scorpion Offshore

Offshore Vigilant

Jun-08

Super 116 Class

350

Keppel AmFELS

30 000

Petrojack

Petrojack III

Jun-08

Pacific Class 375

375

Jurong Shipyard Pte Ltd

30 000

Mosvold

Mosvold TBN 1

Jun-08

Super M2

300

MIS Shipyard

30 000

Sinvest

Deep Driller 6

Sep-08

Pacific Class 375

375

PPL Shipyard Pte Ltd

30 000

Sinvest

Deep Driller 7

Sep-08

KFELS MOD V B Super

375

Keppel FELS

30 000

Atwood

Atwood JU Tbn 1

Sep-08

Super 116 Class

350

Keppel AmFELS

30 000

Mosvold

Mosvold TBN 2

Oct-08

Super M2

300

MIS Shipyard

30 000

A.P. Møller

Maersk JU Tbn3

Nov-08

CJ50-X100MC

350

Keppel FELS

30 000

Scorpion Offshore

Offshore Intrepid

Nov-08

Super 116 Class

350

Keppel AmFELS

30 000

Discovery Hyd.

Discovery JU Tbn 1

Dec-08

KFELS MOD V B

350

Keppel FELS

30 000

Discovery Hyd.

Discovery JU Tbn 2

Dec-08

KFELS MOD V B

350

Keppel FELS

30 000

Standard Drilling

Labroy JU TBN 1

Dec-08

MSC CJ-46-X100D

350

Labroy

30 000
30 000

Larsen Oil & Gas

Larsen TBN 1

Dec-08

Pacific Class 375

375

Jurong Shipyard Pte Ltd

Rowan

Rowan JU Tbn2

Feb-09

Class 240-C

400

LeTourneau

NA

Mercator Lines

Mercator TBN 1

Mar-09

KFELS MOD V B

350

Keppel FELS

30 000

Sinvest

Deep Driller 8

Mar-09

KFELS MOD V B Super

350

Keppel FELS

35 000

A.P. Møller

Maersk JU Tbn4

May-09

CJ50-X100MC

350

Keppel FELS

30 000

Standard Drilling

Labroy JU TBN 2

May-09

MSC CJ-46-X100D

350

Labroy

30 000

Awilco

WilStrike

May-09

KFELS MOD V B

400

Keppel FELS

30 000

Source: ODS-Petrodata & Pareto Research
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10.5 The market for floaters
The total fleet of floating drilling units includes 163 Semi-submersible rigs and 38 Drillships. The largest
regional markets are the North Sea, Latin America, North America and Asia Pacific. In addition the market in
Africa is relatively large, and is expected to grow significantly in the coming years.
Overview of the Semi-submersible rigs
0

10

20

30

40

50

NW Europe
Latin America
North America

Asia-Pacific
Africa
Working
Yard/En route
Cold Stacked

Mediterranean
Other

Source: ODS-Petrodata

10.5.1 Floater fleet
Two new Semi-submersible rigs were added to the floater fleet in 2005: Global SantaFe’s 5th generation
Development Drillers 1 and 2. These units were ordered in 2001 and represent the last deliveries of the
newbuilding cycle that started in 1996. Including conversions, 46 units have been delivered from 1998 – 2005,
representing roughly 25% of the total floater fleet today. Out of these, 26 are defined as 5th generation units
capable to work at ultra deep waters of 7,500 feet or deeper. The remaining units are mainly older units having
been fully refurbished and some newbuilds with less advanced capabilities.
During the last year 27 new Semi-submersible rigs/Drillships with expected delivery in 2007 or later have been
ordered. Current newbuild orderbook thus represents approximately 13% of the total floater fleet. 25 of the
ordered units are ultra deepwater rigs capable of drilling at 7,500 feet and deeper. Hereof 11 units are
furthermore capable of working in the harsh weather conditions in the North Sea, Canada and other Arctic
regions.
There are currently several other newbuilding projects under consideration and it is likely that the newbuilding
activity will pick up, although available yard capacity is scarce and new orders (beyond current newbuild
options) will probably be for 2009 delivery or later.
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Newbuildings

Rig owner name

Rig Name

Rig Type

Water
Design
depth [ft]

Delivery
Date

Shipyard

HarshEnv

Stena

Stena DrillMAX

Drillship

7500

Stena

Dec-07

Samsung

Yes

Eastern Drilling

West E-Drill

Semi

10000

CS-50 MkII (N)

Dec-07

Samsung

Yes

Aker Drilling

Aker Semi Tbn1

Semi

10000

H-6e

Feb-08

Aker Verdal

Yes

Seadrill

SeaDrill 12

Semi

7500

7500-N

Mar-08

Daewoo

Yes

Seadrill

SeaDrill 10

Semi

7500

ExD

Mar-08

Jurong

No

ENSCO

ENSCO 8500

Semi

8500

Ensco

May-08

Keppel FELS

No

OFRS

Offshore Pioneer

Semi

2460

-

Jun-08

Yantai Raffles

No

Stena

Stena DrillShip TBN 2

Drillship

7500

Stena

Jun-08

Samsung

Yes

Mosvold

Mosvold Drillship Tbn1

Drillship

10000

Saipem 10000

Jun-08

Samsung

No

A.P. Møller

Maersk Semi Tbn1

Semi

10000

DSS 21

Aug-08

Keppel FELS

No

Seadrill

SeaDrill 13

Semi

7500

7500-N

Sep-08

Daewoo

Yes

Odfjell Invest

Odfjell Semi Tbn1

Semi

10000

7500-N-E

Oct-08

Daewoo

Yes

Aker Drilling

Aker Semi Tbn2

Semi

10000

H-6e

Oct-08

Aker Verdal

Yes

Seadrill

SeaDrill 11

Semi

7500

ExD

Nov-08

Jurong

No

MFP

MPF TBN 1

Drillship/FPSO

10000

MFP 1000

Dec-08

Dragados

Yes

Mosvold

Mosvold Drillship Tbn2

Drillship

10000

Saipem 10000

Dec-08

Samsung

No

OFRS

Offshore Tbn

Semi

2460

-

Dec-08

Yantai Raffles

No

Frigstad

Frigstad 1

Semi

12000

Frigstad

Feb-09

Yantai Raffles

No

Noble

Noble Danny Adkins

Semi

12000

Bingo

Feb-09

Jurong

No

Ferncliff

Ferncliff 1

Drillship

7500

Saipem 10000

Feb-09

Samsung

No

Transocean

Disc. Clear Leader

Drillship

12000

Enterprise Class

Mar-09

Daewoo

No

Sevean

Sevan DeepSea Driller

SSP

12500

Sevan

Mar-09

Yantai Raffles

No

A.P. Møller

Maersk Semi Tbn2

Semi

10000

DSS 21

Apr-09

Keppel FELS

No

GSF

Development Drilller III

Semi

8500

ExD

May-09

Keppel FELS

No

ENSCO

ENSCO 8501

Semi

7500

ExD

May-09

Keppel FELS

No

Petromena

Petrorig 1

Semi

10000

ExD

Apr-09

Jurong

Yes

Petromena

Petrorig 2

Semi

10000

ExD

Dec-09

Jurong

Yes

Floater fleet overview – age
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10.5.2 The 5th generation Semi-submersible rig fleet
The 26 units defined as 5th generation Semi-submersible rigs, were delivered in the period 1998-2005. 13 of
these are owned by Transocean, five are owned by Global SantaFe (including the two newbuildings delivered in
2005), Smedvig and Ocean Rig each owns two units, while each of Fred Olsen Energy, Stena Drilling, Saipem
and Ensco owns one unit.
The market development in this segment has been very strong during the last year. The dayrate level has
improved from US$ 150,000 per day early 2004 to US$ 450 - 500,000 per day today, with bidding level
indicating further improvement. As illustrated in the figure below, the majority of the units are fixed on long
term contracts with an average contract length (including options) of three years. Seven of the newbuilds
ordered (2x Ensco, Stena, Transocean, GSF and 2x Noble) have secured a contract.
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Contract coverage – Semi-submersible rig fleet
jan. 06

jan. 07

jan. 08

jan. 09

jan. 10

jan. 11

Ensco 7500
Development Drill 1
Eirik Raude
West Navigator
Development Drill 2
Deepw. Pathfinder
Deepw. Nautilus
Sedco Energy
Deepw. Expedition
GSF Explorer
GSF C.R.Lugis
Saipem 10000
Cajun Express
Belford Dolphin
Stena Tay
Leiv Eiriksson
Deepw. Millenium
Sedco Express
Discoverer Spirit
Deepwater Horizon
Discov. Enterprise
Discov. Deep Seas
West Venture
Deepw. Frontier
Deepw. Discovery
GSF Jack Ryan
West E-Drill
Aker Semi Tbn1
Mosvold Tbn1
SeaDrill 10
SeaDrill 12
Stena Drill Tbn 2
Maersk Semi Tbn1
Mosvold Tbn2
SeaDrill 13
Aker Semi Tbn2
Odfjell Semi Tbn1
SeaDrill 11
Frigstad 1
Sevan Deepsea Driller
Maersk Semi Tbn2
Petrorig 1
Petrorig 2
Stena Drill Max
ENSCO 8501
Noble Dave Adkins
Noble Dave Beard
Discoverer C. Leader
Development Driller III
ENSCO 8500

Construction

firm contract

options

Recently Transocean was awarded a 3-year extension from late 2007 for one of its 5th generation rig in the GoM
at US$ 515,000 per day. Transocean has also been awarded a 5 year contract for a newbuild with start up in
2009. The dayrate for the first 3 years will, under this contract, be US$ 450,000 per day, while the rate for the 2
last years will be from US$ 400,000 to US$ 500,000 per day. Stena Drilling has been awarded a 4-5 year
contract for its newbuild Stena DrillMax at US$ 485,000 per day.
Recent 5th generation Semi submersible rig fixed rates
Fixture Compdate
any
Rig

Type

Operator

Region

07.apr
06.apr
02.mar
02.mar
01.mar
01.mar
01.mar
01.mar
26.feb
03.feb
19.jan
19.jan
15.des
22.nov
17.nov
17.nov
17.nov
17.nov
02.nov
02.nov
24.okt
07.okt
06.okt
30.sep
29.sep
22.sep
15.sep
29.jul
20.jul
07.jul
30.jun
30.jun
24.jun
16.jun

5GDS
5GDS
5GSS
5GDS
5GSS
5GDS
5GDS
5GDS
5GDS
5GDS
5GSS
5GSS
5GSS
5GSS
5GDS
5GDS
5GDS
5GDS
5GDS
5GDS
5GSS
5GDS
5GSS
5GDS
5GSS
5GSS
5GDS
5GDS
5GDS
5GDS
5GDS
5GDS
5GSS
5GDS

Total
Repsol
BP
Reliance
Chevron
Chevron
Chevron
Chevron
BP
Devon
Noble
Nexen
Shell
Shell
Petrobras
Chevron
Chevron
Exx. Mobil
Anadarko
Anadarko
Shell
BP
Total
Shell
Anadarko
Anadarko
Anadarko
BHP
BP
ExxonMobil
Reliance
Petronas
Total
Reliance

Nigeria
America
Angola
India
USGoM
USGoM
USGoM
USGoM
USGoM
Brazil
USGoM
USGoM
USGoM
USGoM
Nigeria
Eq. Guin.
Nigeria
Nigeria
USGoM
USGoM
UK/NOR
Angola
USGoM
Nigeria
USGoM
USGoM
USGoM
USGoM
USGoM
Nigeria
India
Morocco
Angola
India

GSF
Stena
GSF
RIG
RIG
RIG
RIG
RIG
RIG
RIG
Ensco
Ensco
RIG
Noble
RIG
RIG
RIG
RIG
RIG
RIG
OCR
GSF
Stena
RIG
Ensco
Ensco
FOE
GSF
GSF
RIG
RIG
RIG
OCR
RIG

Jack Ryan
Stena Drill Max
Development Driller III
Deepwater Frontier
Cajun Express
Disc. Clear Leader
Disc. Deep Seas
Disc. Deep Seas
Disc. Enterprise
DW Discovery
Ensco 8501
Ensco 8501
Deepwater Nautilus
N.D. Adkins
Deepwater Discovery
Deepwater Discovery
Deepwater Discovery
Deepwater Discovery
Discoverer Spirit
Deepwater Millenium
Leiv Eiriksson
Jack Ryan
Stena Tay
Deepw. Pathfinder
Ensco 7500
Ensco 8500
Belford Dolphin
C.R. Lugis
GSF Explorer
Deepwater Discovery
Deepwater Expedition
Deepwater Expedition
Leiv Eiriksson
Deepwater Frontier
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Rate
$'/day
425
485
391
477
460
450
485
317
515
475
331
331
425
405
179
179
179
285
475
425
465
275
425
394
185
264
420
393
365
202
375
320
373
320

Prev.
$'/day
297
NA
245
320
207
NA
317
275
183
357
331
NA
220
NA
179
179
179
202
270
287
373
245
190
189
185
NA
180
225
235
319
320
240
289
144

Dura- Starttion up

Comments

4Y mar.09
4Y jan.08 Newbuild
7Y mai.09 Newbuild
3Y des.08
910D jul.07
5Y mai.09 Rate 4-500'$/day last 2Y
2Y jan.09
1Y jan.08
Option exercised
3Y des.07
3Y nov.08
548D mai.11 Newbuild
2Y mai.09 Newbuild
2Y des.06
4Y jan.09 Bingo conversion
48D apr.06 Option exercised
45D feb.06 Option exercised
45D jan.06 Option exercised
30D des.05 1 well sublet
3Y jul.07
3Y jul.07
2Y apr.07
180D sep.06 Option exercised
4Y apr.06 Rate estimate Pareto
800D
jun.06
30D sep.05 1 well option
4Y
jul.08 Newbuild
3Y
jan.07
2Y
nov.06
2Y
des.06 Conv. Navy/CIA ship
50D
jul.05 Option exercised
2Y
jun.06
45D
mar.06
1Y
mar.06 Option exercised
2Y
aug.06

Global rig demand is expected to continue to increase in the coming years. In addition to higher oil & gas price
assumptions in oil companies’ budgets an increasing back-log of development drilling projects is positively
influencing demand.
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11

Legal and tax matters

11.1

Disputes

Neither Seadrill nor any other entity in the Seadrill Group is, at present, involved in any dispute which may have
a material adverse effect on its financial position. The Company has not been involved in any governmental,
legal or arbitration proceedings during the last twelve months and the Board has no knowledge of any other
governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings pending or threatened towards the Company.

11.2

Tax matters

11.2.1 Bermuda Tax considerations
At the date of this Prospectus, there is no Bermuda income, corporation, or profits tax, nor is there any
withholding tax, capital tax, capital transfer tax, estate duty or inheritance tax payable by Seadrill or its
shareholders associated with the ownership and transfer of the Shares, other than such that apply to shareholders
ordinarily resident in Bermuda.
Seadrill will not be subject to any stamp duty on the issue, transfer or re-purchase of the Shares, or on the
payment of any dividend or the making of any distribution of contributed surplus.
Seadrill has obtained, from the Ministry of Finance of Bermuda, an assurance under the Exempted Undertakings
Tax Protection Act 1966, that, in the event of there being enacted in Bermuda any legislation imposing tax
computed on profits or income, or computed on any capital assets, gain or appreciation or any tax in the nature
of estate duty or inheritance tax, such tax shall not, until 28 March 2016, be applicable to Seadrill or any of its
operations, or to the Shares, or any debentures or other obligations, except in so far as such tax applies to
persons ordinarily resident in Bermuda and holding the Shares, such debentures or other obligations, or any
property in Bermuda leased or let to Seadrill.

11.2.2 Norwegian tax matters
The statements set forth below regarding taxation are based on the laws in force in Norway as of the date of this
Prospectus and are made subject to any changes in law occurring after such date, which changes could be made
on a retrospective basis. The following summary does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all the
Norwegian tax considerations that may be relevant to a decision to purchase, own or dispose of the Shares.
Shareholders are thus advised to consult their own tax advisors concerning their specific tax situation.

11.2.3 Taxation of shareholders tax resident in Norway
Taxation of dividends
Individual shareholders
Dividends received by individual shareholders resident in Norway for tax purposes from a foreign limited
liability company are subject to tax in Norway as general income at a flat rate, currently 28%. If certain
requirements are met, such shareholders are entitled to a deduction in their Norwegian taxes for any withholding
tax imposed on the dividends distributed in the jurisdiction where the foreign company is resident for tax
purposes.
New legislation has recently been introduced whereby individual shareholders resident in Norway for tax
purposes are entitled to deduct a deemed allowance ("skjermingsfradrag") when calculating their taxable
dividend income. The allowance for each share will be equal to the cost price of the share multiplied by a
determined risk free interest rate.
Individual shareholders will, provided that certain requirements are met, still be entitled to a deduction in their
Norwegian taxes for any withholding tax imposed on the dividends distributed in the jurisdiction where the
foreign company is resident for tax purposes.
Corporate shareholders
Dividends distributed to shareholders who are companies (corporate shareholders) resident in Norway for tax
purposes from a limited liability company resident in Bermuda for tax purposes, are subject to tax corporate
income tax at a flat rate of 28 % as Bermuda is regarded as a low tax jurisdiction situated outside the EEA area.
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Taxation on capital gains on disposal of shares
Individual shareholders
Any sale, redemption or other disposal of shares is considered a realization for Norwegian tax purposes. Capital
gains generated through a realization of shares in a foreign limited liability company by an individual
shareholder resident in Norway for tax purposes are taxable in Norway as general income at a rate of 28%.
Losses are tax deductible.
The gain is subject to tax and the loss is tax deductible for a Norwegian individual shareholder, irrespective of
the duration of the ownership and the number of shares disposed of. Gain (or loss) is computed as the sales price
less transactional expenses and the shareholder's tax base on the shares.
Individual shareholders resident in Norway for tax purposes may set off any unused allowance
(“Skjermingsfradrag”) against gains upon realization of the same shares. This may lead to or increase a
deductible loss, as any unused allowance exceeding the capital gain upon the realization of a share will be
annulled.
If a shareholder sells shares acquired at different points in time, the shares that were acquired first will be
regarded as the first to be disposed of. Divestments are then considered on a first-in-first-out basis.
If a non-resident individual shareholder has been a tax resident of Norway for tax purposes and has realised
shares less than five calendar years after termination of the tax residency in Norway, the latent capital gain on
the shares at the time of such termination will be subject to tax in Norway, provided that such latent capital gain
on the shareholder's total shareholding exceeds a tax free allowance.
The taxation of capital gains upon the realisation of shares may be limited pursuant to an applicable tax treaty.
Corporate shareholders
As Bermuda is regarded as a low tax jurisdiction outside the EEA area, any capital gain on the sale of the Shares
will be taxed at a rate of 28 %. Corresponding losses are tax deductible.
Net wealth tax
The value of shares is included in the basis for the computation of net wealth tax imposed on individual
shareholders who are resident in Norway for tax purposes. Currently, the marginal net wealth tax rate is 1.1% of
the assessed value. Listed shares are valued at 80% of their market value as of 1 January in the year of
assessment.
Norwegian limited liability companies are not subject to net wealth tax.
Inheritance or gift tax
The acquisition of shares by an individual shareholder resident in Norway or with Norwegian citizenship by
way of inheritance or as a gift, may be subject to Norwegian inheritance- or gift tax. The tax basis for listed
shares is the market value of the shares at the time of the transfer.
Tax residency and limited tax liability to Norway
A non-Norwegian corporate entity such as Seadrill may qualify as a Norwegian resident for tax purposes. The
issue whether such tax residence is established is normally decided on review of the geographical location of the
performance of the activities of its board of directors (or similar corporate authority) and the activity of its
service management activities. The geographical location of the entity's senior management may thus be of
significance.
The Board meets outside of Norway and has no other place of business than Bermuda. Furthermore, Seadrill
does not employ any senior management in Norway. Day-to-day management services are provided to Seadrill
by Seadrill Management. Seadrill Management has such authority as is delegated to it by the Board pursuant to
the terms of the management agreement between Seadrill Management and Seadrill. Hence the high-level
management activities of Seadrill will not be performed in Norway. It is therefore not likely that Norwegian tax
authorities will consider Seadrill tax resident in Norway.
Moreover, since Seadrill Management is a separate entity which is tax resident in Norway providing specified
services under a management agreement with Seadrill, it is also unlikely that Norwegian authorities will find
basis for limited tax liability for Seadrill based on Seadrill Management's activities alone.
Norwegian Controlled Foreign Corporation taxation (NOKUS)
Shareholders resident in Norway who control a foreign limited liability company which is tax resident in a low
tax jurisdiction may become subject to Norwegian Controlled Foreign Corporation-taxation (Norwegian:
NOKUS taxation).
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As a main rule a foreign company will be deemed to be under Norwegian control where Norwegian tax resident
shareholders directly or indirectly own or control at least 50% of the shares or the capital of the foreign
company at the beginning and at the end of the income year. Further, Norwegian control exists if (1) Norwegian
tax resident shareholders own or control more than 60 % of the company at the end of the income year or (2) the
company was subject to NOKUS the year before the income year unless the ownership/control at the beginning
and the end of the income year is below 50 %. If Norwegian ownership/control is below 40% at the end of the
income year the NOKUS-rules are not applicable.
A low tax jurisdiction is deemed to exist when the foreign company is subject to a tax lower than 2/3 of the
applicable Norwegian tax rate on such a company. For the time being the limit is 18.67 %.
If Norwegian shareholders qualify under the NOKUS-rules, they are taxed in Norway on a current basis for their
proportionate share of the profits generated by the company they control, calculated according to Norwegian tax
rules, irrespective of whether such profits are distributed to the shareholders or not. Distribution of taxed profit
in NOKUS-companies may, furthermore, be subject to additional taxation according to Norwegian domestic
legislation.

84

12

Definitions and glossary of terms

The following definitions and glossary apply in this Prospectus unless otherwise dictated by the context.

12.1

Definitions

Apexindo: ........................................................

PT Apexindo Pratama Duta Tbk, an Indonesian on- and offshore drilling
company whose shares are listed on the Jakarta Stock Exchange
(www.apexindo.com).

Ashbourne: .......................................................

Ashbourne Shipping Company Limited of Limassol, Cyprus, a wholly
owned subsidiary of Seadrill.

Board:...............................................................

The board of directors of Seadrill.

Caleb: ..............................................................

Caleb Maritime S.A. of Monrovia, Liberia, a wholly owned subsidiary of
Seadrill.

Company: ........................................................

Seadrill Limited or when the text so requires the Seadrill group.

Covaldi: ............................................................

Covaldi Marine Company Limited of Limassol, Cyprus, a wholly owned
subsidiary of Seadrill.

Daewoo: ...........................................................

Daewoo Shipbuilding & Marine Engineering Co. Ltd., a corporation
organised under the laws of the Republic of Korea, having its registered
office at 140 Da-dong, Chung-ga, Seoul, Korea.

DnB NOR: .......................................................

DnB NOR Bank ASA, a Norwegian banking corporation.

Eastern: ............................................................

Eastern Drilling ASA of Oslo, Norway.

Golden Dream: .................................................

Golden Dream Shipping Company Limited of Limassol, Cyprus, a
wholly owned subsidiary of Seadrill.

Golden Wisdom: ..............................................

Golden Wisdom Shipping Company Limited of Limassol, Cyprus, a
wholly owned subsidiary of Seadrill.

Greenwich: .......................................................

Greenwich Holdings Limited of Limassol, Cyprus.

Greenwich Group: ............................................

Greenwich and its subsidiaries.

Guildford: ........................................................

Guildford Management Ltd. of Tortola, British Virgin Islands, a wholly
owned subsidiary of Seadrill.

Hemen: .............................................................

Hemen Holdings Ltd. of Limassol, Cyprus, a wholly owned subsidiary of
Greenwich.

ISIN: ................................................................

International Securities Identification Number.

Jurong:..............................................................

Jurong Shipyard Pte. Ltd, a corporation organized under the laws of
Singapore, having its registered office at 29 Tanjong Kling Road,
Singapore.

KFELS: ...........................................................

Keppel FELS Limited, a corporation organised under the laws of
Singapore, having its registered office at 31 Shipyard Road, Singapore.

Managers:.........................................................

Carnegie ASA and Pareto Securities ASA.

Mosvold: ..........................................................

Mosvold Drilling Ltd, of Cayman Islands.

New Shares: .....................................................

Shares in Seadrill issued in connection with the Private Placements.

NOK: ................................................................

Norwegian Kroner, the lawful currency of the Kingdom of Norway.

Nordea:.............................................................

Nordea Bank Norge ASA, a Norwegian banking corporation.

OSE: .................................................................

Oslo Børs ASA (translated Oslo Stock Exchange).

PPL:..................................................................

PPL Shipyard Pte. Ltd, a corporation organised under the laws of
Singapore, having its registered office at 21, Pandan Road, Singapore.

Private Placements: .........................................

Private Placement I, Private Placement II and Private Placement III,
together referred to as the Private Placements.

Private Placement I: .........................................

The equity issue of 75,000,000 New Shares with a subscription price of
NOK 66 per share directed towards selected institutional and professional
investors, conducted in January 2006.

Private Placement II: .......................................

The equity issue of 20,000,000 New Shares with a subscription price of
NOK 70.75 per share directed towards selected institutional and
professional investors, conducted in February 2006.
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Private Placement III: ......................................

The equity issue of 39,000,000 New Shares with a subscription price of
NOK 90 per share directed towards selected institutional and professional
investors, conducted in April 2006.

Prospectus: .......................................................

This prospectus, dated 6 July, 2006.

Restricted Shares: ............................................

Shares which currently cannot be traded on the OSE.

Samsung: .........................................................

Samsung Heavy Industries Co., a Korean shipyard, a key member
of Korea’s Samsung Group.

Seadrill: ............................................................

Seadrill Limited, a public limited liability company incorporated on
Bermuda on 10 May 2005 with Reg. No. 36832 and having its registered
address at Par-la-Ville Place, 14 Par-la-Ville Road, Hamilton HM 08,
Bermuda.

Seadrill Deepwater: .........................................

Seadrill Deepwater Units Pte. Ltd. of Singapore.

Seadrill Invest:..................................................

Seadrill Invest Ltd. of Hamilton, Bermuda.

Seadrill Group: .................................................

Seadrill and its Subsidiaries.

Seadrill Invest I: ...............................................

Seadrill Invest I Ltd. of Hamilton, Bermuda, a wholly owned subsidiary
of Seadrill Invest.

Seadrill Invest II: ..............................................

Seadrill Invest II Ltd. of Hamilton, Bermuda, a wholly owned subsidiary
of Seadrill Invest.

Seadrill Invest III:.............................................

Seadrill Invest III Ltd. of Monrovia, Liberia, a wholly owned subsidiary
of Seadrill.

Seadrill Management: ......................................

Seadrill Management AS of Stavanger, Norway, a wholly owned
subsidiary of Seadrill.

Seadrill Management (S):.................................

Seadrill Management (S) Pte. Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of Seadrill.

Seatankers: .......................................................

Seatankers Management Co. Ltd. of Limassol, Cyprus.

Shares: .............................................................

All of the outstanding and issued shares of US$ 2 par value each in
Seadrill.

Smedvig: .........................................................

Seadrill Norge ASA, formerly known as Smedvig ASA and a wholly
owned subsidiary of Seadrill.

Smedvig Asia: .................................................

Smedvig Asia Limited of Hong Kong.

Smedvig Group: ..............................................

Smedvig including all subsidiaries and affiliated companies.

Smedvig Norge Holding: .................................

Smedvig Norge Holding AS, a wholly owned subsidiary of Seadrill.

Smedvig Rig: ...................................................

Smedvig Rig AS, a wholly owned subsidiary of Smedvig.

Stella: ...............................................................

Stella International Shipping Inc. of Monrovia, Liberia, a wholly owned
subsidiary of Seadrill.

Stormont:..........................................................

Stormont Marine Company Limited of Limassol, Cyprus, a wholly
owned subsidiary of Seadrill.

Subsea Drilling: ...............................................

Subsea Drilling Inc. of Monrovia, Liberia, a wholly owned subsidiary of
Seadrill.

Subsea Drilling II: ............................................

Subsea Drilling II Inc. of Monrovia, Liberia, a wholly owned subsidiary
of Seadrill.

Subsea Drilling III:...........................................

Subsea Drilling III Limited of Cyprus, a wholly owned subsidiary of
Seadrill.

Subsea Drilling IV:...........................................

Subsea Drilling IV Limited of Cyprus, a wholly owned subsidiary of
Seadrill.

Subsidiary: .......................................................

Company in which another company owns more than 50% of its shares.

Unrestricted Shares: ........................................

All of the Shares other than those which, from time to time, are Restricted
Shares.

US$: .................................................................

United States Dollar, the lawful currency of the United States of America.

Varia Perdana: .................................................

Varia Predana Sdn. Bhd. of Malaysia.

VPS: .................................................................

The Norwegian Central Securities Depository (“Verdipapirsentralen”).
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12.2

Glossary

APB: ..............................................................

Accounting Principles Board Option

Bareboat Charter: ...........................................

A charter agreement where the charterer is responsible for the provision of a
vessel's marine crew and the technical and operational management of the
vessel subject to the charter.

Bbl/d...............................................................

Barrels of oil per day

Drillship: .......................................................

A maritime vessel modified to include a drilling rig and special
station-keeping equipment. The vessel is typically capable of
operating in deep water.

EBITDA: .......................................................

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation.

FPSO vessel: ..................................................

A floating production, storage and off-loading vessel.

Ft: ...................................................................

Feet (1 feet = 0.3048 metres).

GOM or GoM:................................................

Gulf of Mexico.

HPHT: ...........................................................

High Pressure, High Temperature.

HSEQ: ............................................................

Health Safety Environment & Quality.

IEA: ...............................................................

International Energy Agency.

IFRS: .............................................................

International Financial Reporting Standard.

Jack-up rig:.....................................................

A mobile, bottom-supported, self-elevating drilling platform.

lbs:..................................................................

Pounds.

LIBOR: ..........................................................

London Interbank Offered Rate.

NIBOR: .........................................................

Norwegian Interbank Offered Rate.

OPEC: ............................................................

Organisation of Petroleum Exporting Countries.

Q: ...................................................................

Quarter of a calendar year.

Securities Trading Act:.....................................

The Securities Trading Act of 19 June 1997 no 79 (In Norwegian:
“Verdipapirhandelloven”).

Semi submersible rigs: ...................................

A floating drilling platform with variable draft based on the use of ballast
systems.

SFAS: ............................................................

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards.

Stock Exchange Regulations: ........................

The Stock Exchange Regulations of 17 January 1994 No. 30 (as amended).

Tender Rig: ....................................................

A purpose-built unit for use in production drilling from platform rigs and
containing living quarters, helicopter deck, storage for drilling supplies, power
machinery for running the drilling equipment and well completion equipment.

Time Charter: .................................................

A charter agreement where the owner is responsible for the provision of a
vessel's marine crew and the technical and operational management of the
vessel subject to the charter.

U.S. GAAP: ...................................................

United States General Accepted Accounting Principles.

VAT: .............................................................

Value added tax.
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13

Documents on display and incorporated by reference

13.1

Documents on display

Copies of the following documents will during the life of this Prospectus be available for inspection at any time
during the normal business hours on any business day free of charge at the registered office of the Company:
i. the Bye-laws of Seadrill;
ii. Certificate of incorporation;
iii. historical financial information for the financial period ending 31 March 2006;
iv. historical financial information for the financial years ending 31 December 2005; historical financial
information for the Predecessor combined ending 31 December 2004;
v. The listing prospectus for Seadrill dated 18 November 2005 and;
vi. stock exchange notices, including quarterly reports, distributed by the Company through the OSE's
information system.
All non-confidential documents referred to in this Prospectus may be obtained by written request to either of the
following addresses:
Seadrill Limited
c/o Seadrill Management AS
P.O. Box 110
4001 Stavanger
NORWAY
Phone: +47 51 30 90 00
Fax: +47 51 30 90 01

Seadrill Limited
Par-la-Ville Place
14 Par-la-Ville Road
Hamilton HM 08
BERMUDA
Phone: +1 441 295 4705
Fax: +1 441 295 3434
www.seadrill.bm

13.2 Documents incorporated by reference
Reference

Section in the
Prospectus

Included by reference

Web-page

Auditor statement, notes
and accounting principles
for
Predecessor
Combined for 2004

Section 4.2

Financial statements for
Predecessor
Combined
for 2004

www.seadrill.bm

Statement concerning the
independence of its board
of directors.

Section 8.7

Listing prospectus dated
18 November 2005

www.seadrill.bm

Management agreement
with Seatankers

Section 8.9

Listing prospectus dated
18 November 2005

www.seadrill.bm

88

Appendix 1: Seadrill Bye-laws

BYE-LAWS

of

SEADRILL LIMITED.

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the within-written Bye-laws are a true copy of
the Bye-laws of Seadrill Limited as adopted by the sole Shareholder of
the above Company on the 13th day of May 2005.

Secretary
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INTERPRETATION

1.

In these Bye-Laws unless the context otherwise requires-

·

"Associate" means:

(a)

in respect of an individual, such individual's spouse, former spouse, sibling, aunt,
uncle, nephew, niece or lineal ancestor or descendant, including any step-child and
adopted child and their issue and step parents and adoptive parents and their issue or
lineal ancestors;

(b)

in respect of an individual, such individual's partner and such partner's relatives
(within the categories set out in (a) above);

(c)

in respect of an individual or body corporate, an employer or employee (including, in
relation to a body corporate, any of its directors or officers);

(d)

in respect of a body corporate, any person who controls such body corporate, and any
other body corporate if the same person has control of both or if a person has control
of one and persons who are his Associates, or such person and persons who are his
Associates, have control of the other, or if a group of two or more persons has control
of each body corporate, and the groups either consist of the same persons or could be
regarded as consisting of the same persons by treating (in one or more cases) a
member of either group as replaced by a person of whom he is an Associate. For the
purposes of this paragraph, a person has control of a body corporate if either (i) the
directors of the body corporate or of any other body corporate which has control of it
(or any of them) are accustomed to acting in accordance with his instructions or (ii)
he is entitled to exercise, or control the exercise of, one-third or more of the votes
attaching to all of the issued shares of the body corporate or of another body
corporate which has control of it (provided that where two or more persons acting in
concert satisfy either of the above conditions, they are each to be taken as having
control of the body corporate);

·

"Bermuda" means the Islands of Bermuda;

·

"Board" means the Board of Directors of the Company or the Directors present at a meeting
of Directors at which there is a quorum;

·

"Branch Register" means a branch of the Register maintained by the Registrar in the VPS
pursuant to the terms of an agreement with the Company;

·

"Business Day" means a day on which banks are open for the transaction of general banking
business in each of Oslo, Norway, New York, USA and Hamilton, Bermuda;

·

"Company" means the company incorporated in Bermuda under the name of SeaDrill
Limited;

·

"Companies Acts" means every Bermuda statute from time to time in force concerning
companies insofar as the same applies to the Company;
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·

"Electronic Transactions Act" means the Electronic Transactions Act 1999 as amended from
time to time;

·

"Employees' Share Scheme" means a scheme established pursuant to Bye-law 92 for
encouraging or facilitating the holding of shares or debentures in the Company by or for the
benefit of: -

(a)

the Directors and Officers of the Company (whether employees or not);

(b)

the bona fide employees or former employees of the Company or any subsidiary of
the Company; or

(c)

the wives, husbands, widows, widowers or children or step-children under the age of
18 of such employees or former employees;

·

"Extraordinary Resolution" means a resolution passed by a majority of not less than twothirds of the votes cast at a general meeting of the Company;

·

"Listing Exchange" means any stock exchange or quotation system upon which any of the
shares of the Company are listed from time to time;

·

"Ordinary Resolution" means a resolution passed by a simple majority of votes cast at a
general meeting of the Company;

·

"Oslo Stock Exchange" means the Oslo Stock Exchange;

·

"paid up" means paid up or credited as paid up;

·

"Register" means the Register of Shareholders of the Company kept in physical form at the
Registered Office;

"Registered Office" means the registered office for the time being of the Company;

·

"Registrar" means Nordea Bank Norge ASA acting through its Registrar Department, or such
other person or body corporate who may from time to time be appointed by the Board in place
of Nordea Bank Norge ASA as registrar of the Company with responsibility to maintain the
Register and/or the Branch Register under these Bye-laws;

·

"Registration Office" means the place where the Board may from time to time determine to
keep the Register and/or the Branch Register and where (except in cases where the Board
otherwise directs) the transfer and documents of title are to be lodged for registration;

·

"Seal" means the common seal of the Company and includes any duplicate

·

"Secretary" includes a temporary or assistant Secretary and any person appointed by the
Board to perform any of the duties of the Secretary;
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thereof;

·

"Shareholder" means a shareholder of the Company;

·

"these Bye-Laws" means these Bye-Laws in their present form or as from time to time
amended;

·

"VPS" means Verdipapirsentralen ASA, a Norwegian corporation maintaining a computerized
central share registry in Oslo, Norway, for bodies corporate whose shares are listed for trading
on the Oslo Stock Exchange, and includes any successor registry;

For the purpose of these Bye-Laws a body corporate shall be deemed to be present in person if its
representative duly authorized pursuant to the Companies Acts is present;

Words importing the singular number also include the plural number and vice versa;

Words importing the masculine gender also include the feminine and neuter genders respectively;

Words importing persons also include companies and associations or bodies of persons, whether
corporate or unincorporated;

References to writing shall include typewriting, printing, lithography, facsimile, photography and other
modes of reproducing or reproducing words in a legible and non-transitory form including electronic
transfers by way of e-mail or otherwise and shall include any manner permitted or authorized by the
Electronic Transactions Act;

Unless otherwise defined herein, any words or expressions defined in the Companies Acts in force at
the date when these Bye-Laws or any part thereof are adopted shall bear the same meaning in these
Bye-Laws or such part (as the case may be);

Headings in these Bye-Laws are inserted for convenience of reference only and shall not affect the
construction thereof;

Sub-paragraphs (i) through (ix) of Bye-laws 34, 41 and 47 shall not have effect until such time as the
Company’s shares are listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange, and these Bye-laws shall be read and
construed accordingly.

REGISTERED OFFICE

2.

The Registered Office shall be at such place in Bermuda as the Board shall from time to time appoint.

SHARE RIGHTS

3.

Subject to the Companies Acts and any special rights conferred on the holders of any other share of
class of shares, any share in the Company may be issued with or have attached thereto such preferred,
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deferred, qualified or other special rights or such restrictions, whether in regard to dividend, voting,
return of capital or otherwise, as the Company may by Ordinary Resolution determine.

4.

Subject to the Companies Acts, any preference shares may, with the sanction of an Ordinary
Resolution, be issued on terms:

(a)

that they are to be redeemed on the happening of a specified event or on a given date; and/or

(b)

that they are liable to be redeemed at the option of the Company; and/or

(c)

that they are liable to be redeemed at the option of the holder.

The terms and manner of redemption shall be either as the Company may determine by Ordinary
Resolution or, in the event that the Company in general meeting may have so authorized, as the Board
of Directors or any committee thereof may by resolution determine before the issuance of such shares.

MODIFICATION OF RIGHTS

5.

6.

Subject to the Companies Acts, all or any of the rights for the time being attached to any class of shares
for the time being issued may from time to time (whether or not the Company is being wound up) be
altered or abrogated with the consent in writing of the holders of not less than seventy-five percent in
nominal value of the issued shares of that class or with the sanction of a resolution passed by a majority
of seventy-five percent of the votes cast at a separate general meeting of the holders of such shares
voting in person or by proxy. To any such separate general meeting, all the provisions of these ByeLaws as to general meetings of the Company shall mutatis mutandis apply, but so that:

(a)

the necessary quorum at any such meeting shall be two or more persons (or in the event that
there is only one holder of the shares of the relevant class, one person) holding or representing
by proxy in the aggregate at least one third in nominal value of the shares of the relevant class;

(b)

every holder of shares of the relevant class present in person or by proxy shall be entitled on a
poll to one vote for every such share held by him; and

(c)

any holder of shares of the relevant class present in person or by proxy may demand a poll.

The rights conferred upon the holders of any shares or class of shares shall not, unless otherwise
expressly provided in the rights attaching to or the terms of issue of such shares, be deemed to be
altered by the creation or issue of further shares ranking pari passu therewith.

SHARES

7.

Subject to the provisions of these Bye-Laws, the unissued shares of the Company (whether forming
part of the original capital or any increased capital) shall be at the disposal of the Board, which may
offer, allot, grant options over or otherwise dispose of them to such persons at such times and for such
consideration and upon such terms and conditions as the Board may determine.
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8.

The Board may in connection with the issue of any shares exercise all powers of paying commission
and brokerage conferred or permitted by law.

9.

Except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction, as required by law or as otherwise provided in
these Bye-Laws, no person shall be recognized by the Company as holding any share upon trust and
the Company shall not be bound by or required in any way to recognize (even when having notice
thereon) any equitable, contingent, future or partial interest in any share or any interest in any fractional
part of a share or any other right in respect of any share except an absolute right to the entirety thereof
in the registered holder.

10.

With effect from the date of the listing of the Company’s shares on the Oslo Stock Exchange, the
Company shall not issue shares until they are fully paid, except as may be prescribed by an Ordinary
Resolution.

CERTIFICATES

11.

The preparation, issue and delivery of certificates shall be governed by the Companies Acts. A person
whose name is entered in the Register as the holder of any shares shall be entitled to receive within two
months of a demand for same a certificate for such shares under the Seal of the Company as prima
facie evidence of title of such person to such shares. In the case of a share held jointly by several
persons, delivery of a certificate for such share to one of several joint holders shall be sufficient
delivery to all.

12.

If a share certificate is defaced, lost or destroyed it may be replaced without fee but on such terms (if
any) as to evidence, indemnity and payment of the costs and out of pocket expenses of the Company in
investigating such evidence and preparing such indemnity as the Board may think fit and, in case of
defacement, on delivery of the old certificate to the Company.

13.

All certificates for share or loan capital or other securities of the Company (other than letters of
allotment, scrip certificates and other like documents) shall, except to the extent that the terms and
conditions for the time being relating thereto otherwise provide, be issued under the Seal. The Board
may by resolution determine, either generally or in any particular case, that any signatures on any such
certificates need not be autographic but may be affixed to such certificates by mechanical means or
may be printed thereon or that such certificates need not be signed by any persons.

LIEN

14.

The Company shall have a first and paramount lien on every share (not being a fully paid share) for all
moneys, whether presently payable or not, called or payable, at a date fixed by or in accordance with
the terms of issue of such share in respect of such share, and the Company shall also have a first and
paramount lien on every share (other than a fully paid share) standing registered in the name of a
Shareholder, whether singly or jointly with any other person, for all the debts and liabilities of such
Shareholder or his estate to the Company, whether the same shall have been incurred before or after
notice to the Company of any interest of any person other than such Shareholder, and whether the time
for the payment or discharge of the same shall have actually arrived or not, and notwithstanding that
the same are joint debts or liabilities of such Shareholder or his estate and any other person, whether a
Shareholder or not. The Company's lien on a share shall extend to all dividends payable thereon. The
Board may at any time, either generally or in any particular case, waive any lien that has arisen or
declare any share to be wholly or in part exempt from the provisions of this Bye-Law.
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15.

The Company may sell, in such manner as the Board may think fit, any share on which the Company
has a lien, but no sale shall be made unless some sum in respect of which the lien exists is presently
payable nor until the expiration of fourteen days after a notice in writing stating and demanding
payment of the sum presently payable and giving notice of the intention to sell in default of such
payment has been served on the holder for the time being of the share.

16.

The net proceeds of sale by the Company of any shares on which it has a lien shall be applied in or
towards payment or discharge of the debt or liability in respect of which the lien exists so far as the
same is presently payable, and any residue shall (subject to a like lien for debts or liabilities not
presently payable as existed upon the share prior to the sale) be paid to the holder of the share
immediately before such sale. For giving effect to any such sale the Board may authorize some person
to transfer the share sold to the purchaser thereof. The purchaser shall be registered as the holder of the
share and he shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase money nor shall his title to the
share be affected by any irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings relating to the sale.

CALLS ON SHARES

17.

The Board may from time to time make calls upon the Shareholders in respect of any moneys unpaid
on their shares (whether on account of the par value of the shares or by way of premium) and not by the
terms of issue thereof made payable at a date fixed by or in accordance with such terms of issue, and
each Shareholder shall (subject to the Company serving upon him at least seven days notice specifying
the time or times and place of payment) pay to the Company at the time or times and place so specified
the amount called on his shares. A call may be revoked or postponed as the Board may determine.

18.

A call may be made payable by installments and shall be deemed to have been made at the time when
the resolution of the Board authorizing the call was passed.

19.

The joint holders of a share shall be jointly and severally liable to pay all calls in respect thereof.

20.

If a sum called in respect of the share shall not be paid before or on the day appointed for payment
thereof, the person from whom the sum is due shall pay interest on the sum from the day appointed for
the payment thereof to the time of actual payment at such rate as the Board may determine, but the
Board shall be at liberty to waive payment of such interest wholly or in part.

21.

Any sum which, by the terms of issue of a share, becomes payable on allotment or at any date fixed by
or in accordance with such terms of issue, whether on account of the nominal amount of the share or by
way of premium, shall for all the purposes of these Bye-Laws be deemed to be a call duly made,
notified and payable on the date on which, by the terms of issue, the same becomes payable and, in
case of non-payment, all the relevant provisions of these Bye-Laws as to payment of interest, forfeiture
or otherwise shall apply as if such sum had become payable by virtue of a call duly made and notified.

22.

The Board may on the issue of shares differentiate between the allottees or holders as to the amount of
calls to be paid and the times of payment.

FORFEITURE OF SHARES

23.

If a Shareholder fails to pay any call or installment of a call on the day appointed for payment thereof,
the Board may at any time thereafter during such time as any part of such call or installment remains
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unpaid serve a notice on him requiring payment of so much of the call or installment as is unpaid,
together with any interest which may have accrued.

24.

The notice shall name a further day (not being less than fourteen days from the date of the notice) on or
before which, and the place where, the payment required by the notice is to be made and shall state
that, in the event of non-payment on or before the day and at the place appointed, the shares in respect
of which such call is made or instalment is payable will be liable to be forfeited. The Board may accept
the surrender of any share liable to be forfeited hereunder and, in such case, reference in these ByeLaws to forfeiture shall include surrender.

25.

If the requirements of any such notice as aforesaid are not compiled with, any share in respect of which
such notice has been given may at any time thereafter, before payment of all calls or installments and
interest due in respect thereof has been made, be forfeited by a resolution of the Board to that effect.
Such forfeiture shall include all dividends declared in respect of the forfeited shares and not actually
paid before the forfeiture.

26.

When any share has been forfeited, notice of the forfeiture shall be served upon the person who was
before forfeiture the holder of the share; but no forfeiture shall be in any manner invalidated by any
omission or neglect to give such notice as aforesaid.

27.

A forfeited share shall be deemed to be the property of the Company and may be sold, re-offered or
otherwise disposed of either to the person who was, before forfeiture, the holder thereof or entitled
thereto or to any other person upon such terms and in such manner as the Board shall think fit, and, at
any time before a sale, re-allotment or disposition, the forfeiture may be cancelled on such terms as the
Board may think fit.

28.

A person whose shares have been forfeited shall thereupon cease to be a Shareholder in respect of the
forfeited shares, but shall, notwithstanding the forfeiture, remain liable to pay to the Company all
moneys which at the date of forfeiture were presently payable by him to the Company in respect of the
shares with interest thereon at such rate as the Board may determine from the date of forfeiture until
payment, and the Company may enforce payment without being under any obligation to make any
allowance for the value of the shares forfeited.

29.

An affidavit in writing that the deponent is a Director or the Secretary and that a share has been duly
forfeited on the date stated in the affidavit shall be conclusive evidence of the facts therein stated as
against all persons claiming to be entitled to the share. The Company may receive the consideration (if
any) given for the share on the sale, re-allotment or disposition thereof and the Board may authorize
some person to transfer the share to the person to whom the same is sold, re-allotted or disposed of, and
he shall thereupon be registered as the holder of the share and shall not be bound to see to the
application of the purchase money (if any) nor shall his title to the share be affected by any irregularity
or invalidity in the proceedings relating to the forfeiture, sale, re-allotment or disposal of the share.

REGISTER OF SHAREHOLDERS

30.

The Secretary shall establish and maintain the Register of Shareholders at the Registered Office in the
manner prescribed by the Companies Acts. Unless the Board otherwise determines, the Register of
Shareholders shall be open to inspection in the manner prescribed by the Companies Acts between
10:00 a.m. and 12:00 noon on every working day. Unless the Board so determines, no Shareholder or
intending Shareholder shall be entitled to have entered in the Register any indication of any trust or any
equitable, contingent, future or partial interest in any share or any interest in any fractional part of a
share and if any such entry exists or is permitted by the Board it shall not be deemed to abrogate any of
the provisions of Bye-Law 9.

A 10

31.

Subject to the Companies Act, the Company may establish the Branch Register, and the Board may
make and vary such regulations as it determines in respect of the keeping of the Branch Register,
including maintaining a Registration Office in connection therewith.

REGISTER OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

32.

The Secretary shall establish and maintain a register of the Directors and Officers of the Company as
required by the Companies Acts. The register of Directors and Officers shall be open to inspection in
the manner prescribed by the Companies Acts between 10:00 a.m. and 12:00 noon on every working
day.

TRANSFER OF SHARES

33.

Subject to the Companies Acts and to such of the restrictions contained in these Bye-Laws as may be
applicable and to the provisions of any applicable United States securities laws (including, without
limitation, the United States Securities Act, 1933, as amended, and the rules promulgated thereunder),
any Shareholder may transfer all or any of his shares by an instrument of transfer in the usual common
form or in any other form which the Board may approve.

34.

The instrument of transfer of a share shall be signed by or on behalf of the transferor and, where any
share is not fully-paid, the transferee. The transferor shall be deemed to remain the holder of the share
until the name of the transferee is entered in the Register in respect thereof. Should the Company be
permitted to do so under the laws of Bermuda, the Board may, either generally or in any particular
case, upon request by the transferor or the transferee, accept mechanically or electronically executed
transfer and may also make such regulations with respect to transfer in addition to the provisions of
these Bye-Laws as it considers appropriate. The Board may, in its absolute discretion, decline to
register any transfer of any share which is not a fully-paid share. In addition :

(i)

The Board shall decline to register the transfer of any share, and shall direct the Registrar to
decline (and the Registrar shall decline) to register the transfer of any interest in any share
held through the Branch Register, to a person where the Board is of the opinion that such
transfer might breach any law or requirement of any authority or any Listing Exchange until it
has received such evidence as it may require to satisfy itself that no such breach would occur.

(ii)

The Board may decline to register the transfer of any share, and may direct the Registrar to
decline (and the Registrar shall decline if so requested) to register the transfer of any interest
in any share held through the Branch Register, if the registration of such transfer would be
likely, in the opinion of the Board, to result in fifty percent or more of the aggregate issued
share capital of the Company or shares of the Company to which are attached fifty percent or
more of the votes attached to all outstanding shares of the Company being held or owned
directly or indirectly, (including, without limitation, through the Branch Register) by a person
or persons resident for tax purposes in Norway, provided that this provision shall not apply to
the registration of shares in the name of the Registrar as nominee of persons whose interests in
such shares are reflected in the Branch Register, but shall apply, mutatis mutandis, to interests
in shares of the Company held by persons through the Branch Register.

(iii)

For the purposes of this Bye-Law, each Shareholder (other than the Registrar in respect of
those shares registered in its name in the Register as nominee of persons whose interests in
such shares are reflected in the Branch Register) shall be deemed to be resident for tax
purposes in the jurisdiction specified in the address shown in the Register for such
Shareholder, and each person whose interests in shares are reflected in the Branch Register
shall be deemed to be resident for tax purposes in the jurisdiction specified in the address
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shown in the Branch Register for such person. If such Shareholder or person is not resident for
tax purpose in such jurisdiction or if there is a subsequent change in his residence for tax
purposes, such Shareholder shall notify the Company immediately of his residence for tax
purposes.

(iv)

Where any Shareholder or person whose interests in shares are reflected in the Branch
Register fails to notify the Company in accordance with the foregoing, the Board and the
Registrar may suspend sine die such Shareholder's or person's entitlement to vote or otherwise
exercise any rights attaching to the shares or interests therein and to receive payments of
income or capital which become due or payable in respect of such shares or interests and the
Company shall have no liability to such Shareholder or person arising out of the late payment
or non-payment of such sums and the Company may retain such sums for its own use and
benefit. In addition to the foregoing the Board and the Registrar may dispose of the shares in
the Company or interests herein of such Shareholder or person at the best price reasonably
obtainable in all the circumstances. Where a notice informing such Shareholder or person of
the proposed disposal of his shares or interests therein has been served, his shares or interest
therein may not be transferred otherwise than in accordance with this Bye-Law 34 and any
other purported transfer of such shares or interests therein shall not be registered in the
Register and/or the Branch Register and shall be null and void.

(v)

The provision of these Bye-Laws relating to the protection of purchaser of shares sold under
lien or upon forfeiture shall apply mutatis mutandis to a disposal of shares or interests therein
by the Company or the Registrar in accordance with this Bye-Law.

(vi)

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Board may also decline to register any
transfer unless:-

(i)

the instrument of transfer is duly stamped and lodged with the Company
accompanied by the certificate for the shares to which it relates if any and such other
evidence as the Board may reasonably require to show the right of the transferor to
make the transfer;

(ii)

the instrument of transfer is in respect of only one class of share; and

(iii)

where applicable, the permission of the Bermuda Monetary Authority with respect
thereto has been obtained.

(vii)

Subject to any directions of the Board from time to time in force the Secretary may exercise
the powers and discretion of the Board under this Bye-Law and Bye-Laws 33 and 35.

(viii)

If fifty percent or more of the aggregate issued share capital of the Company or shares to
which are attached fifty percent or more of the votes attached to all outstanding shares of the
Company are found to be held or owned directly or indirectly (including, without limitation,
through the Branch Register) by a person or persons resident for tax purposes in Norway,
other than the Registrar in respect of those shares registered in its name in the Register as
nominee of persons whose interests in such shares are reflected in the Branch Register, the
Board shall make an announcement to such effect through the Oslo Stock Exchange, and the
Board and the Registrar shall thereafter be entitled and required to dispose of such number of
shares of the Company or interests therein held or owned by such persons as will result in the
percentage of the aggregate issued share capital of the Company held or owned as aforesaid
being less than fifty percent, and, for these purposes, the Board and the Registrar shall in such
case dispose of shares or interests therein owned by persons resident for tax purposes in
Norway on the basis that the shares or interests therein most recently acquired shall be the first
to be disposed of (i.e. on the basis of last acquired first sold) save where there is a breach of
the obligation to notify tax residency pursuant to the foregoing, in which event the shares or
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interests therein of the person in breach thereof shall be sold first. Shareholders shall not be
entitled to raise any objection to the disposal of their shares, but the provisions of these
Bye-Laws relating to the protection of purchasers of shares sold under lien or upon forfeiture
shall apply mutatis mutandis to any disposal of shares or interests therein made in accordance
with this Bye-Law 34.
(ix)

If a person or entity, through any form of acquisition of the Company's shares, becomes the
owner of shares in the Company representing more than 30 per cent of its then outstanding
shares (an "Acquirer"), the Board may decline to register and direct the Registrar to decline
(and the Registrar shall decline if so requested) to register the transfer of any such interest in
excess of 30 per cent of the Company's then outstanding shares unless:
(i)

such Acquirer makes an offer for the purchase of the remaining shares in the
Company on the terms set forth in the following;
or

(ii)

such Acquirer agrees to sell such part of the shares so acquired as shall result in
his/its ownership being reduced to represent less than 30 per cent of the Company's
then outstanding shares.

Shares owned by Associates of the Acquirer and persons or entities acting in concert with the
Acquirer shall be consolidated with the share ownership position of the Acquirer.

If the Acquirer decides to reduce its/his ownership stake below the 30 per cent level, such sale
shall take place no later than two weeks after the date of its/his acquisition of such number of
shares as took its/his ownership past the 30 per cent level.

Offers for the purchase of the remaining shares in the Company shall be made without undue
delay from the date of the acquisition of the shares which took the Acquirer's ownership
position above the 30 per cent level and no later than four weeks after the date thereof.

Such offer shall embrace all of the shares outstanding in the Company. The offer shall not be
conditional.

The offer price shall be at least as high as the highest price paid by the Acquirer for shares in
the Company in the period six months prior to the date which the Acquirer passed the 30 per
cent threshold. If it is clear that the market price when the offer obligation was activated is
higher than the price referred to above, the offer price shall be at least as high as the market
price.

If the Acquirer, after the offer obligation has arisen and before expiry of the period of the
offer, has paid or agreed to pay a higher price than the price reflected in the offer, a new offer
shall be deemed to have been made with an offer price equivalent to the higher price.

Settlement under the terms of the offer shall be made in cash. An offer may nonetheless give
the Shareholders the right to accept any other form of settlement.

The Acquirer's settlement obligation shall be guaranteed by a bank or insurance institution
which has been authorised to conduct business in Norway in accordance with the rules
established by the Oslo Stock Exchange.
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Settlement shall take place as soon as possible and no later than 14 days after the expiry of the
offer period.

The Acquirer may not, in making the offer, differentiate the offer between groups of or
individual shareholders.

The offer shall include a time limit for the Shareholders to accept the offer. The time limit
shall not be shorter than four weeks and not longer than six weeks.

The Acquirer may make a new offer prior to the expiry of the original offer period. The
Shareholders are, in such event, entitled to choose between the two offers so made.

If a new offer is made, the period of acceptance of such offer shall be extended so that at least
two weeks remain until its expiry when made.

Any acquirer deciding to make an offer (the "Offeror") as aforesaid shall issue an offer
document which shall document the main terms of the offer and provide correct and complete
information about matters of importance in evaluating such offer.

The following information shall be specifically included in the offer document:

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.

The Offeror's name and address, type of organisation and organisation number if the
Offeror is a legal entity other than individual person.
Information about parties with whom the Offeror is acting in concert including the
basis for the consolidation thereof and any shareholder agreements relevant thereto.
The number of shares in the Company which, at the time the offer is made, are owned
by the Offeror or any person or entity acting in concert with the Offeror.
The offer price, the time limit for settlement, the form of settlement and security
provided for the Offeror's settlement obligations.
The principles applying to the valuation of any asset offered in settlement for the
shares purchased under the offer other than cash.
The time limit for accepting the offer and how acceptance notice should be made.
Information as to how the Offeror's purchase of the shares is to be financed.
Any special advantages or rights which are accorded by agreements with members of
the management and governing bodies of the Company by the Offeror.
The content of any contact the Offeror has had with the management or governing
bodies of the Company prior to the date the offer was made.
The Offeror's purpose of taking over control of the Company and any plans for further
operation or reorganisation of the Company.
The significance the implementation of the offer will have in relation to the Company's
employees, including legal, financial and work related effects; and
Legal and tax consequences of the offer.

The offer document shall be signed by the Offeror.

When an offer is made in accordance with the above, the Board shall issue a statement on the
offer which shall include information on the employee's views and other factors of
significance for assessing whether the offer should be accepted by the Shareholders or not.
Information shall also be given about the views, if any, of the Board and the management of
the Company as Shareholders.
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After the Company has been informed that an offer will be made pursuant hereto, and until the
expiry of the offer period, the Board and/or management of the Company may not make any
decisions in respect of:

a.

the issue of shares or other financial instruments by the Company;

b.

a merger of the Company;

c.

the sale or purchase of substantial assets or the restructuring by way of consolidation or
otherwise of substantial areas of the Company's activities or any other disposition of
material significance to the nature or scope of the Company's operation;

This section shall not apply to the dispositions which form part of the Company's normal
ongoing business operation or cases where the general meeting has authorised the Board or
management in charge to make decisions as aforesaid with buy-out situations specifically in
mind.

Any Shareholder who fails to make an offer in accordance herewith shall not be entitled to
exercise any right whatsoever in the Company in respect of the shares acquired by him in
excess of 30% of the Company's shares.

The obligations set forth herein shall not apply to any individual Shareholders or Shareholders
acting in concert who, at the time of the adoption of these bye-laws or at the time the
Company's shares are distributed from the Company's sole shareholder to its shareholders
shall hold more than 30% of the Company's outstanding shares. Such persons or entities shall
thus be free to acquire further shares without having to comply with the obligation to make an
offer set forth above. Should any such Shareholder reduce its ownership stake in a Company
below the 30 per cent level, the provisions of this bye-law shall apply to any subsequent
acquisition by such Shareholder taking his/its ownership stake above the 30% level.

35.

If the Board declines to register a transfer it shall, within sixty days after the date on which the
instrument of transfer was lodged, send to the transferee notice of such refusal.

36.

No fee shall be charged by the Company for registering any transfer, probate, letters of administration,
certificate of death or marriage, power of attorney, distringas or stop notice, order of court or other
instrument relating to or affecting the title to any share, or otherwise making an entry in the Register
and/or the Branch Register relating to any share.

TRANSMISSION OF SHARES

37.

In the case of the death of a Shareholder, the survivor or survivors, where the deceased was a joint
holder, and the estate representative, where he was sole holder, shall be the only person recognized by
the Company as having any title to his shares; but nothing herein contained shall release the estate of a
deceased holder (whether sole or joint) from any liability in respect of any share held by him solely or
jointly with other persons. For the purpose of this Bye-Law, estate representative means the person to
whom probate or letters of administration has or have been granted in Bermuda or, failing any such
person, such other person as the Board may in its absolute discretion determine to be the person
recognized by the Company for the purpose of this Bye-Law 37.

38.

Any person becoming entitled to a share in consequence of the death of a Shareholder or otherwise by
operation of applicable law may, subject as hereafter provided and upon such evidence being produced
as may from time to time be required by the Board as to his entitlement, either be registered himself as
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the holder of the share or elect to have some person nominated by him registered as the transferee
thereof. If the person so becoming entitled elects to be registered himself, he shall deliver or send to the
Company a notice in writing signed by him stating that he so elects. If he shall elect to have another
person registered, he shall signify his election by signing an instrument of transfer of such share in
favor of that other person. All the limitations, restrictions and provisions of these Bye-Laws relating to
the right to transfer and the registration of transfer of shares shall be applicable to any such notice or
instrument of transfer as aforesaid as if the death of the Shareholder or other event giving rise to the
transmission had not occurred and the notice or instrument of transfer was an instrument of transfer
shared by such Shareholder.

39.

A person becoming entitled to a share in consequence of the death of a Shareholder or otherwise by
operation of applicable law shall (upon such evidence being produced as may from time to time be
required by the Board as to his entitlement) be entitled to receive and may give a discharge for any
dividends or other moneys payable in respect of the share, but he shall not be entitled in respect of the
share to receive notices of or to attend or vote at general meetings of the Company or, save as
aforesaid, to exercise in respect of the share any of the rights or privileges of a Shareholder until he
shall have become registered as the holder thereof. The Board may at any time give notice requiring
such person to elect either to be registered himself or to transfer the share and if the notice is not
complied with within sixty days the Board may thereafter withhold payment of all dividends and other
moneys payable in respect of the shares until the requirements of the notice have been complied with.

40.

Subject to any directions of the Board from time to time in force, the Secretary may exercise the
powers and discretions of the Board under Bye-Laws 37, 38 and 39.

DISCLOSURE OF MATERIAL INTERESTS

41.

a)

Any person (other than the Registrar in respect of those shares registered in its name in the
Register as the nominee of persons whose interests in such shares are reflected in the Branch
Register) who acquires or disposes of an interest in shares to the effect that the requirements
of the Oslo Stock Exchange in effect from time to time concerning the duty to flag changes in
a person's interest in shares require such changes to be notified shall notify the Registrar
immediately of such acquisition or disposal and the resulting interest of that person in shares.

b)

For the purposes of this Bye-Law, a person shall be deemed to have an interest in shares:

(i)

owned by such person's spouse, minor child or cohabitant;

(ii)

owned by any body corporate in which such person owns shares representing the
majority of the votes attaching to all of the issued and outstanding shares of such
body corporate or over which he has as owner of shares in such body corporate or by
virtue of an agreement a determining influence and a substantial participation (as
those terms are interpreted by the Norwegian courts from time to time) in the results
of such body corporate's operations;

(iii)

owned by any person with whom such person acts in concert (as such term is
interpreted from time to time by the Oslo Stock Exchange), by virtue of any
agreement or otherwise;

(iv)

registered in the name of a nominee of such person or of any person referred to in
clause (i), (ii), or (iii) in relation to such person;
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(v)

which are issuable on the exercise of any options, convertible bonds, subscription
rights or any other rights to acquire shares in which such person has an interest;

(vi)

subject to a lien or other security interest in favor of such person;

(vii)

which are issuable on the exercise of purchase rights, preemption rights, or other
rights related thereto in which such person has an interest and which are activated by
the acquisition, disposal or conversion of shares;

(viii)

subject of any other agreed restriction on a Shareholder's right to dispose of same or
to exercise such Shareholder's rights as a Shareholder, in favor of such person, except
agreements to separate the dividend right from the ownership right of a share;

(ix)

in connection with the acquisition of which there was given guarantee of their
purchase price by such person or such person otherwise undertook a risk with respect
to the value thereof and which guarantee or risk remains outstanding.

(c)

The Registrar shall promptly report any such notification of interest to the Oslo Stock
Exchange and the Company.

(d)

If a person fails to give notification of a change in his interest in shares in accordance with this
Bye-Law 41 and the Board believes that such person has acquired or disposed of an interest in
shares in circumstances in which he would be subject to the notification requirements of this
Bye-Law 41, the Board shall require the Registrar to serve upon that person a notice:

(e)

(i)

requiring him to comply with the notification requirements in relation to the change
in his interest in shares; and

(ii)

informing him that, pending compliance with the notification requirements, the
registered holder or holders of the shares in which that person is interested shall not
be entitled to vote or otherwise exercise any rights attaching to the shares to which
the notice relates nor shall such registered holder or holders be entitled to receive
payments of income or capital which become due or payable in respect of such
shares. The registered holder's or holders' entitlement to such payments shall be
suspended pending compliance with the notification requirements without any
liability of the Company to such holder or holders arising for late payment or
nonpayment and the Company may retain such sums for its own use and benefit
during such period of suspension.

The provisions of these Bye-Laws relating to the protection of purchasers of shares sold under
a lien or upon forfeiture shall apply mutatis mutandis to disposals under this Bye-Law 41.

INCREASE OF CAPITAL

42.

The Company may from time to time increase its capital by such sum to be divided into shares of such
par value as the Company by Ordinary Resolution shall prescribe.

43.

The Company may, by the Ordinary Resolution increasing the capital, direct that the new shares or any
of them shall be offered in the first instance either at par or at a premium or (subject to the provisions
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of the Companies Act) at a discount to all the holders for the time being of shares of any class or
classes in proportion to the number of such shares held by them respectively or make any other
provision as to the issue of the new shares.

44.

The new shares shall be subject to all the provisions of these Bye-Laws with reference to lien, the
payment of calls, forfeiture, transfer, transmission and otherwise.

ALTERATION OF CAPITAL

45.

The Company may from time to time by Ordinary Resolution:

(a)

divide its shares into several classes and attach thereto respectively any preferential, deferred,
qualified or special rights, privileges or conditions;

(b)

consolidate and divide all or any of its share capital into shares of larger par value than its
existing shares;

(c)

sub-divide its shares or any of them into shares of smaller amount than is fixed by its
memorandum, so, however, that in the sub-division the proportion between the amount paid
and the amount, if any, unpaid on each reduced share shall be the same as it was in the case of
the share from which the reduced share is derived;

(d)

make provision for the issue and allotment of shares which do not carry any voting rights;

(e)

cancel shares which at the date of the passing of the resolution have not been taken or agreed
to be taken by any person and diminish the amount of its share capital by the amount of the
shares so cancelled;

(f)

change the currency denomination of its share capital.

Where any difficulty arises in regard to any division, consolidation, or sub-division under this ByeLaw, the Board may settle the same as it thinks expedient and, in particular, may arrange for the sale of
the shares representing fractions and the distribution of the net proceeds of sale in due proportion
amongst the Shareholders who would have been entitled to the fractions, and, for this purpose, the
Board may authorize some person to transfer the shares representing fractions to the purchaser thereof,
who shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase money nor shall his title to the shares
be affected by any irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings relating to the sale.

46.

Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act and to any confirmation or consent required by law or
these Bye-Laws, the Company may by Ordinary Resolution from time to time convert any preference
shares into redeemable preference shares.

47.

The Company may from time to time purchase its own shares on such terms and in such manner as
may be authorized by the Board of Directors, subject to the rules, if applicable, of the Listing
Exchange. In the event the Company conducts a tender offer for its shares, any such offer which is
made through the facilities of the Oslo Stock Exchange shall be expressed as being conditional upon no
Shareholders or persons resident for tax purposes in Norway owning or controlling fifty percent or
more of the issued share capital or the votes attaching to the issued and outstanding share capital of the
Company following such purchase.
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Any share so purchased shall be treated as cancelled, and the amount of the Company's issued share
capital shall be diminished by the nominal value of the shares purchased, but such purchase shall not be
taken as reducing the amount of the Company's authorized share capital.

48

Subject to the Companies Act, the Company shall have the option, but not the obligation, to repurchase
from any Shareholder or Shareholders all fractions of shares, and all holdings of fewer than 100 shares,
registered in the name of said Shareholder or Shareholders. Such repurchase shall be on such terms and
conditions as the Board may determine, provided that in any event, the repurchase price shall be not
less than the closing market price per share quoted on the Oslo Stock Exchange on the effective date of
the repurchase. Each Shareholder shall be bound by the determination of the Company to repurchase
such shares or fractions thereof. If the Company determines to repurchase any such shares or fractions,
the Company shall give written notice to each Shareholder concerned accompanied by a cheque or
warrant for the repurchase price and the relevant shares, fractions and certificates in respect thereof
shall thereupon be cancelled.

REDUCTION OF CAPITAL

49.

Subject to the Companies Acts, its memorandum and any confirmation or consent required by law or
these Bye-Laws, the Company may from time to time by Ordinary Resolution authorize the reduction
of its issued share capital or any capital redemption reserve fund or any share premium or contributed
surplus account in any manner.

50.

In relation to any such reduction the Company may by Ordinary Resolution determine the terms upon
which such reduction is to be effected, including, in the case of a reduction of part only of a class of
shares, those shares to be affected.

GENERAL MEETINGS

51.

The Board shall convene and the Company shall hold general meetings as annual general meetings in
accordance with the requirements of the Companies Acts ("Annual General Meetings") at such times
and places subject to the limitation set out below as the Board shall appoint. The Board may whenever
it thinks fit, and shall when required by the Companies Acts, convene general meetings other than
Annual General Meetings which shall be called "Special General Meetings". Any such Annual or
Special General Meeting shall be held at any place other than Norway.

NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETINGS

52.

An Annual General Meeting shall be called by not less than seven days notice in writing and a Special
General Meeting shall be called by not less than seven days notice in writing. The notice period shall
be exclusive of the day on which the notice is served or deemed to be served and of the day on which
the meeting to which it relates is to be held and shall specify the place, day and time of the meeting,
and in the case of a Special General Meeting, the general nature of the business to be considered.
Notice of every general meeting shall be given in any manner permitted by Bye-Laws 127 and 128 to
all Shareholders. Notwithstanding that a meeting of the Company is called by shorter notice than that
specified in this Bye-Law, it shall be deemed to have been duly called if it is so agreed:
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(a)

in the case of a meeting called as an Annual General Meeting by all the Shareholders entitled
to attend and vote thereat;

(b)

in the case of any other meeting by a majority in number of the Shareholders having the right
to attend and vote at the meeting, being a majority together holding not less than ninety-five
percent in nominal value of the shares giving that right;

provided that notwithstanding any provision of these Bye-Laws, no Shareholder shall be entitled to
attend any general meeting unless notice in writing of the intention to attend and vote in person or by
proxy signed by or on behalf of the Shareholder (together with the power of attorney or other authority,
if any, under which it is signed or a notarially certified copy thereof) addressed to the Secretary is
deposited (by post, courier, facsimile transmission or other electronic means) at the Registered Office
at least 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the general meeting or adjournment thereof.

53.

The accidental omission to give notice of a meeting or (in cases where instruments of proxy are sent
out with the notice) the accidental omission to send such instrument of proxy to or the non-receipt of
notice of a meeting or such instrument of proxy by any person entitled to receive such notice shall not
invalidate the proceedings at that meeting.

54.

The Board may convene a Special General Meeting whenever it thinks fit. A Special General Meeting
shall also be convened by the Board on the written requisition of Shareholders holding at the date of
the deposit of the requisition not less than one tenth in nominal value of the paid-up capital of the
Company which as at the date of the deposit carries the right to vote at a general meeting of the
Company. The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting and must be signed by the
requisitionists and deposited at the registered office of the Company, and may consist of several
documents in like form each signed by one or more of the requisitionists.

PROCEEDINGS AT GENERAL MEETING

55.

No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless the requisite quorum is present when the
meeting proceeds to business, but the absence of a quorum shall not preclude the appointment, choice
or election of a chairman which shall not be treated as part of the business of the meeting. Save as
otherwise provided by these Bye-Laws, the quorum at any general meeting shall be constituted by one
or more shareholders, either present in person or represented by proxy, holding in the aggregate shares
carrying 33 1/3% of the voting rights entitled to be exercised at such meeting.

56.

If within five minutes (or such longer time as the chairman of the meeting may determine to wait) after
the time appointed for the meeting, a quorum is not present, the meeting, if convened on the requisition
of Shareholders, shall be dissolved. In any other case, it shall stand adjourned to such other day and
such other time and place as the chairman of the meeting may determine and at such adjourned meeting
two Shareholders or, in the event that there is only one Shareholder, one Shareholder, present in person
or by proxy (whatever the number of shares held by them) shall be a quorum. The Company shall give
not less than five days notice of any meeting adjourned through want of a quorum and such notice shall
state that two Shareholders or, in the event that there is only one Shareholder, one Shareholder, present
in person or by proxy (whatever the number of shares held by them) shall be a quorum.

57.

A meeting of the Shareholders or any class thereof may be held by means of such telephone, electronic
or other communication facilities as permit all persons participating in the meeting to communicate
with each other simultaneously and instantaneously and participation in such meeting shall constitute
presence in person at such meeting.
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58.

Each Director and the Company's auditor and Secretary shall be entitled to attend and speak at any
general meeting of the Company.

59.

The Chairman (if any) of the Board or, in his absence, the President shall preside as chairman at every
general meeting. If there is no such Chairman or President, or if at any general meeting neither the
Chairman nor the President is present within five minutes after the time appointed for holding the
general meeting, or if neither of them is willing to act as chairman, the Directors present shall choose
one of their number to act or if one Director only is present he shall preside as chairman if willing to
act. If no Director is present or if each of the Directors present declines to take the chair, the persons
present and entitled to vote on a poll shall elect one of their number to be chairman.

60.

The chairman of the general meeting may, with the consent of those present at any meeting at which a
quorum is present (and shall if so directed by the meeting), adjourn the general meeting from time to
time and from place to place but no business shall be transacted at any adjourned general meeting
except business which might lawfully have been transacted at the meeting from which the adjournment
took place. When a general meeting is adjourned for thirty days or more, notice of the adjourned
general meeting shall be given as in the case of an original general meeting.

61.

Save as expressly provided by these Bye-Laws, it shall not be necessary to give any notice of an
adjournment or of the business to be transacted at an adjourned general meeting.

VOTING

62.

Save where a greater majority is required by the Companies Acts or these Bye-Laws, any question
proposed for consideration at any general meeting shall be decided on by Ordinary Resolution.

63.

The Board may, with the sanction of an Ordinary Resolution, amalgamate the Company with another
company (whether or not the Company is the surviving company and whether or not such an
amalgamation involves a change in the jurisdiction of the Company).

64.

At any general meeting, a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided on a show of hands
unless (before or on the declaration of the result of the show of hands or on the withdrawal of any other
demand for a poll) a poll is demanded by:

(a)

the chairman of the meeting; or

(b)

at least three Shareholders present in person or represented by proxy; or

(c)

any Shareholder or Shareholders present in person or represented by proxy and holding
between them not less than one tenth of the total voting rights of all the Shareholders having
the right to vote at such meeting; or

(d)

a Shareholder or Shareholders present in person or represented by proxy holding shares
conferring the right to vote at such meeting, being shares on which an aggregate sum has been
paid up equal to at least one-tenth of the total sum paid up on all such shares conferring such
right.

Unless a poll is so demanded and the demand is not withdrawn, a declaration by the chairman that a
resolution has, on a show of hands, been carried or carried unanimously or by a particular majority or
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not carried by a particular majority or lost shall be final and conclusive, and an entry to that effect in
the Minute Book of the Company shall be conclusive evidence of the fact without proof of the number
of votes recorded for or against such resolution.

65.

A poll demanded on the election of a chairman, or on a question of adjournment, shall be taken
forthwith. A poll demanded on any other question shall be taken in such manner and either forthwith or
at such time (being not later than three months after the date of the demand) and place as the chairman
shall direct. It shall not be necessary (unless the chairman otherwise directs) for notice to be given of a
poll.

66.

The demand for a poll shall not prevent the continuance of a meeting for the transaction of any
business other than the question on which the poll has been demanded and it may be withdrawn at any
time before the close of the meeting or the taking of the poll whichever is the earlier.

67.

On a poll, votes may be cast either personally or by proxy.

68.

A person entitled to more than one vote on a poll need not use all his votes or cast all the votes he uses
in the same way.

69.

If a poll is duly demanded, the result of the poll shall be deemed to be the resolution of the meeting at
which the poll is demanded.

70.

In the case of any equality of votes at a general meeting, whether on a show of hands or on a poll, the
chairman of such general meeting shall not be entitled to a second or casting vote.

71.

Subject to the provisions of these Bye-Laws and to any special rights or restrictions as to voting for the
time being attached to any shares, every Shareholder who is present in person or by proxy or proxies
shall have one vote for every share of which he is the holder.

72.

In the case of joint holders of a share, the vote of the senior joint holder who tenders a vote, whether in
person or by proxy, shall be accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the other joint holders, and for
this purpose seniority shall be determined by the order in which the names stand in the Register in
respect of the joint holding.

73.

A Shareholder who is a patient for any purpose of any statute or applicable law relating to mental
health or in respect of whom an order has been made by any Court having jurisdiction for the
protection or management of the affairs of persons incapable of managing their own affairs may vote
by his receiver, committee, curator bonis or other person in the nature of a receiver, committee or
curator bonis appointed by such Court and such receiver, committee, curator bonis or other person may
vote by proxy, and may otherwise act and be treated as such Shareholder for the purpose of general
meetings.

74.

No Shareholder shall, unless the Board otherwise determines, be entitled to vote at any general meeting
unless all calls or other sums presently payable by him in respect of shares in the Company have been
paid.

75.

If (i) any objection shall be raised to the qualification of any voter or (ii) any votes have been counted
which ought not to have been counted or which might have been rejected or (iii) any votes are not
counted which ought to have been counted, the objection or error shall not vitiate the decision of the
meeting or adjourned meeting on any resolution unless the same is raised or pointed out at the meeting
or, as the case may be, the adjourned meeting at which the vote objected to is given or tendered or at
which the error occurs. Any objection or error shall be referred to the chairman of the general meeting
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and shall only vitiate the decision of the general meeting on any resolution if the chairman decides that
the same may have affected the decision of the general meeting. The decision of the chairman on such
matters shall be final and conclusive.

PROXIES AND CORPORATE REPRESENTATIVES

76.

A Shareholder may appoint one or more proxies to attend at a general meeting of the Company and to
vote on his behalf and proxies appointed by a single Shareholder need not all exercise their vote in the
same manner. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or
of his attorney authorized by him in writing or, if the appointor is a body corporate, either under its seal
or under the hand of an officer, attorney or other person authorized to sign the same.

77.

Any Shareholder may appoint a standing proxy or (if a body corporate) representative by depositing at
the Registered Office a proxy or (if a body corporate) an authorization and such proxy or authorization
shall be valid for all general meetings and adjournments thereof until notice of revocation is received at
the Registered Office. Where a standing proxy or authorization exists, its operation shall be deemed to
have been suspended at any general meeting or adjournment thereof at which the Shareholder is present
or in respect of which the Shareholder has specially appointed a proxy or representative. The Board
may from time to time require such evidence as it shall deem necessary as to the due execution and
continuing validity of any such standing proxy or authorization and the operation of any such standing
proxy or authorization shall be deemed to be suspended until such time as the Board determines that it
has received the requested evidence or other evidence satisfactory to it.

78.

Subject to Bye-Law 77, the instrument appointing a proxy together with such other evidence as to its
due execution as the Board may from time to time require, shall be delivered at the Registered Office,
at the place of the general meeting, or at such place as may be specified in the notice convening the
general meeting or in any notice of any adjournment, or, in either case, in any document sent therewith,
prior to the holding of the general meeting or adjourned general meeting at which the person named in
the instrument proposes to vote or, in the case of a poll taken subsequent to the date of a general
meeting or adjourned general meeting, before the time appointed for the taking of the poll and in
default the instrument of proxy shall not be treated as valid.

79.

Instruments of proxy shall be in any common form or in such other form as the Board may approve and
the Board may, if it thinks fit, send out with the notice of any general meeting forms of instruments of
proxy for use at that meeting. The instrument of proxy shall be deemed to confer authority to vote on
any amendment of a resolution put to the general meeting for which it is given as the proxy thinks fit.
The instrument of proxy shall unless the contrary is stated therein be valid as well for any adjournment
of the general meeting as for the general meeting to which it relates.

80.

A vote given in accordance with the terms of an instrument of proxy shall be valid notwithstanding the
previous death or insanity of the principal or revocation of the instrument of proxy or of the authority
under which it was executed, provided that no intimation in writing of such death, insanity or
revocation shall have been received by the Company at the Registered Office, the place of the meeting
or such other place as may be specified for the delivery of instruments of proxy in the notice convening
the meeting or other documents sent therewith before the commencement of the general meeting or
adjourned general meeting, or the taking of the poll, at which the instrument of proxy is used.

81.

Subject to the Companies Acts, the Board may at its discretion waive any of the provisions of these
Bye-Laws related to proxies or authorizations and, in particular, may accept such verbal or other
assurances as it thinks fit as to the right of any person to attend and vote on behalf of any Shareholder
at general meetings.
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APPOINTMENT AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS

82.

The number of Directors shall be such number not less than two as the Company by Ordinary
Resolution may from time to time determine and each Director shall hold office until the next annual
general meeting following his election or until his successor is elected.

83.

The Company shall at the Annual General Meeting and may in a general meeting by Ordinary
Resolution determine the minimum and the maximum number of Directors and may by Ordinary
Resolution determine that one or more vacancies in the Board shall be deemed casual vacancies for the
purposes of these Bye-Laws. Without prejudice to the power of the Company in any general meeting in
pursuance of any of the provisions of these Bye-Laws to appoint any person to be a Director, the
Board, so long as a quorum of Directors remains in office, shall have power at any time and from time
to time to appoint any individual to be a Director so as to fill a casual vacancy.

84.

The Company may in a Special General Meeting called for that purpose remove a Director provided
notice of any such Special General Meeting shall be served upon the Director concerned not less than
fourteen days before the Special General Meeting and he shall be entitled to be heard at that Special
General Meeting. Any vacancy created by the removal of a Director at a Special General Meeting may
be filled at the Special General Meeting by the election of another person as Director in his place or, in
the absence of any such election, by the Board.

RESIGNATION AND DISQUALIFICATION OF DIRECTORS

85.

The office of a Director shall be vacated upon the happening of any of the following events:

(a)

if he resigns his office by notice in writing delivered to the Registered Office or tendered at a
meeting of the Board;

(b)

if he becomes of unsound mind or a patient for any purpose of any statute or applicable law
relating to mental health and the Board resolves that he shall be removed from office;

(c)

if he becomes bankrupt or compounds with his creditors;

(d)

if he is prohibited by law from being a Director; or

(e)

if he ceases to be a Director by virtue of the Companies Acts or is removed from office
pursuant to these Bye-Laws.

ALTERNATE DIRECTORS

86.

(a)

The Company may by Ordinary Resolution elect a person or persons qualified to be Directors
to act as Directors in the alternative to any of the Directors of the Company or may authorize
the Board to appoint such Alternate Directors and a Director may appoint and remove his own
Alternate Director. Any appointment or removal of an Alternate Director by a Director shall
be effected by depositing a notice of appointment or removal with the Secretary at the
Registered Office, signed by such Director, and such appointment or removal shall become
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effective on the date of receipt by the Secretary. Any Alternate Director may be removed by
Ordinary Resolution of the Company and, if appointed by the Board, may be removed by the
Board. Subject as aforesaid, the office of Alternate Director shall continue until the next
annual election of Directors or, if earlier, the date on which the relevant Director ceases to be
a Director. An Alternate Director may also be a Director in his own right and may act as
alternate to more than one Director.

(b)

A Director may at any time, by notice in writing signed by him delivered to the Registered
Office of the Company or at a meeting of the Board, appoint any person (including another
Director) to act as Alternate Director in his place during his absence and may in like manner at
any time determine such appointment. If such person is not another Director such appointment
unless previously approved by the Board shall have effect only upon and subject to being so
approved. The appointment of an Alternate Director shall determine on the happening of any
event which, were he a Director, would cause him to vacate such office or if his appointor
ceases to be a Director.

DIRECTORS' FEES AND ADDITIONAL REMUNERATION AND EXPENSES

87.

The amount, if any, of Directors' fees shall from time to time be determined by the Company by
Ordinary Resolution and in the absence of a determination to the contrary in general meeting, such fees
shall be deemed to accrue from day to day. Each Director may be paid his reasonable traveling, hotel
and incidental expenses properly incurred in attending and returning from meetings of the Board or
committees constituted pursuant to these Bye-Laws or general meetings and shall be paid all expenses
properly and reasonably incurred by him in the conduct of the Company's business or in the discharge
of his duties as a Director. Any Director who, by request, goes or resides abroad for any purposes of
the Company or who performs services which in the opinion of the Board go beyond the ordinary
duties of a Director may be paid such extra remuneration (whether by way of salary, commission,
participation in profits or otherwise) as the Board may determine, and such extra remuneration shall be
in addition to any remuneration provided for by or pursuant to any other Bye-Law.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS

88.

(a)

A Director may hold any other office or place of profit with the Company (except that of
auditor) in conjunction with his office of Director for such period and upon such terms as the
Board may determine and may be paid such extra remuneration therefor (whether by way of
salary, commission, participation in profits or otherwise) as the Board may determine, and
such extra remuneration shall be in addition to any remuneration provided for by or pursuant
to any other Bye-Law.

(b)

A Director may act by himself or his firm in a professional capacity for the Company
(otherwise than as auditor) and he or his firm shall be entitled to remuneration for professional
services as if he were not a Director.

(c)

Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts, a Director may notwithstanding his office be
a party to or otherwise interested in any transaction or arrangement with the Company or in
which the Company is otherwise interested and may be a director or other officer of,
employed by, a party to any transaction or arrangement with, or otherwise interested in any
body corporate promoted by the Company or in which the Company is interested. The Board
may also cause the voting power conferred by the shares in any other body corporate held or
owned by the Company to be exercised in such manner in all respects as it thinks fit, including
the exercise thereof in favor of any resolution appointing the Directors or any of them to be
directors or officers of such other body corporate, or voting or providing for the payment of
remuneration to the directors or officers of such other body corporate.
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(d)

So long as, where it is necessary, he declares the nature of his interest at the first opportunity
at a meeting of the Board or by writing to the Directors as required by the Companies Acts, a
Director shall not by reason of his office be accountable to the Company for any benefit which
he derives from any office or employment to which these Bye-Laws allow him to be
appointed or from any transaction or arrangement in which these Bye-Laws allow him to be
interested, and no such transaction or arrangement shall be liable to be avoided on the ground
of any interest or benefit.

(e)

Subject to the Companies Acts and any further disclosure required thereby, a general notice to
the Directors by a Director or officer declaring that he is a director or officer or has an interest
in a person and is to be regarded as interested in any transaction or arrangement made with
that person, shall be a sufficient declaration of interest in relation to any transaction or
arrangement so made.

POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE BOARD

89.

Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts and these Bye-Laws and to any directions given by the
Company in general meeting, the Board shall manage the business of the Company and may pay all
expenses incurred in promoting and incorporating the Company and may exercise all the powers of the
Company. No alteration of these Bye-Laws and no such direction shall invalidate any prior act of the
Board which would have been valid if that alteration had not been made or that direction had not been
given. The powers given by this Bye-Law shall not be limited by any special power given to the Board
by these Bye-Laws and a meeting of the Board at which a quorum is present shall be competent to
exercise all the powers, authorities and discretions for the time being vested in or exercisable by the
Board.

90.

The Board may exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow money and to mortgage or charge all
or any part of the undertaking property and assets (present and future) and uncalled capital of the
Company and to issue debentures and other securities, whether outright or as collateral security for any
debt, liability or obligation of the Company or of any other persons.

91.

All checks, promissory notes, drafts, bills of exchange and other instruments, whether negotiable or
transferable or not, and all receipts for money paid to the Company shall be signed, drawn, accepted,
endorsed or otherwise executed, as the case may be, in such manner as the Board shall from time to
time by resolution determine.

92.

The Board on behalf of the Company may provide benefits, whether by the payment of gratuities or
pensions or otherwise, for any Director or Officer (whether or not an employee) and any person
including

(a)

who has held any executive office or employment with the Company or with any
body corporate which is or has been a subsidiary or affiliate of the Company or a
predecessor in the business of the Company or of any such subsidiary or affiliate,
and
to any member of his family or any person who is or was dependent on him,
and may contribute to
any fund and pay premiums for the purchase or provision of any such gratuity, pension or other
benefit, or for the insurance of any such person
in connection with the provision of pensions.

(b)

subject to the provision of the Companies Act from time to time in force relating to financial
assistance and dealings with Directors the Board may also establish and maintain an
Employees' Share Scheme approved by Ordinary Resolution and (if an Employees' Share
Scheme so provides) contribute to any Employees' Share Scheme for the purchase by the
Company or transfer, allotment or issue from the Company to trustees of shares in the
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Company, such shares to be held for the benefit of the scheme participants (including
Directors and Officers) and, subject to the Companies Act, lend money to such trustees or
scheme participants to enable the purchase of such shares.

93.

The Board may from time to time appoint one or more of its body to be a managing director, joint
managing director or an assistant managing director or to hold any other employment or executive
office with the Company for such period and upon such terms as the Board may determine and may
revoke or terminate any such appointments. Any such revocation or termination as aforesaid shall be
without prejudice to any claim for damages that such Director may have against the Company or the
Company may have against such Director for any breach of any contract of service between him and
the Company which may be involved in such revocation or termination. Any person so appointed shall
receive such remuneration (if any, whether by way of salary, commission, participation in profits or
otherwise) as the Board may determine, and either in addition to or in lieu of his remuneration as a
Director.

DELEGATION OF THE BOARD'S POWERS

94.

The Board may by power of attorney appoint any company, firm or person or any fluctuating body of
persons, whether nominated directly or indirectly by the Board, to be the attorney or attorneys of the
Company for such purposes and with such power, authorities and discretions (not exceeding those
vested in or exercisable by the Board under these Bye-Laws) and for such period and subject to such
conditions as it may think fit, and any such power of attorney may contain such provisions for the
protection and convenience of persons dealing with any such attorney and of such attorney as the
Board may think fit, and may also authorize any such attorney to sub-delegate all or any of the powers,
authorities and discretions vested in him. The Board may revoke or vary any such delegation of power,
but no person dealing in good faith with such delegate without notice of such revocation or variation
shall be affected by such revocation or variation.

95.

The Board may entrust to and confer upon any Director or officer or, without prejudice to the
provisions of Bye-Law 97, other individual any of the powers exercisable by it upon such terms and
conditions with such restrictions as it thinks fit, and either collaterally with, or to the exclusion of its
own powers, and may from time to time revoke or vary all or any of such powers but no person dealing
in good faith and without notice of such revocation or variation shall be affected thereby.

96.

The Board may delegate any of its powers, authorities or discretions to committees, consisting of such
person or persons (whether a member or members of its body or not) as it thinks fit. Any committee so
formed shall, in the exercise of the powers, authorities and discretions so delegated, conform to any
regulations which may be imposed upon it by the Board. The Board may revoke or vary any such
delegation of its powers, authorities and discretions, but no person dealing in good faith and without
notice of such revocation or variation shall be affected thereby.

PROCEEDINGS OF THE BOARD

97.

The Board may meet for the dispatch of business, adjourn and otherwise regulate its meetings as it
thinks fit, provided that Board meetings are to be held outside Norway and the United Kingdom.
Questions arising at any meeting shall be determined by a majority of votes cast. In the case of an
equality of votes the motion shall be deemed to have been lost. A Director may, and the Secretary on
the requisition of a Director shall, at any time summon a Board meeting.

98.

Notice of a Board meeting shall be deemed to be duly given to a Director if it is given to him
personally or by word of mouth or sent to him by post, cable, telex, telecopier or other mode of
representing or reproducing words in a legible and non-transitory form at his last known address or any
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other address given by him to the Company for this purpose. A Director may waive notice of any
meeting either prospectively or retrospectively.

99.

(a)

The quorum necessary for the transaction of the business of the Board may be fixed by the
Board and, unless so fixed at any other number, shall be a majority of the Board present in
person or by proxy, provided that a quorum shall not be present unless a majority of the
Directors present are not resident in Norway. Any Director who ceases to be a Director at a
Board meeting may continue to be present and to act as a Director and be counted in the
quorum until the termination of the Board meeting if no other Director objects and if
otherwise a quorum of Directors would not be present.

(b)

Subject to the provisions of Bye-Law 89, a Director who to his knowledge is in any way,
whether directly or indirectly, interested in a contract or proposed contract, transaction or
arrangement with the Company and has complied with the provisions of the Companies Acts
and these Bye-Laws with regard to disclosure of his interest shall be entitled to vote in respect
of any contract, transaction or arrangement in which he is so interested and if he shall do so
his vote shall be counted, and he shall be taken into account in ascertaining whether a quorum
is present.

100.

So long as a quorum of Directors remains in office, the continuing Directors may act notwithstanding
any vacancy in the Board but, if no such quorum remains, the continuing Directors or a sole continuing
Director may act only for the purpose of calling a general meeting.

101.

The Chairman (if any) of the Board or, in his absence, the President shall preside as chairman at every
meeting of the Board. If there is no such Chairman or President, or if at any meeting neither the
Chairman nor the President is present within five minutes after the time appointed for holding the
meeting, or if neither of them is willing to act as chairman, the Directors present may choose one of
their number to be chairman of the meeting.

102.

The meetings and proceedings of any committee consisting of two or more members shall be governed
by the provisions contained in these Bye-Laws for regulating the meetings and proceedings of the
Board so far as the same are applicable and are not superseded by any regulations imposed by the
Board.

103.

A resolution in writing signed by all the Directors for the time being entitled to receive notice of a
meeting of the Board or by all the members of a committee for the time being shall be as valid and
effectual as a resolution passed at a meeting of the Board or, as the case may be, of such committee
duly called and constituted. Such resolution may be contained in one document or in several documents
in the like form each signed by one or more of the Directors or members of the committee concerned.

104.

A meeting of the Board or a committee appointed by the Board may be held by means of such
telephone, electronic or other communication facilities as permit all persons participating in the
meeting to communicate with each other simultaneously and instantaneously and participation in such
a meeting shall constitute presence in person at such meeting. A meeting of the Board or committee
appointed by the Board held in the foregoing manner shall be deemed to take place at the place where
the largest group of participating Directors or committee members has assembled or, if no such group
exists, at the place where the chairman of the meeting participates. The Board or relevant committee
shall use its best endeavours to ensure that any such meeting is not deemed to have been held in
Norway, and the fact that one or more Directors may be present at such teleconference by virtue of his
being physically in Norway shall not deem such meeting to have taken place in Norway.

105.

All acts done by the Board or by any committee or by any person acting as a Director or member of a
committee or any person duly authorized by the Board or any committee, shall, notwithstanding that it
is afterwards discovered that there was some defect in the appointment of any member of the Board or
such committee or person acting as aforesaid or that they or any of them were disqualified or had
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vacated their office, be as valid as if every such person had been duly appointed and was qualified and
had continued to be a Director, member of such committee or person so authorized.

OFFICERS

106.

The officers of the Company shall include a President and a Vice-President who shall be Directors and
shall be elected by the Board as soon as possible after the statutory meeting and each annual general
meeting. In addition, the Board may appoint one of the Directors to be Chairman of the Board and any
person whether or not he is a Director to hold such other office (including any additional VicePresidencies) as the Board may from time to time determine. Any person elected or appointed pursuant
to this Bye-Law shall hold office for such period and upon such terms as the Board may determine and
the Board may revoke or terminate any such election or appointment. Any such revocation or
termination shall be without prejudice to any claim for damages that such officer may have against the
Company or the Company may have against such officer for any breach of any contract of service
between him and the Company which may be involved in such revocation or termination. Save as
provided in the Companies Acts or these Bye-Laws, the powers and duties of the officers of the
Company shall be such (if any) as are determined from time to time by the Board.

MINUTES

107.

The Directors shall cause minutes to be made and books kept for the purpose of recording:

(a)

all appointments of officers made by the Directors;

(b)

the names of the Directors and other persons (if any) present at each meeting of Directors and
of any committee;

(c)

all proceedings at meetings of the Company, of the holders of any class of shares in the
Company, and of committees; and

(d)

all proceedings of managers (if any).

SECRETARY

108.

The Secretary shall be appointed by the Board at such remuneration (if any) and upon such terms as it
may think fit and any Secretary so appointed may be removed by the Board.

The duties of the Secretary shall be those prescribed by the Companies Acts together with such other
duties as shall from time to time be prescribed by the Board.

109.

A provision of the Companies Acts or these Bye-Laws requiring or authorizing a thing to be done by or
to a Director and the Secretary shall not be satisfied by its being done by or to the same person acting
both as Director and as, or in the place of, the Secretary.
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THE SEAL

110.

(a)

(b)

The Seal shall consist of a circular metal device with the name of the Company around the
outer margin thereof and the country and year of incorporation across the center thereof.
Should the Seal not have been received by the Registered Office in such form at the date of
adoption of these Bye-Laws then, pending such receipt, any document requiring to be sealed
with the Seal shall be sealed by affixing a red wafer seal to the document with the name of the
Company and the country and year of incorporation typewritten across the center thereof.

The Board shall provide for the custody of every Seal. A Seal shall only be used by authority
of the Board or of a committee of the Board authorized by the Board in their behalf. Subject to
these Bye-Laws, any instrument to which a Seal is affixed shall be signed by a Director and
by the Secretary or by a second Director; provided that the Secretary or a Director may affix a
Seal over his signature only to authenticate copies of these Bye-Laws, the minutes of any
meeting or any other documents requiring authentication.

DIVIDENDS AND OTHER PAYMENTS

111.

The Board may from time to time declare cash dividends or distributions out of contributed surplus to
be paid to the Shareholders according to their rights and interests including interim dividends as appear
to the Board to be justified by the position of the Company. The Board may also pay any fixed cash
dividend which is payable on any shares of the Company half yearly or on such other dates, whenever
the position of the Company in the opinion of the Board, justifies such payment.

112.

Except insofar as the rights attaching to, or the terms of issue of, any share otherwise provide:

(a)

all dividends or distributions out of contributed surplus may be declared and paid according to
the amounts paid up on the shares in respect of which the dividend or distribution is paid and
an amount paid up on a share in advance of calls may be treated for the purpose of this ByeLaw as paid-up on the share;

(b)

dividends or distributions out of contributed surplus may be apportioned and paid pro rata
according to the amounts paid up on the shares during any portion or portions of the period in
respect of which the dividend or distribution is paid.

113.

The Board may deduct from any dividend, distribution or other moneys payable to a Shareholder by the
Company on or in respect of any share all sums of money (if any) presently payable by him to the
Company on account of calls or otherwise in respect of shares of the Company.

114.

No dividend, distribution or other moneys payable by the Company on or in respect of any share shall
bear interest against the Company unless otherwise provided by the rights attached to such share.

115.

Any dividend distribution, interest or other sum payable in cash to the holder of shares may be paid by
check or warrant sent through the mail addressed to the holder at his address in the Register or, as the
case may be, the Branch Register or, in the case of joint holders, addressed to the holder whose name
stands first in the Register or, as the case may be, the Branch Register in respect of the shares at his
registered address as appearing in the Register or, as the case may be, the Branch Register or addressed
to such person at such address as the holder or joint holders may in writing direct. Every such check or
warrant shall, unless the holder or joint holders otherwise direct, be made payable to the order of the
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holder or, in the case of joint holders, to the order of the holder whose name stands first in the Register
or, as the case may be, the Branch Register in respect of such shares, and shall be sent at his or their
risk, and payment of the check or warrant by the bank on which it is drawn shall constitute a good
discharge to the Company. Any one of two or more joint holders may give effectual receipts for any
dividends, distributions or other moneys payable or property distributable in respect of the shares held
by such joint holders.

116.

Any dividend or proceeds of share repurchase or distribution out of contributed surplus unclaimed for a
period of three years from the date of declaration of such dividend or proceeds of share repurchase or
distribution shall be forfeited and shall revert to the Company, and the payment by the Board of any
unclaimed dividend, distribution, interest or proceeds of share repurchase or other sum payable on or in
respect of the share into a separate account shall not constitute the Company a trustee in respect
thereof.

117.

The Board may direct payment or satisfaction of any dividend or distribution out of contributed surplus
wholly or in part by the distribution of specific assets and, in particular, of paid up shares or debentures
of any other body corporate, and where any difficulty arises in regard to such distribution or dividend
the Board may settle it as it thinks expedient and, in particular, may authorize any person to sell and
transfer any fractions or may ignore fractions altogether and may fix the value for distribution or
dividend purposes of any such specific assets and may determine that cash payments shall be made to
any Shareholders upon the basis of the value so fixed in order to secure equality of distribution and
may vest any such specific assets in trustees as may seem expedient to the Board.

RESERVES

118.

The Board may, before recommending or declaring any dividend or distribution out of contributed
surplus, set aside such sums as it thinks proper as reserves which shall, at the discretion of the Board,
be applicable for any purpose of the Company and pending such application may, also at such
discretion, either be employed in the business of the Company or be invested in such investments as the
Board may from time to time think fit. The Board may also without placing the same to reserve carry
forward any sums which it may think it prudent not to distribute.

CAPITALIZATION OF PROFITS

119.

The Company may, upon the recommendation of the Board, at any time and from time to time resolve
by Ordinary Resolution to the effect that it is desirable to capitalize all or any part of any amount for
the time being standing to the credit of any reserve or fund which is available for distribution or to the
credit of any share premium account or any capital redemption reserve fund or to the credit of any
contributed surplus account and accordingly that such amount be set free for distribution amongst the
Shareholders or any class of Shareholders who would be entitled thereto if distributed by way of
dividend and in the same proportions, provided that the same be not paid in cash but be applied either
in or towards paying up amounts for the time being unpaid on any shares in the Company held by such
Shareholders respectively or in payment up in full of unissued shares, debentures or other obligations
of the Company, to be allotted, distributed and credited as fully paid among such Shareholders, or
partly in one way or partly in the other, and the Board shall give effect to such resolution, provided that
for the purpose of this Bye-Law, a share premium account and a capital redemption reserve fund may
be applied only in paying up of unissued shares to be issued to such Shareholders credited as fully paid
and provided further that any sum standing to the credit of a share premium account may only be
applied in crediting as fully paid shares of the same class as that from which the relevant share
premium was derived.

120.

Where any difficulty arises in regard to any distribution under the last preceding Bye-Law, the Board
may settle the same as it thinks expedient and, in particular, may authorize any person to sell and
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transfer any fractions, may resolve that the distribution should be as nearly as may be practicable in the
correct proportion but not exactly so, or may ignore fractions altogether, and may determine that cash
payments should be made to any Shareholders in order to adjust the rights of all parties, as may seem
expedient to the Board. The Board may appoint any person to sign on behalf of the persons entitled to
participate in the distribution any contract necessary or desirable for giving effect thereto and such
appointment shall be effective and binding upon the Shareholders.

RECORD DATES

121.

Notwithstanding any other provision of these Bye-Laws the Directors may fix any date as the record
date for:

(a)

determining the Members entitled to receive any dividend or other distribution and such
record date may be on, or not more than 30 days before or after, any date on which such
dividend or distribution is declared;

(b)

determining the Members entitled to receive notice of and to vote at any general meeting of
the Company.

ACCOUNTING RECORDS - INFORMATION

122.

The Board shall cause to be kept accounting records sufficient to give a fair presentation in all material
respects of the state of the Company's affairs and to show and explain its transactions in accordance
with the Companies Acts.

123.

The records of account shall be kept at the Registered Office or at such other place or places as the
Board thinks fit and shall at all times be open to inspection by the Directors; PROVIDED that if the
records of account are kept at some place outside Bermuda, there shall be kept at an office of the
Company in Bermuda such records as will enable the Directors to ascertain with reasonable accuracy
the financial position of the Company at the end of each three-month period. No Shareholder (other
than an officer of the Company) shall have any right to inspect any accounting record or book or
document of the Company except as required by any Listing Exchange, by law, by regulations or as
authorized by the Board or by Ordinary Resolution.

124.

A copy of every balance sheet and statement of income and expenditure, including every document
required by law to be annexed thereto, which is to be laid before the Company in general meeting,
together with a copy of the auditor's report, shall be sent to each person entitled thereto by sending it
through the mail (by airmail where applicable) in a prepaid letter addressed to such Shareholder at his
address as appearing in the Register or by delivering it to or leaving it at such registered address or by
sending it by way of an electronic e-mail in accordance with the Electronic Transactions Act at the
email address for such Shareholder as he shall have provided for this purpose for registration in the
Register in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Acts.

125.

The Company shall, at the request of any Shareholder requesting the same, provide a brief statement of
the nature of the Company's business and the products and services it offers to such Shareholder in a
timely fashion.
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AUDIT

126.

Save and to the extent that an audit is waived in the manner permitted by the Companies Acts, auditors
shall be appointed and their duties regulated in accordance with the Companies Acts, any other
applicable law and such requirements not inconsistent with the Companies Acts as the Board may from
time to time determine, save that the fees of the auditor shall be determined by Ordinary Resolution.

SERVICE OF NOTICES AND OTHER DOCUMENTS

127.

Any notice or other document (including a share certificate) shall be in writing (except where otherwise
expressly stated) and may be served on or delivered to any Shareholder by the Company either
personally or by sending it through the mail (by airmail where applicable) in a prepaid letter addressed
to such Shareholder at his address as appearing in the Register or by delivering it to or leaving it at
such registered address or by sending it by way of an electronic e-mail in accordance with the
Electronic Transactions Act at the email address for such Shareholder as he shall have provided for this
purpose for registration in the Register. In the case of joint holders of a share, service or delivery of any
notice or other document on or to one of the joint holders shall for all purposes be deemed as sufficient
service on or delivery to all the joint holders. Any notice or other document if sent by mail shall be
deemed to have been served or delivered two Business Days after it was put in the mail; and, in
proving such service or delivery, it shall be sufficient to prove that the notice or document was properly
addressed, stamped and put in the mail. Any notice or document delivered in electronic record form
shall be deemed to be served on delivery twenty-four hours after its dispatch and in proving service of
delivery it shall be sufficient to prove that the notice or document was sent to the electronic mail
address as appearing in the Register.

128.

Any notice of a general meeting of the Company shall be deemed to be duly given to a Shareholder if it
is sent to him by telecopier, electronic mail or other mode of representing or reproducing words in a
legible and non-transitory form at his postal or electronic address as appearing in the Register or any
other address given by him to the Company for this purpose. The Shareholders are obliged to keep the
Company advised of any change of postal address and e-mail address for service of notice and other
documents.

129.

Any notice or other document delivered, sent or given to a Shareholder in any manner permitted by
these Bye-Laws shall, notwithstanding that such Shareholder is then dead or bankrupt or that any other
event has occurred, and whether or not the Company has received notice of the death or bankruptcy or
other event, be deemed to have been duly served or delivered in respect of any share registered in the
name of such Shareholder as sole or joint holder unless his name shall, at the time of the service or
delivery of the notice or document, have been removed from the Register as the holder of the share,
and such service or delivery shall for all purposes be deemed as sufficient service or delivery of such
notice or document on all persons interested (whether jointly with or as claiming through or under him)
in the share.

WINDING UP

130.

If the Company shall be wound up, the liquidator may, with the sanction of an Extraordinary
Resolution and any other sanction required by the Companies Acts, divide among the Shareholders in
specie or kind the whole or any part of the assets of the Company (whether they shall consist of
property of the same kind or not) and may for such purposes set such values as he deems fair upon any
property to be divided as aforesaid and may determine how such division shall be carried out as
between the Shareholders or different classes of Shareholders. The liquidator may, with the like
sanction, vest the whole or any part of such assets in trustees upon such trust for the benefit of the
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contributors as the liquidator, with the like sanction, shall think fit, but so that no Shareholder shall be
compelled to accept any shares or other assets upon which there is any liability.

INDEMNITY

131.

Subject to the proviso below every person who is or was a Director, officer of the Company or member
of a committee constituted under Bye-Law 96 (the "Company Indemnitee") or who is or was a
director or officer of any of the Company's subsidiaries ("Subsidiary Indemnitee") shall be
indemnified out of the funds of the Company against all civil liabilities, loss, damage or expense
(including but not limited to liabilities under contract, tort and statute or any applicable foreign law or
regulation and all reasonable legal and other costs and expenses properly payable) incurred or suffered
by him as such Director, officer of the Company or committee member, or as a director or officer of
any of the Company's subsidiaries and the indemnity contained in this Bye-Law shall extend to any
person acting as a Director, officer of the Company or committee member, or as a director or officer of
any of the Company's subsidiaries in the reasonable belief that he has been so appointed or elected
notwithstanding any defect in such appointment or election PROVIDED ALWAYS that the indemnity
contained in this Bye-Law shall not extend to any matter which would render it void pursuant to the
Companies Acts.

132.

Every Company Indemnitee or Subsidiary Indemnitee shall be indemnified out of the funds of the
Company against all liabilities incurred by him as such Company Indemnitee or Subsidiary Indemnitee
in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in his favor, or in
which he is acquitted, or in connection with any application under the Companies Acts in which relief
from liability is granted to him by the court.

133.

To the extent that any Company Indemnitee or Subsidiary Indemnitee is entitled to claim an indemnity
pursuant to these Bye-Laws in respect of amounts paid or discharged by him, the relevant indemnity
shall take effect as an obligation of the Company to reimburse the person making such payment or
effecting such discharge. The expenses incurred by the Company Indemnitee or Subsidiary Indemnitee
pursuant to Bye-Laws 130 and 131 in any threatened or pending legal suits or proceedings shall be paid
by the Company in advance upon the written request of the Company Indemnitee or Subsidiary
Indemnitee upon proper documentation of such costs having been incurred. The same indemnity
applies to expenses incurred in any proceedings where such Company Indemnitee or Subsidiary
Indemnitee is a party or threatened to be made a party to any legal suits or proceedings by or in the
rights of the Company or any of the Company's subsidiaries to procure a judgment in its favor by
reason of the fact that the Company Indemnitee or Subsidiary Indemnitee is or was such Company
Indemnitee or Subsidiary Indemnitee. Provided, however, that the Company Indemnitee or Subsidiary
Indemnitee shall undertake to repay such amount to the extent that it is ultimately determined that the
Company Indemnitee or Subsidiary Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification.

134.

Subject to the Companies Acts, the Company may purchase and maintain for any Company Indemnitee
or Subsidiary Indemnitee, insurance against any liability arising in connection with his office with the
Company or any of the Company's subsidiaries.

ALTERATION OF BYE-LAWS

135.

These Bye-Laws may be amended from time to time in the manner provided for in the Companies
Acts, provided that any such amendment shall only become operative to the extent that it has been
confirmed by Ordinary Resolution.

A 34

A 35

Appendix 2: Summary of the content of the bye-laws versus Norwegian
Company Law
The purpose of this summary is to provide a review of the laws and rules of corporate governance to which
SeaDrill Limited (“SeaDrill”) is subject and to highlight certain similarities to and differences from these to the
rules that apply to a Norwegian company. This summary should be read in conjunction with and is qualified in
its entirety by the bye-laws of SeaDrill (the “Bye-laws”) set out in Appendix 1.

1.

GENERAL

SeaDrill has been incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability as an exempted company, which means that
SeaDrill needs not comply with the requirements of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, as amended (the
“Bermuda Companies Act”), in respect of Bermuda local companies.
SeaDrill and its activities are primarily governed by the Bermuda Companies Act, SeaDrill’s memorandum of
association and the Bye-laws.
The constitutional documents of SeaDrill consist of its memorandum of association and the Bye-laws. These
documents are significantly more extensive than the articles of association (vedtekter) of a Norwegian company
normally would be.
The Bye-laws deal primarily with SeaDrill’s administration and the distribution of power between its
shareholders and its board of directors (the “Board”). The Bye-laws have detailed provisions regarding the
transfer of shares in SeaDrill, changes to SeaDrill’s share capital, general meetings and appointment and
removal of directors and officers. The Bye-laws also contain provisions on payment and distribution of
dividend, allocation of sums to the reserves, capitalisation of profits, auditing, accounting, amendments to the
Bye-laws and winding up of SeaDrill.
Since SeaDrill’s shares will be listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange, certain aspects of SeaDrill’s activities will be
governed by Norwegian law. The listing agreement between the Oslo Stock Exchange and SeaDrill, which is
governed by Norwegian law, contains various obligations. In addition, the Norwegian Stock Exchange Act 17
November 2000, no. 80 and the Stock Exchange Regulations of 17 January 1994, no. 30 will apply to SeaDrill
as a consequence of its listing.
Under the Bermuda Companies Act, the Bye-laws may be amended by resolution passed by a simple majority of
votes cast at a general meeting of SeaDrill (an “Ordinary Resolution”). Under Norwegian law, a two-thirds
majority vote at a general meeting is required to amend a company’s articles of association.

2.

SHARES AND SHARE CAPITAL

2.1

Share capital

SeaDrill has, as of today, an authorised share capital of US$ 800,000,000. The authorised share capital may be
increased or decreased by an Ordinary Resolution. SeaDrill may also, by Ordinary Resolution, consolidate its
shares into shares of a higher nominal value or divide its shares into shares of a lower nominal value. Under
Norwegian law, a two-third majority vote at a general meeting is required to increase or change the share capital
or the denomination of its shares.
SeaDrill may, by Ordinary Resolution, create new classes of shares. The rights attached to any class of shares in
SeaDrill may only be altered with the written consent of 75 per cent of the shareholders of that class or by a
majority of 75 per cent of the votes cast at a separate general meeting of such class. By comparison, the
Norwegian Act no. 45 of 13 June 1997 relating to public limited companies (the “Norwegian Companies Act”)
requires the consent of all those shareholders whose rights are altered in order to vary the rights of a separate
class of shareholders.
The Bye-laws draw a distinction between issued and unissued shares. Subject to the provisions of the Bye-laws,
the unissued shares form part of SeaDrill’s authorised share capital that have not yet been allotted or issued to
any person. These unissued shares are at the disposal of the Board which may offer, allot, grant options over or
otherwise dispose of the said shares to such persons, at such times and for such consideration as the Board may
determine. SeaDrill may, however, by Ordinary Resolution increasing the capital, direct that the new shares or
any of them shall be offered in the first instance to all shareholders in proportion to the number of shares held by
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them. By comparison the Norwegian Companies Act requires two-third majority to disapply shareholders’
preferential rights.
According to the Bye-laws SeaDrill may only issue shares that are fully paid except as may be prescribed by an
Ordinary Resolution.
2.2

Shares/Transfer of shares

The shares in SeaDrill are registered shares (as opposed to bearer shares), which means that the shares cannot be
transferred by delivery alone.
SeaDrill’s register of shareholders is located in Bermuda. Unless the Board otherwise determines the register of
shareholders shall be open to inspection in the manner prescribed by the Bermuda Companies Act (as amended)
between 10:00 a.m. and 12:00 noon every working day.
SeaDrill has established a sub-register of the Shares in the VPS (the “Sub-register”). Nordea Bank Norge ASA
has been retained as the registrar (the “Registrar”) of this register which currently include all of the issued
shares of SeaDrill.
According to the Bye-laws, shareholders can transfer their shares by an instrument of transfer in the usual
common form or in such form as decided by the Board from time to time.
The Board shall decline to register the transfer of any shares, and shall direct the Registrar to decline to register
the transfer of any interest in any share held through the Sub-Register, to a person where the Board is of the
opinion that such transfer might breach any law or requirement of any authority or stock exchange on which
SeaDrill’s shares are listed, until the Board is satisfied that no breach of law or such requirement will arise.
If a person or entity, through any form of acquisition of SeaDrill’s shares, become the owner of shares in
SeaDrill representing more than 30 per cent of its then outstanding shares (an “Acquiror”), the Board may
decline to register and direct the Registrar to decline to register the transfer of any such interest in excess of 30
per cent of SeaDrill’s then outstanding shares to the Acquiror unless the Acquiror makes an offer for the
purchase of the remaining shares in SeaDrill or agrees to sell such part of the shares in SeaDrill so acquired as
shall result in his/its ownership being reduced to represent less than 30 per cent of SeaDrill’s then outstanding
shares.
SeaDrill has incorporated into its Bye-laws the flagging requirements of the OSE from time to time so that the
acquisitions or sales of shares and voting rights attaching to shares in excess of certain limits must be notified to
the Registrar, who will then report the same to the OSE. Pursuant to Norwegian law, such reporting is the
responsibility of the purchaser. It is therefore important to note that the purchaser will have the ultimate
responsibility that the OSE is notified, and that the provision in the Bye-laws providing for the Registrar to
notify the OSE does not free the purchaser of this ultimate responsibility. All shareholders must be aware of
their duty to provide for the notification of the OSE.
2.3

Treasury shares

According to the Bye-laws, SeaDrill may, from time to time, purchase its own shares for cancellation on such
terms and in such manner as may be authorised by the Board. The concept of treasury shares does not exist
under Bermuda law. By comparison under Norwegian law, the board of directors of a limited company must
have an authorisation from the general meeting to acquire its own shares and the purchase is limited to ten per
cent of the company’s share capital.

3.

SHAREHOLDER MEETING

The Board decides the venue of SeaDrill’s general meetings which can be convened anywhere else than in
Norway. According to Norwegian law, the venue of the general meeting of a limited company must, unless
otherwise specifically stated in its articles of association, be held in the municipality where the company has its
registered office.
A general meeting must be held at least once in every year and seven days’ notice is required for the holding of
any general meeting. A special general meeting may be called by the Board and must be called by the Board on
receipt of written requisition from shareholders with voting rights representing not less than ten per cent of the
paid up share capital. Under Norwegian law, shareholders holding five per cent of the share capital may require
the holding of a special general meeting.
Shareholders may be represented at a general meeting by proxy. Resolution of a general meeting is adopted by
an Ordinary Resolution unless the Bye-laws or the Bermuda Companies Act specify otherwise.
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4.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The number of directors shall be such number not less than two as SeaDrill by Ordinary Resolution from time to
time determines, and each director shall hold office until the next annual general meeting following his election
or until a successor is elected.
SeaDrill's Board members shall be elected by the Annual General Meeting. The Board shall however have
power to appoint any individual to be a Director to fill a casual vacancy in the Board. Such Director will
continue in office until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company. Under Norwegian law, only the
General Meeting may elect board members, and the Board may not supplement itself.
SeaDrill may by Ordinary Resolution appoint alternate directors or authorise the Board to do so. Each board
member may elect a personal alternate. The Board appoints its chairman.
A Board meeting may be held in any part of the world except in Norway.
Remuneration of the Board is determined by Ordinary Resolution at the annual general meeting.
The responsibility of the Board is to manage and conduct the business of SeaDrill. The power and rights of the
Board are limited only by statute, the Bye-laws and directions given by the general meeting.
In principle, this is in accordance with Norwegian company law, but it should be borne in mind that the Byelaws and the Bermuda Companies Act delegate certain powers to the Board which would have been within the
power of the general meeting of a Norwegian company or would not exist under Norwegian law, such as the
directors’ powers to issue shares within the authorised share capital in accordance with the Bye-laws and the
directors’ discretionary power to distribute dividends (see below) or make allocations to SeaDrill’s reserves.
According to the Bye-laws the Board has full power to mortgage or pledge any of SeaDrill’s assets and to
borrow money without sanction by the general meeting.
The Board may, by power of attorney, appoint a person or company as SeaDrill’s attorney with such power,
authority and discretion as the Board thinks fit, provided, however, that such power, authority or discretion does
not exceed the powers vested in the Board by the Bye-laws. The Board may also authorise the attorney to subdelegate any or all powers, authorities and discretions vested in him by the Board. Under Norwegian law, the
Board of a company can delegate authority and appoint attorneys, but authority or power that may be delegated
or vested in an attorney is considerably more restricted.
A member of the Board may be engaged by SeaDrill for the purpose of performing services which go beyond
his ordinary duties as member of the Board, but he may not be SeaDrill’s auditor. A director performing such
services is entitled to such extra remuneration as the Board may determine. Norwegian law has similar rules.
A member of the Board, or a company owned by him, may enter into a commercial agreement with SeaDrill
provided that the relevant director declares his interest in such agreement at the Board meeting when the
contract is first considered. A director may vote or be counted in the quorum of a meeting for any resolution
relevant to the appointment of himself to another position in SeaDrill.
The directors must appoint a secretary whose tasks are determined by the Bye-laws and the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981. Normally the secretary prepares minutes of the Board meetings and general meetings and
maintains the register of shareholders and register of directors and officers.

5.

DISTRIBUTION OF DIVIDENDS

The Board has a discretionary right to decide whether dividend shall be distributed to SeaDrill’s shareholders in
accordance with their respective interests in the profits and surplus of SeaDrill available for distribution. This
right includes the right to declare interim dividends if the Board thinks that the financial status of SeaDrill
allows it. The Board may direct payment or satisfaction of any dividend or distribution out of contributed
surplus by distribution of specific assets. Under the Norwegian Companies Act, the declaration of dividends
always requires sanction of the general meeting.
SeaDrill may, upon recommendation of the Board, by Ordinary Resolution resolve that it is desirable to
capitalise all or any part of (i) any reserve or fund which is available for distribution or (ii) standing to the credit
of any share premium account or capital redemption reserve fund or (iii) standing to the credit of any
contributed surplus account and, accordingly, that such amount be set free for distribution among the
shareholders who would be entitled thereto if distributed by way of dividend and in the same proportion. There
are similar rules in the Norwegian Companies Act, but such a resolution would require 2/3 majority of the votes
cast at the general meeting.
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Appendix 3: Annual report for Seadrill for 2005
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Seadrill reports net income of USD 69.5 million and earnings per share of USD 0.24 for
the first quarter of 2006
Seadrill purchased 100 percent of Smedvig asa
Seadrill increased the ownership in Mosvold Drilling Ltd. from 40.1 percent to 99.8
percent
Options exercised to build one new semi-submersible rig at Daewoo and one more jackup at KFELS
Seadrill completed three private placements issuing 134,000,000 shares raising total
proceeds of NOK 9.9 billion
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Minority interests amounted to USD 26.4 million and mainly reflect the 47 percent minority
interests in Smedvig during the period 20 January to 30 March, 2006.

Income taxes are calculated to USD 7.2 million.

Income before income taxes amounted to USD 103.3 million.

Net financial items for the quarter resulted in an income of USD 79.5 million as compared to
a loss of USD 3.9 million in the pro forma fourth quarter. This result reflects a gain of USD
80.0 million from sale of the holdings in Ocean Rig ASA. During the period, interest
expenses increased from USD 8.6 million to USD 12.7 million which represents increased
borrowings but not including capitalized interests.

Operating profit for the first quarter was USD 23.8 million and in line with the pro forma
figures for the fourth quarter. For the mobile units, operating profit increased from USD 5.2
million in the pro forma fourth quarter to USD 10.1 million in the first quarter. The increase
was related to higher utilization for the jack-ups Seadrill 6 and 7 as well as higher average
dayrate from the semi-submersible rig West Alpha as the unit started on a new contract at
higher dayrate at the end of February. For the tender rigs, the operating profit decreased from
USD 11.2 million in the pro forma fourth quarter to USD 9.5 million in the first quarter. The
decrease was mainly a result of reduced performance bonuses. Operating profit from well
services decreased from USD 7.3 million in the pro forma fourth quarter to USD 4.2 in the
first quarter. The reduction was due to a lower overall operating margin.

Condensed consolidated income statements
First quarter results
Consolidated revenues for the first quarter of 2006 amounted to USD 191.6 million as
compared to USD 193.6 million for the pro forma fourth quarter 2005 (see note to the report).
The slight decrease in revenues reflects somewhat lower revenues from the mobile units and
tender rigs.

x

x

x
x

x

Highlights

Seadrill Limited (SDRL) - First Quarter 2006
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On 9 January, Seadrill announced a voluntary offer to acquire all of the outstanding shares in
Smedvig at a price of NOK 205 per class A-share and NOK 165 per class B-share. The

Smedvig asa
On 4 January, Seadrill announced its intention to make a voluntary offer to acquire all of the
outstanding shares in Smedvig asa (Smedvig) at an offer price of NOK 201 per class A-share
and NOK 160 per class B-share, conditional on receiving 33.3 percent pre-acceptance of the
offer. As a consequence of a non-satisfactory acceptance level, Seadrill on 6 January
announced, that this offer would not be made.

On 29 May, Seadrill and Mosvold Management Ltd. came to an agreement regarding the
termination of the management agreement between Mosvold and Mosvold Management Ltd.
and the final success fee paid to Mosvold Management Ltd. with respect to Seadrill’s
acquisition of Mosvold. The parties agreed that the management agreement will be terminated
without any termination cost and that Mosvold Management Ltd. shall repay USD 6.75
million of the initial charged success fees of USD 25.15 million.

Mosvold Drilling Ltd.
On 12 January, Seadrill participated in a private placement in Mosvold Drilling Ltd.
(Mosvold) and was allocated 12,000,000 new shares. Together with shares already owned this
represented 40.1 percent of the outstanding share capital in Mosvold. On 30 January, further
purchases of 14,549,085 shares were completed at NOK 18.25 per share increasing Seadrill’s
ownership in Mosvold to 49.7 percent. Seadrill subsequently launched an offer to acquire the
remaining outstanding shares at the same price. When the offer closed on 17 February
Seadrill’s shareholding represented approximately 93.0 percent of the outstanding share
capital. Seadrill has continued to acquire shares in Mosvold and at the end of the first quarter
the ownership interest had reached 96.9 percent. Following further share purchases in the
second quarter the current holding represent 99.8 percent of the outstanding share capital.

Corporate finance
Ocean Rig ASA
Seadrill sold its 21,414,028 shares in Ocean Rig ASA (Ocean Rig) at NOK 89 per share on 6
January. Simultaneously, the holding of the convertible bond Ocean Rig 04/07, which was
convertible into 552,632 shares in Ocean Rig, was disposed of at the same price. The
transactions generated profits of approximately USD 80 million.

Cash flow
At the end of the first quarter, cash and cash equivalents amounted to USD 479.7 million, an
increase of USD 430.1 million compared to year-end 2005. Net cash provided by the
operating activities amounted to USD 487.2 million. Net investments of USD 3,302.8 million
were mainly related to the acquisition of the assets in Mosvold Drilling Ltd. and Smedvig asa.
Net cash from financing activities was USD 3,245.7 million reflecting the proceeds from
issuance of new equity, the new USD 1.2 billion loan facility as well as the existing debt in
Mosvold Drilling Ltd and Smedvig asa.

The condensed Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with US
GAAP. The condensed Consolidated Financial Statements include the assets and liabilities of
the Company. All material intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in
the consolidation.

Net income for the quarter amounted to USD 69.5 million.

Appendix 4: 1 quarter report for Seadrill for 2006

A 64

Page 3

In the first private placement of 20 January, Seadrill raised NOK 4,950 million through
issuance of 75,000,000 shares at a subscription price of NOK 66 per share. The proceeds were
targeted the financing of the acquisition of the shares in Smedvig through the voluntary offer
and the initial installment in respect of the second semi-submersible rig ordered from
Daewoo. On 21 February, Seadrill completed another private placement issuing 20,000,000
shares at a subscription price of NOK 70.75 per share, raising NOK 1,415 million in order to

Equity offerings and debt financing
The above-referred transactions required Seadrill to raise financing externally as its available
cash and credit lines were insufficient to cover the aggregate amount. As such, the Company
completed three private placements during the period 20 January to 5 April.

Seadrill thereafter organized its ownership of the shares in Smedvig through a Norwegian
sub-holding company and incorporated Smedvig Holding AS (Smedvig Holding) as a wholly
owned subsidiary for this purpose. Smedvig Holding proceeded to acquire all of Seadrill’s
shares in Smedvig including the obligation to acquire the shares tendered under the
mandatory offer. Smedvig Holding proceeded to declare the compulsory acquisition of the
remaining shares in Smedvig on 26 April offering NOK 205 per class A-share and NOK 165
per class B-share as compensation. The compulsory acquisition became effective on 2 May
from which date Smedvig Holding became the sole shareholder of Smedvig. The
compensation offered in exchange for the shares compulsorily acquired totals NOK 114.6
million. Smedvig Holding has deposited this amount in a specified account pending
settlement at the end of the period during which the former shareholders of Smedvig may
dispute the same. This period expires on or around 3 July 2006. On 12 May, Smedvig
changed its name to Seadrill Norge AS. Seadrill Norge AS will be de-listed from the Oslo
Stock Exchange following the expiry of the creditor notice period.

On 6 March, Seadrill announced that it would make a mandatory offer to purchase all of the
remaining shares issued by Smedvig at a price of NOK 205 per class A-share and NOK 165
per class B-share. As a consequence of this offer, Seadrill received acceptances for a total of
25,534,086 class A-shares and 10,190,131 class B-shares. Following the closing of the offer,
Seadrill controlled a total of 53,433,695 class A-shares and 25,698,213 class B-shares,
constituting 99.4 percent of the votes in Smedvig's general meeting and 96.8 percent of
Smedvig's equity capital. Settlement of the purchase of these shares required funds of an
additional NOK 6.9 billion.

Seadrill received acceptances for a total of 24,876,009 class A-shares and 15,417,402 class Bshares through the voluntary offer. Seadrill also acquired a total of 3,023,600 class A-shares
and 90,680 class B-shares in the open market while the voluntary offer was open at NOK 205
and NOK 165 per share, respectively. Subsequent to the closing of the voluntary offer, the
Company controlled a total of 27,899,609 class A-shares and 15,508,082 class B-shares,
constituting 51.9 percent of the votes in Smedvig’s general meeting and 53.1 percent of
Smedvig’s share capital. Settlement of the purchase of these shares required funds of
NOK 8.3 billion.

voluntary offer was conditional on Seadrill acquiring more than 50 percent of all of the
outstanding class A-shares in Smedvig. Seadrill had, at such time, entered into agreements
confirming pre-acceptances of the voluntary offer for a total of 19,260,383 class A-shares and
8,881,969 class B-shares, constituting 35.8 percent of the share capital and 34.4 percent of the
votes in Smedvig.
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MV Crystal Ocean continued its employment for Anzon Australia under a contract that
extends throughout 2007. Crystal Sea was idle in the first quarter, but will commence a fiveyear contract with Discover Enterprise in June.

The ultra-large jack-up West Epsilon continued operations for BP on the Valhall field in the
Norwegian sector of the North Sea under a contract that extends to December 2006. Seadrill 5
has, following the “punch through incident” in India, spent the first quarter at a Singaporean
yard for repairment of the unit’s legs. As the jacking operation of the rig was performed based
on soil information provided by the oil company Gazprom as specified in the contract,
Seadrill is of the opinion that it is entitled to receive a standby rate for the period repairs are
carried out. There are, however, discussions ongoing with Gazprom concerning this issue and
the Company as such has made certain reservation in the accounts for the first quarter. The
repair of Seadrill 5 is expected to be completed mid July and the unit will then commence a
five well plus one well option contract with Premier Indonesia. Seadrill 6 continued its
employment with EMP Kangean in Indonesia. The contract was completed in May 2006 and
the unit is en route to Sakhalin Island to drill a well for Shell. Seadrill 7 completed its
refurbishment in February and subsequently commenced a contract with Tetra Petroleum in
Nigeria. Seadrill 7 has at present a contract portfolio expected to keep the rig employed into
January 2007.

Operations
Mobile units
The fifth-generation semi-submersible rig West Venture continued drilling operations for Norsk
Hydro on the Troll field offshore Norway. In February 2006, the firm contract for West Venture
with Norsk Hydro was extended by one-year from August 2006 to August 2007. The fourthgeneration semi-submersible rig West Alpha continued operations for Statoil in the Norwegian
Sea. In March, the unit commenced a three-year contract with Statoil. The ultra-deepwater
drillship West Navigator worked on the Ormen Lange field offshore Norway for Shell under a
contract expected to extend to the third quarter of 2007. In January, the drillship suffered
some three weeks of downtime due to repair-work on the BOP connector and riser handling
equipment.

Option program
Under the employee share ownership plan, the Board is authorized to grant and allocate up to
five million shares at a subscription price pursuant to the plan. The objective of the employee
share ownership plan is to align the interests of management, the Board and the shareholders
and secure long-term employment and recruitment of key individuals. The Board has
announced allocations of options to subscribe for 1,470,000 shares to its directors and certain
key employees in Seadrill. The Board intends to allocate a further 2,780,000 shares of the
program to cover second and third level managers. The remaining part of the option program
estimated to 750,000 shares will remain unallocated but targeted potential new recruitments.

In addition to the equity offerings, Seadrill completed a USD 1.2 billion loan facility
agreement with Nordea and DnB NOR related to the Smedvig acquisition.

finance its acquisition of the shares in Mosvold. On 2 April, the third private placement of the
year consisted of 39,000,000 shares issued at a subscription price of NOK 90 per share raised
NOK 3,510 million in order to finance the acquisition of the shares in Smedvig acquired
through the mandatory offer.
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PT Apexindo Pratama Duta TBK (33.04 percent ownership interest)
PT Apexindo Pratama Duta Tbk offers onshore and offshore drilling services. The drilling
fleet comprises of four submersible swamp barges, one jack-up rig, one new jack-up rig under
construction, and nine onshore drilling rigs. Apexindo’s swamp barges Maera, Raisis, Raissa

Eastern Drilling ASA (39.75 percent ownership interest)
The Oslo stock exchange listed company Eastern Drilling ASA (Eastern) has one harsh
environment semi-submersible rig under construction at Samsung in Korea. The estimated
capital expenditure for the unit is USD 550 million and delivery is scheduled for the fourth
quarter 2007. Eastern has in addition one option to build a similar unit. In addition to the
ownership interest in Eastern, Seadrill is responsible for marketing and construction
supervision of the unit and has a 10-year management contract for operation of the unit after
delivery. In April, the general meeting in Eastern elected the CEO in Seadrill Management
AS Kjell E. Jacobsen as chairman of the board and Seadrill board member Kate Blankenship
as board member. CFO in Seadrill Management AS Alf C. Thorkildsen is also member of the
Eastern board.

Operations associated companies
Varia Perdana Bhd. (49 percent ownership interest)
Varia Perdana owns five self-erecting tender rigs and has one unit under construction. The
five tender rigs were all in operation during the quarter. The tender barge T3 worked for PTT
in Thailand whereas in Malaysia T6 and Teknik Berkat worked for Carigali and T9 worked
for Exxon. In May, T6 was awarded a letter of intent for a three-year contract with CTOC in
Thailand at a dayrate of USD 86,000. In January 2006, Varia Perdana ordered a new tender
rig from the Malaysian yard Malaysia Marine & Heavy Engineering Sdn. Bnd. scheduled for
delivery at the end of the second quarter 2007. Estimated capital expenditure for the unit,
which is an enhanced version of the tender barge T9 delivered in 2004, totals USD 89 million.
There has already been agreed a three-year contract for T9 with Carigali Triton in Malaysia
with commencement subsequent to delivery from the yard.

Well services
On the Norwegian continental shelf, Seadrill performed operations for Statoil on the Statfjord
A, B and C platforms, the Veslefrikk field as well as the Gullfaks A, B and C platforms. In
addition, the Company carried out drilling operations and maintenance work for BP on the
Ula and Valhall platforms and for Talisman Energy on the Gyda field. On the U.K.
Continental Shelf, Seadrill performed drilling and maintenance activities for Shell on several
platforms including among others Brent D, Cormorant Alpha and Nelson. For the wireline
operations in Norway and Denmark, the activity level remained solid.

Tender rigs
All of Seadrill’s self-erecting tender rigs was in operation during the quarter. In Thailand, T4
and T7 continued their work for Chevron. In Malaysia, the semi-tender West Pelaut continued
drilling operations for Shell, while the semi-tenders West Alliance and West Setia worked for
Shell in Brunei. In West Africa, the barge T8 and the semi-tender West Menang continued
operations for Total in Congo. In addition, the Company has one semi-tender named West
Berani under construction in Singapore together with KFELS. The new unit is expected to be
delivered from the yard in the fourth quarter this year. Initial ownership for Seadrill is 30
percent, but the Company has a 10-year option to acquire the remaining 70 percent at an
agreed price.

1Q 2008
4Q 2008
1Q 2008
3Q 2008

2Q 2008
4Q 2008

Semi-submersibles
Jurong 1085
Jurong 1086
Daewoo 3019
Daewoo 3020
Drillships
MOSD Hull 1657
MOSD Hull 1687

USD 470M
USD 470M

USD 395M
USD 409M
USD 506M
USD 496M

USD 129M
USD 129M
USD 112M
USD 123M
USD 132M

Total
contract price*

USD 85.5M
USD 85.6M

USD 59.6M
USD 60.0M
USD 78.2M
USD 74.3M

USD 51.3M
USD 19.3M
USD 22.8M
USD 27.0M
USD 13.2M

Installments paid
as of 1Q 2006
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As of 31 March 2005, USD 576.8 million had been paid on the newbuildings as compared to
USD 441.1 million at the end of the fourth quarter 2005. The remaining installments to be

* Including change of order, but excluding spars, accrued interest expenses, construction supervision and
operation preparation and mobilization

3Q 2007
4Q 2007
2Q 2006
3Q 2007
2Q 2008

Delivery
date

Jack-ups
SeaDrill 1 (Keppel B277)
SeaDrill 2 (PPL 2011)
SeaDrill 3 (Keppel B265)
SeaDrill 4 (Keppel B272)
SeaDrill 8 (Keppel B291)

Rig

The Company is in addition part of an agreement with Jurong pursuant to which Seadrill has
an option to order another semi-submersible unit with similar design as the two units currently
under construction at Jurong. The Company had also an option to build a third harsh
environment semi-submersible rig at Daewoo and an option to build a third drillship at
Samsung. The Company has decided not to exercise these options, but do maintain a close
dialogue with the respective yards concerning further newbuilds.

In early May, the Company took delivery of the jack-up Seadrill 3 from Keppel reducing the
number of jack-ups under construction to four units. Seadrill 3 has commenced a two-year
contract with Total and is currently on a standby dayrate awaiting a dry tow to Nigeria.

The estimated capital expenditure for the second semi-submersible rig at Daewoo is USD 496
million and scheduled delivery is in the third quarter of 2008. The estimated capital
expenditure for the fourth jack-up from Keppel is USD 131 million with delivery scheduled
for the second quarter of 2008.

Newbuild program
During the quarter, Seadrill exercised one option to build a second harsh environment semisubmersible rig at the Daewoo Shipyard in Korea and one option to build a jack-up at Keppel
in Singapore. As such, Seadrill at the end of the first quarter had five jack-ups, four semisubmersible rigs and two ultra deepwater drillships under construction.

and Yani continued operation under long-term contracts with Total E&P Indonesia, while the
jack-up Rani Woro was working in the Middle East.
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Commodity Jack-ups (<= 300 ft water)
The market development for commodity jack-ups continues to track the market development
for premium jack-ups at a discount only reflecting the rig specification and geographic
market. The Company considers itself well positioned to benefit from further improvements
in the market for Seadrill 5 and Seadrill 7.

Premium Jack-ups (incl. newbuilds and >300 ft water)
Dayrate fixtures in the market for premium jack-ups have now reached USD 200,000 for
work commencing in late 2006. The majority of the jack-ups under construction is scheduled
for delivery in 2007. Consequently, some market participants are still uncertain of the markets
ability to absorb the significant influx of newbuildings without downward pressure on
dayrates. The Company, however, is confident that growing demand from India, Middle East
and West Africa will absorb the supply of newbuilds. When it comes to the market for harsh
environment heavy-duty jack-ups like the West Epsilon, the North Sea demand remains
strong and dayrates on recent fixtures have reached USD 300,000.

Deepwater Floaters (>5000 ft water)
A number of commitments by oil companies to upgrade second and third generation semisubmersibles for deepwater service will increase supply in the long term, but will only have
minor effect on the prevailing dayrates. Offshore drillers have taken advantage of the strong
demand for rig capacity and increased both dayrates and contract term. The deepwater rig
supply is for all practical purposes sold out for 2006 and the market is tight for 2007 as well.
Several of the large oil companies are now planning tenders for three to six year contracts
with start-up in 2008 and 2009. Another feature of the deepwater market is the fact that the
deepwater production development makes an increasing part of the deepwater fleet tide up in
development drilling and available capacity for exploration work is therefore expected to be
reduced significantly. As a result of a tight market dayrates, in some instances, have exceeded
the USD 500,000 dayrate mark.

The Market
The rig market has continued to show strength across all categories and classes of mobile
offshore drilling units in 2006. This trend is anticipated to continue over the next years
assuming no fundamental change to the price of oil. The supply-demand equation is tight and
oil companies’ demand for rigs remains robust as the number of cold stacked rigs and those
engaged in alternative work (i.e. accommodation units, production duties, etc) continue to
decline. The geographical location of rigs is now becoming less important as pricing patterns
begin to reflect a truly global market.

Contract and dayrates
For additional information regarding the fleet status, including dayrates and contracts, see the
fleet status on the Company’s web site www.seadrill.bm.

paid on newbuildings amount to approximately USD 2.8 billion. Of the remaining
installments, USD 267.8 million was paid in April and May 2006 with USD 347.2 million
payable in the remaining period of 2006. The Board is confident that the necessary external
financing will be achieved through a combination of cash flow from existing units, bank
financing, lease financing and loan from other sources.
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Forward Statement
This press release contains forward-looking statements. These statements are based on various
assumptions, many of which are based, in turn, upon further assumptions, including Seadrill
management’s examination of historical operating trends.

Finally, the investment in Apexindo has developed in a positive way. When it comes to the
future development of Apexindo, Seadrill maintains a close dialog with Apexindo’s largest
shareholder, Medco.

The Board is of the opinion that the current market conditions remain strong and provide for
good opportunities to enter into term contracts at attractive dayrates. The expectations are that
the management will be able to secure several long-term contracts in all segments including
two deepwater contracts. The Board is as such comfortable with the Company’s current
contract exposure to the offshore drilling market and is optimistic regarding the future
earnings potential for the Company’s assets.

The Board recognizes the importance of careful integration of the acquired companies. As
such, management focus has been on combining the workforce of Smedvig and Seadrill in
order to create a new strong organization. In that process, emphasis has been on making sure
that the project supervision team for the advanced deepwater units has the necessary
experience, skills and means available to assure that the deepwater newbuilds are delivered
according to schedule and contract. The next step is to fortify the marketing efforts of the
deepwater assets by utilizing the marketing experience and knowledge of the former Smedvig
organization to secure long-term employment. The Company has also initiated selective
recruiting of key personnel for the new units as they come into operations in the years to
come.

In order to reach that goal the friendly takeover of Smedvig was an important step in the right
direction. Not only did the acquisition increase Seadrill’s active rig fleet considerably but it
also provided the Company with access to seasoned operational experience in key offshore
drilling markets. The offshore drilling activity of Smedvig further broadens the geographical
presence of Seadrill in Southeast Asia, West Africa and the North Sea. In addition, the
workforce grew by more than 4,300 new employees to approximately 4,800 in a period when
human resources in the offshore drilling business are scarce. As the former Seadrill offered
leverage to a significant newbuild program, the Board is of the opinion that the new combined
company is more diverse and forms a more balanced portfolio of high quality assets already
in operations coupled with a newbuilding program targeting growth areas in both shallow and
deep waters.

Outlook
The Board of Seadrill has an ambition to be a consolidator in the offshore rig industry with
the objective of creating a world leading offshore drilling company.

The market development for tender rigs is sound. The increased dayrate level for jack-ups has
improved the dayrates for tender rigs as well. In addition, oil companies have increasingly
expressed an interest for entering into longer-term contracts well in advance of
commencement. The Company expects the favorable market environment to continue going
forward and provide for opportunities for additional tender rig newbuilds.
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Questions should be directed to Seadrill Management AS represented by:
Kjell E Jacobsen:
Chief Executive Officer
Alf C Thorkildsen: Chief Financial Officer
Jim Daatland:
Investor Relation Manager

31 May 2006
The Board of Directors
Seadrill Limited
Hamilton, Bermuda

Including among the factors that, in the Company’s view, could cause actual results to differ
materially from the forward looking statements contained in this press release are the
following: the competitive nature of the offshore drilling industry, oil and gas prices,
technological developments, government regulations, changes in economical conditions or
political events, inability of the Company to obtain financing for the newbuildings on
favorable terms, changes of the spending plan of our customers, changes in the Company’s
operating expenses including crew wages, insurance, dry-docking, repairs and maintenance,
failure of shipyards to comply with delivery schedules on a timely bases and other important
factors mentioned from time to time in our reports filed with Oslo Stock Exchange.

(0.02)

Diluted earnings per share (in USD)

(3.8)
(0.02)

Net income
Earnings per share (in USD)

(1.6)
(0.0)

Income taxes
Minority interest
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(2.2)

Income before income taxes and minority interest

(10.0)

Operating income
0.6
(0.3)
2.7
4.8
7.8

19.1
1.2
4.9
7.7
32.9

Operating expenses
Vessel and rig operating expenses
Reimbursable expenses
General and adminstrative expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Total operating expenses

Interest income
Interest expense
Share of results from associated companies
Other financial items
Net financial items

21.7
1.2
22.9

4Q05

Operating Revenues
Operating revenues
Reimbursables
Other revenues
Total revenues

Unaudited accounts in USD millions

Condensed Consolidated Income Statements

0.24

0.24

69.5

(7.2)
(26.4)

103.3

-

-

-

-

-

-

3.3
(12.7)
5.3
83.6
79.5

-

-

1Q05

23.8

107.7
14.8
13.1
32.2
167.8

160.8
15.7
15.1
191.6

1Q06

(0.04)

(0.04)

(7.6)

(1.6)
(0.1)

(5.9)

1.7
(0.9)
2.7
6.0
9.5

(15.4)

23.3
1.7
5.8
12.9
43.7

26.6
1.7
28.3

2005
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-

4Q05
-

Vessel and rig operating expenses
Reimbursable expenses
General and adminstrative expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Total operating expenses

Operating revenues
Reimbursables
Total revenues

Unaudited accounts in USD millions

4.2

46.3
8.3
3.6
1.2
59.4

1Q06
55.0
8.6
63.6

-

-

-

-

2005
-

-

-

2005
-

(15.4)

23.3
1.7
5.8
12.9
43.7

2005
26.6
1.7
28.3

-

1Q05
-

-

9.5

-

Operating profit

-

15.6
1.2
0.9
7.4
25.0

-

1Q05
-

1Q06
31.1
1.2
2.2
34.5

4Q05
-

Vessel and rig operating expenses
Reimbursable expenses
General and adminstrative expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Total operating expenses

Operating revenues
Reimbursables
Other revenues
Total revenues

Tender Rigs

Unaudited accounts in USD millions

-

10.1

(10.0)

Operating profit

1Q05
-

1Q06
74.7
5.8
12.9
93.4

45.8
5.2
8.7
23.6
83.3

19.1
1.2
4.9
7.7
32.9

4Q05
21.7
1.2
22.9

Vessel and rig operating expenses
Reimbursable expenses
General and adminstrative expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Total operating expenses

Operating revenues
Reimbursables
Other revenues
Total revenues

Unaudited accounts in USD millions

Mobile Units

Condensed Consolidated Segment Information
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1,653.4
192.3
1,845.7
5,331.6

Total shareholders' equity and liabilities

1,149.0

725.3
74.9
800.2

1.4

13.7

Shareholders' equity
Paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Total shareholders' equity

Minority interest

176.8
176.8

215.1
2,239.4
223.7
2,678.2

Non-current liabilities
Deferred taxes
Long-term interest bearing debt
Other non-current liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

137.4
33.2
170.6

1,149.0

481.6
312.4
794.0

5,331.6

Total assets

152.8
2.8
439.3
178.2
773.1

49.6
24.0
302.3
375.9

31.12.05

Current liabilities
Short-term interest bearing debt
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities

353.5
44.0
918.4
2,151.5
1,185.9
4,653.3

479.7
198.6
678.3

31.03.06

Non-current assets
Investment in associated companies
Other non-current assets
Newbuildings
Drilling units
Goodwill
Total non-current assets

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Other investments
Total current assets

Unaudited accounts in USD millions

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
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Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

479.7

49.6

430.1

2,286.4
928.0
31.3
3,245.7

Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from debt
Repayment of debt
Proceeds from issuance of equity
Treasury shares
Net cash from financing activities

-

-

-

-

-

-

32.2
(80.0)
465.5
487.2

(1,185.9)
(2,405.4)
(195.4)
387.5
96.4
(3,302.8)

-

1Q05

69.5

1Q06

Cash flow from investing activities
Acquisition of goodwill
Acquisition of fixed assets
Purchase of associated companies
Disposal of other investments
Cash flow from other investments
Net cash from investing activities

Cash flow from operating activities
Net income
Adjustement to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Gains on disposals of other investments
Change in working capital
Net cash from operating activities

Unaudited accounts in USD millions

Condensed Consolidated Cash Flow Statements

49.6

0.0

49.6

294.4

255.6
(169.1)
207.9

(19.1)
(268.8)
(31.4)
48.7
14.6
(256.0)

12.9
(0.8)
6.7
11.2

(7.6)

2005

Balance at 31 March, 2006

Issue of ordinary shares, net
Net income for the period
Share-based payments
Sale of treasury shares
Other
1,005.1

738.0
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648.3

190.0

(7.6)
(7.6)

267.1

82.4

82.4

109.9

69.6
(20.7)
31.4
37.2

16.2

(16.2)

458.3

82.4

0.0

1,845.7

928.0
69.6
(20.7)
31.4
37.2

800.2

(16.2)
899.1
(157.5)
82.4
(7.6)

Total
Accum. shareholders'
earnings
equity

Balance at 31 December, 2005

0.0
440.8
(173.7)

Accum.
other
comprehensive
income

0.0
458.3

Share
premium
reserve

Balance at 10 May, 2005
Issue of ordinary shares, net
Effect of aquisition from shareholder
Other comprehensive income
Net loss for the period

Unaudited accounts in USD millions

Issued
share
capital

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

A 70

982.3
20.0
14.9
125.2
(152.6)
(298.9)
1,123.9
1,179.6
2,303.5

Smedvig
433.0

109.8
336.0
16.8
352.8

Mosvold
226.2

982.3
129.8
14.9
125.2
(152.6)
(298.9)
1,459.9
1,196.4
2,656.3

Total
659.2
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The table above reflects the purchase of 100 percent of the Smedvig shares and 99.8 percent
of the Mosvold shares in accordance with the ownership as of May 31, 2006. The purchase
price allocation and the financing have the following effects on the pro forma fourth quarter
2005 and actual first quarter 2006 numbers.

Goodwill
Purchase price

Fair value adjustments
Rigs, vessels and equipment
Newbuildings and rig purchase option
Well services tangible assets
Associated companies
Deferred tax
Unfavourable contract values

Book value of net assets

Numbers in million USD

Based on the preliminary analysis of the purchase price allocation, the preliminary estimate of
the fair value of the acquired assets is as follows:

The acquired assets will be fair valued to take into account the current market valuations of
Mosvold and Smedvig’s drilling units and newbuilding contracts, the value of Smedvig’s well
services tangible assets, associated companies, deferred tax adjustments and unfavourable
contract values for mobile units and tender rigs. The purchase price paid in excess of the fair
value of the net identifiable assets acquired will be allocated as goodwill.

In the period January 20, 2006 to March 31, 2006 the Company held an ownership share of
53.3 percent in Smedvig. As of March 31, 2006 the ownership share has increased to 96.3
percent. In the period January 1, 2006 to February 14, 2006 Mosvold has been accounted for
as an associated company reflecting an ownership share between 40.1 and 49.9 percent. From
February 15, 2006, Mosvold is consolidated as the Company owned more than 50 percent of
the outstanding shares. As of March 31, 2006 the Company owned 96.7 percent of the shares
in Mosvold. Preliminary purchase price allocations have been included in the actual for first
quarter, however the final purchase price allocation will be completed by year-end.

Purchase price allocation
Seadrill has at May 31, 2006 paid a consideration equivalent to USD 2,303.4 million and
USD 352.8 million for the acquisitions of 100 percent and 99.8 percent of Mosvold Drilling,
respectively.

Note to the quarterly report
Pro forma condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
The US GAAP pro forma figures shown below are a set of financial figures prepared in order
to provide comparable quarterly figures for Seadrill, inclusive Mosvold and Smedvig. The pro
forma statements include figures of Mosvold and Smedvig as if the acquisitions were made at
the same time in the previous quarter as the actual acquisition in the first quarter.
Amortization of excess values identified in the preliminary purchase price allocation has been
included in the fourth quarter 2005 pro forma income statement.
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A) Unfavourable contract values which represent the net present value of the existing
contracts compared to the current market rates have been discounted at the weighted
average cost of capital. The estimated unfavourable value will be amortized over the
remaining contract periods resulting in USD 15.1 million being recognised both in the pro
forma fourth quarter 2005 and the actual first quarter 2006 numbers.
B) Additional depreciation has been recognized in the accounts for the pro forma fourth
quarter 2005 and first quarter 2006 by way of fair value adjustment to the value of the rigs
and well services tangible assets of USD 10.0 million.
C) In first quarter 2006 the Company has capitalized interest of USD 6.8 million due to the
newbuilding program.
D) The results from associated companies have been reduced by USD 0.7 million in the pro
forma fourth quarter 2005 and first quarter 2006 to reflect the additional depreciation
charge resulting from the fair value adjustment of rigs owned by Smedvig associated
companies.
E) The income taxes have been adjusted both in the pro forma fourth quarter 2005 and the
first quarter 2006 reflecting the effect of unfavourable contracts and increased
depreciation. The effect is calculated to an expense of USD 1.4 million.
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2.4
(8.6)
4.0
(1.8)
(3.9)
19.8
54.2
(32.8)
41.2

Interest income
Interest expense
Share of results from associated companies
Other financial items
Net financial items

Income before income taxes and minority interest

Income taxes
Minority interest

Net income
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23.7

112.9
12.8
12.1
32.1
169.9

Operating expenses
Vessel and rig operating expenses
Reimbursable expenses
General and adminstrative expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Total operating expenses

Operating income

165.0
13.5
15.1
193.6

Pro forma
4Q05

Operating Revenues
Operating revenues
Reimbursables
Other revenues
Total revenues

Unaudited accounts in USD millions

Condensed Pro forma Consolidated Income Statements

69.5

(7.2)
(26.4)

103.3

3.3
(12.7)
5.3
83.6
79.5

23.8

107.7
14.8
13.1
32.2
167.8

160.8
15.7
15.1
191.6

Actual
1Q06

Operating profit

Vessel and rig operating expenses
Reimbursable expenses
General and adminstrative expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Total operating expenses

Operating revenues
Reimbursables
Total revenues

Unaudited accounts in USD millions

Well Services

Operating profit

Vessel and rig operating expenses
Reimbursable expenses
General and adminstrative expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Total operating expenses

Operating revenues
Reimbursables
Other revenues
Total revenues

Unaudited accounts in USD millions

Tender Rigs

Operating profit

Vessel and rig operating expenses
Reimbursable expenses
General and adminstrative expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Total operating expenses

Operating revenues
Reimbursables
Other revenues
Total revenues

Unaudited accounts in USD millions

Mobile Units
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7.3

4.2

46.3
8.3
3.6
1.2
59.4

Actual
1Q06
55.0
8.6
63.6
Pro Forma
4Q05
54.2
7.0
61.2
42.7
6.8
2.9
1.5
53.9

9.5

15.6
1.2
0.9
7.4
25.0

Actual
1Q06
31.1
1.2
2.2
34.5

10.1

45.8
5.2
8.7
23.6
83.3

Actual
1Q06
74.7
5.8
12.9
93.4

11.2

16.0
1.2
1.6
7.6
26.4

Pro Forma
4Q05
34.2
1.2
2.2
37.6

5.2

54.1
4.8
7.7
22.9
89.5

Pro Forma
4Q05
76.5
5.3
12.9
94.7

Condensed Consolidated Segment Information

Appendix 5: Report on review of pro forma financial information
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Balance Sheet
At year-end 2005, the Company’s total assets amounted to
NOK 10,846 million. The mobile units, tender rigs and well
services accounted for 66, 29 and 5 percent of the total
assets, respectively. Over the year, shareholders’ equity
increased by NOK 375 million to NOK 3,440 million. The equity
ratio (equity/total assets) however was reduced to 32 percent
from 38 percent in 2004. Long-term interest bearing debt

Cash Flow
In 2005, cash and cash equivalents was reduced by NOK 44
million from NOK 746 million to NOK 702 million. Net cash
provided by operating activities for the same period amounted
to NOK 1,076 million while net investments totaled NOK 1,990
million. Net investments were mainly related to the acquisition
of the remaining ownership interest in West Alpha and the new
semi-tender rig West Setia that was delivered in August 2005.
Net cash provided by financing activities was NOK 834 million.

Income Statement
For 2005, consolidated revenues totaled NOK 4,274 million,
an increase of NOK 1,178 million from 2004. Operating profit
was NOK 1,272 million up from NOK 624 million in 2004.
The improvement in operating profit of NOK 648 million was
mainly due to higher utilization of the tender rigs, strong
increases in activity for well services and improved
contribution from the mobile units including a partial reversal
of a previous write down of the drillship West Navigator.
Net financial items provided an expense of NOK 269
million as compared to NOK 90 million in 2004. The increase
was related to higher interest expenses and losses on the
Company’s forward exchange contracts.
Income taxes amounted to NOK 639 million in 2005 as
compared to NOK 164 million in 2004. The increase was
related to the effect of being excluded from the Norwegian
tonnage tax system.
Consolidated net income was NOK 364 million as
compared to NOK 370 million in 2004.

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
Smedvig has for 2005 prepared its financial consolidated
accounts in accordance IFRS as adopted by the EU as
opposed to previous accounts that were prepared in
accordance with Norwegian Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (N GAAP). The Company has produced comparative
figures for 2004 based on IFRS.

F I N A N C I A L STAT E M E N T S

Smedvig asa is an offshore drilling contractor headquartered
in Stavanger, Norway. The Company offers drilling and well
services within three main markets: mobile units, tender
rigs and well services. The Company has approximately
4,100 employees and is represented in nine countries on
three different continents. Smedvig has more than 30 years
experience from operations in harsh environment in Europe’s
northern offshore areas and from operations of tender rigs
in Southeast Asia.

INTRODUCTION

05

2

NOK 61.633.195
NOK 6.916.233
NOK 68.549.428

Mobile Units
The economic utilization for the mobile units averaged
96 percent as compared to 89 percent for 2004. Operating
profit was NOK 732 million, up from NOK 291 million in the
preceding year. The increase in operating profit was due to a
higher average dayrate combined with a partial reversal of
NOK 594 million of the previous write-down of the book value
for the drillship West Navigator. In 2004, the partial reversal of
the previous write-down of West Navigator was NOK 209 million.
The 5th generation semi-submersible rig West Venture
continued the drilling of production wells for Norsk Hydro on
the Troll field offshore of Norway. In March 2005, the unit
undertook a mandatory five-year classification survey. West
Venture has a firm contract with Norsk Hydro that extends to
August 2007. In addition, Norsk Hydro has four one-year
options to extend the contract at predetermined rates.
The 4th generation semi-submersible rig West Alpha
worked for Statoil on the Kristin field in the Norwegian Sea
in 2005. On July 1, 2005, Smedvig acquired the remaining
50 percent ownership interest in West Alpha, increasing the

BUSINESS UNITS

Pursuant to the requirements of paragraph 3.3a of the
Norwegian Accounting Act of 1998, the Board of Directors
states that the accounts are prepared on a going concern
basis. This statement is based on the fact that the Company
is in a healthy financial situation, has a satisfactory equity
ratio, an adequate cash position and sound cash flows from
a balanced contract portfolio.

AS S U M P T I O N

STAT E M E N T R E G A R D I N G T H E G O I N G C O N C E R N

Distributable equity in the Parent Company amounts to
NOK 414 million.

Other equity
Reserve for valuation variances
Total

The Parent Company had net income of NOK 68,549,428
in 2005. Net income for the year is proposed distributed
as follows:

D I ST R I B U T I O N O F E A R N I N G S F O R T H E PA R E N T C O M PA N Y

increased from NOK 3,817 million in 2004 to NOK 5,057
million in 2005. The increased debt was mainly related to the
acquisition of the remaining part of the semi-submersible rig
West Alpha and the investments in new tender rigs. In
addition to the long-term debt, the Company had short-term
debt of NOK 1,470 million at year-end. By comparison, the
short-term debt was NOK 968 million in 2004. The Company’s
debt is divided on US$ 579 million drawn under the credit
facility with a limit of US$ 783 million plus US$ 25 million in
debt related to the Company’s ownership interest in the
Malaysian company Crest Tender Rigs as well as NOK 1,258
million in bonds and NOK 300 million in outstanding commercial paper in the Norwegian market. The net interest bearing
debt amounted to NOK 4,890 million.

Appendix 6: Annual report for Smedvig ASA for 2005

A 74

Tender Rigs
The economic utilization rate for the tender rigs averaged
95 percent as compared to 90 percent in 2004. Operating
profit was NOK 333 million up from NOK 245 million in the
preceding year. The increase in operating profit was related
to higher average dayrates and delivery of a new semi-tender
in the third quarter of 2005.
In Thailand, the tender barge T-3 performed operations
for Unocal and PTT while T-4 and T-7 continued their work
for Chevron. In Malaysia, T-6 and Teknik Berkat worked for
Petronas Carigali and T-9 performed drilling operations for
ExxonMobil. T-6 and Teknik Berkat also undertook and
completed yard-stays for five-year periodical surveys during
the year. West Alliance and West Pelaut continued their work
for Shell in Malaysia and Brunei, respectively. In West Africa,
the barge T-8 and the semi-tender West Menang worked for
Total in Congo. In August, the new semi-tender West Setia
was delivered from the yard Keppel FELS and subsequently
commenced operations for Shell in Brunei.
Furthermore, Smedvig has two new tender rigs under
construction. The semi-tender West Berani is being built by
Keppel FELS in Singapore while the barge tender T-10 is being
built in Malaysia at the Malaysian Marine & Heavy Engineering
Sdn Bnd. Total capital expenditures for the new semi-tender
West Berani is estimated at US$ 105 million. The agreement
with Keppel FELS is based on the principle that Keppel FELS
shall build and own the semi-submersible hull, and Smedvig
shall own the derrick equipment set and over a period of

ownership share to 100 percent. The purchase price was US$
79 million. The unit has a firm contract with Statoil that
extends to February 2009.
The ultra-large jack-up rig West Epsilon continued drilling
operations for BP on the Valhall field. The current firm contract
is expected to keep the unit employed to October 2006.
In addition, BP has options for a further 9 wells. The last
eight options are based on market dayrates.
In the period January to September, the ultra-deepwater
drillship West Navigator drilled wells offshore Mauritania for
Woodside. In October, the drillship was relocated to Norway
to commence an eight well contract with Shell expected
to keep the unit employed until the fourth quarter 2007.
In addition, Shell has options to extend the contract by an
estimated further 12 months at predetermined dayrates.
In June, Smedvig acquired a 25 percent ownership interest
in the Oslo Stock Exchange listed company Eastern Drilling
ASA (‘Eastern’) corresponding to an investment of approximately US$ 50 million. Smedvig simultaneously agreed to be
responsible for the construction supervision and management
of a new sixth-generation semi-submersible unit. The new
unit is under construction in South Korea at Samsung Heavy
Industries. The estimated total investment for the unit is US$
550 million with delivery scheduled in the fourth quarter of
2007. In September, Smedvig increased the ownership interest
in Eastern from 25 percent to 39.75 percent. The increased
ownership interest corresponded to a further investment in
Eastern of US$ 43 million. In addition, Eastern has an option
to build a similar unit at predetermined terms and conditions.
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The Company’s operating profit depends primarily on
the conditions prevailing in the oil and gas industry, and in
particular, the oil companies’ demand for exploration and
production drilling services. It is also influenced by the drilling
capacity supplied by other independent drilling contractors.
The oil companies’ demand for drilling services varies with
their cash flows, expectations of future oil and gas prices and
viable prospects. Demand for drilling capacity has historically
been volatile with large fluctuations in dayrates as a
consequence. Over shorter periods of time, the development
of dayrates may vary from one geographical region to another
due to differences in local demand and supply for drilling
capacity. The Company seeks to mitigate these risks by
entering into long-term contracts when dayrates are at
attractive levels. The Company’s operations are subject to
hazards inherent in the drilling of offshore oil and gas wells.
Moreover, operations may be suspended because of
equipment breakdowns, abnormal drilling conditions and
failure by subcontractors to supply goods or perform services.
The drilling contracts include clauses that give the customer
the right to terminate the contracts under certain
circumstances. Such early termination may significantly
impact the Company’s earnings and financial position.
However, the contracts usually contain clauses that provide
Smedvig with some financial compensation in the event of
early termination not attributable to circumstances caused
by the Company.

O P E R AT I O N A L R I S K

Well Services
Operating profit for the business unit amounted to NOK 151
million up from NOK 88 million in 2004. The improved result
was due to a strong increase in activity both in Norway and
in the UK.
In Norway, Smedvig performed drilling operations,
maintenance and engineering work for Statoil on the Gullfaks,
Statfjord and Veslefrikk fields. Smedvig also carried out
platform drilling operations for BP on the Ula and Valhall fields
and for Talisman Energy on the Gyda field. In the UK, Smedvig
performed drilling operations, maintenance and engineering
work for Shell on numerous platforms. Wireline services in
Norway were performed for ConocoPhillips, Norsk Hydro,
Pertra, Schlumberger, Shell and Statoil. Over the course of
the year the wireline operations were expanded to include
operations for Maersk in Denmark.

ten years be responsible for marketing, management and
operation of the unit. In addition, the agreement includes an
option for Smedvig to purchase the semi-submersible hull
during the ten-year period at a pre-agreed price. The initial
share for Smedvig is approximately US$ 33 million. The new
semi-tender is scheduled for delivery in the fourth quarter
of 2006. For T-10, the capital expenditure is estimated to
approximately US$ 89 million. Delivery of the new barge
unit is scheduled for the end of the second quarter 2007.
Smedvig’s ownership share is 49 percent through the
Malaysian Company Varia Perdana.

3

4

Goals and measures
The objective is to increase the overall female proportion
particularly for managerial and senior positions on land.
The Company has adopted various measures in order to
equally promote and retain both genders. Such measures

Performance
The offshore drilling industry has traditionally been male
dominated due to its maritime nature and heavy physical
scope of work. In Smedvig, 87 percent of the workforce is
employed offshore and 13 percent on land. At year-end, five
percent of the overall workforce was female consisting of
1.3% percent of the offshore workforce and 27 percent of
the land based workforce. Women occupied eight percent of
corporate management positions and 19 percent of middle
management positions. In 2005, the female percentage of the
new hiring was 1 percent with the respective numbers for
land and offshore operations being 9 percent and 0 percent.

Gender diversity
The ambition is to have a diverse workforce in terms of age,
gender and nationality in order to create a workplace where
employees have the opportunity to apply their talents and
develop skills consistent with the Company’s core values.
Smedvig performed operations in ten countries in 2005.
The number of employees was 4,100 comprising some 20
different nationalities and about 70 occupational disciplines.

One of the objectives of the Company is to develop an
efficient quality organization that emphasizes safety and
accident prevention with the aim to have zero accidents,
injuries or losses. For 2005, the number of lost time accidents
(LTA) for the Company totaled 1.5 per million man-hours as
compared to 1.8 million in the previous year. For the
Norwegian operations, average absenteeism due to illness
increased from 4.3 percent in 2004 to 4.8 percent in 2005.
For the Southeast Asia operations, absenteeism remained less
than 0.5 percent. Smedvig is working diligently to reduce
absenteeism and to further improve the work environment.
The Company considers the working environment for its
employees as good.

WO R K E N V I R O N M E N T

Smedvig generates most of its revenues in U.S. dollars and
the Company’s assets are mainly valued in US dollars. To limit
the currency risk, assets are mostly financed in US dollar
denominated debt. The operations normally generate a surplus
of US dollars, and the Company therefore depends on selling
dollars to cover expenses in Norwegian kroner and other
currencies. In order to hedge its currency commitments,
the Company applies financial instruments. At year-end,
the long-term interest bearing debt totaled US$ 748 million
corresponding to NOK 5,057 million. The Company’s interest
payment obligations under the loan agreements are mainly
based on floating rates. In order to mitigate the interest
rate exposure, the Company has entered into fixed-rate
agreements for a small portion of its debt.

FINANCIAL RISK

In December 2005, the US-based drilling company Noble
Corporation purchased 39.2 percent of Smedvig’s Class A
shares (voting shares) and 8.9 percent of the Class B Shares
(non-voting shares) from the Smedvig family. On January 23,
2006, the Oslo Stock Exchange listed offshore drilling contractor SeaDrill Limited reported that it had acquired 51.2 percent
of the Class A shares and 55.1 percent of the Class B shares
following a voluntary offer. On March 6, 2006, SeaDrill distributed a mandatory offer to Smedvig shareholders with an offer
price of NOK 205 per Class A share and NOK 165 per Class B
share. The mandatory offer closes on March 31, 2006 for all
shareholders except for shareholders resident in the USA and
Canada, Japan and Australia. For shareholders resident in the
USA, the offer period closes on April 3, 2006. SeaDrill currently
controls 51.9 percent of the Class A shares and 55.4 percent of
the Class B shares totaling 53.1 percent of the total share capital.

S H A R E H O L D E R ST R U C T U R E

The exploration and production drilling operations involve
emission of exhaust gases to air, as well as discharge of
chemicals to sea. These emissions and discharges are within
the limits specified by relevant authorities, customers and the
Company’s own policy. They are included in the oil companies’
reports on emissions. Operations involve risk of accidental
discharges that might result in damage to the environment.
The Company is working actively to achieve its goal of
preventing all such accidental discharges. The objective
is to be the best in the industry in terms of preventing
environmental damage. This is being achieved through
systematic registration of emissions and discharges, and
preemptive action in selecting chemicals that cause minimum
harm to the environment. The Company has implemented
measures to ensure that operations are in compliance with
internal requirements, external requirements and expectations
of governmental authorities, customers and partners.
Emergency plans are in place to limit the damage to the
environment in the event of an accidental spill.
In 2005, the number of minor accidental spills from the
Company’s Norwegian based operations on fixed and mobile
units was 9 compared to 12 in 2004. Of these, six spills were
of less than 300 liters of fluid. Two spills of 10 and 26 cubic
meters were in the water based mud category allowed in the
discharge permits. However, one spill last year included 15
cubic meters of oil based mud. Total diesel consumption for
the mobile units in 2005 was 33,500 tonnes (36,000 tonnes in
2004) leading to 107,000 tonnes CO2, 2,300 tonnes NOX,
230 tonnes CO and 170 tonnes nmVOC emissions. All figures
are included in the environmental balance reported by the
relevant operating oil company for each location.

N AT U R A L E N V I R O N M E N T

include flexible working hours and part-time work, relocation
and relief from heavy work commitments during pregnancy,
liberal maternity and paternity leave and child day-care
facilities. Gender awareness is an important element in the
recruitment processes. The policy for gender diversity has
been incorporated in work instructions, personnel policies
and career planning.

A 75

Sign.

Chairman

Sign.

Kate Blankenship

John Fredriksen

Sign.

Siri B Hatlen
Sign.

Per Kumle
Sign.

Tor Olav Trøim
Sign.

CEO
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market until later this year for shallow water units and not
before 2008 for deepwater units. The Board is of the opinion
that the demand for the Company’s services in its primary
markets is expected to continue to be strong over the next
years. Smedvig has currently all units on contract with a
backlog of drilling contracts currently averaging 21 months for
the mobile units, 39 months for the tender rigs, as well as a
satisfactory portfolio of well service contracts. The current
contract coverage is believed to strengthen the Company’s
financial position and create a basis for increased activity and
enhanced performance. The Board of Directors considers
the financial position of the Company to be sound with a
promising market outlook for the Company’s services.

Stavanger/Oslo, March 30, 2006
The Board of Directors of Smedvig asa

The continued high oil and gas prices in combination with
increased spending on exploration and production activities by
oil companies has provided for a favorable market sentiment
for the oil service industry. The worldwide offshore rig
utilization has remained at historically high levels, and dayrates
for offshore drilling units have continued to climb to new
highs. As a result of limited rig availability, oil companies are
now entering into contracts for rig capacity well ahead of
contract commencement. The limited supply of rig capacity
has led to new orders for construction of additional rig
capacity. So far the additional capacity has not affected the
market conditions adversely as dayrates have continued to
rise. However, the new capacity will not be available in the

PROSPECTS
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5
6

370
4.60
4.55

4.58
4.55
(8)
(8)

(164)

534

11
(129)
15
13
(90)

Earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

(639)

1,003

22
(227)
16
(80)
(269)

364

(6)

(14)(15)
(5)
(4)

624

(1,464)
(782)
(435)
209
(2,472)

(1,991)
(1,059)
(546)
594
(3,002)
1,272

3,081
15
3,096

2004

4,219
55
4,274

2005

Net profit

Income taxes

Profit before income taxes

Interest income
Interest expenses
Associated companies
Other financial items
Net financial items

FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

Operating profit

(7)
(7)

(3)

Personnel expenses
Other operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Reversal of write-down
Total operating expenses

O P E R AT I N G E X P E N S E S

(1)
(2)

Notes

Revenues
Other income
Total revenues

REVENUES

NOK million (except per share data)

Consolidated Income Statements
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Kate Blankenship

Sign.

Chairman

Sign.

John Fredriksen

Total equity and liabilities

Total liabilities

Short-term interest bearing debt
Other short-term liabilities
Total current liabilities

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Long-term interest bearing debt
Deferred taxes
Pensions
Total non-current liabilities

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Sign.

Siri B Hatlen
Sign.

Per Kumle

Stavanger/Oslo, March 30, 2006
The Board of Directors of Smedvig asa

Paid-in capital
Retained earnings and foreign currency adjustments
Total equity

E Q U I TY

Equity and Liabilities

Total assets

Receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

C U R R E N T AS S E T S

Mobile units and tender rigs
Other tangible assets
Investments in associates
Other financial assets
Total non-current assets

N O N - C U R R E N T AS S E T S

Assets

Consolidated Balance Sheets
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Sign.

Tor Olav Trøim

(15)
(16)

(14)
(6)
(13)

(12)
(12)

(10)
(11)

(7)
(7)
(5)
(9)

Notes

10,846

7,406

535
935
1,470

5,057
599
280
5,936

2,520
920
3,440

10,846

1,066
702
1,768

8,158
155
756
9
9,078

2005

Sign.

CEO

Kjell E Jacobsen

8,098

5,033

211
757
968

3,817
17
231
4,065

2,534
531
3,065

8,098

985
746
1,731

6,081
128
134
24
6,367

2004

7

8

746
702

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
1) See note 25 for information on cash paid for interests and taxes.

36
(44)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

1,895
(732)
(210)
(119)
834

746

993

(247)

(17)

1,369
(591)
(69)
(101)
608

(1,723)
253
57
(12)
(1,425)

(88)
27
(59)
587

(81)
(10)
232
1,076

(1,336)
20
(674)
(1,990)

352
(9)
(209)
83
14
(15)
39
62
20

370

2004

433
(13)
(594)
113
9
(16)
22
(7)
59
585
(20)

364

2005

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

Proceeds from long-term debt
Repayments of long-term debt
Treasury shares
Dividends paid
Net cash provided by financing activities

C AS H F LOW S F R O M F I N A N C I N G AC T I V I T I E S

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment
Cash collection of long-term recievables
Proceeds from sale of shares and securities
Investments in shares and associates
Net cash used in investing activities

C AS H F LOW S F R O M I N V E ST I N G AC T I V I T I E S

Net profit
Adjustments to reconcile net profit to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Gains on sale of assets and other financial items
Reversal of previous recognized impairment loss
Amortization expense of periodic overhauls
Share-based payments
Associated companies
Unrealized foreign exchange loss, long-term debt
Amortization of discount on long-term debt
Pensions
Deferred income taxes
Income taxes payable
Change in assets and liabilities:
Receivables
Accounts payable
Other current liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities

C AS H F LOW S F R O M O P E R AT I N G AC T I V I T I E S 1)

Consolidated Cash Flows
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(6)
817

Net profit
Dividends
Purchase of treasury shares
Sale of treasury shares
Cost of share-based payment
Foreign exchange translation
Cancellation of shares
Balance at December 31, 2005

1,733

1,733

-

Share
premium
reserve
1,733
-

364
(119)
(209)
13
9
877

12
14
819

Retained
earnings
594
370
(101)
(70)

331
43

Foreign
currency
adjustments
(288)
(288)

The accompanying consolidated financial statements present
the financial position of Smedvig asa, the consolidated
subsidiaries and the group’s interest in associated entities
(referred to as the "Company" or "Smedvig").
The financial statements are prepared on a historical cost
basis, except that the following assets and liabilities are stated
at their fair value: Derivative financial instruments, financial
instruments that are held for trading or classified as availablefor-sale and other investments in entities owned less than
20 percent where the Company does not exercise significant
influence if fair value is readily determinable.
The financial statements are presented in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union (IFRS). The amounts are presented in NOK
rounded to the nearest million, unless otherwise stated.
Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale are
stated at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less
costs to sell.
The accounting policies set out below have been applied
consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated

B AS I S O F P R E S E N TAT I O N

The consolidated financial statements of Smedvig asa for
the year ended December 31, 2005 were authorised for
issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of
Directors on March 30, 2006.
Smedvig asa is a public limited company incorporated
and domiciled in Norway whose shares are publicly traded
on Oslo Stock Exchange and the New York Stock Exchange.
The address of the registered office is Smedvig asa,
Finnestadveien 28, N-4029 Stavanger, Norway.
Smedvig is an offshore drilling contractor that, since 1965,
has provided drilling and related services to the oil and gas
industry. In addition to owning and operating mobile drilling
units, Smedvig has contracts for production drilling and maintenance on fixed installations on the Norwegian and the UK
continental shelves.

C O R P O R AT E I N F O R M AT I O N

364
331
695*

The consolidated financial statements include controlled
entities, which for the Company are those where its voting
interests exceed 50 percent.
Proportionate consolidation is utilized for joint ventures
in which the Company is actively involved in the operations.
The equity method of accounting is used for investments
in associated companies in which the investment provides the
Company with the ability to exercise significant influence over
operating and financial policies of the investee company. Such
influence is presumed to exist for investments in companies in
which the Company's direct or indirect ownership is between
20 and 50 percent. Under the equity method, the Company's

B AS I S O F C O N S O L I DAT I O N

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with IFRS and its interpretations as adopted
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
In addition, country specific additional disclosures have been
provided in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act.
As a first time adopter of IFRS, the Company elected to
apply IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards. Until December 31,2004, the Company
maintained its official accounting records and prepared its
consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in Norway (N GAAP).
An explanation of how the transition from N GAAP to IFRS has
affected the reported financial position, financial performance
and cash flows of the Company is provided in note 30.
Accounting principles in accordance with IFRS vary in
certain significant respects from generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States (US GAAP). See Note 28 for
a discussion of the principal differences between IFRS and
US GAAP that affect the Company's consolidated net income
and shareholders' equity.

STAT E M E N T O F C O M P L I A N C E

financial statements and in preparing a balance sheet at
January 1, 2004 for the purpose of the transition to IFRS.

364
(119)
(229)
19
9
331
3,440

Total Recognized
shareholders’ income and
equity
expense
3,139
370
370
(101)
(84)
15
14
(288)
(288)
3,065
82*

Corporate Information and Accounting Policies

(20)
6
6
(30)

3
7
(22)

Treasury
shares
(18)
(14)

* The number represents the recognized income and expense for the year.

-

(7)
823

Equity January 1, 2004
Net profit
Dividends
Purchase of treasury shares
Sale of treasury shares
Cost of share-based payment
Foreign exchange translation
Cancellation of shares
Balance at December 31, 2004

Issued
share
capital
830
-

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
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Estimation uncertainty
The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRS requires the Company to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as
of the date of the financial statements, and the amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reported period. Significant
estimates include those required in the impairment tests,
including the determination of the fair value and value in use
of assets, the determination of the useful lives and salvage
value for property, plant and equipment, the assessment of
other contingent liabilities and pension liabilities, and the
capitalization of costs relating to the upgrade of a mobile unit
or tender rig and income taxes. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

S I G N I F I C A N T AC C O U N T I N G J U D G E M E N T S A N D E ST I M AT E S

Due to the international nature of the Company's operations,
exchange rate movements give rise to foreign currency
transaction risk and translation risk when revenues, costs and
net assets of foreign subsidiaries are converted into Norwegian
kroner. While the Company engages in certain foreign exchange
transactions using derivative financial instruments with respect
to its foreign currency exposure, there can be no assurance
that these transactions will protect the Company from the
effects of future exchange rate fluctuations, see Note 18.
The balance sheets of subsidiaries with functional currencies
other than the Norwegian kroner are translated into Norwegian
kroner at the foreign exchange rate at year end, and the income
statements are translated monthly at the average monthly
exchange rates. Differences arising from foreign exchange
translation are recorded as a separate component of shareholders' equity. For subsidiaries using Norwegian kroner as
the functional currency, bank deposits, short-term receivables
and current- and non-current monetary liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at year-end exchange rates.
Any gains or losses resulting from such translation are
recognized as Other financial items.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

The functional currency of an entity is the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates. Normally, that is the currency of the environment
in which an entity primarily generates and expends cash.
The Company uses Norwegian kroner as the reporting
currency on Group level. Smedvig Asia and Smedvig Rig
use the US dollar as Smedvig UK uses the British pound
as their functional currencies.

F U N C T I O N A L C U R R E N CY

share of profits and losses of associated companies is included
in the consolidated income statements under Associated
companies. The excess of the investment in those affiliates
over the Company’s share of their net assets at the acquisition
date is first allocated to the fair value of the underlying net
assets with any excess recognized as goodwill.
Investments in companies in which the Company's
ownership is less than 20 percent are valued at fair value
unless it is not possible to estimate fair value, then the cost
method is used.
All material intercompany transactions and internal sales
have been eliminated in consolidation. Unrealized gains and
losses arising from transactions with associates and jointly
controlled entities are eliminated to the extent of the
Company’s interest in the entity.

Income taxes
Income tax expense consists of taxes currently payable
and changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities calculated
according to local tax rules.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are based on temporary
differences that arise between the carrying values for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes
of assets and liabilities and the future tax benefits of tax loss
carry forwards. A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilized. The amount

Share based payments
The Company has established incentive plans for senior management. The fair value of the share options issued under the
Company’s employee share option plans is determined at
grant date taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the options are granted, and using a valuation technique
that is consistent with generally accepted valuation methodologies for pricing financial instruments, and that incorporates
all factors and assumptions that knowledgeable, willing market
participants would consider in determining fair value. The fair
value of the share options is recognized as personnel
expenses with a corresponding increase in equity over the
period during which the employees become unconditionally
entitled to the options. Compensation cost is initially
recognized based upon options expected to vest with
appropriate adjustments to reflect actual forfeitures. National
insurance contributions arising from such incentive programs
are accrued ratably over the vesting period of the options
adjusted for changes in estimates.

Revenue recognition
The substantial majority of the Company's revenues is
derived from dayrate based drilling contracts or other service
contracts. Revenues are recognized in the period during which
the services are rendered, and at the rates established in the
contracts.
Under some contracts, Smedvig is entitled to additional
payments for exceeding performance targets. As there is
uncertainty as to such bonus payments until the drilling program
is completed, such additional payments are recognized after
completion of such drilling program, or at such time as the
uncertainty is resolved.
Drilling contracts occasionally include mobilization fees,
demobilization fees and/or other fees payable at the start of
the contract. In cases where the fee covers a general upgrade
of a drilling unit or equipment and it is considered that the
upgrade represents a value increase to Smedvig beyond the
contract period, the fee is amortized over the contract period
whereas the investment is depreciated over the remaining lifetime of the asset. In cases where the payment covers specific
upgrades or equipment only of value to the customer, the
upfront fees are recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis
over the estimated contract period. Related equipment in such
cases is depreciated over the contract period.
Occasionally drilling contracts are terminated by the
customer resulting in financial compensation. The compensation
is recognized as revenue over the termination period or upon
termination if a termination period is not applicable.
The termination period is the period where the Company is
contractually obligated to refund a portion of the termination
fee if the related asset commences on a new contract with
another customer.

S I G N I F I C A N T AC C O U N T I N G P O L I C I E S
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Impairment of long lived assets
At each reporting date the Company assesses whether there
is an indication that a long-lived asset, such as mobile units

Mobile units, tender rigs and other tangible assets
Mobile units, tender rigs and other tangible assets are
recorded at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Cost includes the cost of adding/replacing
components of the mobile units, tender rigs and other assets
when they increase the capabilities or useful life of the asset.
These assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over
the economic life of the assets. The depreciable amount is
determined after deducting the residual value of the asset.
The Company's mobile units and tender rigs are divided into
their main components. Useful lives have been determined
for each component, which are depreciated over a period of
fifteen to thirty-five years. Drilling equipment and fixtures are
depreciated over a period of three to ten years, depending
upon their useful life.
Towards the end of a unit's operating life, the Company
may in certain situations decide to upgrade a unit in order
to extend the life of the unit or modify it for alternative
employment. In such instances, the associated cost is
capitalized and depreciated over the new remaining life
of the unit.
When assets are sold or retired, their costs and related
accumulated depreciation are removed from the balance
sheet and any gain or loss is included in operating profit/loss.
Estimates of useful lives, residual values and methods
of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year end, and
adjusted if appropriate. Any changes are accounted for
prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.

Capitalized interest
Interest expense is capitalized on upgrade and construction
of newbuildings based on accumulated expenditures for the
applicable project at the Company's current rate of borrowing.

Newbuilding projects
Newbuilding projects are capitalized under Mobile units
and tender rigs, based on the progress of the construction
of the rig.

of deferred tax provided is based upon the expected manner
of settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities,
using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the balance
sheet date. The impact of tax law changes is recognized in
periods when the change is enacted or substantially enacted.
Through December 31, 2005, the majority of the
Company’s mobile units and tender rigs were taxed according
to the Norwegian tax scheme for shipowning and offshore
companies. According to the principles of the scheme, no
income tax is assessed on the operating results of those
companies that qualify and decide to participate in the
scheme. Under the scheme, income was subject to taxation
when dividends were paid by companies within the scheme
or when a company decided to withdraw from the scheme.
A portion of net financial items are subject to ordinary
Norwegian taxation. The Company recognizes provisions
for deferred taxes related to temporary differences on taxable
net financial items.
Norwegian tax rules changed so that effective January 1,
2006 drilling units previously included in the Norwegian tax
scheme for shipowning and offshore companies will be subject
to ordinary income taxation. The effects of this change and the
transition rules are more fully described in note 27.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash at financial
institutions and on hand. Cash equivalents include highly liquid
investments purchased with an original maturity of 90 days
or less.

Derivate financial instruments
The Company uses derivative financial instruments to
economically hedge its exposure to foreign exchange and
interest rates risks arising from operational, financing and
investment activities. The Company's interest-rate swap
agreements, currency options and forward exchange contracts
are recorded at fair value and do not qualify as hedges for
accounting purposes, as they are not designated as hedges
of specific assets, liabilities or firm commitments.
Consequently, changes in the fair value of interest-rate
swap agreements, forward exchange and currency options
contracts are recorded as a gain or loss as Other Financial
Items.

Receivables
Accounts receivable are recorded at amortized cost net of an
allowance for doubtful accounts, if any. Other receivables are
also stated at their amortized cost less an allowance for
doubtful accounts.

Repair, maintenance and periodic overhauls
Costs related to periodic overhauls of mobile units and tender
rigs are capitalized under Mobile units and tender rigs and
amortized over the anticipated period between overhauls,
which is generally five years.
Related costs are primarily shipyard costs and the cost
of employees directly involved in the periodic overhauls.
Amortization costs for capitalized repair, maintenance and
periodic overhauls are included in Depreciation and
amortization.
Costs for repair and maintenance activities are included in
Other operating expenses and expensed when the repairs and
maintenance take place.

and tender rigs, other tangible assets and purchased
intangibles subject to amortization, may be impaired. If any
such indication exists, the Company makes an estimate of the
asset’s recoverable amount. Furthermore, long-lived assets
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset
may not be recoverable.
Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured
by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to the
higher of its fair value or value in use based upon estimated
discounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the
asset. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds the fair value
or value in use, an impairment charge is recognized for the
excess amount.
In subsequent periods, market conditions may improve
resulting in the recovery of the fair value of an asset to levels
that could exceed those that were the basis of impairment
charges. The Company considers whether there is a basis
for a reversal, using the same evaluation criteria as for the
impairment write-down. If the review suggests that there is a
basis for reversal, the impairment charge is reversed up to the
original cost basis less the depreciation that would have been
recorded from the date of the impairment to the date
of reversal. In its impairment testing review, the Company
utilizes fair value estimates from independent brokers.

S M E DV I G A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 0 5 • C O R P O R AT E I N FO R M AT I O N A N D A C C O U N T I N G P O L I C I E S

11

12

Provisions
A provision is recognized in the balance sheet when the
Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as
a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. If the

Defined benefit pension plans
The Company has several defined benefit plans which
provide retirement, death and termination benefits.
The Company’s net obligation is calculated separately for
each plan by estimating the amount of the future benefit that
employees have earned in return for their cumulative service.
The projected future benefit obligation is discounted to its
present value, and the fair value of any plan assets is deducted.
The discount rate is the market yield at the balance sheet date
on government bonds in the currency and based on terms
consistent with the post-employment benefit obligations.
The retirement benefits are generally a function of years of
employment and amount of compensation. The plans are
primarily funded through payments to insurance companies.
The Company records its pension costs in the period during
which the services are rendered by the employees. Actuarial
gains and losses that arise subsequent to January 1, 2004 are
recognised in the income statement when the net cumulative
unrecognized actuarial gains or losses for each individual plan
at the end of the previous reporting year exceed 10% of the
higher of the present value of the defined benefit obligation
and the fair value of plan assets at that date. These gains and
losses are recognised over the expected remaining working
lives of the employees participating in the plans. Otherwise,
recognition of actuarial gains and losses is deferred.

Borrowings
Interest bearing borrowings are recognized initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs, equal to the net
proceeds received. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest
bearing borrowings are stated at amortized cost with any
difference between cost and redemption value being recognized
as interest expense over the period the borrowings are
outstanding based on an effective interest basis.

Earnings per share
Earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by
the weighted average number of Class A and Class B shares
outstanding during the year. Shares issued or repurchased
during the year are included for the portion of the year that
they were outstanding.
Diluted earnings per share is computed in a manner
consistent with that of basic earnings per share, while giving
effect to the dilutive effect of potential outstanding shares,
including share options. Additionally, the Company considers
the potential outstanding shares of its equity method investees
in determining diluted earnings per share. Diluted earnings
per share does not include the dilutive effects of potential
outstanding share options in loss years as the effects are
anti-dilutive.

Repurchases of outstanding shares
The amount of the consideration paid, including directly
attributable costs to repurchase outstanding common shares
is recognized as a deduction of equity. The par value of
repurchased shares is classified as treasury shares and
presented as a deduction from share capital. The difference
between the consideration paid for the shares and the par
value of the shares is deducted from retained earnings.

IFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures
IFRS 7 introduces new disclosures to improve the information
about financial instruments. Smedvig will apply IFRS 7 and
the amendment to IAS 1 from annual periods beginning
January 1, 2007.

IFRS 6, Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources
This Standard does not apply to the activities of Smedvig.

IAS 39 and IFRS 4 (Amendment), Financial guarantee
contracts
This is required to be applied for annual periods beginning
January 1, 2006, but is not expected to be relevant for the
activities of Smedvig.

IAS 39 (Amendment), The fair value option
This amendment changes the definition of financial
instruments classified at fair value through profit or loss and
restricts the ability to designate financial instruments as part
of this category. Smedvig will apply this amendment from
annual periods beginning January 1, 2006, but it is not expected
to have a significant impact on Smedvig’s classification of
financial instruments.

IAS 19 (Amendment), Employee benefits
This amendment introduces the option of an alternative
approach for actuarial gains and losses. It also adds new
requirements for disclosures. Smedvig will not elect the
alternative approach but will apply this amendment from annual
periods beginning January 1, 2006, which will only impact the
format and extent of disclosures presented in the accounts.

Smedvig does not expect that adoption of the pronouncements listed and summarized below will have a significant
impact on the group’s consolidated financial statements in
the period of initial application.

AND SUMMARIZED

I F R S A N D I F R I C I N T E R P R E TAT I O N S N OT Y E T E F F E C T I V E

Related parties
Parties are related if one party has the ability, directly or
indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant
influence over the other party in making financial and operating
decisions. Parties are also related if they are subject to common
control or common significant influence. All transactions
between the related parties are based on the principle of
arm’s length (estimated market value).

Segment reporting
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Company
that is engaged either in providing products or services (industry
segment), or in providing products or services within a particular
economic environment (geographical segment), which is subject
to risks and rewards that are different from those of other
segments.

Dividends
Dividends proposed by the board of Directors are not recorded
in the financial statements until they have been approved by
the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.

effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting
the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and,
where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
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R E V E N U E S F R O M E X T E R N A L C U STO M E R S

Mobile Units
Tender Rigs
Well Services
Total

TOTA L L I A B I L I T E S

Mobile Units
Tender Rigs
Well Services
Total

I D E N T I F I A B L E AS S E T S

Tender Rigs 2)
Well Services
Other Activities 3)
Operating profit
Unallocated items:
Net financial items
Income taxes
Net profit

O P E R AT I N G P R O F I T - N E T P R O F I T
Mobile Units 1)

Mobile Units
Tender Rigs
Well Services
Total

D E P R E C I AT I O N A N D A M O RT I Z AT I O N

Mobile Units
Tender Rigs
Well Services
Total

5,103
1,665
638
7,406

3,212
1,296
525
5,033

5,417
2,226
455
8,098

(90)
(164)
370

(269)
(639)
364

7,160
3,186
500
10,846

291
245
88
624

247
168
20
435

2004
1,168
955
958
3,081

732
333
151
56
1,272

347
170
29
546

2005
1,618
1,091
1,510
4,219

For accounting purposes, there is a fourth segment,
Other Activities.

used for production drilling and well maintenance in
Southeast Asia and West Africa.
• Well Services:
The Company performs production drilling and maintenance
activities on several fixed installations in the North Sea.
The Company also provides wireline services including well
maintenance, modification and abandonment.

I N D U ST RY S E G M E N T DATA

As of December 31, 2005, the Company operates in the
following three segments:
• Mobile Units:
The Company offers services encompassing drilling,
completion and maintenance of offshore wells. The drilling
contracts relate to two semi-submersible rigs, one ultralarge jack-up and one deepwater drillship.
• Tender Rigs:
The Company operates a fleet of seven self-erecting tender
rigs and four semi-submersible tender rigs, which are

intersegment sales. The accounting principles for the
segments are the same as for the consolidated accounts.

S E G M E N T I N F O R M AT I O N

IFRIC 6, Liabilities arising from participating in a specific
market - waste, electrical and electronic equipment
FRIC 6 is not relevant to Smedvig’s operations.

IFRIC 5, Rights to interests arising from decommissioning,
restoration and environmental rehabilitation funds
This Interpretation is required for annual periods beginning
January 1, 2006, but is not expected to be relevant for activities
of Smedvig.

The Company provides drilling and related services to the
offshore oil and gas industry. There have not been any

1

IFRIC 4, Determining whether an arrangement contains
a lease
IFRIC 4 requires the determination of whether an arrangement
is or contains a lease to be based on the substance of the
arrangement. Smedvig will apply IFRIC 4 from annual periods
beginning January 1, 2006, but does not expect it to have a
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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686
587
63
1,336

1,226
474
23
1,723

3,289
2,146
750
402
290
88
406
576
151
8,098

(90)
(164)
370

(269)
(639)
364

7,496
752
962
285
147
1,071
133
10,846

156
14
45
55
50
24
37
54
189
624

2004
1,843
110
253
144
207
151
170
149
54
3,081

244
52
107
91
67
37
68
606
1,272

2005
2,451
385
330
293
261
241
197
61
4,219

OT H E R I N C O M E

In 2005, Other income reflected an income of NOK 55
million stemming from a warranty insurance settlement
related to the Balder FPU.
In 2004, Other income reflected gains on sale of assets
amounting to NOK 13 million stemming from the partial sale

2

of T-9, when the rig was sold to the Varia Perdana Group,
a joint venture controlled by Sapura-Crest Petroleum that
owns 51 percent and Smedvig owning the remaining
49 percent. In addition, T-2 was retired resulting in a gain
of NOK 2 million.

1) Including a gain on the Balder dispute of NOK 56 million for the year ended December 31, 2005.
2) Including gains on sale of T-2 and part of T-9 amounting to NOK 15 million for the year ended December 31, 2004.
3) Including partial reversal of a previous write-down of West Navigator amounting to NOK 594 million and NOK 209 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
4) A substantial portion of the Company´s assets are mobile drilling units. Asset locations at the end of a period are not necessarily indicative of the geographic distribution of the revenues or
operating profits generated by such assets during such period.

Norway
Mauritania
Congo
Malaysia
Thailand
UK
Brunei
Indonesia
Other
Total

I D E N T I F I A B L E AS S E T S 4)

Mauritania
Congo
Malaysia 2)
Thailand
UK
Brunei
Indonesia
Other 3)
Operating profit
Unallocated items:
Net financial items
Income taxes
Net profit

O P E R AT I N G P R O F I T - N E T P R O F I T
Norway 1)

Norway
Mauritania
Congo
Malaysia
Thailand
UK
Brunei
Indonesia
Other
Total

R E V E N U E S F R O M E X T E R N A L C U STO M E R S

The following presents the Company's revenues, operating profit and assets by geographic area:

G E O G R A P H I C S E G M E N T DATA

1) Including a partial reversal of a previous write-down of West Navigator amounting to NOK 594 million and NOK 209 million for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 respectively.
2) Including gains on sale of T-2 and part of T-9 amounting to NOK 15 million for the year ended December 31, 2004.
3) Including a gain related to an insurance recovery on the Balder dispute of NOK 56 million for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Mobile Units
Tender Rigs
Well Services
Total

C A P I TA L E X P E N D I T U R E S
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4,110

Average number of employees

1,000

Salaries and
bonus payments
3 527
11 825

Income from
exercised options **
10 322
11 882

***The Board was elected on an extraordinary general meeting that took place on February 16, 2006.

More information about options is described in note 17.

John Fredriksen, Chairman
Kate Blankenship, Director
Siri B. Hatlen, Director
Per Kumle, Director
Tor Olav Trøim, Director
Kjell E. Jacobsen, CEO
Alf C. Thorkildsen, CFO
Sveinung Lofthus, Managing Director
Stein Diesen, Project Director
Alf Ragnar Løvdal, Managing Director
Ståle Rød, Managing Director

Class A
Shares
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
40
0
0
0

Class B
Shares
0
0
0
0
0
20 000
11 700
0
1 010
1 000
4 000

Options
granted
in 2005
0
0
0
0
0
70 000
50 000
15 000
35 000
35 000
50 000

Options
exercised
in 2005
0
0
0
0
0
115 000
40 000
0
35 000
35 000
40 000
Outstanding
options
0
0
0
0
0
175 000
150 000
15 000
70 000
70 000
150 000

whereby he can retire at an age of 65. Other key personnel
have similar agreements.
Pursuant to an employment contract, the Chief Executive
Officer will receive compensation corresponding to 24 months
salary if he, at the request of the Board of Directors, resigns.

S H A R E S A N D O P T I O N S OW N E D BY T H E B OA R D * * * , C E O A N D S E N I O R M A N AG E M E N T AT D E C E M B E R 3 1 , 2 0 0 5

The Chief Executive Officer has a bonus arrangement based
on achieving specific targets with a maximum limit of 50
percent of his annual salary. Other key personnel have similar
agreements with various limits.
The Chief Executive Officer has an early pension agreement

**Calculated as the difference between fair value of the option at date of exercise less exercise price, multiplied by the number of exercised options.

Services and Project Director.

3,751

2004
1,148
133
83
100
1,464

Pension Premium
Paid
214
1522

*Key personnel consists of the Chief Financial Officer (CFO), Managing Director Mobile Units, Managing Director Tender Rigs, Managing Director Well

Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
Key personnel*

The non - Executive Chairman up to February 16, 2006, Peter T Smedvig, has not received any remuneration in 2005.

Remuneration expensed in 2005:
Board of Directors

Numbers in NOK 1,000

R E M U N E R AT I O N TO T H E B OA R D O F D I R E C TO R S, C H I E F E X E C U T I V E O F F I C E R A N D OT H E R K E Y P E R S O N N E L

Salaries
National insurance contributions
Pension costs
Other remuneration
Total

2005
1,561
203
108
119
1,991

P E R S O N N E L E X P E N S E S A N D R E M U N E R AT I O N

S P E C I F I C AT I O N O F P E R S O N N E L E X P E N S E S

3
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OT H E R F I N A N C I A L I T E M S

Book value
as at
Jan. 1, 2004
119
119

Additionals/
disposals
year 2004
-

Additionals/
disposals
year 2005
606
606

Profit
after tax
15
15

Profit
after tax
3
13
16

Book
value as at
Dec. 31, 2004
134
134

Stavanger, Norway

1)

:

44.0%

44.0%

Percentage
of voting Percentage
rights
held
39.8%
39.8%
44.0%
44.0%

1) Balance sheet and profit and loss items listed above representing 100 percent.

Lisme AS

2004

Business
office
Eastern Drilling ASA Grimstad, Norway
Lisme AS
Stavanger, Norway

2005

The group's interest in its principal associates were as follows

658

Assets
1,653
717

288

Liabilities
253
340

370

Equity
1,400
377

624

Revenues
0
806

In 2006, Lisme has sold their shares in Roxar AS, resulting in a gain of approximately NOK 750 million in Lisme,
of which approximately NOK 330 million represents the Company’s shares.

Lisme AS
Total

Eastern Drilling ASA
Lisme AS
Total

Book value
as at
Jan. 1, 2005
134
134

Book
value as at
Dec. 31, 2005
609
147
756

(4)

Net
profit
10
5

of NOK 13 million. Approximately NOK 75 million was related
to gains on the Company’s forward exchange contracts,
while the gains on the Company’s interest rate swap
agreements were approximately NOK 5 million. These gains
were partly offset by currency losses on balance sheet items
amounting to approximately NOK 60 million. In addition,
a loss of NOK 6 million was related to an interest in a
limited partnership.

I N V E ST M E N T S AC C O U N T E D F O R U N D E R T H E E Q U I TY M E T H O D

AS S O C I AT E D C O M PA N I E S

5

In 2005, NOK 91 million was related to losses on the
Company’s forward exchange contracts, while the losses on
the Company’s interest rate swap agreements amounted to
NOK 2 million. In addition in 2005, a profit of NOK 13 million
was related to an interest in a limited partnership.
Consequently, the net loss on total Other financial items
amounted to NOK 80 million.
In 2004, Other financial items amounted to an income

4
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I N C O M E TA X E S

11
44
55
584
639

2005
826
177
1,003

At December 31, 2005, the Company’s deferred tax asset of
NOK 150 million was related to a tax loss carry forward of
NOK 537 million in Norway with no expiry date. The Company
is of the opinion that it is probable that the deferred tax

Liability upon exit from the tonnage tax scheme
Property, plant and equipment
Currency exchange fluctuations
Other
Gross deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax liabilities

D E F E R R E D TA X L I A B I L I T I E S

Tax loss carry forward
Pension liabilities
Property, plant and equipment
Provisions
Gross deferred tax assets

D E F E R R E D TA X AS S E T S

Deferred income taxes reflect the impact of temporary
differences between the amount of assets and liabilities
recognized for financial reporting purposes and such amounts

"Expected" income taxes
Foreign tax rate differential
Shipowners’ taxation in Norway
Tax differential associated companies
Taxes on foreign exchange recorded against equity
Other
Income taxes

The principal differences between the expected tax expense
computed by applying the Norwegian statutory tax rate of 28
2004
150
17
(88)
4
67
14
164

4
272
4
280
(17)

2004
179
65
19
263

assets will be realized through future profits and through
reversals of taxable temporary differences. During 2005,
changes in Norwegian tax law significantly impacted its
deffered tax assets and liabilities as discussed in note 27.

1,989
127
82
2,198
(599)

2005
150
78
1,355
16
1,599

recognized for tax purposes. The net deferred tax assets
(liabilities) consist of the following:

2005
281
(5)
509
(8)
(145)
7
639

percent to profit before income taxes and the actual tax
expense are as follows:

46
45
91
89
(16)
164

2004
481
53
534

1) Allocation of profit before income taxes refers to income that is not taxable in Norway.
2) In 2004, total payable taxes amounted to NOK 91 million of which NOK 38 million was a result of a disputed tax claim involving the rig West Alpha. The Company is actively trying to
recover this amount and is of the opinion that this will be refunded at a later stage.

Payable tax:
Norway
Outside Norway
Total payable tax 2)
Total deferred income tax expense Norway
Total deferred income tax benefit outside Norway
Total income taxes

I N C O M E TA X E X P E N S E

Norway
Outside Norway 1)
Total

A L LO C AT I O N O F P R O F I T B E F O R E I N C O M E TA X E S

6

S M E DV I G A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 0 5 • N OT E S

17

18

For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, partial
reversal of the previous write-down of West Navigator
amounted to NOK 594 million and NOK 209 million,
respectively. The reversals were done as the market
conditions have improved, resulting in a partial recovery of
the fair value of the drillship. The company has used fair
value to determine recoverable amount. The fair value is

45
10-33

432
(594)
114

8,313

(4,600)

10,859
1,336
(4)
12,191
722

352
(209)
83

6,209

(4,650)

10,076
1,723
(388)
11,411
(522)

Total
tangible
assets

based on the average of three independent brokers. In 2002,
West Navigator was written down to fair value, due to the
carrying amount of the rig exceeded its estimated fair value.
Parts of the write-down has been reversed in 2004 and 2005
as the fair value has partly recovered. As of December 31,
2005, approxmately US$ 36 million of the previous
write-down was not reversed.

1) The percentage of 20 is related to long-term maintenance that is included in the asset value and amortized over five years.

387
(594)
114
4-20 1)

155

8,158

Depreciation for the year
Reversal of write-down
Amortization for the year
Percentage depreciation and amortization

(333)

(4,267)

418
73
(4)
487
1

Book value at December 31

10,441
1,263
11,704
721

Original cost at January 1
Additions
Disposals
Cost at December 31
Currency exchange fluctuations
Accumulated depreciation, amortization
and write-downs at December 31

2005

38
-

128

6,081
314
(209)
83

(290)

(4,360)

Book value at December 31
Depreciation for the year
Reversal of write-down
Amortization for the year

398
36
(16)
418
-

Drilling
equipment,
inventory
and fixtures

9,678
1,687
(372)
10,993
(552)

Mobile
units and
tender rigs

M O B I L E U N I T S, T E N D E R R I G S A N D OT H E R TA N G I B L E AS S E T S

Original cost at January 1
Additions
Disposals
Cost at December 31
Currency exchange fluctuations
Accumulated depreciation, amortization
and write-downs at December 31

2004

7
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EARNINGS PER SHARE

OT H E R F I N A N C I A L AS S E T S

The trade receivables are primarily from major international
oil and gas companies. The Company continually evaluates
the credit risk associated with each customer and, when

2005
686
380
1,066

considered necessary, requires certain guarantees. At
December 31, 2005 and 2004 no provision for doubtful
accounts was considered necessary.

Trade receivables
Other receivables, including unbilled receivables and other current assets
Total

10

R E C E I VA B L E S

1
9

-

2004
531
454
985

24

1

14

2004
9

4.55

2005
8

4.58

561,355
80,010,830

4.55

79,449,475

4.60

725,587
81,288,437

Earnings
per share

80,562,850

Weighted
average shares
outstanding

Total

364

370

Net profit
for basic and dilutive
earnings per share

Shares in North Norway Drilling Co. AS

SHARES

KS Difko XLIV

S H A R E S I N L I M I T E D PA RT N E R S H I P

Other long-term receivables

LO N G - T E R M R E C E I VA B L E S

9

Basic earnings per share
Effect of dilution:
Options
Diluted earnings per share

2005

Basic earnings per share
Effect of dilution:
Options
Diluted earnings per share

2004

NOK million (except per share data)

8
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C AS H A N D C AS H E Q U I VA L E N T S

S H A R E H O L D E R S ’ E Q U I TY

C L AS S B S H A R E S A N D S H A R E C A P I TA L

C H A N G E S I N T H E N U M B E R O F C L AS S A S H A R E S,

Number of
Class A Shares
55,014,004
(700,000)
54,314,004
(550,000)
53,764,004 1)

52,739,004

700,000
550,000
(700,000)
550,000
1,025,000
(550,000)
1,025,000

A share repurchase program authorizes the Company to
purchase up to 8.2 million shares from time to time on the
open market or pursuant to negotiated transactions at price
levels the Company deems attractive. In 2005, the Company
purchased 1.0 million Class A Shares and 1.0 million Class B
Shares at an aggregate cost of NOK 229 million, and issued
0.6 million Class B shares at a total price of NOK 19 million
in connection with exercises of share options. In 2004,

25,957,000

1,091,000
902,000
(340,000)
1,653,000
970,000
(610,000)
2,013,000

1)

787

(18)
(15)
3
7
(22)
(20)
6
6
(30)

Share
Capital
830
(7)
823
(6)
817

822,840,040
(22,030,000)
1,733,284,947
2,534,094,987

the Company purchased 0.6 million Class A Shares and
0.9 million Class B Shares at an aggregate cost of
NOK 84 million, and issued 0.3 million Class B Shares at a
total price of NOK 16 million in connection with exercises of
share options. The purpose of the share repurchase program
is to assist the Company to achieve its long-term objective of
enhancing shareholder value.

1) Include 1,025,000 Class A Shares and 2,013,000 Class B Shares held as treasury shares at December 31, 2005.

Outstanding shares at December 31, 2005

Balance at January 1, 2004
Treasury shares bought 2004
Treasury shares sold 2004
Treasury shares cancelled 2004
Balance at December 31, 2004
Treasury shares bought 2005
Treasury shares sold 2005
Treasury shares cancelled 2005
Balance at December 31, 2005

T R E AS U RY S H A R E S

Number of
Class B Shares
27,970,000
27,970,000
27,970,000

2005
817,340,040
(30,380,000)
1,733,284,947
2,520,244,987

2004

voting, but otherwise carry the same rights and privileges as
the Class A shares. Each share has a par value of NOK 10.00.

Registered share capital
Treasury shares
Share premium reserve
Total

Balance at January 1, 2004
Cancellation of shares in 2004
Issued shares at December 31, 2004
Cancellation of shares in 2005
Issued shares at December 31, 2005

2004
608
138
746

cash equivalents in proportionately consolidated entities.

2005
623
79
702

TOTA L PA I D - I N C A P I TA L

The Company’s share capital is divided in two share classes,
Class A and Class B. The Class B shares are in general non-

12

Of the total cash and cash equivalents of NOK 702 million at
December 31, 2005, NOK 66 million represents cash and

Cash
Certificates of deposit
Total

11
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PENSION PLANS

Accumulated benefit obligations
Effect of projected future compensation levels
Projected benefit obligations
Plan assets at market value
Accrued pension liability before social security
Unrecognized gains (losses)
Social security
Accrued pension liabilities

T H E F U N D E D STAT U S O F T H E D E F I N E D B E N E F I T P L A N

Present value of this year's earned pensions
Interest expense on pension liabilities
Gross pension costs
Expected return on plan assets
Net pension costs
Administration charges
Accrued social security
Net pension costs

A N N UA L P E N S I O N C O ST S

The Company has a defined benefit pension plan that covers
approximately 2,149 employees as of December 31, 2005.
A significant part of this plan is administred by a life
insurance company.
The primary benefits for the onshore employees in Norway
are a retirement pension of approximately 66 percent of
salary at retirement age of 67 years, together with a longterm disability pension. The retirement pension per employee
is capped at an annual payment of approximately NOK

13

Peder Smedvig Capital I as (Noble)
Folketrygdfondet
Bank of New York
Smedvig asa
DnB NOR Bank ASA
Odin Norden
Credit Suisse First Boston
JP Morgan Chase Bank
Stiching Shell Pensioenfonds
Odin Norge
State Street Bank & Trust Co.
Goldman Sachs International
Morgan Stanley and Co. Intl. Ltd.
Nora Smedvig
Pareto Aksje Norge
Barclays Bank PLC
Skagen Vekst
Bear Stearns Securities Corp.
Odin Offshore
Percent of total number of shares

No. of
Class A
shares
21,095,600
3,940,500
3,636,149
1,025,000
2,302,004
1,146,542
511
569,885
484,775
758,570
613,254
800,500
199,473
2,650
68.03

No. of
Class B
shares
2,501,374
4,131,300
712,650
2,013,000
2,228,900
1,766,200
368,592
1,469,300
1,260,950
511,800
380,451
98,579
206,632
5,000
562,600
671,100
658,400
586,300
71.98

Percent of
total number
of shares
28.87
9.88
5.32
3.72
2.81
2.73
2.16
1.85
1.80
1.54
1.32
1.06
1.05
1.00
0.98
0.93
0.82
0.80
0.72
69.38

2005
405
228
633
(364)
269
(27)
38
280

2005
87
23
110
(18)
92
1
13
106
2004
338
190
528
(302)
226
(27)
32
231

2004
64
24
88
(19)
69
13
82

476,000. Most employees in this group may choose to retire
at 62 years of age on a pre-retirement pension.
Offshore employees in Norway have retirement and longterm disability pension of approximately 60 percent of salary
at retirement age of 67. Offshore employees on mobile units
may choose to retire at 60 years of age on a pre-retirement
pension. Offshore employees on fixed installations have the
same pre-retirement pension, but the employees may not
retire until they are 62 years of age.

T H E C O M PA N Y ’ S 2 0 L A R G E ST S H A R E H O L D E R S AT D E C E M B E R 3 1 , 2 0 0 5
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The Company expects the annual pension plan contributions
under defined benefit plans for the years 2006-2010, to be
approximately NOK 75 million. The aggregate expected
payments in the five years from 2011-2015 are NOK 375

C AS H F LOW S

The investment policies and strategies for the pension
benefit plan funds do not use target allocations for the
individual asset categories. The investment objectives are to
maximize returns subject to specific risk management
policies. The Company addresses diversification by the use of
domestic and international fixed income securities and
domestic and international equity securities. These investments are readily marketable and can be sold to fund benefit
payment obligations as they become payable. The yearly
returns on pension assets were 8.3 percent and 6.0 percent
in 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Equity securities
Debt securities
Real estate
Other
Total

P E N S I O N B E N E F I T P L A N AS S E T S

The weighted-average asset allocation of funds related to the
Company’s defined benefit plan at December 31, 2005 and
2004 were as follows:

Rate of compensation increase at the end of year
Discount rate at the end of year
Prescribed pension index factor
Expected return on plan assets for the year
Turnover
Expected increases in Social Security Base
Expected annual early retirement from age 60/62:
Offshore personnel fixed installations
Offshore personnel Mobile units and onshore employees

2005
22.2%
62.9%
16.4%
3.5%
100.0%

30.0%
50.0%

3.5%
4.3%
2.5%
5.5%
3.0%
3.0%

302
18
50
(1)
(5)
364

2005
528
23
87
(5)
0
633

2004
15.6%
68.4%
10.9%
5.1%
100.0%

30.0%
60.0%

3.5%
4.8%
3.0%
5.8%
0.0%
3.0%

249
19
38
0
(4)
302

2004
448
24
64
(4)
(4)
528

An increase in the discount rate of 1.0 percent, results in a
decrease of approximately 30 percent in the net pension
cost. An increase in the compensation rate of 1.0 percent,
results in an increase of approximately 15 percent in the
net pension cost. An increase in the employee turnover
of 1.0 percent results in a decrease of approximately
5 percent in the net pension cost. An increase in the
Social Security Base, representing the amount of the
retirement obligation funded by the social security system,
of 1.0 percent results in a decrease of approximately
7 percent in the net pension cost.

S E N S I T I V I TY A N A LYS I S

million. The expected payments are based on the
assumptions used to measure the Company’s obligations at
December 31, 2005 and include estimated future employee
services.

AS S U M P T I O N S U S E D I N C A L C U L AT I O N O F P E N S I O N O B L I G AT I O N S

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
Estimated return
Contribution by employer
Administration charges
Benefits paid
Fair value plan assets end of year

C H A N G E I N P L A N AS S E T S

Benefit obligations at beginning of year
Interest cost
Current service cost
Benefits paid
Actuarial (gains)/losses on obligation
Benefit obligations at end of year

C H A N G E I N B E N E F I T O B L I G AT I O N S

A 84

Maturity
February 23, 2006
November 19, 2008
November 19, 2008
September 29, 2012
February 14, 2012

NIBOR + 2.00
NIBOR + 2.75
Fixed 7.50
NIBOR + 1.20
LIBOR + 1.63

Interest
percent*
percent
percent
percent
percent

Long-term interest bearing debt totaled NOK 5,057
million and NOK 3,817 million at December 31, 2005 and
2004, respectively, and was used to finance the rig fleet.
Except for the NOK 1,055 million bond issue, all the
remaining long-term debt is denominated in US dollars.

* Included in current liabilities.

230 (NOK)
225 (NOK)
100 (NOK)
500 (NOK)
30 (US$)

Million

At December 31, 2005, the Company had the following
bonds outstanding:

Weighted average interest rates for outstanding Norwegian
bonds at December 31, 2005 and 2004 was approximately
4.8 percent and 5.0 percent, respectively.

24
349
195
127
3,640
722
5,057

For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, interest
costs incurred were NOK 227 million and NOK 132 million,
respectively. Interest cost of NOK 3 million was capitalized
as part of the financing cost for assets under construction
and upgrading of drilling rigs for the year ended December
31, 2004. No interest cost was capitaized in 2005.
The accounting effects of the Company’s interest swap
agreements are included in Other financial items and
amounted to a losses of NOK 2 million and gains of NOK 5
million for the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively.

The Company has miscellaneous covenants in its loan agreements. The facilities contain the following main covenants:
• To maintain a minimum value adjusted assets to total
liabilities of 1.5:1.
• To maintain a minimum liquidity balance (cash and cash
equivalents) of US$ 50 million.
• To maintain the ratio of net funded debt to earning before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA)
of 5.5:1.
• Not to enter into any merger unless the Company will be
the surviving entity, remain bound by the terms of the
original facilities and such merger would not reasonably be
expected to adversely affect the ability to comply with the
financial covenants under the facilities.
The Company’s bonds contain the following main
covenants, based on financial statements, which require:
• To maintain an adjusted shareholders’ equity equal to or
greater than US$300 million.
• To maintain an adjusted shareholders’ equity equivalent to a
minimum of 40% of our total liabilities. For these purposes,
the term “adjusted shareholders’ equity” means the
adjusted value of our total consolidated assets less total
consolidated liabilities with the addition or subtraction of
the difference between market value and book value of our
rigs and offshore vessels.

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
Total

YEAR

Long-term interest bearing debt at December 31, 2005
is payable as follows:

A summary of outstanding long-term debt is as follows at
December 31:
2005
2004
Borrowings under RRCF
3,878
3,100
Proportionately consolidated entities
151
160
Bonds
1,028
557
Total
5,057
3,817

LO N G - T E R M I N T E R E ST B E A R I N G D E B T A N D I N T E R E ST E X P E N S E S

In 2001, the Company entered into a secured Reducing and
Revolving Credit Loan Facility Agreement. (US$ 500 million
RRCF). Since then, the loan agreement has been amended.
The main changes of the amended facility relate
to price and profile:
• The loan is maturing in 2011 with a ballon payment at
maturity. The loan has a 20-year repayment profile.
• The margin is LIBOR plus 95 basis points until the end of
the second quarter 2006. Thereafter the margin will be set
at LIBOR plus a level between 75 and 120 basis points
dependent on the financial leverage of the Company.
In 2004, the Company entered into a new secured
seven-year US$ 250 million Reducing and Revolving Credit
Loan Facility Agreement (US$ 250 million RRCF) with a
20-year repayment profile. The price and condition under
the US$ 250 million RRCF were in line with the conditions
reported under the US$ 500 million RRCF described above.
The two loan agreements have a total limit of US$ 713
million at December 31, 2005. US$ 579 million (NOK 3,912
million ) and US$ 519 million (NOK 3,142 million) were drawn
at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Actual interest
rates ranged from 3.1 percent to 5.2 percent in 2005 and
from 2.6 percent to 3.5 percent in 2004.
The Company’s share of a five-year long-term interest
bearing loan in the proportionately consolidated company
Varia Perdana Group amounted to NOK 151 million (US$ 23
million) and NOK 160 million (US$ 27 million) for the years
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 respectively. In 2005,
the interest rate was LIBOR plus 140 basis points and at
December 31, 2005 the interest rate was 5.3 percent.
The Company raised NOK 500 million and US$ 30 million
through bonds issued in the Norwegian market in 2005, with
a seven-year maturity. The bonds were issued at a premium,
which gives an effective interest rate at NIBOR plus
1.25 percent and LIBOR plus 1.68 percent, respectively.

14
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OT H E R S H O RT- T E R M L I A B I L I T I E S

2005
125
6
222
40
542
935

2004
135
49
170
18
385
757

Options issued under the 2004 Program may be exercised in the period May 1, 2006 to December 31, 2009. The
excercise price is NOK 54.00 per share.
Options issued under the 2005 Program may be exercised in the period June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2010. The
exercise price is NOK 89.00 per share.
The following table summarizes the transactions under
the Company’s option plans for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2005:

S H A R E - B AS E D I N C E N T I V E P R O G R A M S

The Company has granted options to senior management
which provide the employee with the right to subscribe to
Class B shares. The options are not transferable and may be
withdrawn upon termination of employment. The subscription
price under the options is fixed at the date of grant. In all
instances the subscription price was not less than the fair
value of the Company’s shares on the date of grant.
Options issued under the 2003 Program may be exercised up to December 31, 2007. The exercise price is NOK
29.00 per share.

17

Accounts payable
Taxes payable
Employee withheld taxes, social security and vacation pay
Accrued interest expenses
Other current liabilities
Total

16

In addition short-term interest bearing debt included the
current installment on long-term debt of NOK 235 million at
December 31, 2005.
As at December 31, 2005, the Company also has an
overdraft facility of NOK 200 million of which NOK 160 million
was undrawn.

S H O RT- T E R M I N T E R E ST B E A R I N G D E B T

The Company has issued three three to six-month
commercial paper notes which have been renewed at the
end of each three to six-month period. Each of the three
commercial paper notes has a principal amount of NOK 100
million. The weighted interest rate on these commercial
paper notes was 2.4 percent and 2.7 percent as of
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

15
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89.00
31.61
64.55

Options granted
Options exercised
Outstanding at December 31, 2005

According to the share-based incentive programs, all unvested
options become exercisable in the event of change in control.
Additionally, in the event of change in control, the grantee
could, based on specific assumptions, ask for a cash

Average fair value of grants during the year

Risk free interest rate (percent)
Expected life (year)
Volatility

B L AC K & S C H O L E S P R I C I N G M O D E L AS S U M P T I O N S

With effect from January 1, 2004 the fair value of the share
options is recognized as personnel expenses. During 2005,

AC C O U N T I N G F O R S H A R E - B AS E D C O M P E N S AT I O N

As at December 31, 2005, 225,000 options issued under the
2003 Program were excercisable.
As of December 31, 2005, the Board could grant further
405,000 options under the 2005 authorization.

Number of Class B shares
Subscription price (NOK)
Remaining contractual life (months)

OPTION PROGRAM

2004
580,000
54.00
48

2003
225,000
29.00
24

595,000
610,000
1,400,000

580,000
340,000
290,000
1,415,000

Number of
B shares
1,210,000
565,000
310,000
1,465,000

17

2004
4.1%
4
35%
28

2003
2.2%
4
35%

settlement. Due to the change of control in Smedvig, in
January 2006, all granted options were settled by a cash
payment in March 2006.

26

2005
3.3%
4
30%

NOK 9.4 million has been expensed in the income
statement. In addition, an expense of NOK 9.5 million has
been recognized as social security related to declared and
outstanding options during 2005. Comparable proforma
figures for 2004 were NOK 14 million as personnel expenses
and NOK 10.4 million as expenses related to social security.
The following assumptions were made in the calculation
of fair value:

2005
595,000
89.00
60

The following table summarizes the information of share options outstanding as of December 31:

54.00
45.86
89.00
40.37

Weighted average
exercise price
per option
61.22
29.00
75.00
45.88

Options granted
Options exercised
Forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2004

Outstanding at January 1, 2003
Options granted
Forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2003
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The notional amounts of derivative financial instruments
presented in this note represent the face or contractual
amounts and thus are not a measure of the exposure of
the Company through its use of such financial instruments.
The actual amounts exchanged are calculated on the basis
of the notional amounts and the other terms of the derivative
financial instruments, which relate to interest rates and
exchange rates.
The Company is exposed to credit related losses in the
event that counterparties to the derivative financial
instrument contracts do not perform according to the terms
of the contract. In the opinion of management, the
counterparties to the derivative financial instrument contracts
are creditworthy financial institutions, and the Company does
not expect any significant loss to result from non-performance
by such counterparties. The Company, in the normal course
of business, does not demand collateral. The credit exposure
of interest rate swap agreements, currency option contracts
and foreign currency contracts is represented by the fair
value of contracts with a positive fair value at the end of each

N OT I O N A L A M O U N T S A N D C R E D I T E X P O S U R E

The Company uses foreign currency forward contracts to
manage its exposure to foreign currency risk on certain
assets, liabilitites and future anticipated transactions. Such
derivative contracts do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment and are recorded in the balance sheet under receivables if the forward contracts have a net positive fair value,
and under other short-term liabilities if the forward contracts
have a net negative fair value. As of December 31, 2005, the
Company had forward contracts to receive approximately
NOK 1,058 million at exchange rates ranging from NOK/US$
6.29 to NOK/US$ 6.62 between January 17, 2006 and
September 28, 2012. Furthermore, the Company had forward
contracts to receive approximately SGD 3 million. The
exchange rates ranging from SGD/US$ 1.60 to SGD/US$ 1.61
in the period January 17, 2006 to May 15, 2006.

The Company’s foreign currency risk arises from:
• The translation of US dollar denominated debt and other
monetary assets and liabilities to Norwegian kroner with
the resulting gain or loss recorded as shareholders’ equity.
• Foreign currency forward contracts and foreign currency
options which are recorded as Other financial items.
• The impact of fluctuations in exchange rates on the
reported amounts of the Company’s revenues and
expenses which are contracted in foreign currencies
(primarily the US dollar).
• Its net investment in certain foreign subsidiaries which is
recorded as a cumulative translation adjustment in share
holders’ equity.

F O R E I G N C U R R E N CY R I S K M A N AG E M E N T

period, reduced by the effects of master netting agreements.
It is the Company's policy to enter into master netting agreements with the counterparties to derivative financial instrument contracts. These master netting agreements give the
Company the legal right to discharge all or a portion of the
amounts owed to a counterparty by offsetting it against
amounts that the counterparty owes to the Company.

F I N A N C I A L I N ST R U M E N T S A N D R I S K M A N AG E M E N T

The Company has operations and assets in a number of
countries worldwide. Consequently, the Company's results
from operations are affected, when presented in NOK, by
fluctuations in currency exchange rates, primarily relative to
the US dollar. When the NOK appreciates against other
currencies, the Company's profit from operations in foreign
currencies reported in NOK may decrease. Likewise, when
the NOK depreciates against other currencies, the
Company's profit from operations in foreign currencies
reported in NOK may increase. The Company is also exposed
to changes in interest rates on debt with variable interest
rates (see Note 14 and 15) and to the impact of changes in
currency exchange rates on US dollar-denominated debt.
Different financial instruments are used by the Company
to manage these foreign currency and interest rate risks
as summarized below.
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Receive rate
3 month LIBOR
3 month LIBOR
3 month LIBOR
7.50% fixed
3 month Nibor + 1.2%

The market for the Company’s services is the offshore oil and
gas industry, and the customers consist primarily of major
integrated oil companies, independent oil and gas producers
and government-owned oil companies. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of the customers and generally do not require material collateral. Reserves for potential
credit losses are maintained when necessary. The results of
operations and financial condition should be considered in
light of the fluctuations in demand experienced by drilling
contractors as changes in oil and gas producers’ expenditures
and budgets occur. These fluctuations can impact the results

C O N C E N T R AT I O N O F C R E D I T R I S K

Notional amount
338 (US$ 50 mill.)
338 (US$ 50 mill.)
338 (US$ 50 mill.)
100
220 (US$ 34 mill.)

The extent of the utilization of financial instruments is determined by reference to the Company's net debt exposure and
the Company’s views regarding future interest rates. At
December 31, 2005, the Company had outstanding interest
rate swap agreements representing approximately 25 percent of the Company's US dollar interest bearing debt. This
implies that the Company has a fixed interest rate for this

Interest rate swap agreements
Receivables/(Other short term liabilities)

The following is a summary of interest rate swap
agreements. Swap agreements that have a positive fair value

I N T E R E ST R AT E R I S K M A N AG E M E N T

Currency option contracts
Receivables

Currency forward contracts
Receivables/(Other short term liabilities)

S M E DV I G A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 0 5 • N OT E S

2005

-

Fair
value
(49)

90

Notional
amount
934

2004

2

Fair
value
74

2005
Fair
value
22

Notional
amount
706

2004
Fair
value
(8)

Length of contract
11/15/02-11/15/07
11/15/02-11/15/07
05/16/05-05/15/15
11/19/03-11/19/08
09/28/05-09/28/12

BP
Norsk Hydro
Statoil

2005
14%
14%
27%

2004
13%
17%
28%

of operations and financial condition as supply and demand
factors directly affect utilization and dayrates, which are the
primary determinants of net cash provided by operating
activities.
The following table summarizes revenues from major
customers as a percentage of total revenues (revenues in
excess of 10 percent for the period):

Pay rate
3.34%
3.31%
4.63%
3 month NIBOR
3 month LIBOR + 1.297%

The Company has the following interest rate swap agreements as of December 31, 2005:

portion of the debt. However, these agreements do not
qualify for hedge accounting, and accordingly the changes
in the fair values of the swap agreements are recorded as
Other financial items.

Notional
amount
1,014

are recorded as receivables while swap agreements with a
negative fair value are recorded as other short-term liabilities.

-

Notional
amount
1,120

27

28

22
(49)
-

125
300
5,057

Carrying
amount
702
1,066

2005

L E AS E S

The Company has signed operating leases for certain premises. Some of the premises are leased from the Smedvig
family’s real estate company, A/S Veni. See Note 24 Related
party transactions. Smedvig Offshore AS has a lease with
A/S Veni lasting until 2007 for the offices at Dusavik,
Stavanger.
Rental expenses amounted to NOK 17 million for 2005,
which is a decrease of NOK 1 million from 2004.
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8
74
2

135
200
3,817

Carrying
amount
746
985

2004

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010

YEAR

Estimated future minimum rental payments for the period
2006 to 2010 are as follows:

18
19
15
13
13

8
74
2

135
200
3,833

Fair
value
746
985

purchasing the remaining 50 percent for a cash payment
of US$ 79 million.

P U R C H AS E O F 5 0 P E R C E N T O F W E ST A L P H A

Effective July 1, 2005, the Company owned the semisubmersible drilling rig West Alpha 100 percent by

20

22
(49)
-

125
300
5,099

Fair
value
702
1,066

See Note 18 for further details regarding the fair value of derivative financial instruments.

Interest rate swap agreements
Currency forward contracts
Currency option contracts

D E R I VAT I V E F I N A N C I A L I N ST R U M E N T S

Accounts payable
Short-term interest bearing debt
Long-term interest bearing debt

LIABILITIES

Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables

AS S E T S

Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for the same or
similar financial instruments were used to estimate the fair
value of the marketable securities, short-term interest bearing debt, and long-term interest bearing debt. The estimated
values of the Company’s derivative financial instruments are
primarily based on settlement values. These values represent
the estimated amount that would be received or paid in the
event of termination of the contract, taking into consideration
current interest rates, the creditworthiness of the counterparties and current foreign currency exchange rates.

FA I R VA L U E O F F I N A N C I A L I N ST R U M E N T S

The Company has used a variety of methods and assumptions, which are based on market conditions and risks
existing at the time, to estimate the fair value of the
Company’s financial instruments as at December 31, 2005
and December 31, 2004. For certain instruments, including
cash and cash equivalents, receivables and accounts payable,
it is assumed that the carrying amount approximated fair
value due to the short-term maturity of those instruments.
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P R O P O RT I O N AT E C O N S O L I DAT I O N

R E L AT E D PA RTY T R A N S AC T I O N S

Interest paid
Taxes paid

2004
350,000
642,875
1,148,820
250,726
294,958
2,687,379

413
(18)
(11)

2004
497
168
176
93

2005
209
75

2004
143
82

the associated company Eastern Drilling ASA, which
represented an ownership interest of 39.75 percent as of
the December 31, 2005. The investment is made in relation
to the construction of a new sixth generation semi-submersible drilling unit where Smedvig will be responsible
for the construction supervision, marketing and operations
management. In 2005, Smedvig recognized a profit of
NOK 3 million in the consolidated accounts related to
services provided for Eastern Drilling.

2005
365,000
654,650
1,143,205
1,249,357
932,166
4,344,378

355
57
48

2005
304
183
192
4

for the Company’s pro rata share of the assets, liabilities
and results of operations of the companies that have
been proportionally consolidated. See note 29 for the
proportionately consolidated companies.

S U P P L E M E N TA L C AS H F LOW I N F O R M AT I O N

Cash paid for interest and taxes are as follows:

25

The Company has signed miscellaneous lease agreements
with A/S Veni and Peder Smedvig Capital Ltd. Both companies
are wholly owned by the Smedvig family which was the
largest shareholder in Smedvig asa until December 12, 2005.
The lease agreements primarily relate to office premises and
expire at various dates through 2007. The lease payments to
those companies for the years ended December 31, 2005
and 2004 were NOK 5 million and NOK 7 million per year.
In the 2005, the Company invested NOK 606 million in

24

Audit of parent company
Audit services in connection with US financial reporting
Audit of subsidiaries
Tax services
Audit related services
Total

Numbers in NOK

23

AU D I TO R ’ S R E M U N E R AT I O N

Revenues
Operating profit (loss)
Profit (loss) before income taxes

I N C O M E STAT E M E N T

Non-current assets
Current assets
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

BALANCE SHEET

The Company consolidates certain joint-venture companies
and limited partnerships in accordance with proportionate
consolidation principles. The Company’s ownership interest in
such companies and partnerships is approximately 50 percent.
The table below presents condensed financial information

22
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29

30

395
161
30
586

156
70
650

2004

424

2005

The guarantees have the following maturities:

For a number of years Smedvig included the majority of it’s
drilling units in a Norwegian tonnage tax scheme for ship
and rig owning companies. During 2005, new tax legislation
was enacted in Norway that will cause certain ownership
activities related to the Company´s fleet of mobile drilling
units and tender rigs owned by Norwegian subsidiaries to be
excluded from the Norwegian tonnage tax scheme effective
January 1, 2006. The change in tax law resulted from revised
EU state aid guidelines. Through December 31, 2005 under
the Norwegian tonnage tax scheme, qualifying income
earned by these Norwegian subsidiaries was not subject to
ordinary taxation until distributed to shareholders, which for
the Company are other wholly-owned entities. Historically,
deferred taxes were not provided on this income. The effect
of this change is that approximately NOK 2.5 billion of
untaxed profits as of December 31, 2005 are subject to
ordinary taxation in future periods. The untaxed profits of
14 percent will be included in taxable income each year on
a declining balance basis. In addition, upon exit from the
Norwegian tonnage tax scheme, the Company will be taxed
on certain differences between the fair value and the book
value related assets which will be included in future taxable
income at a rate of 14 percent per annum on a declining
balance basis. Concurrently, the tax basis of such assets
will increase to their fair value at the exit date, which will be
deductible as additional tax depreciation in future

121
205
324

The Company has NOK 65 million as deposited in banks as
of December 31, 2005 related to withholding taxes.

R E ST R I C T E D B A N K D E P O S I T S

The Company has entered into an agreement with Keppel
FELS in Singapore to build a new semi-tender, West Berani.
Total capital expenditures for the new semi-tender are
estimated at US$ 105 million, of which Smedvig’s share will
be approximately US$ 33 million. As of December 31, 2005,
the Company has spent US$ 5.1 million. The agreement
includes an option for Smedvig to purchase the hull and
machinery at a pre-agreed price. The new rig is scheduled
for delivery in the fourth quarter 2006.

P U R C H AS E C O M M I T M E N T S W E ST B E R A N I

2006
2007
2008 and thereafter

YEAR

In September 2005, Smedvig received a writ from
Transocean Offshore Deepwater Drilling Inc. claiming
compensation for alleged infringement of patents of multiactivity offshore drilling apparatus and methods, and insisting
that Smedvig be prohibited from applying simultaneous
operations in offshore drilling activities currently performed
by West Navigator and West Venture. In Smedvig's opinion,
the accusations in the writ by Transocean Offshore
Deepwater Drilling Inc. are unfounded. Legal proceedings
are under preparation. The hearings will be conducted in
Norwegian Courts. No amounts have been provided as
of December 31, 2005.

D UA L D R I L L I N G PAT E N T S

periods. The Company has a plan to move the ownership
interests of its tender rigs outside of Norway which will
impact the ultimate settlement of related deferred taxes.
The net deferred tax impact of the change in tax law and the
decision to move ownership of the tender rigs outside of
Norway was an additional tax expense of NOK 640 million in
the 2005 financial statements. As of December 31, 2005, the
Company had not yet completed its evaluation of the future
ownership of its other mobile units.
The potential accounting effect of transferring the
ownership of the mobile units out of Norway would be an
additional tax expense of approximately NOK 1.4 billion,
based on the fair value of the rigs as of December 31, 2005.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTIGENCIES

TO N N AG E TA X SYST E M

27

Guarantees to customers of
the Company’s own performance
Guarantee of the Company’s share of debt
of proportionately consolidated entity
Other guarantees
Total

The Company has issued guarantees in favor of third parties
as follows, which is the maximum potential future payment
for each type of guarantee:

G UA R A N T E E S

8,158
686
8,844

4,068

2005

M O RT G AG E S, G UA R A N T E E S A N D P U R C H AS E C O M M I T M E N T S F O R C A P I TA L
EXPENDITURES

Mobile units and tender rigs
Accounts receivable
Book value of pledged assets

P L E D G E D AS S E T S

Mortgages

M O RT G AG E S
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a) Subsidiary merger
Due to the transition rules under IFRS, the exchange of
ownership interests in a former subsidiary for an ownership
interest in Roxar was accounted for as a merger at book
value with no gain or loss recognition. In accordance with US
GAAP, the transaction was recorded at fair value and a gain
was recognized to the extent that ownership interests were
deemed to have been economically acquired and sold.
The gain recognized under US GAAP resulted in goodwill
computed on differences between the Company’s
investment in Roxar over its proportionate share of Roxar’s
net assets. Because of this difference, the Company’s
carrying value in the associated company Lisme AS is higher
under US GAAP as compared to IFRS.

P R I N C I PA L D I F F E R E N C E S B E TW E E N I F R S A N D U S G A A P

Subsidiary merger and associated company
Social security costs related to share-based payments
Pensions
Reversal of impairment charge and depreciation adjustments
Deferred tax assets (liabilities)
Shareholders' equity in accordance with US GAAP

A DJ U ST M E N T F O R U S G A A P

Consolidated Shareholders’ equity in accordance with IFRS

D I F F E R E N C E S B E TW E E N I F R S A N D U S G A A P I S AS F O L LOW S

2005
364

2004
370

(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)

(e)

(b)
(d)
(d)
(e)

6
10
34
(786)
197
2,901

2005
3,440
6
8
36
(209)
(798)
2,108

2004
3,065

1.69

1.70

9.97
9.90

24
(209)
(88)
2
38
137

9
(594)
17
833
1
162
792

b) Share compensation expense and social security costs
The Company has a number of share incentive plans.
In accordance with IFRS, the Company has introduced a
fair-value-based method of accounting for its share options.
The fair value for share-based compensation is measured at
the date of grant of the option and recognized as expense
over the vesting period.
Under US GAAP, the Company applies the intrinsic-value-based
method of accounting. Under this method, compensation
expense is recorded at the date of grant only if the current
market price of the underlying stock exceeded the
exercise price.

T H E E F F E C T O N C O N S O L I DAT E D S H A R E H O L D E R S ’ E Q U I TY O F S I G N I F I C A N T

Share-based payments and social security costs
Reversal of impairment charge
Depreciation effect on reversed impairment changes
Deferred taxes - shipowning companies
Other
The tax effect of US GAAP adjustments
Net profit in accordance with US GAAP
Basic earnings per share
in accordance with US GAAP
Diluted earnings per share in accordance
with US GAAP

A DJ U ST M E N T S TO U S G A A P

Consolidated net profit in accordance with IFRS

R E C O N C I L I AT I O N O F N E T P R O F I T U N D E R I F R S TO U S G A A P

e) Deferred taxes
The income tax effects of the US GAAP adjustments are
recorded as deferred tax expense (benefit), where appropriate.
The Norwegian taxation scheme for shipping and offshore
companies provides that taxation will be based upon funds
distributed to shareholders. In addition, parts of net financial
items are subject to ordinary Norwegian taxation.
With effect from January 1, 2006 the Company’s drilling
units are excluded from the tonnage tax system. Under
IFRS the Company has, in 2005, recorded the effect of
being excluded from the tonnage tax system. In addition,
the Company recorded the tax expense related to
transferring the ownership of the tender rigs out of Norway.

d) Reversal of impairment charges
Under IFRS, impairment charges recognized in previous
financial reporting periods can be reversed when the fair
value of a related asset increases above its adjusted
original historical cost less depreciation that would have been
recorded from the date of the impairment to the date of the
reversal. Under US GAAP, for assets held and used, an
impairment charge results in a new carrying value of the
asset and cannot be reversed when market conditions improve.
Due to the reversal of the impairment charges under IFRS, the
resulting depreciation under IFRS is reversed under US GAAP.

c) Pensions
In the preparation of the opening balance to IFRS the
Company recognized the cumulative actuarial gains and
losses for defined benefit plans at the date of transition
to IFRS. Under US GAAP, there is no option to recognize
the cumulative actuarial gains and losses, and historical
US GAAP pension accounting is retained.
There are other potential differences related to pension
between IFRS and US GAAP that do not currently have a
significant impact on its net profit or shareholder’s equity.

The assumptions used in the calculation are described in note 17.

1.53
1.51

1.70
1.69

123

(14)

-

2004
137

Guarantees
Under US GAAP, a guarantor is required to recognize,
at the inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair value
of the obligation guarantee. IFRS does not have a similar
requirement. Substantially all of the Company’s guarantees
relate to its own performance and do not fall within the
scope of FASB Interpretaion No. 45, Guarantor’s Accounting

Proportionate consolidation method
Under IFRS, the Company consolidates certain joint stock
companies, in which the Company’s holdings are 50 percent
or less, in accordance with the proportionate consolidation
method. Condensed financial information for the companies
that have been proportionally consolidated is included in Note
22. Under US GAAP the Company’s ownership interest in
these companies are accounted for under the equity method.

OT H E R D I F F E R E N C E S B E TW E E N I F R S A N D U S G A A P

Under US GAAP, the Company has previously provided for
deferred tax related to income earned within the tonnage tax
system resulting in a difference from the change of tax law.
In addition under US GAAP, the tax expense of transferring
the ownership of the tender rigs out of Norway is eliminated
in the consolidation and any payable tax upon transfer is
recorded as an asset and amortized over the remaining
useful lives of the drilling units. Under IFRS, an expense
resulted because the income tax rate in Singapore is lower
than in Norway.
In cases where the functional currency differs from
the local currency used for taxation purposes, US GAAP
requires deferred taxes to be provided on differences
between the historical asset carrying amount as measured
in local currency and its local currency tax base. Under IFRS,
deferred taxes are measured based upon the difference
between the asset carrying amount and the tax value
measured in functional currency.

9.86
9.79

9.97
9.90

As reported:
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share
Pro forma:
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

783

(9)

-

2005
792

and is recognized as compensation expense over the vesting
period. The following table illustrates the effect on net profit
if the fair-value-based method had been applied to all outstanding and unvested awards in each period under US GAAP.

Pro forma net profit

Total share-based compensation expense
determined under fair value based method
for all awards, net of related tax effects

US GAAP

Share-based compensation expense included in
reported net profit, net of related tax effects

Under US GAAP, social security tax related to share options
is recorded when the option is exercised and the social
security tax is due and payable. However, under IFRS, social
security tax is calculated for options in the money at year end

Net profit as reported
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IFRS differs in certain significant respects from US GAAP.
Information related to the nature and effects of such
differences in presented below:

31

28

P R I N C I PA L D I F F E R E N C E S B E TW E E N I N T E R N AT I O N A L F I N A N C I A L
R E P O RT I N G STA N DA R D S ( I F R S ) A N D U. S. G E N E R A L LY AC C E P T E D
AC C O U N T I N G P R I N C I P L E S ( U S G A A P )
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SFAS 123R eliminates an entity’s ability to account for
share-based compensation transactions using the intrinsic
value method of accounting in APB Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issues to Employees, which was
permitted under FASB Statement No. 123. SFAS 123R also
addresses the classification of awards between liabilities and
shareholders’ equity.
Upon adoption of SFAS 123R, an entity must choose
between two transition methods, the “modified prospective”
method or the “modified retrospective” method. Under
the modified prospective method, awards that are granted,
modified or settled after the date of adoption should be
measured and accounted for in accordance with SFAS 123R.
Unvested equity classified awards that were granted prior
to the effective date should continue to be accounted for
in accordance with SFAS 123, except that amounts must
be recognized in the income statement. Under the modified
retrospective approach, the previously-reported amounts
are restated (either to the beginning of the year of adoption
or for all periods presented) to reflect the SFAS 123 amounts
in the income statement. SFAS 123R is effective beginning
January 1, 2006, for the Company. The Company has not
yet determined the impact of adopting SFAS 123R in 2005.

* Tender rigs
** Consolidated in accordance with the proportionate method
*** Accounted for in accordance with the equity method

Varia Perdana Sdn Bhd **
Crest Tender Rigs Sdn Bhd **
Tioman Drilling Company Sdn Bhd **
Lisme AS ***
Eastern Drilling ASA ***

AS S O C I AT E D C O M PA N I E S

Smedvig Asia Ltd.
Smedvig Offshore Singapore Ltd
Smedvig Insurance Ltd.
Smedvig Drilling Ltd.
Smedvig Tender Rigs Ltd.
Smedvig Offshore Danmark AS

FOREIGN SUBSIDIARIES

Smedvig Offshore AS
AS Smedvig Prodrill
Smedvig Engineering AS
Smedvig Rig AS

49
49
49
44
40

100
100
100
100
100
100

100
100
100
100

Percent owned by Group

T3, T6, T9 and Teknik Berkat *

West Setia *

West Epsilon, West Venture, West Alpha, West
Navigator, T4 *, T7 *, T8 *, West Pelaut *,
West Menang * and West Alliance *

Operating units

C O M PA N I E S I N C L U D E D I N T H E C O N S O L I DAT E D F I N A N C I A L STAT E M E N T S

N O RW E G I A N S U B S I D I A R I E S

Company
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Accounting standards issued but not adopted
In December 2004, the FASB Issued Statement No. 123
(Revised 2004), Share-Based Payment: an amendment of
FASB Statements 123 and 95, December 2004 (SFAS 123R).
SFAS 123R requires an entity to recognize the grantdate fair-value of stock options and other equity-based
compensation issued to employees in the income statement.

and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including
Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others (FIN 45).
However, the Company has guaranteed its share of bank
debt at an entity that is proportionately consolidated under
IFRS. Under US GAAP, this entity would be accounted for as
an equity method investment and, accordingly, FIN 45 is
applicable to such a guarantee. Under FIN 45, the Company
records the fair value of the guarantee as an increase in its
investment with a corresponding guarantee liability at
inception. Both the increase in the investment and guarantee
liability are recognized ratably in earnings over the guarantee
period. The Company believes the fair value of the guarantee
was immaterial and would not impact net income in 2005
and 2004 or shareholders’ equity as of December 31, 2005
and 2004.

S M E DV I G A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 0 5 • N OT E S
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T R A N S I T I O N TO I F R S

The transition from N GAAP to IFRS has no effect upon
reported cash flows generated by the Company.
The reconciling items between the N GAAP presentation and
the IFRS presentation have no net impact on the cash flows
generated. In preparing the cash flow statement under IFRS,
cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand,
highly liquid interest bearing securities with original
maturities of three months or less.
The Company will continue to record property, plant
and equipment at historical cost adjusted for accumulated
depreciation. However, under IFRS the Company has
introduced component accounting, which implies that drilling
units are divided into essential components. The applications
of component accounting will not have any significant effects
on the Company’s accounts.

Under IFRS, dividends will be recorded when approved
by the General Meeting. Under N GAAP, dividends approved
by the board of directors were recorded as of year-end.

DIVIDENDS

C AS H F LOW STAT E M E N T
TA N G I B L E F I X E D AS S E T S

I N C O M E STAT E M E N T C L AS S I F I C AT I O N

Under N GAAP, the reversal of the write-down of West
Navigator was classified as a non-operating item. Under
IFRS, such reversal is included within operating profit.

• IFRS 2 Share-based Payment has not been applied to any
equity instruments that were granted on or before November 7
2002, nor has it been applied to equity instruments granted
after November 7, 2002 that vested before January 1, 2005.

• Cumulative currency translation differences for all foreign
operations are deemed to be zero as at January 1, 2004.

• The Company has recognized all cumulative actuarial
gains and losses on pensions and other post-retirement
benefits as at January 1, 2004, directly in equity. Accordingly,
the Company discloses prospectively from January 1, 2004
the information required by IAS 19 on scheme obligations,
scheme assets and experience adjustments on scheme
assets and liabilities, as those amounts are determined.

• IFRS 3 Business Combinations has not been applied
to acquisitions of subsidiaries or of interests in associates
and joint ventures that occurred before January 1, 2004.

IFRS 1 allows first-time adopters certain exemptions
from the general requirement to apply IFRS as effective for
December 2005 year end retrospectively. The Company has
taken the following exemptions:

EXEMPTIONS APPLIED

Under IFRS, first year’s installment on long-term debt is
classified as short-term liability. Under N GAAP, such
installment was classified as long-term.

F I R ST Y E A R ’ S I N STA L L M E N T O N LO N G - T E R M D E B T

The Company has recognized the cumulative actuarial
gains and losses for defined benefit plans at the date of
transition. This led to an increase of approximately NOK 24
million in recorded pension liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet for 2004.

PENSION

Amortization of goodwill is not permitted under IFRS, but
the carrying amount of goodwill must be tested for impairment at least annually.

G O O DW I L L

Smedvig has the US dollar as its functional currency for a
significant part of its business, although the consolidated
accounts are presented in Norwegian kroner. The impact of
translating US dollar denominated debt into Norwegian kroner is recorded for in shareholders’ equity. Income taxes related to such transactions have previously, under N GAAP, been
adjusted for in shareholders’ equity as well. In accordance
with IFRS, such taxes will be recognized in the income statement. For 2004, such taxes amounted to NOK 67 million.

I N C O M E TA X E S

Under N GAAP, the intrinsic value of employee share
option was expensed over the vesting period. IFRS requires
the fair value of options and share awards which ultimately
vest to be charged to the income statement over the vesting
or performance period. The fair value is determined at the
date of the grant using an appropriate pricing model.
Assumptions for calculating the fair value of the options are
shown in note 17. If an award fails to vest as the result of certain types of performance condition not being satisfied, the
charge to the income statement will be adjusted to reflect
this. Consequently an additional expense of NOK 14 million
has been recognized within personnel expenses in the
income statement for the year ended December 31, 2004.

S H A R E - B AS E D PAY M E N T

For all periods up to and including the year ended
December 31, 2004, the Company prepared its financial
statements in accordance with Norwegian generally accepted accounting principles (N GAAP). The financial statements,
for the year ended December 31, 2005, are the first the
Company is required to prepare in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted
by the European Union (EU).
The accounting policies described at the beginning of the
notes have been applied in preparing the financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2005, the comparative
information presented in these financial statements for the
year ended December 31, 2004 and in the preparation of an
opening IFRS balance sheet at January 1, 2004. In preparing
its opening IFRS balance sheet, the Company has adjusted
amounts reported previously in financial statements prepared
in accordance with N GAAP. This note explains the principal
adjustments made by the Company in restating its N GAAP
balance sheet as at January 1, 2004 and its previously published
N GAAP financial statements for the year ended December
31, 2004
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A 90

492

Profit before other items

(0.71)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share

30

Minority share of net profit
(0.71)

(88)

Net profit (loss)

Earnings (loss) per share

88

(176)

Profit (loss) before income taxes

Income taxes

(668)
(668)

Reversal of write-down
Gains on sale of assets
Other items
Total other items

OT H E R I T E M S

15
(128)
75
(38)

Interest income
Interest expense
Other financial items
Net financial items

5.55

5.60

0

451

(97)

548

224

209
15

324

11
(129)
28
(90)

414

(2,667)

(2,507)
530

(1,450)
(782)
(435)

3,081

(1,347)
(737)
(423)

3,081

3,037

N GAAP
2004

3,037

N GAAP
2003

Operating profit

Personnel expenses
Operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Reversal of write-down
Total operating expenses

O P E R AT I N G E X P E N S E S

Revenues
Gains on sale of assets
Total revenues

REVENUES

NOK mill. (except per share data)

Income Statements
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(1.00)

(1.00)

0

(81)

(67)

(14)

(224)

(209)
(15)

210

210

209
195

(14)

15
15

Effect of
transition

4.55

4.60

0

370

(164)

534

0

534

11
(129)
28
(90)

624

(1,464)
(782)
(435)
209
(2,472)

3,081
15
3,096

IFRS
2004

35
36

Total equity and liabilities

Short-term interest bearing debt
Current liabilities
Total current liabilities

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Deferred taxes
Provisions
Long-term interest bearing debt
Total non-current liabilities

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Total equity

E Q U I TY

Equity and Liabilities

Total assets

Receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

C U R R E N T AS S E T S

Deferred taxes
Mobile units and tender rigs
Other tangible assets
Other financial fixed assets
Total non-current assets

LO N G - T E R M AS S E T S

Assets

7,575

200
818
1,018

0
172
3,323
3,495

2,545
517
3,062

7,575

883
993
1,876

26
5,377
133
163
5,699

N GAAP
01.01.04

9

21
(101)
(80)

33
(21)
12

77
77

9

0

9

9

Effect of
transition

7,584

221
717
938

0
205
3,302
3,507

2,545
594
3,139

7,584

883
993
1,876

35
5,377
133
163
5,708

IFRS
01.01.04

8,098

200
877
1,077

26
198
3,828
4,052

2,534
435
2,969

8,098

985
746
1,731

0
6,081
128
158
6,367

N GAAP
31.12.04

0

11
(120)
(109)

(9)
33
(11)
13

96
96

0

0

0

Effect of
transition

8,098

211
757
968

17
231
3,817
4,065

2,534
531
3,065

8,098

985
746
1,731

0
6,081
128
158
6,367

IFRS
31.12.04

Balance sheets - reconciliation between N GAAP and IFRS
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(18)

(18)

830

830

Treasury
shares

1,733

1,733

Share
premium
reserve

810

(810)
101
(24)
594
-

(810)
101
(24)
3,139

3,062

Foreign
Total
currency shareholders'
adjustments
equity

1,327

Retained
earnings

823

823

Issued
share
capital

(22)

(22)

Treasury
shares

1,733

1,733

Share
premium
reserve

810

(288)

67

(1,165)

(810)
120
(67)
(24)
819

120
(24)
3,065

2,969

Foreign
Total
currency shareholders'
adjustments
equity

1,600

Retained
earnings

Net profit under N GAAP
Effect of transition to IFRS:
Share-based payments
Income taxes
Net profit under IFRS

UNDER N GAAP

(14)
(67)
370

451

2004

N E T P R O F I T R E C O N C I L I AT I O N B E TW E E N N G A A P A N D I F R S F O R T H E Y E A R 2 0 0 4 , B E I N G T H E L AT E ST P E R I O D P U B L I S H E D

Equity December 31, 2004 N GAAP
Effect of transition to IFRS:
Translation differences reclassified
Dividends classified as equity
Taxes related to foreign exchange
Actuarial gains/losses recognized
Equity December 31, 2004 IFRS

UNDER N GAAP

E Q U I TY R E C O N C I L I AT I O N B E TW E E N N G A A P A N D I F R S AT D E C E M B E R 3 1 , 2 0 0 4 , B E I N G T H E L AST P E R I O D P U B L I S H E D

Equity January 1, 2004 N GAAP
Effect of transition to IFRS:
Translation differences reclassified
Dividends classified as equity
Actuarial gains/losses recognized
Equity January 1, 2004 IFRS

Issued
share
capital

E Q U I TY R E C O N C I L I AT I O N B E TW E E N N G A A P A N D I F R S AT T H E T R A N S I T I O N DAT E , JA N UA RY 1 , 2 0 0 4
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37
38

Profit for the year is distributed as follows:
Reserve for valuation variances
Distributable reserves
Dividend

Net income

Income taxes

Income before income taxes

Interest income
Interest expenses
Other financial items
Net financial items

FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

Operating profit

Personnel expenses
Other operating expenses
Total operating expenses

O P E R AT I N G E X P E N S E S

Revenues
Other revenues
Share of net income in limited partnerships
Total revenues

REVENUES

NOK million

Income Statements - Smedvig asa

(8)

(3)
(4)
(5)

(2)

(7)
(1)

Notes

7
62
-

69

(32)

101

34
(60)
72
46

55

(24)
(10)
(34)

34
35
20
89

2005

13
147
120

280

(112)

392

25
(42)
402
385

7

(16)
(7)
(23)

23
7
30

2004

A 92

Kate Blankenship

Sign.

Chairman

Sign.

John Fredriksen

Total equity and liabilities

Accounts payable
Dividends payable
Short-term liabilities from Group Companies
Other short-term liabilities
Total current liabilities

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Long-term interest bearing debt
Total long-term liabilities

LO N G - T E R M L I A B I L I T I E S

Pensions
Total provisions

P R OV I S I O N S

Liabilities

Stavanger/Oslo, March 30, 2006
The Board of Directors of Smedvig asa

Sign.

Siri B Hatlen
Sign.

Per Kumle
Sign.

Tor Olav Trøim

(10)
(15)

(14)

(13)

(12)
(12)

Retained earnings
Reserve for valuation variances
Other equity
Total retained earnings

Total shareholders’ equity

(12)
(12)

(10)
(11)

5,083

3
60
375
438

1,595
1,595

4
4

3,046

44
482
526

787
1,733
2,520

5,083

20
281
223
524

1,002
1
4,559

(1)

(9)
(10)

118
1
1,078
2,359

2005

(8)

Notes

Paid-in capital
Share capital
Share premium reserve
Total paid-in capital

S H A R E H O L D E R S ’ E Q U I TY

Equity and Liabilities

Total assets

Receivables
Receivables from Group Companies
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

C U R R E N T AS S E T S

Deferred taxes
Other tangible assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Receivables from Group Companies
Investments in limited partnerships and
associated companies
Other long-term assets
Total long-term assets

LO N G - T E R M AS S E T S

Assets

NOK million

Balance Sheets - Smedvig asa
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Sign.

CEO

Kjell E Jacobsen

4,068

2
120
211
333

557
557

2
2

3,176

37
598
635

801
1,740
2,541

4,068

92
339
348
779

211
1
3,289

146
2,631
300

2004

39

40

(49)
(397)
(99)

131
225
431

348
223

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

(125)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

1,016
(209)
(120)
687

348

516

(168)

77
(68)
(101)
(92)

1
25
3
(6)
23

(7)
(1)
75

(1)
2,200
(666)
(2,059)
(109)
(608)
(1,243)

280

69

2004

(20)
(35)
9
22
2
28

2005

Long-term debt borrowings
Treasury shares
Dividends
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

C AS H F LOW S F R O M F I N A N C I N G AC T I V I T I E S

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets
Investment in other fixed assets
Capital paid from subsidiaries
Paid in capital in subsidiaries
Receivables and subordinated loans, Group Companies
Long-term receivables
Purchase of shares in limited partnerships
Purchase of shares in associated companies
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

C AS H F LOW S F R O M I N V E ST I N G AC T I V I T I E S

Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Share of net income in limited partnerships
Warranty insurance settlement
Share based payments
Unrealized foreign exchange
Pension provisions
Deferred income taxes
Change in assets and liabilities:
Receivables
Other current liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

C AS H F LOW S F R O M O P E R AT I N G AC T I V I T I E S

NOK million

Cash flows - Smedvig asa
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The amount for the consideration paid, including directly
attributable costs to repurchase outstanding common shares
is recognized as a deduction of equity. The par value of
repurchased shares is classified as treasury shares and
presented as a desuction of share capital. The difference
between the consideration paid for the shares and the par
value of the shares and the par value of the shares is
deducted from retained earnings.

Accounts receivable are recorded net of an allowance for
doubtful accounts, if any.

The Company’s interest-rate swap agreements and
forward exchange contracts do not qualify as hedges for
accounting purposes, as they are not designated as hedges
of specific assets, liabilities of firm commitments.
Consequently, interest-rate swap agreements and forward
exchange contracts are marked to market, with the resulting
gain or loss recorded as Other Financial Items.

D E R I VAT I V E F I N A N C I A L I N ST R U M E N T S

The Company has several defined benefit plans which
provide retirement, death and termination benefits.
The retirement benefits are generally a function of years
of employment and amount of compensation. The plans are
primarily funded through payments to insurance companies.
The Company records its pension costs in the period during
which the services are rendered by employees and amounts
are based on actuarial calculations.

PENSIONS

Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments with an original maturity of 90 days or less.

C AS H A N D B A N K D E P O S I T S

Parties are related if one party has the ability, directly
or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant
influence over the other party in making finacial and
operating decisions. Parties are also related if they are
subject to common control or common significant influence.
All transactions between the related parties are based on
the principle of arm´s length (estimated market value).

R E L AT E D PA RT I E S

R E P U R C H AS E O F OW N S H A R E S

AC C O U N T S R E C E I VA B L E

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

Investments in subsidiaries and associates are accounted
for using the cost method in the parent company accounts.
The investments are valued at cost less impairment losses.
Write down to fair value are according to good accounting
practice recognized when the impairment is considered not
to be temporary and reversed if the basis for the write down
is no longer present.

I N V E ST M E N T S I N S U B S I D I A R I E S A N D AS S O C I AT E S

The Company has established incentive plans for senior
management. In the case when the exercise price of the
share options granted is lower than the market price of the
Company’s shares on the date of grant, the difference is
recognized as salary expense over the vesting period.
National insurance contributions arising from such incentive
programs are accrued over the vesting period of the options.

INCENTIVE PROGRAMS

Income tax expense consists of taxes currently payable
and changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are based on temporary differences
that arise between the book basis and tax basis of assets
and liabilities and the future tax benefits of tax losses carry
forward.
Deferred tax assets are recognized if it is probable that
the future benefit will be realized.

I N C O M E TA X

The Company is using Norwegian kroner as the functional
currency. Bank deposits, short-term recievables and shortand long-term liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at year-end exchange rates. Any gains or losses
resulting from such translation are recognized as financial
income or expense,

The Company’s revenues is derived from Management
agreements. Revenues are recognized in the period during
which the services are rendered.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles requires the
Company to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts to assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial
statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

U S E O F E ST I M AT E S

The accompanying financial statements present the
financial position of Smedvig asa. The accounts have been
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles in Norway (Norwegian GAAP). The amounts are
presented in NOK rounded to the nearest million, unless
otherwise stated.

Accounting Policies

S M E DV I G A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 0 5 • AC C O U N T I N G P O L I C I E S - S M E DV I G A S A
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42

PERSONNEL EXPENSES

Book value
01/01/05
37
8
166
211

1,000

Paid in/
Net income Paid out capital
7
75
13
(21)
20
54

2

2005
14
7
2
1
24

Salaries and
bonus payments
3 527

Income from *
exercised options
10 322

Pension
premium paid
214

Pursant to the employment contract with the Chief Executive Officer he will receive compensation corresponding to 24
months salary if he, at the request of the Board of Directors, resigns.

The Chief Executive Officer has an early pension agreement whereby he can retire at an age of 65.

The Chief Executive Officer has a bonus arrangement based on achieving specific targets with a maximum limit of 50 percent
of annual salary.

* Calculated as the difference between fair value of the option at date of exercising less exercise price multiplied by
the numbers of exercised options.

Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

2

2004
10
3
2
1
16

Book value
12/31/05
228
608
166
1,002

The non - Executive Chairman up to February 16, 2006, Peter T Smedvig, has not recieved any remuneration in 2005.

Board of Directors

(Numbers in Nok 1,000)

Remuneration expensed in 2005:

Number of employees

Salaries
National insurance contributions
Pension costs
Other remunerations
Total

S P E C I F I C AT I O N O F P E R S O N N E L E X P E N S E S

2

West Alpha Chartering KS
KS Difko XLIV
Eastern Drilling ASA
Lisme AS
Total

Specification of ownership interests in limited partnerships and associated companies:
Purchase
of shares
109
608
717

I N V E ST M E N T S I N L I M I T E D PA RT N E R S H I P S A N D AS S O C I AT E D C O M PA N I E S

Ownership in limited partnerships (LP) are included according to the equity method.

1

Notes

A 94

Class
B shares
0
0
0
0
0
20 000
11 700

Options
granted
in '2005
0
0
0
0
0
70 000
50 000

I N T E R E ST I N C O M E

I N T E R E ST E X P E N S E S

OT H E R F I N A N C I A L I T E M S

Foreign exchange gain
Dividend from subsidiaries
Group contribution
Write-down of shares
Other financial items
Total

5

Interest expenses includes interest to group companies of NOK 3 million.

4

Interest income includes interest from group companies of NOK 27 million.

3

*The Board was elected on an extraordinary general meeting that took place on February 16, 2006.

More information about options is described in note 3, to the consolidated accounts.

John Fredriksen, Chairman
Kate Blankenship, Director
Siri B. Hatlen, Director
Per Kumle, Director
Tor Olav Trøim, Director
Kjell E. Jacobsen, CEO
Alf C. Thorkildsen, CFO

Class
A shares
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Shares and options owned by the Board*, CEO and Key Personnel at December 31, 2005:

S M E DV I G A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 0 5 • N OT E S - S M E DV I G A S A

2005
(61)
138
(5)
72

Options
exercised
in '2005
0
0
0
0
0
115 000
40 000

2004
12
311
116
(40)
3
402

Outstanding
options
0
0
0
0
0
175 000
150 000

43

44

F I N A N C I A L I N ST R U M E N T S A N D R I S K M A N AG E M E N T

Currency
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$

Amount
36
20
17
22
10
16
5
10
34.38

Exchange rate
6.2892
6.3200
6.5100
6.5096
6.6156
6.6065
6.6241
6.5909
6.4000

Value date
01/17/2006
02/24/2006
02/24/2006
03/20/2006
04/25/2006
05/22/2006
06/15/2006
06/15/2006
09/28/2012

Receive rate
3 month Libor
3 month Libor
3 month Libor
7.5% fixed
Nibor+1.2%

Pay rate
3.34%
3.31%
4.629%
3 month Nibor
Libor+1.297%

Length of contract
11/15/02-11/15/07
11/15/02-11/15/07
05/16/05-05/15/15
11/19/03-11/19/08
09/28/05-09/28/12

OT H E R R E V E N U E S

In 2005, other revenues reflected an income of NOK 35 million stemming from a warranty insurance settlement related to the
Balder FPU.

7

Unrealized gain on interest rate swap agreements as of December 31, 2005 were NOK 22 million.
For more detailed information regarding the derivative financial instruments, see note 18 to the consolidated accounts.

Notional amount
338 (US$ 50 mill.)
338 (US$ 50 mill.)
338 (US$ 50 mill.)
100
220 (US$ 34.38 mill.)

The Company had the following interest rate swap agreements as of December 31, 2005:

Unrealized loss on foreign currency contracts as of December 31, 2005 were NOK 49 million. Realized net gain on foreign
currency contracts in the period from January 1, 2005 until December 31, 2005 were NOK 28 million.

Sold
Sold
Sold
Sold
Sold
Sold
Sold
Sold
Sold

The Company had the following foreign currency contracts as of December 31, 2005:

6
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I N C O M E TA X E S

1) Numbers in NOK 1,000

Office
Stavanger
Hong Kong
Stavanger
Stavanger
Stavanger
Bermuda
Stavanger
Stavanger
Stavanger
Stavanger
Singapore

I N V E ST M E N T S I N S U B S I D I A R I E S

AS Smedvig Production Contracting
Smedvig Asia Limited
Smedvig Offshore AS
AS Smedvig Prodrill
Smedvig Engineering AS
Smedvig Insurance Ltd.
Smedvig Rig AS
Smedvig Drilling XI AS
Smedvig Drilling XII AS
West Alpha Chartering AS
Smedvig Tender Rigs Pte. Ltd.
Total

C O M PA N Y

9

Ownership
interest
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

Loss carried forward
Total temporary differences after deduction of loss carry forward
Deferred tax assets (28%)

Pension liabilities
Unrealized loss forward contracts
Temporary negative differences

T E M P O R A RY N E G AT I V E D I F F E R E N C E S

Unrealized gain forward contracts and swap agreements
(included share in limited partnership)
Tax allocation on gains on sale of assets
Long term maintenance (included share in limited partnership)
Temporary positive differences

T E M P O R A RY P O S I T I V E D I F F E R E N C E S

Calculation of deferred tax assets

Payable tax previous years
Change in deferred tax assets
Income taxes

I N C O M E TA X E S

Income before income taxes
Other permanent differences
Change in temporary differences
Basis for payable tax calculation before use of tax loss carry forward

B AS I S F O R T H I S Y E A R ' S PAYA B L E TA X C A L C U L AT I O N

Book
value 1)
7,461
212,862
49,100
57,949
500
813
100,000
500
1,924
2,918
644,350
1,078,377

Specification of differences between income before income taxes and the basis for tax calculation.

8
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Equity 1)
9,454
154,454
84,565
54,377
10,485
64,097
1,144,158
509
1,681
6,315
663,534

(478)
(421)
118

(4)
(49)
(53)

22
3
85
110

(4)
(28)
(32)

2005
101
(2)
82
181

Result1)
185
(21,098)
36,574
87,426
7,152
4,792
(170,330)
8
36
102
(12,151)

(659)
(520)
146

(2)
(2)

90
4
47
141

(37)
(75)
(112)

2004
392
(123)
(196)
73

46

R E C E I VA B L E S F R O M G R O U P C O M PA N I E S

C AS H A N D C AS H E Q U I VA L E N T S

S H A R E H O L D E R S ' E Q U I TY

Equity January 1, 2005
Treasury shares
Cancellation of shares
Sharebased payments
Net income after dividends payable
Equity December 31, 2005

The Company has two classes of common stock, A shares
and B shares. The Class B shares do not carry a right to vote
at the general meetings. Otherwise, holders of Class B

12

2005
223
223

2005
2,640
(60)
2,580

2004
274
74
348

2004
639
639

Share
Capital
801
(14)
787

Share
premium
reserve
1,740
(7)
1,733

Reserve
for valuation
variances
37
7
44

Other
equity
598
(194)
7
9
62
482

shares have the same rights and privileges as the holders of
the Class A shares. Further information is presented in note
12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Of the total cash and cash equivalents of NOK 223 million, NOK 65 million is restricted.

Cash
Certificates of deposit
Total

11

Terms of repayment are individual for each loan, and carry interest at market rates.

Receivables from subsidiaries
Debt to subsidiaries
Total

R E C E I VA B L E S

10
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PENSION PLANS

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
Total

YEAR

LO N G - T E R M I N T E R E ST B E A R I N G D E B T

The Company has issued bonds at NOK 1,257 million, and
drawn US$ 50 million on the group revolving credit facility
(RRCF) at December 31, 2005. For further information
regarding the RRCF see note 14 to the consolidated
accounts.
Long-term interest bearing debt at December 31, 2005 is
payable as follows:

14

Present value of this year's earned pensions
Interest expense on pension liabilities
Net pension costs

A N N UA L P E N S I O N C O ST S

The pension plan assets consist of bank deposits, fixed income securities, equities and real estate.

Rate of compensation increase at the end of year
Discount rate at the end of year
Prescribed pension index factor
Expected return on plan assets for the year
Turnover
Expected increase in social security base

2
2

3.5%
4.3%
2.5%
5.5%
3.0%
3.0%

2005
7
(2)
(2)
3
1
4

230
327
338
700
1,595

1
1
2

3.5%
5.5%
3.0%
6.5%
3.0%
0.0%

2004
3
(1)
2
2

pension of about 66 percent of salary at retirement age of 67
years of age, together with long-term disability pension. The
retirement pension per employee is however capped at an
annual payment of approximately NOK 585.000.

Assumptions used in calculation of pension obligations as at year-end:

Projected benefit obligations
Plan assets at market value
Unrecognized gains (losses)
Accrued pension liability before social security
Social security
Accrued pension liabilities

T H E F U N D E D STAT U S O F T H E D E F I N E D B E N E F I T P L A N

The Company has a defined benefit pension plan that covers
the employees as of December 31, 2005. A significant part of
this plan is covered by a life insurance company, based on a
30 years earning period for the employees.
The main conditions for the employees are a retirement

13
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OT H E R S H O RT- T E R M L I A B I L I T I E S

G UA R A N T E E S

AU D I TO R S R E M U N E R AT I O N

Numbers in NOK
Audit
Tax advisory services
Audit related services

17

Smedvig asa has issued guarantees amounting to NOK 650 million.

G UA R A N T E E S

16

Other short-term debt includes interest bearing commercial papers of NOK 300 million.

Withheld taxes, social security and vacation payment
Accrued interest expenses
Other short-term debt
Total

15

2005
365,000
107,464
27,286

2005
3
8
364
375

2004
350,000
200,000

2004
2
3
206
211
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Aage K. Seldal
State Authorised Public Accountant
Sign.

Stavanger, March 30, 2006
KPMG AS

In our opinion
• the parent company’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations and give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the parent Company as of 31 December 2005, the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the year then ended, in accordance with the rules of the Norwegian accounting act and good accounting practice
in Norway
• the group accounts are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations and give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Group as of December 31 2005, the results of its operations, its cash flows and the changes in equity for
the year then ended, in accordance with the rules of the Norwegian accounting act and International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the EU
• the company’s management has fulfilled its duty to produce a proper and clearly set out registration and documentation of
accounting information in accordance with the law and good bookkeeping practice in Norway
• the information in the Board of Directors’ report concerning the financial statements, the going concern assumption and the
proposal for the allocation of the profit is consistent with the financial statements and comply with the law and regulations.

OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Norwegian Act on Auditing and Auditors and good auditing practice in
Norway, including standards on auditing adopted by Den norske Revisorforening (Norwegian Institute of Public Accountants).
These auditing standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. To the extent required by
law and good auditing practice an audit also comprises a review of the management of the Company’s financial affairs and its
accounting and internal control systems. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

B AS I S O F O P I N I O N

We have audited the annual financial statements of the Smedvig asa as of 31 December 2005, showing a profit of
NOK 68,549,428 for the parent company and a profit of NOK 363,912,000 for the group. We have also audited the information
in the Board of Directors’ report concerning the financial statements, the going concern assumption and the proposal for the
allocation of the profit. The annual financial statements comprise the parent company’s financial statements and the group
accounts. The parent company’s financial statements comprise the balance sheet, the statements of income and cash flows
and the accompanying notes. The group accounts comprise the balance sheet, the statements of income and cash flows,
the statement of changes in equity and the accompanying notes. The rules of the Norwegian accounting act and good accounting practice in Norway have been applied to prepare the parent company’s financial statement. The rules of the Norwegian
accounting act and International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU have been applied to prepare the group
accounts. These financial statements and the Board of Directors’ report are the responsibility of the Company’s Board of
Directors and Managing Director. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and on the other information according to the requirements of the Norwegian Act on Auditing and Auditors.

R E S P E C T I V E R E S P O N S I B I L I T I E S O F D I R E C TO R S A N D AU D I TO R S

Auditor´s report for 2005
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Appendix 7: Annual report for Mosvold Drilling Ltd. for 2005
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Seadrill Limited
Par-la-Ville Place
14 Par-la-Ville Road
Hamilton HM 08
BERMUDA
or
Seadrill Management AS
Finnestadveien 28
P.O. Box 110
4001 Stavanger
NORWAY
Phone: +47 51 30 90 00
Fax: +47 51 30 90 01
www.seadrill.bm

Carnegie ASA
Stranden 1
P.O. Box 684 – Sentrum
0106 Oslo
NORWAY
Phone: +47 22 00 93 00
Fax: +47 22 00 94 20
www.carnegie.no

Pareto Securities ASA
Dronning Maudsgt. 3
P.O. Box 1411 – Vika
0115 Oslo
NORWAY
Phone: +47 22 87 87 00
Fax: +47 22 87 87 10
www.pareto.no

www.kursiv.no

